

INFORMATION FOR HONG KONG INVESTORS THREADNEEDLE (LUX) 30 APRIL 2020

THREADNEEDLE (LUX) INFORMATION FOR HONG KONG INVESTORS

Information for Hong Kong Investors Threadneedle (Lux)

If you are in any doubt about the contents of this document, you should seek independent professional financial advice.

This document forms part of and should be read in the context of and together with the Prospectus dated December 2019 as supplemented from time to time (the "**Prospectus**") and the Loose Leaf dated December 2019 and investors should refer to these documents for full information.

Threadneedle (Lux) (the "SICAV") is authorised under Section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571, Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO") by the Securities and Futures Commission ("SFC") in Hong Kong. The SFC's authorisation is not a recommendation or endorsement of the SICAV nor does it guarantee the commercial merits of the SICAV or its performance. It does not mean the SICAV is suitable for all investors nor is it an endorsement of the SICAV's suitability for any particular investor or class of investors.

Warning: In relation to the funds as set out in the Prospectus and Loose Leaf, only the following funds are authorised by the SFC pursuant to Section 104 of the SFO and hence may be offered to the public of Hong Kong:

Threadneedle (Lux) – American Threadneedle (Lux) – American Select¹ Threadneedle (Lux) – Asia Contrarian Equity Threadneedle (Lux) – Asian Equity Income Threadneedle (Lux) – Emerging Market Corporate Bonds Threadneedle (Lux) – Emerging Market Debt¹ Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Emerging Market Equities Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Focus Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Focus Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Technology Threadneedle (Lux) – Pan European Small Cap Opportunities Threadneedle (Lux) – US High Yield Bond

Please note that the Prospectus and Loose Leaf is a global document and therefore also contains information of the following funds which are not authorised by the SFC:

Threadneedle (Lux) – American Absolute Alpha Threadneedle (Lux) – American Extended Alpha Threadneedle (Lux) – American Smaller Companies Threadneedle (Lux) – Asia Equities Threadneedle (Lux) – Credit Opportunities Threadneedle (Lux) – Developed Asia Growth and Income Threadneedle (Lux) – Developed Asia Growth and Income Threadneedle (Lux) – Enhanced Commodities Threadneedle (Lux) – Euro Dynamic Real Return Threadneedle (Lux) – European Corporate Bond Threadneedle (Lux) – European High Yield Bond Threadneedle (Lux) – European Select

¹This Portfolio will cease to be a SFC authorised fund with effect from 10 June 2020. Subscriptions or conversions into this Portfolio will no longer be accepted. The disclosure in relation to this Portfolio in the Product Key Facts statement of this Portfolio will not be updated.

Threadneedle (Lux) – European Short-Term High Yield Bond
Threadneedle (Lux) – European Smaller Companies
Threadneedle (Lux) – European Social Bond
Threadneedle (Lux) – European Strategic Bond
Threadneedle (Lux) – Flexible Asian Bond
Threadneedle (Lux) – Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Corporate Bond
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Dynamic Real Return
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Equity Income
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Extended Alpha
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Select
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Smaller Companies
Threadneedle (Lux) – Pan European Absolute Alpha
Threadneedle (Lux) – Pan European Equities ¹
Threadneedle (Lux) – Pan European Equity Dividend
Threadneedle (Lux) – Pan European Smaller Companies
Threadneedle (Lux) – STANLIB Africa Equity
Threadneedle (Lux) – UK Absolute Alpha
Threadneedle (Lux) – UK Equities
Threadneedle (Lux) – UK Equity Income
Threadneedle (Lux) – US Contrarian Core Equities
Threadneedle (Lux) – US Disciplined Core Equities

No offer shall be made to the public of Hong Kong in respect of the above unauthorised funds. The issue of the Prospectus and the Loose Leaf was authorised by the SFC only in relation to the offer of the above SFC-authorised funds to the public of Hong Kong. Intermediaries should take note of this restriction.

THE HONG KONG REPRESENTATIVE

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited (the **"Hong Kong Representative**") at 17/F Tower 2 & 3, HSBC Centre, 1 Sham Mong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong (Attention: Services Transfer Agency, Fund Services, tel: +852 3663 5500, fax: +852 3409 2697) is the representative of the SICAV in Hong Kong. The Hong Kong Representative undertakes on behalf of the SICAV the functions required of a Hong Kong representative in Hong Kong in accordance with the SFC Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds.

The Articles of the SICAV, other constitutive documents in respect of the SICAV and the annual report of the Depositary are available for inspection, free of charge, during normal office hours at the office of the Hong Kong Representative at 1 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong. Such documents may also be purchased at a reasonable price from the Hong Kong Representative.

Hong Kong investors may write to or otherwise contact the Hong Kong Representative at the address or contact number set out above if they have any enquiries or complaints in respect of the SICAV.

INVESTMENT ADVISORY ARRANGEMENTS

Threadneedle Asset Management Limited may, subject to its own liability, delegate the discretionary investment management of part of the assets of the following Portfolios to one or more third parties within the Ameriprise Financial, Inc. group of companies as set out below:

Delegation to Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC:

- Threadneedle (Lux) Emerging Market Corporate Bonds;
- Threadneedle (Lux) Emerging Market Debt;
- Threadneedle (Lux) Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds.

Delegation to Threadneedle Investments Singapore (Pte.) Limited:

■ Threadneedle (Lux) – Asian Equity Income

PROCEDURE FOR APPLICATIONS BY HONG KONG INVESTORS Application

Application for Shares may be made on the Application Form enclosed with the Prospectus. The Share Classes which are offered in respect of each Portfolio of the SICAV are set out in the Loose Leaf to the Prospectus.

Institutional Share Classes are reserved for institutional investors with the minimum investment set out below. As such, they are not available to the public in Hong Kong.

Hong Kong residents may only purchase Shares in the SICAV through authorised sub-distributors (the "Authorised Sub-Distributors"). The list of Authorised Sub-Distributors can be obtained from the Hong Kong Representative.

Authorised Sub-Distributors will also act as nominees for investors who invest in the SICAV through them. In such event, applications will be treated as applications for Shares to be registered in the name of the nominee, who will hold the Shares in its name for and on behalf of the investors.

Authorised Sub-Distributors will send any applications received to the Management Company via the Registrar and Transfer Agent.

Subscription orders received by the Authorised Sub-Distributor on a business day after 5:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) will normally be forwarded to the Registrar and Transfer Agent on the following business day in Hong Kong. Investors should however refer to the Prospectus and also confirm with the Authorised Sub-Distributor as an earlier dealing cut-off time may apply.

In any event, subscription orders in relation to a Valuation Date must be received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent by 3.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the relevant Valuation Date. Any subscription orders received after this time will be dealt with on the next Valuation Date. At the discretion of the Directors, applications transmitted prior to the cut-off but received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent only after the cut-off may be treated as if they had been received prior to the cut-off.

Investors applying for Shares through Authorised Sub-Distributor may send subscription monies to the Authorised Sub-Distributor.

All applicants should refer to the Prospectus, which contains full details on how to apply for Shares. No money should be paid to any intermediary which is not licensed or registered for type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity under Part V of the SFO.

Share Classes made available to Hong Kong investors are set out below:

Portfolios	Base Currency of Portfolio	Share Classes*
The Bond Portfolios		
Threadneedle (Lux) – Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	USD	AEC, AEH, AKH, ANH, ASH, AU, AUP, DEC, DEH, DU, W, WEH
Threadneedle (Lux) – Emerging Market Debt	USD	AEC, AEH, AKH, ANH, ASC, ASH, AU, AUP, DEH, DU, W
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	USD	AEC, AEH, AKH, ANH, ASC, ASH, AU, AUP, DEH, DU
Threadneedle (Lux) – US High Yield Bond	USD	AEC, AEH, AKH, ANH, ASH, AU, AUP, DEC, DEH, DU
The Asset Allocation Portfolios		
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Multi Asset Income	USD	AE, AEC, AEH, AEP, AQ, AQM, AS, ASC, ASH, ASP, AU, AUP, AUM, DEC, DEH, DEP, DU, DUP
The Equity Portfolios		
Threadneedle (Lux) – American	USD	AEH, AU, DEH, DU, W, 1E, 1EH, 1EP, 1U
Threadneedle (Lux) – American Select	USD	AD, AEH, AN, ASH, AU, AUP, DEH, DU, W, 1E, 1EH, 1EP and 1U
Threadneedle (Lux) – Asia Contrarian Equity	USD	AE, AF, AS, ASH, AU, DE
Threadneedle (Lux) – Asian Equity Income	USD	AEH, AU, AUP, DEH, DU, DUP, W
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Emerging Market Equities	USD	AEH, AU, DEH, DU, 1E, 1U
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Focus	USD	AEH, AEP, AU, AUP, DEH, DU, W
Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Technology	USD	AEH, AS, AU, AUP, DEH, DU
Threadneedle (Lux) – Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	EUR	AE, ASH, AUH, DE, DUH, W

The Share Classes which are available to Hong Kong investors and their minimum investment amounts accepted for investment are as follows:

Information	for Hong Kong	Investors -	Threadneedle (Lux)
-------------	---------------	-------------	--------------------

Share Class	Minimum Initial Investment per Portfolio
Classes AU, AUM, DU, DUP, AUH and AUP	US\$ 2,500
Classes AE, DE, AEH, DEH, AEP, DEP, DEC and AEC	EUR 2,500
Classes AQ and AQM	HKD 20,000
Class AS, ASH, ASC and ASP	SGD 2,500
Class AD	DKK 20,000
Class AN and ANH	NOK 20,000
Class AF	CHK 3,500
Class AKH	SEK 20,000
Classes W and WEH	US\$ 10,000 or EUR 10,000 (depending on the Base Currency of the Portfolio)
Class 1U	Nil
Classes 1E, 1EH and 1EP	

Other Share Classes mentioned in the Prospectus and the Loose Leaf are not available to the public in Hong Kong.

REDEMPTIONS

Hong Kong shareholders may send requests for redemption (in writing) to the Authorised Sub-Distributor.

Requests received by the Authorised Sub-Distributor on a business day after 5:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) will normally be forwarded to the Registrar and Transfer Agent on the following business day in Hong Kong. Investors should refer to the Prospectus and also confirm with the Authorised Sub-Distributor as an earlier dealing cut-off time may apply.

In any event, redemption requests in relation to a Valuation Date must be received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent by 3.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the relevant Valuation Date. Any redemption requests received after this time will be dealt with on the next Valuation Date. At the discretion of the Directors, requests transmitted prior to the cut-off but received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent only after the cut-off may be treated as if they had been received prior to the cut-off.

Hong Kong investors are referred to the section of the Prospectus entitled "Redemption of Shares" for further information. Redemption monies will be sent to the Authorised Sub-Distributor as nominee of the investor which will forward the same to the investor.

PUBLICATION OF PRICES

The Net Asset Value for each Share Class of each Portfolio will be available daily on the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com*.

SUSPENSION OF DEALINGS IN THE SICAV

The Management Company may, after consultation with the Depositary, having regard to the best interests of the Shareholders, at any time declare a temporary suspension of the calculation of the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio and the issue, redemption or exchange of any Share Class of the Portfolio in certain circumstances as disclosed in the Prospectus. Any temporary suspension of dealing in respect of the SICAV and/or any of the Portfolios shall be notified to the SFC immediately. If the SICAV declares such suspension, the relevant notice of suspension of dealing in Shares will be published immediately following such decision and at least once a month during the period of suspension on the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com*.

SICAV INFORMATION

The audited annual reports, unaudited semi-annual reports, statements of account (each as referred to in the Prospectus), and any other reports in respect of the SICAV will be available in the English language and will be posted to all shareholders of the SICAV registered with an address in Hong Kong, within the time period for the availability of such reports specified in the Prospectus.

Such reports and accounts will also be made available on request, free of charge, from the Management Company or from the Transfer Agent or the Hong Kong Representative.

The SICAV is not subject to the provision of the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

FEES PAYABLE BY THE SICAV

The SICAV will pay to the Management Company a monthly fee for each Portfolio at an annual rate as described in the Prospectus.

Fees payable by the SICAV to the Depositary, Domiciliary and Administrative Agent are described in the Prospectus.

Any increase in the maximum level of the fees payable by the SICAV shall be subject to the SFC's prior approval and not less than one month's prior notice will be given to Shareholders.

The aggregate fees chargeable in relation to the share classes are set out at the end of this document for A Shares, D Shares and W Shares under the heading "Aggregate Fees Chargeable by Class". Institutional I Shares will be charged an Asset Management Fee of up to 1.00% per annum per portfolio.

All expenses incurred in the operations of the SICAV (the "**Operating Expenses**") are fixed at the rates set out in Appendices C to U to the Prospectus. The Management Company will bear the excess of any Operating Expenses above the annual rate. Conversely, the Management Company will be entitled to retain any amount by which the annual rate of Operating Expenses exceeds the actual expenses incurred by the SICAV. For the avoidance of doubt, Operating Expenses do not include either Asset Management Fees or performance fees which are separate and distinct.

The SICAV will not pay from its own assets any brokerage or commissions to agents on the issue of shares. The Management Company will pay any advertising or other promotional expenses resulting from marketing of the Shares of the SICAV. In any event, such advertising or other promotional expenses will not be payable by the SICAV.

COMMISSION SHARING ARRANGEMENTS

In addition to the conditions set out in the Prospectus under the heading "Commission sharing arrangements" in the section entitled "Fees and Expenses", none of the Management Company, the investment advisor or any of their connected persons may retain cash or other rebates from a broker or dealer in consideration of directing transactions in the SICAV's assets to the broker or dealer save that goods and services (soft dollars) as described in the paragraph below may be retained. Any such cash commission or rebates received from any such broker or dealer shall be for the account of the relevant portfolio.

The Management Company, the investment advisor and/or any of their connected persons reserves the right to effect transactions by or through a broker or dealer with whom the Management Comapny, the investment advisor and/or any of their connected persons has an arrangement under which that broker or dealer will from time to time provide to or procure for the Management Company, the investment advisor and/or any of their connected persons goods or services for which no direct payment is made but instead the Management Company, the investment advisor and/or any of their connected persons undertakes to place business with that broker or dealer. The Management Company shall procure that no such arrangements are entered into unless (i) the goods and services to be provided pursuant thereto are of demonstrable benefit to the Shareholders (taken as a body and in their capacity as such) whether by assisting the Management Company and/or the investment advisor in their ability to manage the relevant Portfolio or otherwise; (ii) the transaction execution is consistent with best execution standards and brokerage rates are not in excess of customary institutional full-service brokerage rates; (iii) periodic disclosure is made in the annual report of the SICAV or the relevant Portfolio in the form of a statement describing the soft dollar policies and practices of the Managemany Company or the investment advisor, including a description of goods and services received by them; and (iv) the availability of soft dollar arrangements is not the sole or primary purpose to perform or arrange transaction with such broker or dealer.

INVESTMENT IN OTHER UCITS OR UCIS

The Management Company or the relevant Sub-Advisor may not obtain a rebate on any fees or charges levied by an underlying UCITS or UCI or the manager of the underlying UCITS or UCI in which the relevant Portfolio invests.

RISK FACTORS AND OTHER ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Before investing in the SICAV and any of the Portfolios, investors should review the risks set out in the sections headed "Risk Factors" and "Investment Objectives and Policies" in the Prospectus in respect of risks associated with each Portfolio, as well as the description of other risks mentioned below. Please note that these risk factors may have an adverse impact on the performance of the Portfolios. The Portfolios may suffer losses as a result of the decrease in value of the investments held by them.

General

Investment in any of the Portfolios is not in the nature of a deposit in a bank account and is not protected by any government, government agency or other guarantee scheme which may be available to protect the holder of a bank deposit account. None of the Management Company, the Sub-Advisors or any other service providers of the Portfolios, or their respective subsidiaries, affiliates, associates, agents or delegates, guarantees the performance or any future return of any Portfolio. There is no assurance that the investment objective or the strategies of the respective Portfolios will be achieved.

Investors should note that the information contained in the "Typical Investor's Profile" section in the investment objective and policy of each Portfolio in the Prospectus is provided for reference only. Before making any investment decisions, investors should consider their own specific circumstances, including, without limitation, their own risk tolerance level, financial circumstances, investment objectives, etc. If in doubt, investors should consult their stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant, representative bank or other financial adviser.

Equity market risk

The Portfolio's investment in equity securities is subject to general market risks, whose value may fluctuate due to various factors, such as changes in investment sentiment, political and economic conditions and issuerspecific factors.

Credit and settlement risks

Investors should note that bond Portfolios set out in the Table titled "Aggregate Fees Chargeable by Class" in this document that may invest in debt securities are subject to the risk that issuers may not make payments on such debt securities when they fall due. An issuer suffering an adverse change in its financial condition could lower the credit quality of a security, leading to greater price volatility of the security. A lowering of the quality rating of a security may also offset the security's liquidity, making it more difficult to sell. A Portfolio investing in lower quality debt securities is more susceptible to these problems and their value may be more volatile. A Portfolio that invests in bonds and other fixed income securities may fall in value if interest rates change. Generally, the prices of debt securities rise when interest rates fall, whilst their prices fall when interest rates rise.

Investors should note that certain Portfolios including, but not limited to Emerging Market Corporate Bonds Portfolio, Emerging Market Debt Portfolio, Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds Portfolio, and US High Yield Bond Portfolio may invest a portion of their assets in High Yield (i.e. securities below investment grade), as well as other emerging market securities. Investment in High Yield (i.e. securities below investment objectives and policies of the relevant Portfolio to ascertain whether it is permitted to make investments in such securities, and should review the sections of the Prospectus headed "Risk Factors - General - High Yield" and "Risk Factors - Emerging Markets" in relation to the risks associated with investing in High Yield (i.e. securities below investment grade) and in emerging markets generally.

The ratings of fixed-income securities by credit rating agencies are a generally accepted barometer of credit risk. They are, however, subject to certain limitations from an investor's standpoint and do not guarantee the creditworthiness of the security and/or issuer at all times. The rating on an issuer is heavily weighted by past developments and does not necessarily reflect probable future conditions. There is frequently a lag between the

time the rating is assigned and the time it is updated. In addition, there may be varying degrees of difference in credit risk of securities within each rating category.

Some of the Portfolios may also be exposed to credit risk on the counterparties with which they trade in relation to options, futures, contracts and other derivative financial instruments that are not traded on internationally recognised exchanges. The Portfolios will be subject to the possibility of the insolvency, bankruptcy or default of a counterparty with which the Portfolios trade such instruments, which could result in substantial losses to the Portfolios.

Investors should note that the Emerging Market Corporate Bonds, Emerging Market Debt, and Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds Portfolios may invest in sovereign or corporate bonds of issuers in Portugal, Italy, Greece and Spain. Due to high levels of government deficits and debt levels of these countries, and that the credit ratings of sovereign debts issued by some of these governments have been/may be downgraded, there are concerns in the markets regarding the risk of default of these issuers. Investors should note that in case of default, the underlying investments of these Portfolios in such bonds may become worthless.

Risks associated with non-traditional debt securities

The section of the Prospectus with the heading "Risk Factors" contains a disclosure headed "Non-traditional Debt Securities", which refers to the ability of the Bond Portfolios and particularly high yield Bond Portfolios to invest in non-traditional types of debt securities, including regulatory capital (such as Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital). Regulatory capital instruments include debt securities issued by financial institutions such as banks in an attempt to minimise their cost of funding and to ensure that they maintain sufficient capital to enable them to absorb unexpected losses as well as to reduce the risk and impact of adverse events both on its depositors and other creditors, and on the wider industry. Financial institutions may issue a range of different 'tiers' of regulatory capital instruments with reference to capital adequacy ratios set by regulators. This range includes Tier 1 capital, which is the highest quality regulatory capital and is capable of absorbing a firm's losses on a going concern basis, and Tier 2 capital which is of lower quality and is only capable of absorbing losses on a "gone concern" basis (i.e. upon insolvency of a bank).

The Bond Portfolios investing in non-traditional debt securities are subject to the risks associated with investments in debt securities generally (including interest rates risk, credit risk, liquidity risk etc).

For the avoidance of doubt, as at the date of this document, the exposure to non-traditional debt securities for each of the Bond Portfolios is currently less than 10% of its Net Asset Value.

Risks associated with foreign currency exchange contracts

The Portfolios may purchase and sell foreign currency exchange contracts for hedging and risk management purposes, to obtain local currency exposure and, in certain Portfolios, for investment purposes. Foreign currency exchange contracts may not eliminate fluctuations in the prices of a Portfolio's securities or in foreign exchange rates, or prevent loss from falling securities prices. Whilst foreign currency exchange contracts are intended to minimise the risk of loss due to a decline in the value of hedged currency, they also limit any potential gain that might be realised should the value of the hedged currency increase. It would not be possible to precisely match the contract amounts and the value of the securities involved as the future value of such securities will fluctuate between the date when the relevant contract is entered into and the date when it matures. A successful hedging strategy cannot be guaranteed. The adverse consequences to a Portfolio of using foreign currency exchange contracts may leave the Portfolio in a worse position than if such strategies were not used.

Risks associated with financial derivative instruments

The SICAV may use financial derivative instruments to adjust the risk and return characteristics of a Portfolio's investments. If the Management Company or the relevant Sub-Advisor judges market conditions incorrectly or employs a strategy that does not correlate well with a Portfolio's investments, or if the use of financial derivative instruments becomes ineffective in adverse situations, these techniques could result in a significant loss to the Portfolio, regardless of whether the intent was to reduce risk or increase return. Financial derivative instruments may increase the volatility of a Portfolio and may involve a small investment of cash relative to the magnitude of the risk assumed. In some instances, the use of such instruments may have the effect of leveraging the Portfolio concerned.

Financial derivative instruments are subject to credit risks of the counterparty with which the Portfolio enters into a transaction. Substantial loss may result if the counterparty of a transaction encounters financial difficulties, becomes insolvent or otherwise does not perform its obligations as promised.

Investing in financial derivative instruments may involve substantial liquidity risks, valuation risks, volatility risks and over-the-counter transaction risks. The leverage element/component of financial derivative instruments can result in a loss significantly greater than the amount invested in the financial derivative instruments by a Portfolio. Exposure to such instruments may lead to a high risk of significant loss by a Portfolio.

There is no guarantee that a Portfolio will be able to purchase or sell a portfolio security during a favourable period. If a derivative transaction is particularly large or if the relevant market is illiquid it may not be possible to initiate a transaction or liquidate a position at a favourable price. Many financial derivative instruments are not guaranteed by an exchange or clearing house or traded on a regulated market. It may not always be possible to dispose of or close out a position without the consent of the counterparty.

Some Portfolios will engage in swap transactions including credit default swaps, interest rate swaps, total return swaps and equity swaps. Portfolios engaging in swap transactions are subject to risks associated with financial derivative instruments, including a potential counterparty credit risk. In the case of insolvency or default of the swap counterparty, the Portfolio involved could suffer a substantial loss. In addition, to cover its position under a swap, a Portfolio may invest in and hold other instruments as cover. In the event of the default of the swap counterparty, the Portfolio will be exposed to the performance and risks of the instruments used as cover. There may be no correlation between the cover and the investment objective and policy of the Portfolio and the Portfolio's ability to achieve its investment objective will be impaired. Also, a decline in the market value of the cover will have a direct impact on the Portfolio's Net Asset Value.

In addition, there are risks of mispricing or improper valuation of derivatives and the inability of derivatives to correlate perfectly with underlying assets, rates and indices. Improper or inaccurate valuations can result in increased payments to counterparties or a loss of value to the Portfolio.

[#]The counterparty credit risk is mitigated by entering into agreements with credit institutions or their affiliated brokers established in a country belonging to the Group of ten or a member state of the EEA and which have at least an investment grade rating. The Group of ten refers to Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States.

Risks related to the European sovereign debt crisis

Certain Portfolios may invest substantially in Europe. The current Eurozone crisis continues to raise uncertainty with little or no clarity on an enduring solution. Potential scenarios could include, among other things, the downgrading of the credit ratings of European countries, the default or bankruptcy of one or more sovereigns within the Eurozone, the departure of some, or all, relevant EU Member States from the Eurozone, or any combination of the above or other economic or political events. These may lead Euro no longer being a valid trading currency, and to additional legal and operational risks to the Portfolios. It may also cause uncertainty as to the operation of certain terms of agreements that are governed by the law of an exiting EU Member State and may require the redenomination of some, or all, Euro-denominated sovereign debt, corporate debt and securities (including equity securities). In such circumstances, a large number of investors could decide to redeem their investments in the Portfolios at the same time.

These events may increase volatility, liquidity and currency risks associated with investments in Europe and the Portfolios may potentially be adversely affected by any or all of the above factors, or there may be additional unintended consequences.

Risks associated with technology companies and technologyrelated industries

The technology and new media industries may be at an early stage of development, and many of the companies in these industries have a relatively short operating history. Rapid changes in technology could render obsolete the products and services offered by the companies in which the Portfolios invest, and cause severe or complete declines in the prices of the securities of those companies.

Risks associated with energy-related sectors

The value of a Portfolio's investments in energy-related sectors may be adversely affected by various factors such as operational disruptions, environmental events (e.g. environmental accidents or natural disasters), political risks, macroeconomic policies, etc. This may subject the Portfolio to higher price volatility.

Risks associated with credit linked notes

Some Portfolios may invest in credit linked notes, which are securities in respect of which the payment of principal and interest is linked to one or more reference entities and/or assets (**"reference assets**"). If the underlying reference assets of the credit linked notes decreases in value then the value of the credit linked note should also decrease in value. The underlying reference assets will be subject to multiple risks depending on the underlying reference asset, and so the credit linked note could consequently also be affected by any other risk. (Please see the full list of risk factors to see which assets will be affected by different risks.) Credit linked notes are also subject to other risks including counterparty credit risk and legal risk, which may mean that the value of the credit linked note may decrease in value by more than the underlying reference assets, and they may even go down in value if the underlying reference assets increase in value.

Risks associated with real estate investment trusts ("REITs")

Some Portfolios may invest in REITs. Investors should note that the underlying REITs which the Portfolios invest may not necessarily be authorised by the SFC. In addition, the dividend/payout policy of the Portfolios is not representative of the dividend/payout policy of the underlying REITs. Although it is intended that the REITs the Portfolios invest in will have a similar level of liquidity to those of equities, their underlying real estate investments may be relatively illiquid and this may affect the ability of a REIT to vary its investment portfolio or sell its assets in adverse market conditions or exceptional circumstances. These factors may have an adverse impact on the value of the Portfolios and Shareholders may suffer losses.

Risk of taking active currency positions

In addition to the exchange rates and currency risks set out in the "Risk Factors" section of the Prospectus, Portfolios taking active currency positions may suffer significant or total loss even if there is no loss of the value of the underlying securities (i.e. the bonds) that the Portfolio invests in as the active currency positions that are employed by the Portfolio may not be correlated with the underlying assets of the Portfolio.

Sector risks

Portfolios that are focusing on a single industry sector may be subject to losses that are more severe than other diversified Portfolios. Also, potential changes to rules and regulations governing a particular industry sector may have an adverse impact on the performance of the relevant Portfolios.

Investors are also reminded of, inter alia, the concentration risks, volatility risks and liquidity risks associated with sector funds. Certain industry sectors are characterised by significant volatility as evidenced by rapidly changing market conditions and/or participants, new competitors, new competing products and/or improvements in existing products.

Concentration risks

Portfolios investing in a specific geographical area are subject to concentration risks. In that case the relevant Portfolios will be less diversified than a broad-based fund such as a global equity fund. As a result, those Portfolios tend to be more volatile - the values of their investments tend to go up and down more rapidly. The value of the Portfolios may be more adversely affected by risks associated with that particular geographical area.

Liquidity risk

Not all securities or investments held by a Portfolio will be listed or rated or actively traded and consequently liquidity may be low. Moreover, the accumulation and disposal of holdings in some investments may be timeconsuming and may need to be conducted at unfavourable prices. The Portfolios may also encounter difficulties in disposing of assets at their fair price due to adverse market conditions leading to limited liquidity. Moreover, there is no assurance that the liquidity of the Portfolios will always be sufficient to meet redemption requests as and when made. The Portfolio may have to significantly lower the selling price, sell other investments or forego another, more appealing investment opportunity.

A Portfolio may adopt a specific investment strategy and approach whereby restricting its investment universe as the relevant Portfolio will only invest in securities which can fulfill the selection criteria which are consistent with its investment strategy and approach. The number of securities eligible for investment may therefore be limited. This may increase the difficulties for the relevant Portfolio to acquire the relevant securities from the markets at desirable prices and such lack of liquidity may adversely affect the value or ease of disposal of such securities. The performance of the relevant Portfolio may therefore be adversely affected.

Commodity investment risk

An exposure to the commodity markets may subject a Portfolio to various risks associated with investing in commodities. The prices of commodities are highly volatile and may be affected by various factors such as changing supply and demand relationships, trade, fiscal, monetary and exchange control programs and policies of governments, and national and international political and economic events. These may in turn affect the performance of the Portfolio.

Investor risk

Substantial redemptions of Shares (which are more likely to occur in adverse economic or market conditions) could require the SICAV to liquidate investments of the relevant Portfolio more rapidly than otherwise desirable in order to raise the necessary cash to fund the redemptions and to achieve a position appropriately reflecting the smaller equity base. This could adversely affect the Net Asset Value of both Shares being redeemed and of existing Shares.

Under the circumstances specified in the Prospectus, the SICAV may suspend dealings in the Shares. In this event, valuation of the Net Asset Value will be suspended, and any affected redemption applications and payment of redemption proceeds will be deferred. The risk of decline in Net Asset Value of the Shares during the period up to the redemption of the Shares is borne by the redeeming Shareholders. The SICAV may compulsorily redeem all or a portion of the Shareholder's Shares in a Portfolio. Such compulsory redemption may create adverse tax and/or economic consequences to the Shareholder depending on the timing thereof. No person will have any obligation to reimburse any portion of an investor's losses upon any termination of the relevant Portfolio, compulsory redemption or otherwise.

Risks associated with short selling strategies

Naked or uncovered short positions are strictly forbidden under the UCITS regime. In order to gain a short exposure, this has to be done via a derivative and, at all times, there needs to be sufficient cash or liquid assets to cover the short position. Investors should note that certain portfolios may adopt a short selling strategy. By adopting a short selling strategy the relevant Portfolios will profit from a decline in the value of the asset sold short. However, the price of the asset sold short may increase and a short sale may therefore expose the Portfolios to theoretically unlimited loss. In extreme market conditions, the relevant Portfolios may face substantial losses in relation to its short selling positions. Such risk arising from short selling strategy is different from that of traditional long-only strategy. In order to mitigate this risk, the positions are reviewed daily by both the fund manager and the risk team. The risk team is independent from the fund manager.

Borrowing risks

Each Portfolio may borrow pursuant to the section headed "Other Investment Practices" and Appendix A to the Prospectus. Borrowing may expose the relevant Portfolio to shortfall risk. This relates to the risk whereby the income and appreciation generated from the investments made with borrowed funds being less than the interest payments required to be made in respect of the borrowed funds.

Risk of termination of the Portfolios

In the event of the early termination of any of the Portfolios, the SICAV would have to distribute to the Shareholders their pro rata interest in the assets of the Portfolio. It is possible that at the time of such sale or distribution, certain investments held by the Portfolio may be worth less than the initial cost of such investments, resulting in a substantial loss to the Shareholders. Moreover, any organisational expenses with regard to the Shares that had not yet become fully amortised would be debited against the Portfolio's capital at that time.

Risks of downgrading in debt securities

Any debt securities acquired by a Portfolio may subsequently be downgraded. In the event of such downgrading the Portfolio's investment value in such securities may be adversely affected. The Portfolio may or may not be able to dispose of the debt securities that are being downgraded. The Portfolio may continue to hold such downgraded securities and this may expose the Portfolio to higher credit and counterparty risks as set out in the section headed "Risk Factors" of the Prospectus.

Risk associated with debt securities rated below investment grade or unrated

A Portfolio may invest in debt securities rated below investment grade or unrated. Such securities are generally subject to lower liquidity, higher volatility and greater risk of loss of principal and interest than high-rated debt securities.

FATCA related risks

Although the SICAV will attempt to satisfy any obligations imposed on it and to avoid the imposition of any FATCA penalty withholding, no assurance can be given that the SICAV will be able to achieve this and/or satisfy such FATCA obligations. If the SICAV becomes subject to a FATCA penalty withholding as a result of the FATCA regime, the value of the Shares held by Shareholders may suffer material losses.

Distribution risk

Distributions may be made in respect of the Distribution Classes (as defined under the section entitled "Dividend Policy" below. However, there is no guarantee that such distributions will be made nor will there be a target level of distributions payout. A high distribution yield does not imply a positive or high return.

The Directors of the SICAV may, at their discretion, pay dividends out of capital of the Distribution Classes. The Directors may also, at their discretion, pay dividends out of gross income while paying all or part of fees and expenses out of the capital of the relevant Distribution Classes, resulting in an increase in distributable income for payment of dividends and therefore paying dividends effectively out of the capital of the relevant Distribution Classes. Investors should note that the payment of distributions out of, or effectively out of, capital represents a return or a withdrawal of part of the amount they originally invested or capital gain attributable to that amount. Any distributions involving payment of dividends out of capital of the Share Classes or payment of dividends effectively out of capital of the Share Classes will result in an immediate decrease in the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant Share Classes.

Inflation

The relevant Portfolio may invest in fixed income securities that offer limited capital growth potential and an income that is not linked to inflation. Therefore, inflation can affect the value of capital and income over time.

Valuation

Valuation of a Portfolio's investments in fixed income securities may involve uncertainties and judgmental determinations. If such valuation turns out to be incorrect, this may affect the Net Asset Value calculation of the Portfolio. The Portfolio's assets may sometimes be difficult to value objectively and the actual value may not be recognised until assets are sold.

Risk associated with small-capitalisation/mid-capitalisation companies

The stock of small-capitalisation/ mid-capitalisation companies may have lower liquidity and their prices may be more volatile to adverse economic developments than those of larger capitalisation companies in general.

Volatility

High market volatility and potential settlement difficulties in the equity markets in emerging markets may result in significant fluctuations in the prices of the securities traded on such markets and thereby may adversely affect the value of the Portfolio.

Risk relating to dynamic asset allocation strategy

The investments of a Portfolio may be periodically rebalanced and therefore the Portfolio may incur greater transaction costs than a Portfolio with static allocation strategy.

Credit rating agency risk

The credit appraisal system in the PRC and the rating methodologies employed in the PRC may be different from those employed in other markets. Credit ratings given by PRC rating agencies may therefore not be directly comparable with those given by other international rating agencies.

"Dim Sum" bond market risks

The "Dim Sum" bond market is still a relatively small market which is more susceptible to volatility and illiquidity. The operation of the "Dim Sum" bond market as well as new issuances could be disrupted causing a fall in the Net Asset Value of the relevant Portfolio should there be any promulgation of new rules which limit or restrict the ability of issuers to raise RMB by way of bond issuances and/or reversal or suspension of the liberalisation of the offshore RMB (CNH) market by the relevant regulator(s).

RMB currency and conversion risk

RMB is currently not freely convertible and is subject to exchange controls and restrictions.

Non-RMB based investors are exposed to foreign exchange risk and there is no guarantee that the value of RMB against the investors' base currencies (for example USD) will not depreciate. Any depreciation of RMB could adversely affect the value of the investor's investment in the Portfolio.

Under exceptional circumstances, payment of realisation proceeds from underlying investments to the Portfolio in RMB may be delayed due to the exchange controls and restrictions applicable to RMB.

PRC Tax risk

There are risks and uncertainties associated with the current PRC tax laws, regulations and practice in respect of capital gains realised via the Shanghai-Hong Kong stock connect and Shenzhen-Hong Kong stock connect ("**Stock Connects**") (which may have retrospective effect). Any increased tax liabilities on the relevant Portfolio may adversely affect the relevant Portfolio's value.

Risks associated with investments in debt instruments with loss-absorption features ("LAP")

Debt instruments with loss-absorption features are subject to greater risks when compared to traditional debt instruments as such instruments are typically subject to the risk of being written down or converted to ordinary shares upon the occurrence of [a pre-defined] trigger event[s] (e.g. when the issuer is near or at the point of non-viability or when the issuer's capital ratio falls to a specified level), which are likely to be outside of the issuer's control. Such trigger events are complex and difficult to predict and may result in a significant or total reduction in the value of such instruments. In the event of the activation of a trigger, there may be potential price contagion and volatility to the entire asset class. Debt instruments with loss-absorption features may also be exposed to liquidity, valuation and sector concentration risk.

A Portfolio may invest in contingent convertible debt securities, commonly known as CoCos, which are highly complex and are of high risk. Upon the occurrence of the trigger event, CoCos may be converted into shares of the issuer (potentially at a discounted price), or may be subject to the permanent write-down to zero. Coupon payments on CoCos are discretionary and may be cancelled by the issuer at any point, for any reason, and for any length of time.

Risks associated with collateralised and/or securitised products (such as asset backed securities, mortgage backed securities and asset backed commercial papers)

A Portfolio may invest in collateralised and/or securitised products (e.g. asset backed securities) which may be highly illiquid and prone to substantial price volatility. These instruments may be subject to greater credit, liquidity and interest rate risk compared to other debt securities. They are often exposed to extension and prepayment risks and risks that the payment obligations relating to the underlying assets are not met, which may adversely impact the returns of the securities.

Custody Risk

Market practices in relation to the settlement of securities transactions and the custody of assets could provide increased risk. Where a Portfolio invests in markets where custodial and/or settlement systems are not fully developed, the assets of the Portfolio may be exposed to custodial risk. In particular, some of the markets in which a Portfolio may invest do not provide for settlement on a delivery versus payment basis and the risk in relation to such settlements has to be borne by the Portfolio. In case of liquidation, bankruptcy or insolvency of a custodian or subcustodian, the Portfolio may take a longer time to recover its assets. In extreme circumstances such as the retroactive application of legislation and fraud or improper registration of title, the Portfolio in investing and holding investments in such markets will be generally higher than in organised securities markets.

Additional Information – Emerging Market Corporate Bond Portfolio

The Portfolio may invest less than 30% of its Net Asset Value in debt instruments with loss-absorption features (e.g. total loss-absorbing capacity eligible instruments, contingent convertible bonds, Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital instruments (i.e. debt instruments with write-down features which are triggered when the issuers' regulatory capital ratio falls to a certain level)). These instruments may be subject to contingent writedown or contingent conversion to ordinary shares on the occurrence of trigger events. The Portfolio may only invest less than 30% of its Net Asset Value in collateralised and/or securitised products (e.g. asset backed securities and mortgage backed securities).

Additional Information – Asia Contrarian Equity Portfolio

The Asia Contrarian Equity Portfolio will invest at least two-thirds of its assets in the equity securities of companies listed or domiciled, or exercising the predominant part of their economic activity in Asia (which may include emerging market countries). Notwithstanding the disclosures in the Prospectus that the Portfolio may further invest in other securities including convertible debt securities and Money Market Instruments, the Sub-Advisor of the Asia Contrarian Equity Portfolio does not currently intend to invest in convertible debt securities or Money Market Instruments in respect of the Portfolio. The Portfolio may further invest in REITs that are listed or traded on Regulated Markets.

The Sub-Advisor will take a contrarian approach to security selection, with an emphasis on stocks that have underperformed the market due to negative sentiment, but which it believes have the potential for recovery.

The Sub-Advisor believes that events, for example in the political or competitor environment, or investor sentiment, may lead to a temporary mispricing of stocks. The Sub-Advisor aims to identify companies whose share prices have been affected by factors such as those mentioned above, so they appear to be undervalued despite having a good long term outlook based on research and fundamental analysis, which considers factors such as the company's financial circumstances, competitors and management.

The Portfolio does not intend to invest in China B-Shares either directly or indirectly.

The Sub-Advisor currently does not intend to invest in debt securities, or enter into any securities lending, repurchase/reverse-repurchase transactions or other similar over-the-counter transactions in respect of the Portfolio. Prior approval from the SFC will be sought and at least one month's prior notice will be given to investors if there is any change in such intention.

Additional Information – Global Multi Asset Income Portfolio

The Portfolio intends to invest 40% to 60% of its assets in equity securities and fixed income securities respectively at any given time, so that at least 80% of the assets of the Portfolio consist of fixed income and equity securities. This allocation may vary over time.

There is no geographical restriction on the investments of equity securities of the Portfolio and there is no restriction on the size of the companies, the industry or sector that the Portfolio may gain exposure to.

The Portfolio may have exposure of up to 60% of its assets to fixed income securities that are rated below Investment Grade or which are unrated. The Portfolio may invest in various types of fixed income securities issued by a range of entities, including but not limited to, companies, sovereign entities and governments. It is the current intention that the Portfolio will not invest

more than 10% of its Net Asset Value in securities issued by or guaranteed by any single country with a credit rating below Investment Grade.

The Portfolio is permitted to use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes, as well as for hedging purposes.

The Portfolio may invest up to 5% of its Net Asset Value in aggregate in China A-Shares and China B-Shares either directly or indirectly.

The Sub-Advisor currently does not intend to enter into any securities lending, repurchase/reverse-repurchase transactions or other similar over-the-counter transactions in respect of the Portfolio. Prior approval from the SFC will be sought and at least one month's prior notice will be given to investors if there is any change in such intention.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Portfolio does not intend to invest 30% or more of its asset in any of the following asset classes: cash, money market instruments, currencies, REITs, convertible debt securities and other asset classes (other than global fixed income and global equity securities).

The Portfolio will follow a flexible asset allocation policy to achieve the investment objective, and this may result in the Portfolio having no exposure to equity securities and fixed income securities under extreme circumstances (e.g. market crash or major crisis) and on a temporary basis. The asset allocation of the Portfolio will change according to the Sub-Advisor's views of fundamental economic and market conditions and investment trends across the globe, taking into consideration factors such as level of income produced, liquidity, costs, timing of execution, relative attractiveness of individual securities and issuers available in the market.

The Portfolio may invest less than 30% of its Net Asset Value in debt instruments with loss-absorption features (e.g. total loss-absorbing capacity eligible instruments, contingent convertible bonds, Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital instruments (i.e. debt instruments with write-down features which are triggered when the issuers' regulatory capital ratio falls to a certain level)). These instruments may be subject to contingent writedown or contingent conversion to ordinary shares on the occurrence of trigger events.

The Portfolio may only invest less than 30% of its Net Asset Value in collateralised and/or securitised products (e.g. asset backed securities and mortgage backed securities).

Additional Information – Asian Equity Income Portfolio

Based on professional and competent tax advice, the Portfolio will not make PRC tax provisions on realised and/or unrealised capital gain arising from the investments via Stock Connects, although this position could change in the future if there is a change in PRC law.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Please refer to the section of the Prospectus entitled "Dividend Policy" for the dividend policy of the Share Classes of the Portfolios. In respect of Classes whose denomination ends in 'C', 'M', 'P' or 'T' (each a "**Distribution Class**" and collectively, the "**Distribution Classes**"), the SICAV intends to

make distributions, with a frequency, at least annually, and in an amount to be determined by the Directors at the discretion of the Directors.

The Directors will also have the discretion to determine if and to what extent distributions will be paid out of capital attributable to the relevant Distribution Class.

In the event that the net distributable income attributable to the relevant Distribution Class during the relevant period is insufficient to pay distributions as declared, the Directors may in their discretion determine such dividends be paid from capital. The Directors may also, in their discretion, pay dividends out of gross income while paying all or part of such Distribution Class' fees and expenses out of the capital of such Distribution Class, resulting in an increase in distributable income for the payment of dividends by the relevant Distribution Class and therefore, in respect of such Distribution Class, dividends may be paid effectively out of capital of the relevant Distribution Class.

Payment of dividends out of, or effectively out of, capital amounts to a return or withdrawal of part of an investor's original investment or from any capital gains attributable to that original investment. Any distributions involving payment of dividends out of, or effectively out of, the Distribution Classes' capital may result in an immediate reduction of the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant Distribution Class.

The composition of the distributions (i.e. the relative amounts paid out of (i) net distributable income and (ii) capital) for the last 12 months are available by the Hong Kong Representative on request and also on the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com*.

The Directors may amend the dividend policy pursuant to which dividends may be paid out of, or effectively out of, the capital of the Distribution Classes at the discretion of the Directors, subject to obtaining the SFC's prior approval and by giving not less than one month's prior notice to Shareholders.

DEALINGS WITH CONNECTED PERSONS

The Management Company must ensure that the transactions (including without limitation temporary borrowing arrangements subject to the restrictions set out under "Investment Restrictions" in Appendix A to the Prospectus, and sale and purchase of Transferable Securities, foreign exchange or other financial instruments) carried out on behalf of the SICAV with the Management Company, the investment adviser, the Depostary or any of their connected persons will be conducted on an arm's length, the transaction execution is consistent withapplicable best execution standards and the fee or commission paid to any such broker or dealer in respect of a transaction must not be greater than that which is payable at the prevailing market rate for a transaction of that size and nature. Brokerage transactions with persons connected to the SICAV, the Management Company, investment advisor or directors of the scheme ("Connected Persons") will not account for more than 50% of the SICAV's transactions in value in any one financial year.

The Management Company must use due care in the selection of brokers or dealers and ensure that they are suitably qualify in the circumstances and the Management Company must monitor such transactions to ensure

* The contents of this website have not been reviewed by the SFC.

compliance with its obligations. The nature of such transactions and the total commissions and other quantifiable benefits received by such broker or dealer shall be disclosed in the SICAV's annual report.

Connected Persons of the SICAV will not retain the benefit of any cash commission rebate (being one made by broker or dealer to any Connected Person), which is paid or payable in respect of any business placed with such broker or dealer by any Connected Persons for or on behalf of the SICAV. Any such cash commission rebate shall be held by any Connected Person for the account of the SICAV.

The Management Company or any person acting on behalf of the SICAV or the Management Company may not obtain a rebate on any fees or charges levied by an underlying investment scheme or its management company, or any quantifiable monetary benefits in connection with investments in any underlying scheme.

TAXES

Under current Hong Kong law and practice for an authorised mutual fund, any profits of the SICAV on dealings in securities from futures contracts or foreign exchange contracts and interest are exempt from any charge to Hong Kong profits tax.

Shareholders will not normally be subject to any Hong Kong tax unless they carry on a trade or business of dealing in securities and as part thereof, and in Hong Kong, deal in Shares.

FOREIGN ACCOUNT TAX COMPLIANCE ACT ("FATCA")

Please refer to the sub-section entitled "C. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act" in the section of the Prospectus entitled "Tax Considerations" for information relating to FATCA.

In case foreign financial institutions ("FFIs") choose not to comply with FATCA, FATCA will impose a withholding tax of 30% on all "withholdable payments" derived from US sources, including dividends, interest and certain derivative payments made on or after 1 July 2014. In addition, starting from 1 January 2017, gross proceeds such as sales proceeds and returns of principal derived from stocks and debt obligations generating US source dividends or interest will be treated as "withholdable payments". It is expected that certain non-US source payments attributable to amounts that would be subject to FATCA withholding (referred to as "passthru payments") will also be subject to FATCA withholding, though the definition of "passthru payment" in US Treasury Regulations is currently pending and the related rules may be subject to change.

Under the terms of the Luxembourg IGA (as defined under the heading "C. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act in the "TAX CONSIDERATIONS" section in the Prospectus) dated 28 March 2014, Luxembourg resident financial institutions that comply with the requirements of the Luxembourg IGA legislation will be treated as compliant with FATCA and, as a result, will not be subject to withholding tax under FATCA ("FATCA Withholding"). The SICAV is considered to be a Luxembourg resident financial institution that will comply with the requirements of the Luxembourg IGA legislation and, as a result of such compliance, the SICAV and its Portfolios should not be subject to FATCA Withholding.

The scope and application of FATCA withholding and information reporting pursuant to the terms of FATCA and the IGAs is subject to review by the US, Luxembourg and other IGA governments, and rules may change. In the event that the SICAV or any Portfolio is not able to comply with the requirements imposed by FATCA and the SICAV or such Portfolio does suffer US withholding tax on its investments as a result of non-compliance, the Net Asset Value of the Company or that Portfolio may be adversely affected and the SICAV or such Portfolio may suffer significant loss as a result.

All prospective investors should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of FATCA on them, the SICAV and the Portfolios.

AUTOMATIC EXCHANGE OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNT INFORMATION

The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.3) Ordinance (the "Ordinance") came into force on 30 June 2016. This is the legislative framework for the implementation in Hong Kong of the Standard for Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information ("AEOI"). The AEOI requires financial institutions ("FI") in Hong Kong to collect information relating to non-Hong Kong tax residents holding accounts with FIs, and to file such information with the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department ("IRD") who in turn will exchange such information with the jurisdiction(s) in which that account holder is resident. Generally, tax information will be exchanged only with jurisdictions with which Hong Kong has a Competent Authority Agreement ("CAA"); however, FIs may further collect information relating to residents of other jurisdictions.

By investing in the SICAV and the Portfolios and/or continuing to invest in the SICAV and the Portfolios through FIs in Hong Kong, investors acknowledge that they may be required to provide additional information to the relevant FI in order for the relevant FI to comply with AEOI. The investor's information (and information on beneficial owners, beneficiaries, direct or indirect shareholders or other persons associated with such shareholders that are not natural persons), may be communicated by the IRD to authorities in other jurisdictions.

Each shareholder and prospective investor should consult its own professional advisor(s) on the administrative and substantive implications of AEOI on its current or proposed investment in the SICAV and the Portfolios through FIs in Hong Kong.

UCITS IV

Notwithstanding the availability of investment powers under the UCITS Directive 2009/65/EC, for so long as the SICAV and the relevant Portfolios remain authorised under the SFO and unless otherwise approved by the SFC, all Portfolios of the SICAV (other than those set out below) will

not enter into financial derivative instruments ("FDIs") other than for efficient management or hedging purposes.

Net Derivative Exposure

The net derivative exposure of the following Portfolios may be up to 50% of the relevant Portfolio's Net Asset Value:

Threadneedle (Lux) – American Threadneedle (Lux) – American Select Threadneedle (Lux) – Asia Contrarian Equity Threadneedle (Lux) – Asian Equity Income Threadneedle (Lux) – Emerging Market Corporate Bonds Threadneedle (Lux) – Emerging Market Debt Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Emerging Market Equities Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Focus Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Multi Asset Income Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Technology Threadneedle (Lux) – Pan European Small Cap Opportunities Threadneedle (Lux) – US High Yield Bond

Net derivative exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the SFC's Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds and the requirements and guidance issued by the SFC which may be updated from time to time.

The expected levels of leverage of all Portfolios, including the Portfolios mentioned above, are set out in the section headed "Risk Factors – Use of Derivatives and other Investment Techniques" of the Prospectus. The expected levels of leverage are calculated using the sum of the notionals approach and the commitment approach methodology as described in the "Risk Factors – Use of Derivatives and other Investment Techniques" section of the Prospectus. Investors should note that the higher limits indicated in the expected levels of leverage under the "Risk Factors – Use of Derivatives and other Investment Techniques" section of the Prospectus. Investors should note that the higher limits indicated in the expected levels of leverage under the "Risk Factors – Use of Derivatives and other Investment Techniques" section of the Prospectus only represent the maximum expected levels of leverage which have been established internally under normal circumstances. Such maximum is not intended to be a hard limit and the actual leverage levels may be higher than the maximum expected levels disclosed in certain circumstances, e.g. very low market volatility, high conviction in the markets, and where an increased number of contracts are used which have high notionals.

For so long as the SICAV and the relevant Portfolios remain authorised under the SFO, the SICAV will provide shareholders with prior written notification of not less than one month (or such other period as the SFC may require) and update the offering documents should the SICAV intend to change the investment objectives, policy and/or restrictions applicable to a portfolio authorised under the SFO in future.

VALUATION

Securities acquired on behalf of a Portfolio may subsequently become illiquid due to events relating to the issuer of the securities, market and economic conditions and regulatory sanctions. In cases where no clear indication of the value of a Portfolio's securities is available (for example, when the secondary markets on which a security is traded has become

illiquid) the Management Company may apply valuation methods to ascertain the fair value of such securities.

In addition, market volatility may result in a discrepancy between the latest available issue and Redemption Prices for the Portfolio and the fair value of the Portfolio's assets. To protect the interest of investors, the Management Company may, after consultation with the Depositary, adjust the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio or the Shares, if in the circumstances it considers that such adjustment is required to reflect more accurately the fair value of the Portfolio's assets.

Valuation of a Portfolio's investments may involve uncertainties and judgmental determinations, and independent pricing information may not at all times be available. If such valuations should prove to be incorrect, the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio may be adversely affected.

Overview of Risk Management Process in relation to Financial Derivative Instruments

The following sections provide a summary of the risk management policy and procedures concerning the Portfolios' investment in FDIs. Further information in relation to such policies and procedures is available from the Hong Kong Representative.

Risk Management Oversight Process

Under Article 42 of the Luxembourg law dated 17 December 2010 relating to Undertakings for Collective Investment (the "Luxembourg UCI Law"), the Management Company is responsible for the oversight of investment and portfolio management and must employ a risk management process. This risk management process must monitor and measure at all times the risk of the security and derivative positions and their contribution to the overall risk profile of the portfolio(s); it must employ a process for accurate and independent assessment of the value of over-the-counter derivative instruments. It must communicate to CSSF, regularly and in accordance with the detailed rules the latter shall define, the types of derivative instruments, the underlying risks, the quantitative limits and the methods which are chosen in order to estimate the risks associated with transactions in derivative instruments.

In order to ensure that all the day-to-day duties concerning active risk management of the Portfolios are being carried out by the Portfolios' Sub-Advisors and the Depositary (Citibank Europe plc, Luxembourg Branch), the board of directors of the Management Company has created a Risk Management Committee, which assists it in the performance of its risk management oversight activities.

The Risk Management Committee, which is chaired by the Chief Risk Officer of the Management Company, monitors the Sub-Advisors and the Depositary, which entities are all participating in the performance of the risk management process, as described below.

Sub-Advisors

Each Sub-Advisor has implemented written procedures and policies to comply with the relevant sub-advised Portfolio's objectives and limitations as outlined in the Prospectus. Frequent compliance checks are performed to ensure that each Portfolio complies with all relevant investment restrictions, as specified in the Prospectus, in order to qualify as an Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities ("UCITS") within the meaning of Part I of the Luxembourg UCI Law and, subsequently, within the meaning of the UCITS Directive 2009/65/EC.

Each Sub-Advisor provides the Management Company with written documentation on internal controls and risk management processes. Risk management reports are generated utilising set risk matrices that are consistent with the risk limitation of each Portfolio and Part I of the Luxembourg UCI Law. The frequency of such reports is at least monthly, it being understood that the Management Company may increase a Sub-Advisor's reporting frequency as necessary.

Depositary

The Depositary also monitors each Portfolio's investment objectives, restrictions and risk parameters. Frequent compliance and risk management checks are performed to ensure that each Portfolio is in compliance with the investment restrictions outlined in the Prospectus. Any issues are resolved between the Management Company, the Depositary and the Sub-Advisors. The Management Company has the responsibility to coordinate the investigation and to ensure proper resolution and reporting to the CSSF, the Directors, auditors, counsel and other parties involved, if applicable.

Regulatory Limitations Controlling Risk

When entering into FDIs on behalf of a Portfolio, Sub-Advisors are required to ensure that the following limitations will be adhered to:

- Counterparties will be first class institutions and first class professionals specialising in these types of transactions.
- Exposure to any single counterparty in instruments will not exceed the limits set out in Appendix A to the Prospectus.
- In respect of Portfolios which use the commitment approach in calculating Global Exposure, the Global Exposure relating to the use of FDIs will not exceed 100% of the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio.
- The FDIs will be valued by an independent valuation process.
- Netting of cash flows or obligations will be used as a means of reducing credit exposure to counterparties.
- International Swaps and Derivatives Association documentation will be executed for swaps to mitigate transaction risk with the counterparty.
- Risk exposure may not be increased by more than 10% by means of temporary borrowing.
- FDIs transactions which are deemed to be free of counterparty risk must be listed on a national exchange.
- Exposure per counterparty on an over-the-counter FDI must be measured on the basis of the sum of positive market to market exposures.
- Global Exposure of a Portfolio will be calculated using the commitment approach if the Portfolio (i) does not engage in complex investment strategies or for which complex investment policies represent only a negligible part of the investment policy, or (ii) has no or a negligible exposure to exotic derivatives, or (iii) presents a market risk which

may be adequately captured by the commitment approach.

Liquidity Risk Management

The Management Company has established a liquidity risk management policy which enables it to identify, monitor and manage the liquidity risks of each Portfolio and to ensure that the liquidity profile of the investments of each Portfolio will facilitate compliance with the Portfolio's obligation to meet redemption requests. Such policy, combined with the liquidity management tools of the Management Company, also seeks to achieve fair treatment of Shareholders and safeguard the interests of remaining Shareholders in case of sizeable redemptions.

The Management Company's liquidity policy takes into account different factors including but not limited to the investment strategy; the liquidity profile; the redemption policy; the dealing frequency; the ability to enforce redemption limitations and the fair valuation policies of the relevant Portfolio. These measures seek to ensure fair treatment and transparency for all investors.

The liquidity management policy involves monitoring the profile of investments held by the relevant Portfolio on an on-going basis to ensure that such investments are appropriate to the redemption policy. Further, the liquidity management policy includes details on periodic stress testing carried out by the Management Company to manage the liquidity risk of each Portfolio under normal and exceptional market conditions. Risk information is updated and reported on a daily basis. Guidelines are set for each Portfolio and liquidity is monitored on a daily basis against these guidelines. The liquidity stress test in the Management Company's guidelines considers the percentage of the portfolio of the Portfolio that could be liquidated within one day pro-rata (i.e. without changing the portfolio composition of the Portfolios). Investigation is undertaken promptly in instances where liquidity is found to fall outside of the guidelines. Any liquidity risk issues that are identified are escalated through the risk governance framework as detailed in the Management Company's risk management policy. For Portfolios for which the value at risk (VaR) approach is used to measure exposure, additional reverse stress tests are also applied, analysing a range of forward-looking scenarios and the likely impact of each scenario is considered and reviewed/challenged monthly by the Management Company's risk management working group.

The Management Company has assigned a designated team responsible for risk management to carry out the liquidity risk monitoring function and they are functionally independent from the day-to-day portfolio investment manager. The oversight of liquidity risk management is performed by the risk management committee. The following tools may be employed by the Management Company to manage liquidity risks:

- In times of high redemptions, where requested redemptions exceed 10% of a Portfolio's Shares or Class of Shares outstanding on any Valuation Date, the directors of the SICAV shall not be bound to redeem or exchange Shares. Accordingly, any redemption or exchange request in excess of such limits may be deferred for a period that the directors of the SICAV consider to be in the best interest of the SICAV but normally not exceeding 30 Valuation Dates after the date of receipt of the redemption or exchange requests. If such limitation is imposed, this would restrict the ability of a Shareholder to redeem in full the Shares the Shareholder intends to redeem or exchange on a particular Dealing Day;
- The Portfolios may suffer reduction of the Net Asset Value per Share due to dealing spreads, transaction costs and tax charges that arise when purchases and sales of underlying investments are undertaken by the Sub-Advisor to accommodate cash inflows and outflows; this is known as "dilution". A dilution adjustment may be applied to protect the Shareholders of the Portfolios by countering the impact of dilution (the "Dilution Adjustment"). If the net capital activity (including subscriptions, redemptions and conversions into a given Portfolio) on a given Valuation Date exceeds the threshold set by the Management Company from time to time for that Portfolio, the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio may be adjusted upwards or downwards to reflect the net inflows and net outflows respectively. Such Dilution Adjustments may vary from Portfolio to Portfolio and between daily net inflows and outflows but will not exceed 2% of the original Net Asset Value per Share. As a result of a Dilution Adjustment, the Subscription Price or the Redemption Price (as the case may be) will be higher or lower than the Subscription Price or the Redemption Price (as the case may be) which otherwise would be if such Dilution Adjustment has not been made;
- The directors of the SICAV may temporarily suspend the issue, exchange and redemption of Shares in any or all of the Portfolios where due to exceptional circumstances. During such period of suspension, Shareholders would not be able to redeem their investments in the relevant Portfolio.

Investors may refer to the sections with the heading "Redemption of Shares", "Dilution Adjustment" and "Suspension of Issue, Redemption and Exchange of Shares and Calculation of Net Asset Value" in the Prospectus and the sections relating to "Investor Risk", and "Suspension of Dealings in the SICAV" in this document for details of the above tools.

KEY INVESTOR INFORMATION DOCUMENT

Notwithstanding the "Important Information" section of the Prospectus, the Key Investor Information Document referred to in the Prospectus is not available for distribution to Hong Kong investors and does not form part of the offering documents of the SICAV in Hong Kong. Hong Kong investors are not required to read or confirm that they have read the Key Investor Information Document before making a subscription in the SICAV. The Key Investor Information Document is available only upon the specific request of a Hong Kong investor at the registered office of the SICAV following his or her receipt of the Hong Kong offering documents. The Key Investor Information Document will be sent to the relevant Hong Kong investor directly from the service provider of the SICAV outside Hong Kong, together with another copy of the Hong Kong offering documents and a personalised cover letter. The terms of the Key Investor Information Document are reflected in the Hong Kong offering documents.

OTHER INFORMATION

Notwithstanding the "Important Information" section of the Prospectus, both the English and Chinese versions of the Prospectus shall be treated as having equal standing in Hong Kong.

The websites www.columbiathreadneedle.com* and www.columbiathreadneedle.com/lux* set out in this document and the Prospectus have not been reviewed by the SFC. These websites are not specifically directed to the public in Hong Kong and may contain information with respect to non-SFC authorised funds which are not available for public offer in Hong Kong. The Directors of the SICAV confirm that the information contained in this document and in the Prospectus accompanying this document is accurate in all material respects as at their respective dates and accept responsibility accordingly.

This document is dated 30 April 2020.

* The contents of this website have not been reviewed by the SFC.

Aggregate Fees* Chargeable by Class

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Threadneedle (Lux) – Class AU, AE, AEC, AUH, AUM, AEH, AUP, AEP, AQ, AQH, AQM, AS, ASC, ASH, ASP, AD, AN, ANH, AF, AKH	Threadneedle (Lux) – Class DU, DUP, DE, DEH, DEP and DEC	Threadneedle (Lux) – Class W and WEH	Threadneedle (Lux) – 1E, 1EH, 1EP, 1U
Bond Portfolios					
	*Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	1.65%	1.75%	1.30%	N/A
	*Emerging Market Debt	1.65%	1.75%	1.30%	N/A
	*Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	1.60%	1.75%	1.45%	N/A
	*US High Yield Bond	1.55%	1.75%	1.55%	N/A
Asset Allocation	Portfolio				
	*Global Multi Asset Income	1.55%	2.30%	N/A	N/A
Equity Portfolios					
	*Global Focus	1.80%	2.55%	1.75%	N/A
	*Global Emerging Market Equities	1.80%	2.55%	2.00%	1.71%
	*Asia Contrarian Equity	1.80%	2.55%	N/A	N/A
	*American	1.80%	2.15%	1.50%	1.67%
	*American Select	1.80%	2.55%	1.75%	1.67%
	*Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	1.85%	2.75%	1.90%	N/A
	*Asian Equity Income	1.80%	2.55%	2.00%	N/A
	*Global Technology	1.95%	2.30%	N/A	N/A

* Aggregate fees include the Asset Management Fees, Operating Expenses and any applicable distribution fee.

To find out more visit www.columbiathreadneedle.com



Important Information

Important Information
Issued in Hong Kong by Threadneedle Fund Services Hong Kong Limited 天利投資管理香港有限公司. Unit 3004, Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Hong Kong. Registered in Hong Kong under the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 32), No. 1173058. Authorised and regulated in Hong Kong by the Securities and Futures Commission. SFC authorisation is not a recommendation or endorsement of a scheme nor does it guarantee the commercial merits of a scheme
or its performance. It does not mean the scheme is suitable for all investors nor is it an endorsement of its suitability for any particular investor or class of investors. Threadneedle Investments is a brand name and both the Threadneedle
Investments name and logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of the Threadneedle group of companies. www.columbiathreadneedle.com
Issued 04.20 | Valid to 04.21 | 315433

PROSPECTUS DECEMBER 2019



Your success. Our priority.

THREADNEEDLE (LUX) PROSPECTUS

COLUMBIATHREADNEEDLE.COM

Threadneedle (Lux) SICAV

A Luxembourg Undertaking For Collective Investment In Transferable Securities Under Part I of the Law of 17 December 2010

Prospectus

December 2019

The Prospectus is only valid in conjunction with the Loose Leaf to the Prospectus dated December 2019.

Table of Contents

Directory	5
Important Information	6
Introduction	7
Investment Objectives and Policies	9
Other Investment Practices	25
Risk Factors	27
The SICAV	37
The Management Company	38
Investment Advisory Arrangements	39
Conflicts of Interest	41
Portfolio Transactions	41
Net Asset Value Determination	41
Net Asset Value Publication	43
Dilution Adjustment	43
Fees and Expenses	43
Distribution Arrangements	46
Distribution Arrangements Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations	46 46
-	
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations	46
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations	46 46
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations Purchase of Shares Redemption of Shares Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain	46 46 47
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations Purchase of Shares Redemption of Shares Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain Portfolios	46 46 47 48
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations Purchase of Shares Redemption of Shares Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain Portfolios Merger or Liquidation	46 46 47 48 48
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations Purchase of Shares Redemption of Shares Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain Portfolios Merger or Liquidation Exchange Privilege	46 46 47 48 48 48
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations Purchase of Shares Redemption of Shares Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain Portfolios Merger or Liquidation Exchange Privilege Market Timing & Late Trading Suspension of Issue, Redemption and Exchange of Shares	46 46 47 48 48 49 50
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations Purchase of Shares Redemption of Shares Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain Portfolios Merger or Liquidation Exchange Privilege Market Timing & Late Trading Suspension of Issue, Redemption and Exchange of Shares and Calculation of Net Asset Value	46 46 47 48 48 49 50 50
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations Purchase of Shares Redemption of Shares Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain Portfolios Merger or Liquidation Exchange Privilege Market Timing & Late Trading Suspension of Issue, Redemption and Exchange of Shares and Calculation of Net Asset Value Dividend Policy	46 46 47 48 48 49 50 50 51
Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations Purchase of Shares Redemption of Shares Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain Portfolios Merger or Liquidation Exchange Privilege Market Timing & Late Trading Suspension of Issue, Redemption and Exchange of Shares and Calculation of Net Asset Value Dividend Policy Tax Considerations	46 46 47 48 48 49 50 50 51 51

Data Protection	55
UN Convention on Cluster Munitions	
Documents Available for Inspection	
APPENDIX A Investment Restrictions	
APPENDIX B.I Investment Techniques and Instru	iments 63
APPENDIX B.II Shariah Portfolio	
APPENDIX C Portfolio Charges (A Shares)	
APPENDIX D Portfolio Charges (B Shares)	
APPENDIX E Portfolio Charges (D Shares)	
APPENDIX F Portfolio Charges (I Shares)	
APPENDIX G Portfolio Charges (J Shares)	
APPENDIX H Portfolio Charges (L Shares)	
APPENDIX I Portfolio Charges (N Shares)	
APPENDIX J Portfolio Charges (S Shares)	
APPENDIX K Portfolio Charges (T Shares)	
APPENDIX L Portfolio Charges (W Shares)	
APPENDIX M Portfolio Charges (X Shares)	
APPENDIX N Portfolio Charges (Y Shares)	
APPENDIX O Portfolio Charges (Z Shares)	
APPENDIX P Portfolio Charges (Class 1 Shares).	
APPENDIX Q Portfolio Charges (Class 2 Shares).	
APPENDIX R Portfolio Charges (Class 3 Shares).	
APPENDIX S Portfolio Charges (Class 4 Shares).	
APPENDIX T Portfolio Charges (Class 8 Shares) .	
APPENDIX U Portfolio Charges (Class 9 Shares).	
APPENDIX V List of delegates and sub-delegates	
of the Depositary	
GLOSSARY	

All capitalised terms used in this Prospectus are defined in the glossary and in Appendix B.II for terms relating to the Shariah Portfolio.

Directory

Directors

Jon Allen Marie-Jeanne Chèvremont-Lorenzini Claude Kremer Julie Griffiths

Management Company

Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A. 44, rue de la Vallée L-2661 Luxembourg Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Directors of the Management Company

Alessandro Aspesi Florian Uleer Laura Weatherup Kar Kean Wong

Depositary, Domiciliary, Administrative and Paying Agent

Citibank Europe plc, Luxembourg Branch 31 Z.A. Bourmicht L-8070 Bertrange Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers, société coopérative 2, rue Gerhard Mercator, B.P. 1443 L-1014 Luxembourg Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Registered Office

31 Z.A. Bourmicht L-8070 Bertrange Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Registrar and Transfer Agent

International Financial Data Services (Luxembourg) S.A. 47, Avenue John F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Hong Kong Representative

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited 17/F Tower 2 & 3, HSBC Centre 1 Sham Mong Road Kowloon Hong Kong

Auditor of the Management Company

PricewaterhouseCoopers, société coopérative 2, rue Gerhard Mercator, B.P. 1443 L-1014 Luxembourg Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Luxembourg Legal Advisers

Linklaters LLP 35, Avenue John F. Kennedy, B.P. 1107 L-1011 Luxembourg Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Important Information

No person may rely on any information other than that contained in this Prospectus or in the documents specified herein as being available for public inspection.

If you are in any doubt about the contents of this Prospectus, you should consult an independent financial adviser. Shares are offered on the basis of the information contained in this Prospectus and the documents referred to herein. No dealer, sales representative or any other person is authorised to give any information or to make any representations concerning Threadneedle (Lux) (the "SICAV"), other than as contained in this Prospectus, and any purchase made by any person on the basis of statements or representations not contained in or inconsistent with the information and representations contained in this Prospectus shall be solely at the risk of the purchaser.

The Directors, whose names appear under the heading "The SICAV", are the persons responsible for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the importance of such information. The Directors accept responsibility accordingly.

Statements made in this Prospectus are based on the laws and practice currently in force in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, and are subject to changes in those laws.

The price of the SICAV's Shares and any income earned on the Shares may go down as well as up. Future earnings and investment performance can be affected by many factors not necessarily within the control of the SICAV or its Directors or officers. For example, changes in exchange rates between currencies, changes in effective interest rates, or changes in market conditions due to a wide range of political or economic factors, as well as the performance of individual companies, may cause the value of an investment to fluctuate. No guarantees as to future performance of, or future return from, the SICAV can be given by the SICAV itself, or by any Director or officer of the SICAV, by the Management Company, or any of its affiliates, or by any of their directors or officers, or by any authorised dealers.

Subscriptions are accepted only on the basis of the current Prospectus and/or Key Investor Information document (the "Key Investor Information Document" or "KIID") accompanied by the most recent annual report and any subsequent semi-annual report of the SICAV, when issued. Such reports form an integral part of this Prospectus. The Prospectus, the Key Investor Information, the annual and semi-annual reports may be translated into other languages. In the case of any ambiguity, the English language version shall prevail to the extent permitted by applicable law.

The Key Investor Information contains the essential characteristics of the SICAV, and shall be provided to investors before their proposed subscription of Shares. The KIID is a pre-contractual document and investors will have to confirm that they have read the latest KIID before making a subscription. The Management Company has the right to reject a subscription if the investor does not confirm that they have read the latest KIID at the time of application. Investors can obtain the latest version of the KIID on the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com.

Persons interested in purchasing Shares should inform themselves as to: (a) the legal requirements within their own countries for the purchase of Shares; (b) any foreign exchange restrictions which may be applicable; and (c) the income and other tax consequences of a purchase, exchange and/or redemption of Shares. In addition, certain distributors, selected dealers and financial intermediaries may not offer all of the SICAV's portfolios (the "Portfolios") or Classes described in this Prospectus. For more information, consult your distributor, selected dealer or financial intermediary.

The Portfolios have not been registered under the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940. In addition, the Shares of each Portfolio have not been registered under the Securities Act and may not be and will not be offered for sale or sold in the United States, its territories or possessions or to a United States Person. The Articles contain certain restrictions on the sale and transfer of Shares of each Portfolio to such persons. See the sections "The SICAV" and "Restrictions on Ownership" of this document.

No dealer, sales representative or any other person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representations, other than those contained in this Prospectus, or in any documents referred to herein as being available for inspection by the public, in connection with the offer made hereby, and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the SICAV or the Management Company. Applications for Shares of any Portfolio are subject to acceptance by the SICAV.

This Prospectus does not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer or invitation to subscribe for any Shares by any person in any jurisdiction (i) in which such offer or invitation is not authorised; (ii) in which the person making such offer or invitation is not qualified to do so; or (iii) to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or invitation.

Prospective purchasers of Shares should inform themselves as to the legal requirements, exchange control regulations and applicable taxes in the countries of their respective citizenship, residence or domicile.

Introduction

Threadneedle (Lux) is an investment company with variable capital ("société d'investissement à capital variable") formed under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and qualifies in Luxembourg as a UCITS.

The SICAV offers investors the opportunity to invest in separate Portfolios. Each Portfolio has a different investment objective and is a separate portfolio of assets represented by separate Shares. Each Portfolio may have one or more Classes of Shares related to it. The SICAV as a whole, including all of the existing Portfolios and all future Portfolios, is one legal entity. However, with regard to third parties and, in particular, with regard to the SICAV's creditors and as between Shareholders, each Portfolio shall be exclusively responsible for all liabilities attributable to it.

Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A. has been appointed as the Management Company to the SICAV.

The Portfolios of the SICAV are as follows:

The Bond Portfolios

Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Corporate Bond (hereafter "Global Corporate Bond") Threadneedle (Lux) – European Corporate Bond (hereafter "European

Corporate Bond") Threadneedle (Lux) – European High Yield Bond (hereafter "European

High Yield Bond") Threadneedle (Lux) – European Short-Term High Yield Bond (hereafter "European Short-Term High Yield Bond")

Threadneedle (Lux) – European Social Bond (hereafter "European Social Bond")

Threadneedle (Lux) – European Strategic Bond (hereafter "European Strategic Bond")

Threadneedle (Lux) – Emerging Market Corporate Bonds (hereafter "Emerging Market Corporate Bonds")

Threadneedle (Lux) – Emerging Market Debt (hereafter "Emerging Market Debt")

Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds (hereafter "Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds")

 $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Threadneedle (Lux)} - \mbox{US High Yield Bond (hereafter "US High Yield Bond")} \\ \mbox{Bond")} \end{array}$

Threadneedle (Lux) – Flexible Asian Bond (hereafter "Flexible Asian Bond")

(each, a "Bond Portfolio", and together, the "Bond Portfolios")

The Asset Allocation Portfolios

Threadneedle (Lux) – Euro Dynamic Real Return (hereafter "Euro Dynamic Real Return")

Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Dynamic Real Return (hereafter "Global Dynamic Real Return")

Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Multi Asset Income (hereafter "Global Multi Asset Income")

(each, an "Asset Allocation Portfolio", and together the "Asset Allocation Portfolios")

The Equity Portfolios

Threadneedle (Lux) - Global Focus (hereafter "Global Focus") Threadneedle (Lux) - Global Emerging Market Equities (hereafter "Global Emerging Market Equities") Threadneedle (Lux) - Global Equity Income (hereafter "Global Equity Income") Threadneedle (Lux) - Global Select (hereafter "Global Select") Threadneedle (Lux) - Global Smaller Companies (hereafter "Global Smaller Companies") Threadneedle (Lux) - American (hereafter "American") Threadneedle (Lux) - American Select (hereafter "American Select") Threadneedle (Lux) - American Smaller Companies ("American Smaller Companies") Threadneedle (Lux) - Asia Contrarian Equity (hereafter "Asia Contrarian Equity") Threadneedle (Lux) - Asia Equities (hereafter "Asia Equities") Threadneedle (Lux) - Developed Asia Growth and Income (hereafter "Developed Asia Growth and Income") Threadneedle (Lux) - US Contrarian Core Equities (hereafter "US Contrarian Core Equities") Threadneedle (Lux) - US Disciplined Core Equities (hereafter "US Disciplined Core Equities") Threadneedle (Lux) - Pan European Equities (hereafter "Pan European Fauities") Threadneedle (Lux) - Pan European Equity Dividend (hereafter "Pan European Equity Dividend") Threadneedle (Lux) - Pan European Small Cap Opportunities (hereafter "Pan European Small Cap Opportunities") Threadneedle (Lux) - Pan European Smaller Companies (hereafter "Pan European Smaller Companies") Threadneedle (Lux) - European Select (hereafter "European Select") Threadneedle (Lux) - European Smaller Companies (hereafter "European Smaller Companies") Threadneedle (Lux) - Asian Equity Income (hereafter "Asian Equity Income") Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Technology (hereafter "Global Technology") Threadneedle (Lux) - UK Equities (hereafter "UK Equities") Threadneedle (Lux) – UK Equity Income (hereafter "UK Equity Income") Threadneedle (Lux) - STANLIB Africa Equity (hereafter "STANLIB Africa Equity")

(each, an "Equity Portfolio", and together, the "Equity Portfolios")

The Absolute Return Portfolios

Threadneedle (Lux) – American Absolute Alpha (hereafter "American Absolute Alpha") Threadneedle (Lux) – Credit Opportunities (hereafter "Credit Opportunities") Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities (hereafter "Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities") Threadneedle (Lux) – Pan European Absolute Alpha (hereafter "Pan European Absolute Alpha")

Threadneedle (Lux) – UK Absolute Alpha (hereafter "UK Absolute Alpha")

(each, an "Absolute Return Portfolio", and together, the "Absolute Return Portfolios")

The Extended Alpha Portfolios

Threadneedle (Lux) – American Extended Alpha (hereafter "American Extended Alpha")

Threadneedle (Lux) – Global Extended Alpha (hereafter "Global Extended Alpha")

(each, an "Extended Alpha Portfolio", and together, the "Extended Alpha Portfolios")

The Specialist Portfolio

Threadneedle (Lux) – Enhanced Commodities (hereafter "Enhanced Commodities") (the "Specialist Portfolio")

The Shariah Portfolio

Threadneedle (Lux) – Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity (hereafter "Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity") (the "Shariah Portfolio")

Details of the target market for each of the Portfolios will be made available on the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com. This will include the types of investor the Portfolio is targeted at, their knowledge and experience and risk tolerance.

Multiple Share Classes are available in respect of each Portfolio as described in the loose leaf to the Prospectus.

The Shares presently issued are offered for sale, where legally permitted, and all subscriptions are accepted on the basis of the current Prospectus and either the last available annual report of the SICAV containing its audited accounts, or the most recent semi-annual report which are available at the registered office of the SICAV.

Investment Objectives and Policies

Set forth below are the investment objectives and policies of each Portfolio. The SICAV is authorised, by amendment to the Prospectus, to offer Shares in additional Portfolios if and when the Directors, the Management Company determine that there is sufficient interest in any such additional Portfolio to warrant an offering of its Shares. There can be no assurance that any Portfolio will achieve its investment objective. Unless specifically stated otherwise, the Net Asset Value of the Portfolios shall be expressed in U.S. Dollars and investment decisions will be made from a U.S. Dollar perspective, unless otherwise indicated. Certain Classes of the Portfolios may be expressed in currencies other than the Base Currency as noted in the loose leaf to the Prospectus.

In addition to the following investment objectives and policies, each Portfolio may employ the investment practices described under "Other Investment Practices" and in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions" and in Appendix B.I "Investment Techniques and Instruments".

A Portfolio may invest in another Portfolio under the conditions set forth by Luxembourg laws and regulations.

The attention of the investors is drawn to the fact that investing in the following Portfolios may involve specific risks described under "Risk Factors" below. Investors should consider such risks before investing in any of the Portfolios especially risks linked to investment in financial derivative instruments when appropriate.

The Bond Portfolios: Global Corporate Bond

The Global Corporate Bond Portfolio seeks to achieve a total return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally, either directly or indirectly through derivatives, in a portfolio focused on Investment Grade corporate debt fixed income and floating rate securities, and when determined appropriate cash and Money Market Instruments. The Portfolio may also invest up to one third of its assets in debt securities other than Investment Grade corporates including, but not limited to, government and below Investment Grade securities, which may include, without being limited to, asset-backed and/or mortgage backed Transferable Securities (not exceeding 20% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value).

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes and hedging. These derivatives may include, but are not limited to, foreign currency exchange and over the counter contracts, futures and options on Transferable Securities, interest rate swaps and credit default swaps.

Where securities are denominated in a currency other than U.S. Dollars it is intended that they will typically be hedged back into U.S. Dollars.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total returns through income and capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to global corporate credit bond markets;
- are willing to take on a moderate level of risk;
- have a medium-term investment horizon.

European Corporate Bond

The European Corporate Bond Portfolio seeks to achieve a total return from income and capital appreciation by investing in fixed income securities that are primarily denominated in Euro.

The Portfolio will principally invest in a broad range of Investment Grade fixed income securities issued by companies domiciled in Europe or which have significant European operations. It may also invest in Investment Grade securities that are issued by sovereign and supranational borrowers. However, it is intended that the Portfolio will not invest more than 25% of its net assets in securities that are rated AAA (Standard & Poor's) or an equivalent rating from another leading rating agency. A maximum of 10% of the Portfolio's net assets can be invested in securities that are rated below Investment Grade. The Portfolio may invest in mortgage and asset-backed securities (the mortgage and asset-backed securities not exceeding 10% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value) and CoCos (not exceeding 10% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value).

Where securities are denominated in a currency other than Euro it is intended that they will typically be hedged back into Euro.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for the purpose of reducing risks or costs, i.e. where the use of a financial derivative instrument is economically appropriate.

The Sub-Advisor considers the Markit iBoxx Euro Corporate Bond Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of EUR denominated investment grade fixed-income bonds. It provides a helpful benchmark against which the Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total returns through income and capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to European corporate bond markets;
- are willing to tolerate moderate price fluctuations and to take on a moderate level of risk;
- have a medium-term investment horizon.

European High Yield Bond

The European High Yield Bond Portfolio seeks to achieve a total return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally in Euro or Sterling denominated fixed income securities that are rated below Investment Grade.

The Portfolio will principally invest in fixed income securities issued by companies domiciled in Europe, or with significant European operations.

The Portfolio may invest in CoCos (not exceeding 10% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value).

Where securities are denominated in a currency other than Euro it is intended that they will typically be hedged back into Euro.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for the purpose of reducing risks or costs, i.e. where the use of a financial derivative instrument is economically appropriate. The weighted average credit rating of the Portfolio is expected to be between Ba2 and B2 as rated by Moody's (or equivalent).

The Sub-Advisor considers the ICE BofAML European Currency High Yield Constrained ex Subordinated Financials (Hedged to Euro) Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of EUR and GBP below investment grade corporate debt. It provides a helpful benchmark against which the Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek a potential total return primarily by way of income;
- seek investment exposure to European corporate bond markets and seek diversification in their investments through exposure to the Euro denominated high-yield market;
- are willing to tolerate moderate to large price fluctuations and have hence a moderate to high risk tolerance;
- have a medium to long term investment horizon.

European Short-Term High Yield Bond

The European Short-Term High Yield Bond Portfolio seeks to achieve a total return from income with some capital appreciation. The Portfolio will seek to deliver returns with lower volatility than that of the short-term European high yield bond market.

The Portfolio will seek exposure, directly or indirectly, to credit rated below Investment Grade, that is issued by companies domiciled in Europe or with significant European operations, or is denominated in EUR or GBP and whose residual maturity does not exceed 4 years.

The Portfolio will invest at least 50% of its net assets directly in fixed income securities that meet the criteria above, and the Portfolio will maintain a net credit exposure as described above of at least two-thirds of its net assets.

Secondarily, the Portfolio may also invest in other transferable securities (typically debt-related instruments such as index-linked debt securities), Money Market Instruments and UCIs, including ETFs. The Portfolio may hold cash and cash equivalents (including deposits), mostly for liquidity purposes.

The Portfolio may invest up to 20% of its net assets in asset-backed and/ or mortgage-backed transferable securities.

The weighted average credit rating of the Portfolio is expected to be between Ba2 and B2 (or equivalent). The Portfolio's exposure to fixed income securities rated Caa1 (or equivalent) or below will not exceed 10% of the Portfolio's net assets.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes and hedging. Where securities are denominated in a currency other than Euro it is intended that they will typically be hedged back into Euro.

Certain positions will be taken by the use of financial derivative instruments including, but not limited to, swaps (incl. total return swaps as described below or credit default swaps (CDS)), forward positions, futures and options related to the instruments above in accordance with section A(7)(i) in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions".

The Portfolio may enter into total return swaps (a general description of total / excess return swaps is available in Appendix B.I) on credit instruments or cash credit indices for hedging and / or investment purposes, to gain market exposure and liquidity or as part of a leveraged long strategy. For further information on counterparties, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

It is expected that any of the assets of the Portfolio may be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ¹	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ²
Total return swaps	20%	5%

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek a potential total return by way of income with some capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to European corporate bond markets and seek diversification in their investments through exposure to the European short-term high yield bond market;
- are willing to take on a moderate level of risk;
- have a medium-term investment horizon.

European Social Bond

The European Social Bond Portfolio seeks to achieve a total return from income and capital appreciation by investing in debt securities that are considered to support or fund socially beneficial activities and development principally in Europe.

To meet its objective, the Portfolio invests principally in all forms of debt securities that are rated Investment Grade and issued by a government or a supranational, public, private or voluntary and/or charitable sector organisation, whether they have a fixed, floating, variable or index-linked rate or have a zero coupon. These securities may include covered bonds, agency bonds, mortgage and asset-backed securities (the mortgage and asset-backed securities not exceeding 10% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value) and Contingent Convertible Bonds (not exceeding 10% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value). The Sub-Advisor will select debt securities that are rated as social investments under the Social Rating Methodology, as described below.

Secondarily, the Portfolio may hold cash, near cash, Money Market Instruments and other debt securities.

¹ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach. ² The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

Notwithstanding the above, in exceptional circumstances, from time to time, a maximum of 10% of the Portfolio's net assets can be held in debt securities that do not, or are no longer deemed to qualify, as social investments under the Social Rating Methodology. However, such debt securities must at least meet acceptable environmental, social and governance (ESG) standards as assessed by the Sub-Advisor. These encompass any wider, material business involvement exposures the issuers may have, such as to the production of alcohol, tobacco, gambling, adult entertainment or controversial weapons, or to activities deemed to breach the UN Global Compact.

The Portfolio will not invest or have more than 10% of its net assets in debt securities that are rated below Investment Grade, provided that such securities are not rated below B- or equivalent by any NRSRO at the time of purchase.

Overview of the investment and assessment processes Investment process

The Sub-Advisor will select the debt securities based on credit analysis and the social rating and categorisation produced under the Social Rating Methodology. The Social Rating Methodology is a proprietary categorisation and rating model developed by the Sub-Advisor, which analyses the social characteristics of each potential investment. Under the methodology, each investment will be analyzed under a two-stream process that:

 (i) assesses the broad social intensity and intentionality associated with the use of a bond's proceeds, to categorize it as either an impact investment, an investment with impact, as development finance or as being general financing;

(ii) applies a three stage assessment model that examines and scores nine aspects of the focus and social outcomes attributable to a bond, across fields of social development such as affordable housing, health and welfare, education, employment, access to services and economic regeneration and development, to derive a numerical score that, subject to a de-minimis threshold, produces a social rating of minor, moderate, good or strong. A bond rated as, or whose rating falls, below the deminimis threshold is subject to review and re-categorization as general financing.

The categorization and ratings are then used by the Sub-Advisor in constructing the Portfolio.

Assessment and research process

The Sub-Advisor has partnered with INCO (http://inco.co.com/), an organisation specialising in impact investment, to provide assistance in assessing and reporting on the social outcomes of the Portfolio and providing research on trends and practices relevant to impact investment.

To that end, a Social Advisory Panel (or "SAP"), composed of 3 members nominated by the Sub-Advisor and 3 members nominated by INCO, has been established to review, advise on and monitor the application and development of the Social Rating Methodology as well as to review the actual social outcomes of investments that have been made by the Sub-Advisor. The SAP will be chaired by one of the members nominated by INCO.

An annual social performance report, prepared by INCO and approved by the SAP, will be made available to investors.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total returns through income and capital appreciation;
- seek exposure to European fixed income markets through investments deemed to be supporting and funding socially beneficial activities and development. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration in Europe may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- are willing to take on a moderate level of risk;
- have a medium-term investment horizon.

European Strategic Bond

The European Strategic Bond Portfolio seeks to achieve total return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally in short to-medium term European sovereign bonds and corporate bonds (including Contingent Convertible Bonds for up to 5% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value), that are Investment Grade or non-Investment Grade, primarily issued by companies domiciled in Europe or with significant operations in Europe.

The Portfolio may also use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes, hedging and efficient portfolio management. These derivatives may include, but are not limited to, foreign currency exchange contracts, futures on transferable securities and interest rate swaps. The Portfolio seeks to actively manage currency exposure and interest rate risk through the use of such derivative instruments.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total return through income and capital appreciation;
- seek to diversify their investments through exposure to European debt;
- seek active management of interest rate risk;
- will accept moderate volatility and moderate to high level of risk;
- have a medium to long-term investment horizon.

Emerging Market Corporate Bonds

The Emerging Market Corporate Bonds Portfolio is actively managed and seeks to achieve total return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally in U.S. Dollar-denominated or U.S. Dollar hedged Investment Grade and below Investment Grade debt and other obligations issued or guaranteed by institutions and corporations having their head office in, or conducting a significant part of their business in, Emerging Market Countries.

The Portfolio may secondarily invest in other debt securities, including bonds issued by sovereign borrowers from Emerging Market Countries, bonds issued by sovereign and corporate borrowers from OECD, deposits, cash and near cash. Up to 10% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value may be invested in bonds traded on the China Interbank Bond Market using Bond Connect³.

Emerging market investments are more volatile and present higher risk than investments in more established markets. Investors should consider this extra risk when evaluating the potential benefits of investing in this Portfolio.

The Portfolio may also use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes, hedging and efficient portfolio management. These derivatives may include, but are not limited to, foreign currency exchange contracts, interest rate swaps, interest rate futures and credit default swaps.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek returns from both income and capital appreciation;
- seek to diversify their investments through exposure to emerging market corporate debt;
- will accept high volatility and high level of risk;
- have a medium to long-term investment horizon.

Emerging Market Debt

The Emerging Market Debt Portfolio is actively managed and seeks to achieve total return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally in sovereign bonds and corporate bonds issued by borrowers from Emerging Market Countries.

Up to 10% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value may be invested in bonds traded on the China Interbank Bond Market using Bond Connect⁴.

The Portfolio may further invest in other fixed income securities, including bonds issued by countries making up the G-7, deposits, cash and near cash.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total return through income and capital appreciation;
- seek diversification within their investments through exposure to emerging market debt;
- can tolerate the high volatility associated with emerging market debt;
- are willing to take on a high level of risk;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds

The Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds Portfolio is actively managed and seeks to achieve total return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally in a globally diversified range of Transferable debt Securities. Such securities will be issued or guaranteed by emerging market sovereignties or supranational entities, or financial institutions or corporations headquartered in Emerging Market Countries. The Portfolio may also invest secondarily in debt securities issued or guaranteed by G-7 sovereignties or supranational entities and in credit linked notes. The Portfolio may invest in securities denominated in various currencies and will generally hedge non-U.S. Dollar exposures. However, the maximum amount of non-U.S. Dollar exposure remaining unhedged will not exceed 35% of the net assets of the Portfolio. At the same time, the maximum amount of non-U.S. Dollar exposure remaining unhedged in any one currency will not exceed 10% of the net assets of the Portfolio. The Portfolio will have an average duration of five years or less.

Up to 10% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value may be invested in bonds traded on the China Interbank Bond Market using Bond Connect⁵.

The Portfolio may also use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes, hedging and efficient portfolio management. These derivatives may include, but are not limited to, foreign currency exchange contracts, interest rate swaps, interest rate futures and credit default swaps.

Emerging market investments are more volatile and present higher risk than investments in more established markets. Investors should consider this extra risk when evaluating the potential benefits of investing in this Portfolio.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total return through income and capital appreciation;
- seek diversification within their investments through exposure to emerging market short-term debt;
- can tolerate the high volatility associated with emerging market debt;
- are willing to take on a high level of risk;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

US High Yield Bond

The US High Yield Bond Portfolio seeks to achieve total return from capital appreciation and income by investing principally in income-producing U.S. Dollar denominated debt securities with an emphasis on the High Yield (i.e. below investment grade) market. The Portfolio will invest under normal circumstances at least two thirds of its net assets in a diversified portfolio of debt securities that are rated below Investment Grade. The Portfolio will not generally purchase debt securities rated below "C" by S&P or by Moody's or that have an equivalent rating by another NRSRO, or are unrated and believed to be of similar quality. All ratings apply at the time the investment is made. If the rating of a security changes subsequent to purchase, the security may continue to be held at the Sub-Advisor's discretion.

The Portfolio may invest secondarily in other securities and may employ other investment strategies that are not principal investment strategies. The Portfolio's policies permit investment in other Transferable Securities, including non-income-producing securities and common stocks. The Portfolio may invest up to 25% of its net assets in non-U.S. securities and up to 10% of its net assets in non-U.S. Dollar denominated securities.

The Portfolio may also use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes, hedging and efficient portfolio management. These derivatives may include, but are not limited to, interest rate futures, interest rate options, interest rate swaps, total/excess return swaps and credit default swaps.

³ The ability for the Portfolio to invest through the China Interbank Bond Market using Bond Connect will be effective from 13 January 2020.
⁴ The ability for the Portfolio to invest through the China Interbank Bond Market using Bond Connect

will be effective from 13 January 2020.

⁵ The ability for the Portfolio to invest through the China Interbank Bond Market using Bond Connect will be effective from 13 January 2020.

Investment in debt securities rated below Investment Grade entails special risks and may not be appropriate for all investors.

Use of total return swaps:

The fund may enter into total return swaps (a general description of total/ excess return swaps is available in Appendix B.I) on high yield instruments or indices for investment purposes or to gain market exposure while managing flows.

It is expected that the assets of the Portfolio will be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ⁶	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ⁷
Total return swaps	10%	5%

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total return through higher income and capital appreciation:
- seek diversification in their investments through exposure to the U.S. Dollar denominated high-yield market;
- can tolerate the high price volatility and lower liquidity associated with lower-rated debt securities;
- are willing to take on a high level of risk;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Flexible Asian Bond

The Flexible Asian Bond Portfolio is actively managed and seeks to achieve a total return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally, either directly or indirectly through derivatives, in a portfolio of government and non-government fixed income and floating rate securities (including covered bonds, perpetual bonds, and callable and puttable bonds) that are either Investment Grade or below Investment Grade at the time of purchase, and when determined appropriate cash and Money Market Instruments. The Portfolio may also invest in assetbacked Transferable Securities (not exceeding 20% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value), Convertible Bonds and preference shares. These securities will be denominated either in U.S. Dollars or in Asian currencies (with the exclusion of Japanese Yen) and issued or guaranteed by institutions and corporations having their head office in, or exercising the predominant part of their economic activity in Asia (with the exclusion of Japan). The Portfolio may also invest in currencies, including non-Asian currencies, either directly or indirectly through financial derivative instruments.

Up to 20% of the Portfolio's Net Asset Value may be invested in bonds traded on the China Interbank Bond Market using Bond Connect⁸.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for investment and hedging purposes. These derivatives may include, but are not limited to, deliverable and non-deliverable forward foreign exchange contracts (relating to Asian and non-Asian currencies), futures and options on Transferable Securities, interest rate swaps and credit default swaps.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total returns through income and capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to Asian (excluding Japan) bond markets. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate the high price volatility and lower liquidity associated with lower-rated and other less-liquid debt securities;
- are willing to take on a high level of risk;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

The Asset Allocation Portfolios: **Euro Dynamic Real Return**

The Euro Dynamic Real Return Portfolio seeks to achieve a positive real rate of return, i.e. above the rate of inflation (as measured by the Monetary Union index of consumer prices (MUICP)), from capital appreciation and income over the medium to long term.

To achieve its objective, the Portfolio will take a flexible investment approach and invest in various asset classes such as fixed income securities (including those rated below Investment Grade), equities, Money Market Instruments, currencies, commodities (up to 20% of the assets of the Portfolio) and property securities (up to 20% of the assets of the Portfolio) (the "Investable Universe"). The Sub-Advisor will actively vary the exposure between asset classes in order to achieve the Portfolio's investment objective. This may result in the Portfolio having no exposure to particular asset classes.

Except for its exposure to physical commodities or real property which will always be indirect, the Portfolio may take direct or indirect exposure to the Investable Universe. The indirect exposure to the Investable Universe may be gained through various instruments or vehicles such as:

- UCITS or eligible UCIs, which gain exposure to the Investable Universe, most of which - with the exception of money market funds and exchange traded funds - will be managed, operated or advised by the Management Company, or a company in the same group of companies as the Management Company. For the avoidance of doubt, such UCITS or eligible UCIs will not invest directly in real property or physical commodities. The Portfolio may invest up to 100% of its assets in such UCITS or eligible UCIs;
- closed-ended REITs;
- financial derivative instruments, including, but not limited to, equity swaps, futures and options related to the Investable Universe in accordance with section A(7)(i) in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions".

Direct investments in asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities and CoCos will be limited to 20% and 10% of the Portfolio's net assets, respectively. The Portfolio will not make any direct investments into fixed income securities that have a rating below B- as rated by S&P or Fitch or the Moody's equivalent B3 at the time of purchase. In the event the Portfolio takes a significant direct exposure to high yield securities, the weighted average credit rating of the Portfolio's direct exposure to fixed income securities is expected to be at least BB- as rated by S&P or Fitch or the Moody's equivalent of Ba3.

⁶ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach

⁷ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.
⁸ The ability for the Portfolio to invest through the China Interbank Bond Market using Bond Connect

The Sub-Advisor may take a defensive decision to invest up to 100% of the assets in the Portfolio in cash, Money Market Instruments, money market funds and short-dated government bonds in extreme market environments.

In order to capture pay-offs which may not be accessed through other instruments such as risk premia or in order to implement the policy in a more efficient manner, the Sub-Advisor may also choose to use total return swaps where the return is linked to the performance of a basket of investments that the Sub-Advisor will have selected at its sole and entire discretion. These baskets of investments may be composed of equities, fixed income and commodity indices.

For further information on counterparties to total return swaps, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

Any of the Portfolio's assets may be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ⁹	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ¹⁰
Total return swaps	50%	0-15%

The Portfolio will use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes and hedging, which may increase or decrease the risk profile of the Portfolio. Forward foreign exchange contracts (where the underlying are developed or emerging market currencies) may be used for investment purposes to benefit from expected movements in exchange rates between certain currencies.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek a positive real rate of return through capital appreciation, with some income;
- seek to add diversification to their investments through the Investable Universe;
- seek lower volatility in the value of their investment than an investment in equities, but can tolerate some volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a medium to high risk tolerance;
- have a medium to long term investment time horizon.

Global Dynamic Real Return

The Global Dynamic Real Return Portfolio seeks to achieve a return from income and capital appreciation.

The Portfolio will invest globally principally in the equity and fixed income securities of both government and corporate issuers, either directly, or indirectly through financial derivative instruments and/or collective investment schemes, as well as in forward currency exchange contracts and, when determined appropriate on a defensive basis, in cash and Money Market Instruments. The Portfolio may also gain indirect exposure to commodities through, but not limited to, investment in collective investment schemes, securitised notes and/or financial derivative instruments where such derivatives' underlying instruments are indices. The Portfolio will not invest in physical commodities or property.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments and forward transactions for both efficient portfolio management and investment purposes. The use of derivatives for investment purposes may increase the risk profile of the Portfolio.

The Portfolio retains the flexibility to vary its exposure between asset classes where it deems necessary in order to achieve the investment objective.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation in a globally asset-allocated portfolio;
- seek to add diversification to their investments through exposure to global equities, fixed income, cash, currencies and commodities;
- have a medium to high level of risk tolerance;
- have a medium- to long-term investment time horizon.

Global Multi Asset Income

The Global Multi Asset Income Portfolio seeks to achieve an income with the prospect of capital appreciation over the medium to long term.

The Portfolio will invest principally in global fixed income and global equity securities. The Portfolio may further invest in cash and other securities globally (including Money Market Instruments, currencies, REITs, convertible debt securities and other asset classes). The Portfolio will follow a flexible asset allocation policy to achieve the investment objective, and this may result in the Portfolio having no exposure to particular asset classes.

The Portfolio may invest up to 10% in other UCITS or UCIs, and may use derivatives for investment purposes and hedging, including the generation of additional income. Such derivatives may include but are not limited to, futures and options, interest rate swaps, and foreign currency exchange contracts.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek potential total returns from income and capital appreciation;
- seek investment diversification through exposure to global fixed income and equity markets;
- will accept moderate to high volatility and a moderate to high level of risk;
- have a medium to long-term investment horizon.

The Equity Portfolios:

Global Focus

The Global Focus Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in a concentrated portfolio of equity securities of corporate issuers listed, domiciled or conducting a significant part of their business in developed and Emerging Market Countries. Secondarily, the Portfolio may invest in securities convertible into equity securities and/or warrants.

Typical Investor's Profile

- seek capital appreciation through a globally-focused equity fund;
- seek investment diversification through exposure to global equities;

⁹ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach. ¹⁰ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach

- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- can tolerate high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Global Emerging Market Equities

The Global Emerging Market Equities Portfolio seeks to achieve longterm capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of Emerging Market Countries companies. These are defined as companies domiciled in and/or whose significant activities are in Emerging Market Countries. The Portfolio may further invest in other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities and Money Market Instruments).

The Portfolio may invest up to 30% of its Net Asset Value in China A-Shares through the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation through a global emerging market-focused equity fund;
- seek investment diversification through exposure to Emerging Market Countries equities;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in developing countries;
- can tolerate frequent periods of high volatility and risk;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Global Equity Income

The Global Equity Income Portfolio seeks to achieve income with prospects for capital appreciation. The Portfolio will invest principally in global equity securities. Income will be in the form of dividend distribution.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

The Sub-Advisor considers the MSCI All Countries World Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of large and medium sized companies across both developed and Emerging Market Countries. It provides a helpful benchmark against which Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek a high and growing income with prospects for capital appreciation;
- seek to add diversification to their investments through exposure to global equities;
- can tolerate high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Global Select

The Global Select Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in equity securities issued by companies globally. The

"select" investment approach means that the Portfolio has the flexibility to take significant stock and sector positions, which may lead to increased levels of volatility.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

The Sub-Advisor considers the MSCI All Countries World Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of large and mediumsized companies across both developed and Emerging Market Countries. It provides a helpful benchmark against which the Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek above average capital growth;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- can tolerate high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Global Smaller Companies

The Global Smaller Companies Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of Global Smaller Companies. The Portfolio may further invest in other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities and Money Market Instruments).

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment diversification through exposure to global equities;
- seek investment exposure to small size companies. The investor should be aware that there are certain risks associated with investing in smaller companies that may include greater market price volatility and greater vulnerability to fluctuations in the economic cycle;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

American

The American Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of medium to large companies domiciled in North America or with significant North American operations. The Portfolio may further invest in other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities and Money Market Instruments).

Typical Investor's Profile

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment diversification through exposure to the North American equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more geographically diversified portfolio;

- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

American Select

The American Select Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of companies domiciled in North America or which have significant North American operations. These may include large, medium and smaller companies. There will be no particular specialisation. The select investment approach means that the Portfolio has the flexibility to take significant stock and sector positions which may lead to increased levels of volatility.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the North American equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

American Smaller Companies

The American Smaller Companies Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in shares issued by American Smaller Companies that are domiciled in the United States or have significant US operations.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

The Sub-Advisor considers the Russell 2500 Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of small to medium-sized companies of the US equity market. It provides a helpful benchmark against which the Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment diversification through exposure to the US equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more geographically diversified portfolio;
- seek investment exposure to small size companies. The investor should be aware that there are certain risks associated with investing in smaller companies that may include greater market price volatility and greater vulnerability to fluctuations in the economic cycle;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Asia Contrarian Equity

The Asia Contrarian Equity Portfolio seeks to achieve long-term capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of companies listed, domiciled, or exercising the predominant part of their economic activity in the Asia Pacific region (excluding Japan). The Portfolio may invest up to 40% of its Net Asset Value in China A-Shares through the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme.

The Sub-Advisor will take a contrarian approach to security selection, with an emphasis on stocks that have underperformed the market due to negative sentiment, but which it believes have the potential for recovery.

The Portfolio may further invest in other securities including convertible debt securities, real estate investment trusts and Money Market Instruments.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the equity markets of the Asia Pacific region (excluding Japan). The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Asia Equities

The Asia Equities Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of companies domiciled in Asia (excluding Japan), or with significant operations in Asia (excluding Japan), including through depositary receipts. The Portfolio may invest up to 40% of its Net Asset Value in China A-Shares through the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

The Sub-Advisor considers the MSCI All Countries Asia Pacific ex Japan Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of large and medium sized companies within the Asia Pacific region (excluding Japan). It provides a helpful benchmark against which Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the Asian equity market, excluding Japan. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Developed Asia Growth and Income

The Developed Asia Growth and Income Portfolio seeks to achieve returns comprising of income and capital growth by investing principally in the equity securities of companies listed or domiciled in the developed countries (i.e. countries that are not Emerging Market Countries) of the Asia Pacific region (excluding Japan), or exercising the predominant part of their economic activity in such markets.

Secondarily, the Portfolio may also invest in the equity securities of companies in Emerging Market Countries of the Asia Pacific region (excluding Japan) as well as in other securities, including convertible debt securities, real estate investment trusts and Money Market Instruments.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek income and capital appreciation;
- seek primary investment exposure to the equity markets of developed countries in the Asia Pacific region (excluding Japan) with flexibility for some exposure to Emerging Market Countries of the region. The investor should be aware that geographic or sector concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

US Contrarian Core Equities

The US Contrarian Core Equities Portfolio seeks to achieve long-term capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of large cap companies (generally over US\$ 2 billion in market capitalisation, as at time of purchase) listed, domiciled, or conducting a significant part of their business in the United States. The Sub-Advisor will take a contrarian approach and will specifically target stocks that it believes are undervalued by the market.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes, hedging and efficient portfolio management. These derivatives may include but are not limited to equity swaps, options, futures and foreign currency exchange contracts.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the US equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment time horizon.

US Disciplined Core Equities

The US Disciplined Core Equities Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of large cap companies (within the market capitalisation range of companies in the S&P500 Index, as at the time of purchase) listed, domiciled or exercising a predominant part of their activity in the United States.

Secondarily, the Portfolio may also invest in the equity securities of companies listed, domiciled and exercising a predominant part of their activity outside the United States. The Portfolio may also hold cash and Money Market Instruments.

The Sub-Advisor aims to use a consistent, disciplined investment approach to select securities, by combining quantitative and fundamental research based on multiple sector-specific factors. The Sub-Advisor selects potential investments using a fundamental, research-based approach and incorporates this research into proprietary models which seek to identify undervalued companies with improving fundamentals, and to generate model rankings for individual companies. The model rankings are used by the Sub-Advisor to select securities and construct the Portfolio based on the Sub-Advisor's expertise and fundamental knowledge of the securities.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the US equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment time horizon.

Pan European Equities

The Pan European Equities Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity of large companies domiciled in Europe or with significant European activities. The Portfolio may further invest in the equity securities of European Smaller Companies and other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities and Money Market Instruments).

The Net Asset Value of the Portfolio shall be expressed in Euro and investment decisions will be made from a Euro perspective.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the European equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Pan European Equity Dividend

The Pan European Equity Dividend Portfolio seeks to achieve an income combined with prospects for capital appreciation from a portfolio of shares issued by companies in Europe. The Portfolio will invest principally in equity securities of companies domiciled in Europe or with significant operations in Europe.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

The Net Asset Value of the Portfolio shall be expressed in Euro and investment decisions will be made from a Euro perspective.

The Sub-Advisor considers the MSCI Europe Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of large and medium-sized companies within European developed market countries (including the UK). It provides a helpful benchmark against which the Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek a reasonable and growing income with prospects capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the European equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Pan European Small Cap Opportunities

The Pan European Small Cap Opportunities Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of European Smaller Companies. The Portfolio may further invest in other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities and Money Market Instruments).

The Net Asset Value of this Portfolio shall be expressed in Euro and investment decisions will be made from a Euro perspective.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the European equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- seek investment exposure to small size European companies. The investor should be aware that there are certain risks associated with investing in smaller companies that may include greater market price volatility and greater vulnerability to fluctuations in the economic cycle;
- can tolerate potentially large fluctuations in share price;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Pan European Smaller Companies

The Pan European Smaller Companies Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of European Smaller Companies. The Sub-Advisor will typically favour investments in companies at the higher end of the smaller companies capitalisation scale.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

The Sub-Advisor considers the EMIX Smaller European Companies Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of small to mediumsized companies within European developed markets. It provides a helpful benchmark against which the Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the European equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- seek investment exposure to small size European companies, with an inclination towards companies at the higher end of the smaller companies capitalisation scale. The investor should be aware that there are certain risks associated with investing in smaller companies that may include greater market price volatility and greater vulnerability to fluctuations in the economic cycle;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

European Select

The European Select Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of companies domiciled in Continental Europe or which have significant Continental European operations. These may include large, medium and smaller companies. There will be no particular specialisation. The select investment approach means that the Portfolio has the flexibility to take significant stock and sector positions which may lead to increased levels of volatility. The Portfolio may further invest in other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities and Money Market Instruments).

Typical Investor's Profile

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to Continental European equity markets. The investor should be aware that geographic, stock or sector concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;

- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

European Smaller Companies

The European Smaller Companies Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of European Smaller Companies (excluding the United Kingdom). For this Portfolio, European Smaller Companies are companies that are not represented in the top 225 companies in the FTSE World Europe (ex UK) Index at the time of purchase.

The Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

The Sub-Advisor considers the EMIX Smaller European Companies Ex UK Index as providing an appropriate performance measure of small to medium-sized companies within Europe's developed markets. It provides a helpful benchmark against which Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the European equity market, excluding the United Kingdom. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- seek investment exposure to small size European companies. The investor should be aware that there are certain risks associated with investing in smaller companies that may include greater market price volatility and greater vulnerability to fluctuations in the economic cycle;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Asian Equity Income

The Asian Equity Income Portfolio seeks to achieve income and capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of companies domiciled in Asia (with the exclusion of Japan) or with significant Asian (excluding Japan) operations. The Portfolio may further invest in other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities, convertible debt securities, real estate investment trusts and Money Market Instruments).

The Portfolio may invest up to 40% of its Net Asset Value in China A-Shares through the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek income and capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the Asia Pacific (excluding Japan) equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;

- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities of a single region;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Global Technology

The Global Technology Portfolio seeks to achieve long term capital appreciation by making global investments principally in Transferable Securities of companies with business operations in technology and technology-related industries. Technology-related companies are those companies that use technology extensively to improve their business processes and applications.

The Portfolio may invest in Transferable Securities of issuers of any size and domiciled in any country. The Portfolio will normally invest its assets in any equity securities, including common stock, securities convertible or exchangeable into common stock, rights and warrants to purchase common stock and depositary receipts representing an ownership interest in these equity securities. The Portfolio may invest up to 25% of its assets in preferred stock and Investment Grade debt securities.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek portfolio diversification through exposure to the technology sector. The investor should be aware that sector concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

UK Equities

The UK Equities Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing principally in the equity securities of companies domiciled in the United Kingdom or which have significant United Kingdom operations. The Portfolio may further invest in other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities and Money Market Instruments).

The Net Asset Value of the Portfolio shall be expressed in GBP and investment decisions will be made from a GBP perspective.

Typical Investor Profile

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the equity market of the United Kingdom.
 The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more geographically diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

UK Equity Income

The objective of the UK Equity Income Portfolio is to achieve an income at least in line with the equity market of the United Kingdom combined with sound prospects for capital growth.

The Portfolio will principally invest in the equity securities of companies domiciled in the United Kingdom or exercising a predominant part of their activity in the United Kingdom.

The Portfolio may further invest in other securities (including fixed income securities, other equities and Money Market Instruments) and hold cash.

The Net Asset Value of the Portfolio shall be expressed in GBP and investment decisions will be made from a GBP perspective.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- primarily seek income as well as capital appreciation;
- seek investment exposure to the equity market of the United Kingdom. The investor should be aware that geographic concentration may add more volatility than a more geographically diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long term investment time horizon.

STANLIB Africa Equity

The STANLIB Africa Equity Portfolio seeks to achieve medium to longterm capital growth. The generation of income is secondary to the primary objective of maximising capital growth.

The Portfolio will invest principally in equity securities of companies that are listed or traded on Other Regulated Markets in Africa (excluding South Africa) or of companies that are listed or traded on Regulated Markets that carry out a substantial portion of their business (meaning not less than 51%) in Africa (e.g. mining exploration companies listed on the Alternative Investment Market in the UK, the Toronto Stock Exchange or the Johannesburg Stock Exchange).

Currently, the stock exchanges in the countries set out below are considered to constitute eligible Other Regulated Markets in Africa (excluding South Africa): Namibia, Zambia, Ghana, Mauritius, Botswana, Nigeria, Zimbabwe, Kenya, Morocco and Egypt.

The Sub-Advisor considers that the stock exchanges in the countries set out below meet the regulatory criteria for an Other Regulated Market. To the extent that the Sub-Advisor confirms that such stock exchanges meet the regulatory criteria and provided that the Depositary can provide custody of assets in these countries, it is the intention of the Sub-Advisor to avail of investment opportunities in these countries and Shareholders will be notified in the next following periodic report of the SICAV. The relevant countries are Ivory Coast, Tunisia, Malawi, Uganda and Tanzania.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek investment exposure to the Africa (excluding South Africa) equity market. The investor should be aware that geographic stock and sector concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate frequent periods of high volatility and risk, and accept that the liquidity of investments may be less than that of more developed markets;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities of a single emerging market region;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

The Absolute Return Portfolios:

Risk factors for Absolute Return Portfolios (to be read in conjunction with the "Risk Factors" section of this Prospectus):

Absolute Return

Portfolios seeking an Absolute Return will use investment techniques that are capable of making profits in markets where security prices are increasing or decreasing. As such, they have a potential to deliver a positive return independent of the market direction. However, it is important to note this does not mean these Portfolios will produce a positive return at all times, and indeed may be subject to periods of negative return. These investment techniques will also introduce additional risks when compared to more traditional directional Portfolios.

Use of derivatives and forward transactions

The Portfolios use derivatives and forward transactions for both efficient portfolio management and investment purposes including short selling and leverage. The use of derivatives and forward transactions may significantly increase or decrease the risk profile of the Portfolio.

Short Sales and Leverage

The Portfolio's exposure involves short sales of securities and leverage via financial derivative instruments which increases the risk of the Portfolio. The investment strategy includes the synthetic short sales of securities, which creates an exposure equivalent to selling securities not physically owned by the Portfolios at the time. The Portfolios will profit if the value of these securities fall, however, if the value of these securities increase, it will have a negative impact on the Portfolios. The use of derivatives may also create leverage in the Portfolios. Leverage has the effect of increasing the magnitude of any profits compared to if there were no leverage. However, it will also increase the level of any loss.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Absolute Return Portfolios do not offer any form of guarantee with respect to performance, and no form of capital protection will apply.

For further information on risks associated to the use of derivatives, please note section "Use of Derivatives and other Investment Techniques" in the "Risk Factors" section.

American Absolute Alpha

The American Absolute Alpha Portfolio seeks to achieve an absolute return. The Portfolio will principally invest in equity securities and equity related derivative contracts of corporate issuers headquartered in North America or exercising a predominant part of their activity in North America, and when determined appropriate, cash and Money Market Instruments. Secondarily, the Portfolio may invest in securities and derivatives related to corporate issuers headquartered outside North America.

The Portfolio will take long positions in publicly traded equity securities. Short positions (and possibly long positions) will be taken by the use of financial derivative instruments to include, but not limited to, equity swaps and futures and options related to individual equity securities, related to exchange traded funds and/or related to equity indices in accordance with section A(7)(i) in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions". The Portfolio may gain exposure to such short positions (and possibly long positions) through a single total return swap as described below. Hedging may also be achieved through the purchase of exchange traded funds.

The Sub-Advisor may choose to use one or a combination of the above investment methods. It is however expected that the Sub-Advisor will obtain part of its long and short exposure by investing in a single total return swap entered into with a counterparty, where the return is linked to the performance of a portfolio of actively managed investments. These investments will consist mainly of equity-related securities, exchangetraded funds and equity index positions and will be selected by the Sub-Advisor at its sole and entire discretion.

For further information on counterparties, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

It is expected that the assets above mentioned will be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ¹¹	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ¹²
Total return swaps	200%	30-70%

The Portfolio will use financial derivative instruments and forward transactions for both efficient portfolio management and investment purposes. The use of derivatives may increase or decrease the risk profile of the Portfolio.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek returns driven principally by long and short investment decisions;
- have a high risk tolerance;
- have a long term investment time horizon.

Credit Opportunities

The Credit Opportunities Portfolio seeks to achieve an absolute return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally, either directly or indirectly through derivatives or UCIs, in global government bonds, corporate bonds and other credit related instrument (including CoCos) that are either Investment Grade or below Investment Grade. The Portfolio may also invest in bonds that are unrated. Not more than 10% of the Portfolio's net assets may be invested in UCIs.

Secondarily, the Portfolio may also invest in other debt securities including, but not limited to, index linked securities, Money Market Instruments, and up to 20% of its net assets in asset-backed and/or mortgage-backed Transferable Securities.

The Portfolio may invest up to 20% of its net assets in CoCos.

The Portfolio may take a significant exposure to high yield securities, including investment of up to 10% in securities rated CCC- or lower by S&P or Fitch Ratings, Inc., or Caa3 or lower by Moody's. In relation to securities held directly, the credit rating will be determined by the Basel rating i.e., the median rating (the lowest of the two highest ratings available from the three main rating agencies, Fitch Ratings Inc., Moody's and S&P). If only two of the three main rating agencies have an available long term credit rating then the lower of the two available ratings will apply. If only one of the three main rating agencies has an available long term credit rating, then that rating will apply. The weighted average credit rating is expected to range between B and BBB- as rated by S&P or Fitch or the Moody's equivalent range of B2 to Baa3.

Certain positions will be taken by the use of financial derivative instruments including, but not limited to, swaps (incl. total return swaps as described below), forward positions, futures and options related to the instruments above in accordance with section A(7)(i) in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions".

The Portfolio may take long and short positions to achieve its investment objective.

The Portfolio may enter into total return swaps (a general description of total / excess return swaps is available in Appendix B.I) on high yield instruments or cash credit indices for hedging and / or investment purposes, to gain market exposure and liquidity or as part of a leveraged long strategy. For further information on counterparties, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

Any of the assets of the Portfolio may be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ¹³	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ¹⁴
Total return swaps	100%	25%

¹¹ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach. ¹² The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

 ¹³ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.
 ¹⁴ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

The Portfolio will use financial derivative instruments and forward transactions for hedging and investment purposes, which may increase or decrease the risk profile of the Portfolio.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek returns from both income and capital appreciation;
- have a moderate risk tolerance and are prepared to tolerate some price fluctuations;
- have a medium-term investment time horizon.

Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities

The Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities Portfolio seeks to achieve an absolute return from income and capital appreciation by investing principally, either directly or indirectly through derivatives or UCIs, in global Investment Grade government bonds and corporate bonds (including CoCos). Not more than 10% of the Portfolio's net assets may be invested in UCIs.

Secondarily, the Portfolio may also invest in other debt securities including, but not limited to, index linked securities, Money Market Instruments, and up to 20% of its net assets in asset-backed and/or mortgage-backed Transferable Securities.

The Portfolio may also invest up to 20% of its net assets in CoCos.

The Portfolio's net exposure to debt securities rated below Investment Grade will never exceed 10% of the Portfolio's net assets at the time of purchase.

Certain positions will be taken by the use of financial derivative instruments including, but not limited to, swaps (incl. total return swaps as described below), forward positions, futures and options related to the instruments above in accordance with section A(7)(i) in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions".

The Portfolio may take long and short positions to achieve its investment objective.

The Portfolio may enter into total return swaps (a general description of total / excess return swaps is available in Appendix B.I) on high yield instruments or cash credit indices for hedging and / or investment purposes, to gain market exposure and liquidity or as part of a leveraged long strategy. For further information on counterparties, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

It is expected that any of the assets of the Portfolio may be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

Maximum proportion		Expected proportion
of Net Asset Value ¹⁵		of Net Asset Value ¹⁶
Total return swaps	100%	25%

The Portfolio will use financial derivative instruments and forward transactions for hedging and investment purposes, which may increase or decrease the risk profile of the Portfolio.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek returns from both income and capital appreciation;
- have a moderate risk tolerance and are prepared to tolerate some price fluctuations;
- have a medium-term investment time horizon.

Pan European Absolute Alpha

The Pan European Absolute Alpha Portfolio seeks to achieve an absolute return. The Portfolio will principally invest, either directly, or indirectly through financial derivative instruments, in a portfolio of equity securities of companies domiciled in Europe or exercising a predominant part of their activity in Europe.

The Portfolio may invest up to one third of its assets, either directly, or indirectly through financial derivative instruments, in equity securities of companies domiciled outside Europe. The Portfolio may also hold cash and Money Market Instruments.

The Portfolio pursues a long-short equity strategy. The Portfolio will therefore take long exposures, either directly or indirectly through financial derivative instruments and short exposures, solely through the use of financial derivative instruments, to publicly traded equity securities, exchange-traded funds or equity indices.

The financial derivative instruments that may be used by the Portfolio include mainly total return swaps and futures, the underlying of which may be publicly traded equity securities, exchange-traded funds or equity indices, in accordance with section A(7)(i) in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions".

It is expected that the Sub-Advisor will obtain part of its long and short exposure by investing in a single total return swap entered into with a counterparty, where the return is linked to the performance of a portfolio of actively managed investments. These investments will consist mainly of equity-related securities, exchange-traded funds and equity index positions and will be selected by the Sub-Advisor at its sole and entire discretion.

For further information on counterparties, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

It is expected that the assets mentioned above will be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ¹⁷	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ¹⁸
Total return swaps	200%	60-100%

¹⁵ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.
¹⁶ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

¹⁷ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

¹⁸ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach

Investors should note that financial derivative instruments will be used for both efficient portfolio management and investment purposes, which may increase or decrease the risk profile of the Portfolios.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek returns driven principally by long and short investment decisions;
- have a high risk tolerance;
- have a long term investment time horizon.

UK Absolute Alpha

The UK Absolute Alpha Portfolio seeks to achieve an absolute return, irrespective of market conditions.

The Portfolio will principally invest directly or indirectly in equity securities, or equity related derivatives of companies domiciled in the United Kingdom or with significant UK operations. The Portfolio may secondarily invest in securities and derivatives issued by companies outside the United Kingdom. The Portfolio may also hold cash, deposits and Money Market Instruments.

The Portfolio will take long and short positions through the use of derivatives and forward transactions. In addition, in order to gain long exposure, the Portfolio may invest in equities, equity index positions, and eligible UCIs including UCITS exchange traded funds.

The Sub-Advisor may choose to use one or a combination of the above investment methods. It is however expected that the Sub-Advisor will obtain its short exposure by investing in a single total return swap entered into with a counterparty where the return is linked to the economic performance of a reference portfolio of an actively managed portfolio of investments. These investments will principally consist of equity-related securities, exchange-traded funds and equity index positions and will be selected by the Sub-Advisor at its sole and entire discretion.

For further information on counterparties, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

It is expected that the assets mentioned above will be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ¹⁹	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ²⁰
Total return swaps	200%	20-60%

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek returns driven principally by long and short investment decisions;
- have a high risk tolerance and are prepared to tolerate large price fluctuations;
- have a long term investment time horizon.

The Extended Alpha Portfolios:

Risk factors for Extended Alpha Portfolios (to be read in conjunction with the "risk factors" section of this prospectus):

Extended Alpha

The Extended Alpha Portfolios will use an equity extension strategy which uses the proceeds from short sales to extend (i.e. increase) the Portfolios' long positions. This technique provides the Sub-Advisor with the potential to generate additional alpha. Alpha means the excess return generated by the Sub-Advisor over the performance of an index considered to represent the market as a whole.

Use of derivatives and forward transactions

The Portfolios use derivatives and forward transactions for both efficient portfolio management and investment purposes including short selling and leverage. The use of derivatives and forward transactions may significantly increase or decrease the risk profile of the Portfolio.

Short Sales and Leverage

The Portfolio's exposure involves short sales of securities and leverage via financial derivative instruments which increases the risk of the Portfolio. The investment strategy includes the synthetic short sales of securities, which creates an exposure equivalent to selling securities not physically owned by the Portfolios at the time. The Portfolios will profit if the value of these securities fall, however, if the value of these securities increase, it will have a negative impact on the Portfolios. The use of derivatives may also create leverage in the Portfolios. Leverage has the effect of increasing the magnitude of any profits compared to if there were no leverage. However, it will also increase the level of any loss.

For further information on risks associated to the use of derivatives, please note section "Use of Derivatives and other Investment Techniques" in the "Risk Factors" section.

American Extended Alpha

The American Extended Alpha Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation.

The Portfolio will principally invest directly or indirectly in equity securities of companies domiciled in North America or which have significant North American operations.

The Portfolio may secondarily invest in markets other than in North America.

The Portfolio's exposure to any of these markets may be gained through both long and short positions.

The Portfolio may invest in equities, derivatives, forward transactions and UCIs. The Portfolio may also hold cash, deposits and Money Market Instruments.

The Portfolio will invest in derivatives to gain short exposure and may also invest in derivatives to gain long exposure.

¹⁹ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.
²⁰ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

The Sub-Advisor may choose to use one or a combination of the above investment methods. It is however expected that the Sub-Advisor will obtain its short exposure by investing in a single total return swap entered into with a counterparty where the return is linked to the economic performance of a reference portfolio of an actively managed portfolio of investments. These investments will principally consist of equity-related securities, exchange-traded funds and equity index positions and will be selected by the Sub-Advisor at its sole and entire discretion.

For further information on counterparties, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

It is expected that the assets of the Portfolio will be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ²¹	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ²²
Total return swaps	200%	30-60%

The Sub-Advisor considers the S&P 500 Index, the constituents of which represent around 500 of the largest companies listed on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ, as an appropriate benchmark against which Fund performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek above average capital appreciation;
- have a high risk tolerance and are prepared to tolerate large price fluctuations;
- have a long term investment time horizon.

Global Extended Alpha

The Global Extended Alpha Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation.

The Portfolio will principally invest directly or indirectly into equity securities worldwide, including shares of companies in developed countries and Emerging Market Countries. Exposure to these markets may be gained through both long and short positions.

The Portfolio may invest in equities, including through depositary receipts, derivatives, forward transactions and eligible UCIs. The Portfolio may also hold cash, deposits and Money Market Instruments.

The Portfolio will invest in derivatives to gain short exposure and may also invest in derivatives to gain long exposure.

The Sub-Advisor may choose to use one or a combination of the above investment methods. It is however expected that the Sub-Advisor will obtain part of its long and short exposure by investing in a single total return swap entered into with a counterparty, where the return is linked to the performance of a portfolio of actively managed investments. These investments will consist mainly of equity-related securities, exchangetraded funds and equity index positions and will be selected by the Sub-Advisor at its sole and entire discretion. It is expected that the assets of the Portfolio will be subject to total return swaps under the following proportions:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ²³	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ²⁴
Total return swaps	200%	30-60%

The Sub-Advisor considers the MSCI All Countries World Index as providing a broad performance measure of equity-market performance throughout the world. It provides a helpful benchmark against which Portfolio performance can be evaluated over time.

Typical Investor Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- have a high risk tolerance and are prepared to tolerate large price fluctuations;
- have a long term investment time horizon.

The Specialist Portfolio: Enhanced Commodities

The Enhanced Commodities Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation which is directly and indirectly linked to commodity markets.

The Portfolio will invest in financial derivative instruments (including total return swaps) whose underlying instruments are diversified commodity indices composed of futures contracts on physical commodities.

To create under and overweight positions relative to the reference portfolio in individual commodities and commodity sectors, it is intended to use a combination of long and short positions in diversified commodity indices. The long and short positions will largely offset one another and provide the Sub-Advisor the ability to adjust weights and position on the curve consistent with the Portfolio's investment strategy. The long and short positions will result in creating leverage on a Sum of Notionals basis, but on a net basis the Portfolio will continue to be fully invested in commodities and will not be leveraged to the market. Additionally, the Portfolio will not actively be exposed to any net short commodity positions. The expected level of leverage determined on the Sum of Notionals basis would likely average 0-400% and is not expected to exceed 700%. A degree of leverage on a Sum of Notionals basis can be attributed to transactions related to the hedged Classes of the Portfolio. The Portfolio will report global exposure on a relative VaR basis. The relative VaR limit will be 30% more than the VaR of the reference benchmark of the Portfolio.

The Portfolio will invest collateral in investment grade government debt with maturities less than one year.

The Portfolio may also invest in exchange traded funds and securitised notes, certificates, Investment Grade government securities, Money Market Instruments, cash, and/or other debt securities.

The Portfolio will use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes, hedging and efficient portfolio management.

For further information on counterparties, please refer to Appendix B.I of the Prospectus and to the SICAV's annual report.

²¹ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.
²² The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

 ²³ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.
 ²⁴ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

Use of total return swaps:

The Fund enters into total/excess return swaps (a general description of total/excess return swaps is available in Appendix B.I) on diversified commodity indices for investment purposes. These total/excess return swaps allow the Portfolio to gain exposure to commodity markets as futures and options on commodities are not available to the Portfolio.

It is expected that the net exposure of the total/excess swaps will be consistent with the NAV of the Portfolio as the Portfolio is fully exposed to commodities:

	Maximum proportion of Net Asset Value ²⁵	Expected proportion of Net Asset Value ²⁶
Total/Excess return swaps	700%	300-400%

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek portfolio diversification within their investment through exposure to commodities;
- have a high risk tolerance;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in value of their investment;
- have a long term investment time horizon.

Investors should note the "Risk factors" section of this Prospectus in terms of risks applicable to investing in the Enhanced Commodities Portfolio and in particular "Use of Derivatives and other investment Techniques", "Counterparty Risk", "Financial derivatives on indices or sub-indices", "Total/Excess Return Swaps", "Commodity Indexes" and "Exchange traded notes". Investors should consider this extra risk when evaluating the potential benefits of investing in this Portfolio.

The Portfolio uses derivatives to gain exposure to commodity indices or sub-indices composed of futures contracts on physical commodities. The use of such derivatives for investment purposes may increase the risk profile of the Portfolio.

The Shariah Portfolio: Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity

The Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity Portfolio seeks to achieve capital appreciation by investing in Shariah-compliant securities in accordance with the Shariah Guidelines as determined by the Shariah Supervisory Board (as further described in Appendix B.II).

The Portfolio will principally invest in equities and equity related securities of companies globally. The Portfolio may also invest in other securities (including Money Market Instruments and, on a limited basis, fixed income securities) as well as hold cash. All investments will be Shariah-compliant.

The Portfolio has the flexibility to take significant stock and sector positions which may lead to increased levels of volatility.

Investors should note that the investment restrictions of the SICAV as detailed in Appendix B.II remain applicable. Investors are invited to refer

²⁵ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.²⁶ The proportion is determined on the basis of the Sum of Notionals approach.

to Appendix B.II for more information on the Shariah Guidelines which are applicable to the Portfolio.

Typical Investor's Profile

This Portfolio is suitable for investors who:

- seek capital appreciation;
- seek investment diversification through exposure to Shariah-compliant global equities; the investor should be aware that stock or sector concentration may add more volatility than a more broadly diversified portfolio;
- can tolerate potentially high volatility in the value of their investment;
- have a high level of risk tolerance commensurate with an investment in equity securities;
- have a long-term investment horizon.

Other Investment Practices

The Global Dynamic Real Return Portfolio, the Equity Portfolios and certain Bond Portfolios may invest in warrants to purchase common stock. Investment in warrants entails special risks, notably those described under "Investment in warrants" in the "Risk Factors" section below.

Each Portfolio may hold ancillary liquid assets as appropriate to provide for redemptions or to meet other liquidity needs. These assets may consist of commercial paper and other Money Market Instruments with a remaining maturity not in excess of 12 months and of time deposits, and demand deposit accounts. In addition, each such Portfolio may invest up to 10% of its net assets in Money Market Instruments that are regularly traded and have a remaining maturity in excess of 12 months.

Unless otherwise specified within the Portfolio's investment objective and policy, each Portfolio may invest up to 10% of its net assets in units of other UCIs or UCITS. See Section C(a)(12) of Appendix A below. Investors are thus subject to the risk of duplication of fees and commissions except that if a Portfolio invests in other UCIs or UCITS sponsored by Ameriprise Financial, Inc. or one of its affiliates or by a company with which Ameriprise Financial, Inc. is bound within the framework of a community of management or of control or by a direct or indirect shareholding of more than 10% of the share capital or of the votes, the Portfolio will not be charged any subscription and redemption fees with respect to such investment and any of the Asset Management Fee with respect to such assets. The maximum management fees of other UCIs or UCITS in which a Portfolio may invest shall not exceed 2.5% of such Portfolio's assets.

When market or financial conditions warrant, and in accordance with the Investment Restrictions in Appendix A, each Portfolio may invest, as a temporary defensive measure, up to 100% of its net assets in transferable debt obligations issued or guaranteed in accordance with Investment Restriction C(a)(6) by a member state of the OECD or issued by public international bodies of which one or more Member States are members. In addition, for temporary purposes, each Portfolio may borrow from banks or other lending institutions in amounts up to 10% of its net assets. Such borrowing may be used for liquidity purposes (e.g., to cover cash shortfall caused by mismatched settlement dates on purchase and sale transactions, finance repurchases or pay fees reverting to a service provider) and/or for investment purposes. The assets of such Portfolio may be charged as security for any such borrowings in accordance with the principle of segregation of assets and liabilities provided by Article 181 of the 2010 Law.

To determine the rating of an instrument with a split rating, the lower rating shall prevail.

The Portfolios that invest in US Bonds may purchase restricted securities that are offered and sold only to "qualified institutional buyers" under Rule 144A of the US Securities Act of 1933.

Each Portfolio's ability to purchase or sell portfolio securities may be affected by laws or regulations relating to the convertibility and repatriation of assets. Because the Shares of each Portfolio may be redeemed on each Valuation Date in the currency which has been elected at the time of subscription, the Management Company and the relevant Sub-Advisor intend to manage each Portfolio so that they will be able to obtain the liquidity necessary to meet anticipated redemptions. There can be no guarantee that this result will be achieved.

Except as otherwise noted below, each Portfolio may use financial derivative instruments (including options, forwards, futures, contracts for difference and/or swaps (including credit default swaps, credit default swaps on loans, interest rate swaps and, to the extent permitted by the relevant Portfolio's investment policy, total/excess return swaps) on Transferable Securities and/or any financial instruments and currencies) to hedge against market and currency risks, as well as for efficient portfolio management, as described under "Investment Restrictions" in Appendix A and "Investment Techniques and Instruments" in Appendix B.I. Certain Portfolios may further use financial derivative instruments as a principal investment objective, as more fully described in the investment policy of each relevant Portfolio, when appropriate. In such case, the underlying of the financial derivative instruments must consist in instruments in which the Portfolio may invest according to its investment policy. Shareholders should be aware that the use of derivative instruments for purposes other than hedging carries a certain degree of risk.

If a Portfolio invests in OTC derivatives, such Portfolio may hold material quantities of cash, time deposit and/or Money Market Instruments with a remaining maturity not in excess of 12 months. These additional cash levels will not be held in direct pursuit of achieving the investment objectives of the relevant Portfolio, but may be required as a consequence of the use of the OTC derivatives for risk management purposes, notably in order to cover for exposure to such derivatives or mitigate the risk of the leverage entailed by the use of the derivatives.

In the context of OTC financial transactions and efficient portfolio management techniques, Portfolios may receive or post collateral. The Portfolios collateralise 100% of exposure to OTC derivatives subject to minimum transfer amounts ranging from 100,000 to 250,000 of the Base Currency of the relevant Portfolio, varying by counterparty. Collateral shall:

 comply with the ESMA Guidelines and, amongst others, fulfil the criteria set out therein in terms of (a) liquidity, (b) valuation, (c) issuer credit quality, (d) correlation, (e) diversification, (f) risk, (g) holding, (h) enforcement, (i) non-cash-collateral, (j) cash-collateral; and

- be managed in compliance with the following policy:
 - eligible collateral is cash, typically GBP, USD or Euros, or Investment Grade fixed income Transferable Securities issued by Government entities. The Portfolios will not post or receive non-Government issues or equity securities as collateral;
 - haircuts are applied as determined by the agreement with the counterparty to the transaction to account for liquidity and price volatility, and typically have the levels described in the table below:

	Eligible Col	Haircut Level		
	Investment Grade fixed in Securities issued by Go			
	Issue rating			
	n/a	< 1 year	0-2%**	
	or at least AA- (S&P) / Aa3 (Moody's)**	> 1 year < 5 years	2-3%**	
		> 5 years < 10 years	3-5%**	
		> 10 years < 30 years	5-6%**	
(Cash in the Base Currency of t	the Portfolio	0%	
	Cash in currency other than th Portfolio	0%		
re	* In practice, these are only U.S. Treasury Securities from different issues, which are negotiable, registered debt obligations issued by the U.S. Treasury Department but excluding principal only			

and interest only Treasury strips. ** Depending on the counterparty.

the Portfolios will not reinvest collateral received and counterparties are not permitted to reinvest collateral posted by the Portfolios.

Collateral will be valued on a daily basis, using available market prices and taking into account the applicable haircut. Investment Grade fixed income Transferable Securities issued by Government entities are generally valued at bid price since this is the price that would be obtained if the Portfolio were to sell the securities following a counterparty default. However, mid-market prices may be used where this is the market practice for the relevant transaction. Variation margin is generally transferred on a daily basis in respect of any net exposure between a Portfolio and the relevant counterparty subject to applicable minimum transfer amounts.

Currently, all collateral received is safe kept with the SICAV's depositary.

Portfolios allowed to invest in financial indices shall ensure that their target indices comply with applicable laws and regulations. In this respect and amongst others, a Portfolio should not invest in a financial index, the components of which are ineligible assets under UCITS rules, where:

 it has a single component that has an impact on the overall index return which exceeds 35%, or more than one component which exceeds 20%; a Portfolio intending to invest in commodity indices will not invest in commodity indices that do not consist of different commodities;

- it does not satisfy the index criteria in Article 53 of the UCITS Directive and Article 9 of Directive 2007/16/EC of the European Commission implementing Council Directive 85/611/EEC on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to UCITS as regards the clarification of certain definitions, including that of being a benchmark for the market to which it refers;
- the full calculation methodology to, inter alia, enable Shareholders to replicate the financial index is not disclosed by the index provider;
- it does not publish its constituents together with its respective weightings;
- the methodology for the selection and the rebalancing of the components is not based on a set of pre-determined rules and objective criteria;
- the index provider accepts payments from potential index components for inclusion in the index;
- the methodology permits retrospective changes to previously published index values ('backfilling');
- the index is not subject to independent valuation.

Risk Factors General

Investment in any Portfolio entails a degree of risk. While there are some risks that may be common to a number or all of the Portfolios, there may also be specific risk considerations which apply to particular Portfolios in which case such risks will be specified in the investment policy section for that Portfolio. It is important to keep in mind one of the main principles of investing: the higher the risk of losing money, the higher the potential reward. The reverse, also, is generally true: the lower the risk, the lower the potential reward. Investment in the Shares may not be suitable for all investors and should not be considered a complete investment program.

The Net Asset Value of Shares can go down as well as up, and Shareholders may lose money by investing in a Portfolio. Shareholders should generally view an investment in a Portfolio as being a medium to long-term investment. The value of an investment in a Portfolio changes with the values of that Portfolio's investments. Many factors can affect those values. Each separate security in which a Portfolio may invest and the investment techniques which a Portfolio may employ are subject to various risks. The following describes some of the general risk factors that should be considered before investing in a particular Portfolio. The following list is neither specific nor exhaustive and a financial adviser or other appropriate professional should be consulted for additional advice.

Geopolitical events, such as the UK's decision to leave the EU, can lead to greater volatility in local and or global markets.

Investors in the Shariah Portfolio should note that additional risks may be applicable to the Portfolio and that these risks are set out in Appendix B.II of this Prospectus.

Exchange Rates

Many of the Portfolios are invested in securities denominated in a number of different currencies other than the Base Currency in which the Portfolios are denominated (or the currency of denomination of the particular Share Class) and, therefore, changes in foreign currency exchange rates will affect the value of securities in such Portfolios.

Interest Rates

The values of fixed income securities held by the Portfolios generally will vary inversely with changes in interest rates and such variation may affect Share prices accordingly.

High Yield

Certain Portfolios may invest in High Yield (i.e. securities rated below investment grade). Investing in High Yield involves special risks in addition to the risks associated with investments in higher-rated fixed income securities. While offering a greater potential opportunity for capital appreciation and higher yields, High Yield typically entail greater potential price volatility and may be less liquid than higher rated securities. High Yield may be regarded as predominantly speculative with respect to the issuer's continuing ability to meet principal and interest payments. They may also be more susceptible to real or perceived adverse economic and competitive industry conditions than higher rated securities.

Risk of downgrading in relation to High Yield securities

Passive breaches of any limits that are set out in the investment policies of the Portfolios (for example, in the event that the credit ratings of securities are downgraded) will be treated in accordance with the requirement under the 2010 Law to "adopt as a priority objective for its sales transactions the remedying of that situation, taking due account of the interests of its unit-holders". In most cases, passive breaches are resolved as soon as reasonably practicable (i.e. not immediately but timely), however where a delay is perceived to be necessary a reasonable timeframe will be agreed upon based on the circumstances and analysis of the facts at hand.

Risk Factors Relating to Small and Mid-Cap Companies

Some of the Portfolios invest in the securities of small and middle capitalised companies. There are certain risks associated with investing in securities of these types of companies, including greater market price volatility, less publicly available information, and greater vulnerability to fluctuations in the economic cycle. Because small and middle capitalised companies normally have fewer shares outstanding than larger companies, it may be more difficult to buy or sell significant amounts of such shares without affecting prevailing market prices.

Hedged Share Classes

Each Portfolio is denominated in a single Base Currency, which may be different from the currency in which a Shareholder's Shares are denominated.

The Shares available in a Portfolio may themselves be denominated either in the Base Currency or in another currency. Shares denominated in a currency other than the Base Currency may be either Hedged Shares or non-Hedged Shares:

 Hedged Shares are Shares which use currency derivatives (Please see the Risk warning on the Use of Derivatives and other Investment Techniques) in order to reduce (hedge) the risk incurred by the variation of the exchange rate between the Base Currency and the currency of denomination of the Hedged Shares. – non-Hedged Shares, are Shares which do not provide any hedging against risk incurred by the variation of the exchange rate between the Base Currency and the currency of denomination of the Hedged Shares. Investors in such Shares will receive the return of the underlying investments in the Portfolio, bearing the risk associated with the currency movements between the Base Currency and the currency of denomination of the Shares they are invested in.

Investors should note that the Investment in a Portfolio through Hedged Shares incurs the following specific risks:

- there can be no guarantee that the hedging strategy applied in Hedged Shares will entirely eliminate the adverse effects of changes in exchange rates between the Base Currency and the currency of the relevant Hedged Shares.
- hedging transactions will be entered into whether or not the denomination currency of Hedged Shares is declining or increasing in value relative to the Base Currency. Consequently, while hedging may protect investors in the relevant Hedged Shares against a decrease in the value of the currency being hedged, it may also preclude these investors from benefiting from an increase in the value of such currency.
- Hedged Shares aim to reduce (hedge) only the exchange rate risk between the Base Currency and the currency of denomination of the Hedged Shares; no hedging is done between the currency of denomination of the Hedged Shares and the currencies of denomination of the Portfolio's investments. This means that:
 - where a Portfolio's investments are wholly or partially denominated in currencies other than the Base Currency, Hedged Shares will not protect their investors against changes in the exchange rates between the currencies of the Portfolio's investments and the currency of denomination of the Hedged Shares;
 - where a Portfolio holds assets denominated in the currency of the Hedged Shares, the exposure of an investor in Hedged Shares to that currency will be increased by comparison to the risk incurred by an investor holding shares denominated in another currency.

Gains or losses arising from currency hedging transactions are borne by the Shareholders of the respective Hedged Share Classes. However, due to the lack of segregation of liabilities between Share Classes, it cannot be excluded that, under certain circumstances, the settlement of currency hedging transactions or the requirement for collateral in relation to one Hedged Share Class could have an adverse impact on the net asset value of the other Share Classes in issue.

CNH Share Classes

The official currency of the People's Republic of China, the renminbi, is traded on two markets, the first being onshore renminbi in mainland China ("CNY"), and the second being offshore renminbi outside mainland China ("CNH"). Shares whose second letter of denomination is 'R', are Shares whose Net Asset Value is denominated in CNH, i.e. offshore Chinese renminbi. CNY is not a freely convertible currency and is subject to exchange controls imposed by the government of the People's Republic of China. CNH may be traded more freely than CNY against other international currencies, and the exchange rate between CNH and such currencies is therefore determined by market forces. Shareholders should be aware that CNY and CNH will therefore have different exchange rates versus other currencies, and the value of CNH could potentially differ significantly from that of CNY due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, exchange controls applied to CNY and market forces in place at any given time.

Shareholders should be aware that the availability of CNH Share Classes, and the conditions under which they may be available, are dependent on the political and regulatory policies of the People's Republic of China, and there can be no guarantee that CNH Share Classes will be offered in the future, and no guarantee as to the conditions under which they may be offered. Since the base currency of Portfolios offering CNH Share Classes will be a currency other than CNH, the ability of a Portfolio to make payments in CNH will depend on its ability to convert its base currency into CNH, which may be restricted by the availability of CNH of other factors beyond the control of the Management Company, and as a result it may be necessary to make redemption payments in currencies other than CNH.

Emerging Markets

Investments in emerging markets may be more volatile than investments in more developed markets. Some of these markets may have relatively unstable governments, economies based on only a few industries, and securities markets that trade only a limited number of securities. Many emerging markets do not have well developed regulatory systems and disclosure standards may be less stringent than those of developed markets. Such instability may result from, among other things, authoritarian governments, or military involvement in political and economic decision making, including changes or attempted changes in governments through non-constitutional means; internal insurgencies; hostile relations with neighbouring countries; and ethnic, religious or racial conflict.

The risk of expropriation, confiscatory taxation, nationalisation and social, political and economic instability are greater in emerging markets than in developed markets. Certain of such countries may have in the past failed to recognise private property rights or nationalised or expropriated the assets of private companies. As a result, the risks of investing in those countries, including the risks of nationalisation, expropriation and repatriation of assets, may be heightened. In addition, unanticipated political or social developments may affect the values of a Portfolio's investments in those countries and the availability to the Portfolios of additional investment in those countries.

In addition to withholding taxes on investment income, some emerging markets may impose different capital gains taxes on foreign investors.

A number of attractive emerging markets restrict, to varying degrees, foreign investment in securities. Further, some attractive equity securities may not be available to one or more of the Portfolios because foreign shareholders hold the maximum amount permissible under current law. Repatriation of investment income, capital and the proceeds of sales by foreign investors may require governmental registration and/or approval in some emerging markets and may be subject to currency exchange control restrictions. Such restrictions may increase the risks of investing in certain of the emerging markets. Unless otherwise specified within the Portfolio's investment objective and policy, a Portfolio will only invest in markets where these restrictions are considered acceptable by the Directors.

Generally accepted accounting, auditing and financial reporting practices in emerging markets may be significantly different from those in developed markets. Compared to mature markets, some emerging markets may have a low level of regulation, enforcement of regulations and monitoring of investors' activities, including trading on material nonpublic information.

The securities markets of emerging countries have substantially less trading volume, resulting in a lack of liquidity and high price volatility. There may be a high concentration of market capitalisation and trading volume in a small number of issuers representing a limited number of industries as well as a high concentration of investors and financial intermediaries. These factors may adversely affect the timing and pricing of a Portfolio's acquisition or disposal of securities, and it may be difficult to assess the value of a Portfolio's investments.

Practices in relation to settlement of securities transactions in emerging markets involve higher risks than those in developed countries because brokers and counterparties in such countries may be less well capitalised, custody and registration of assets in some countries may be unreliable, and a Portfolio may be required to establish special custodial or other arrangements before making investments. Market practice may require that payment shall be made prior to receipt of the security which is being purchased or that delivery of a security must be made before payment is received. In such cases, default by a counterparty through whom the relevant transaction is effected might result in a loss being suffered by the affected Portfolios. The SICAV will seek, where possible, to use counterparties whose financial status is such that this risk is reduced. However, there can be no certainty that the SICAV will be successful in eliminating this risk for the Portfolios, particularly as counterparties operating in emerging markets frequently lack the substance or financial resources of those in developed countries. Delays in settlement could result in investment opportunities being missed if a Portfolio is unable to acquire or dispose of a security.

There may be less publicly available information about certain financial instruments than some investors would find customary and entities in some countries may not be subject to accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards and requirements comparable to those to which certain investors may be accustomed. Certain financial markets, while generally growing in volume, have for the most part, substantially less volume than more developed markets, and securities of many companies are less liquid and their prices more volatile than securities of comparable companies in more sizeable markets. There are also varying levels of government supervision and regulation of exchanges, financial institutions and issuers in various countries. In addition, the manner in which foreign investors may invest in securities in certain countries, as well as limitations on such investments, may affect the investment operations of certain of the Portfolios.

Emerging Market Country debt will be subject to high risk and will not be required to meet a minimum rating standard and may not be rated for creditworthiness by any internationally recognised credit rating organisation. The issuer or governmental authority that controls the repayment of an emerging country's debt may not be able or willing to repay the principal and/or interest when due in accordance with the terms of such debt. As a result of the foregoing, a government obligor may default on its obligations. If such an event occurs, the SICAV may have limited legal recourse against the issuer and/or guarantor.

Emerging Markets – Custody Risk

Safe custody of securities in emerging markets involves risk and considerations which do not normally apply when settling transactions and providing safe custody services in more developed countries. In circumstances such as the insolvency of a sub-custodian or registrar, or retroactive application of legislation, a Portfolio may not be able to establish title to investments made and may suffer losses as a result. A Portfolio may find it impossible to enforce its rights against third parties.

Custody services are very often undeveloped and, although the SICAV will endeavour to put into place control mechanisms, including the selection of agents to register emerging markets securities on behalf of a Portfolio, there is a significant transaction and custody risk of dealing in securities of emerging markets.

As a Portfolio may invest in markets where custodial and/or settlement systems are not fully developed, assets which are traded in such markets and which have been entrusted to sub-custodians, in circumstances where the use of such sub-custodians is necessary, may be exposed to risk in circumstances where the Depositary will have no liability.

Emerging Markets – Liquidity Risk

Lack of liquidity and efficiency in certain of the stock markets or foreign exchange markets in certain emerging markets may mean that from time to time the Sub-Advisor may experience more difficulty in purchasing or selling holdings of securities than it would in a more developed market. The small size and inexperience of such stock and foreign exchange markets and the limited volume of trading in these countries may make a Portfolio's investments illiquid and more volatile than investments in more established countries.

The Portfolios may invest in shares of companies listed on exchanges which are less liquid and more volatile than the world's leading stock markets and this may result in greater fluctuations in the price of Shares of the Portfolios. There can be no assurance that there will be any market for securities acquired in an emerging market and such lack of liquidity may adversely affect the value or ease of disposal of such securities.

Use of Derivatives and other Investment Techniques

The Portfolios may employ techniques and instruments relating to Transferable Securities and other financial liquid assets for either efficient portfolio management *i.e.* to increase or decrease their exposure to changing security prices, interest rates, currency exchange rates, commodity prices or other factors that affect security values and hedging purposes, and/or to attempt to reduce certain risks of its investments and to attempt to enhance return. These techniques may include but are not limited to the use of options, forward currency exchange contracts, futures contracts, contracts for difference and swaps (including credit default swaps, credit default swaps on loans, interest rate swaps and, to the extent permitted by the relevant Portfolio's investment policy, total/ excess return swaps) and other investment techniques described in Appendix B.I "Investment Techniques and Instruments".

Participation in the options or futures markets and in currency exchange or contracts for difference or swap transactions involves investment risks and transactions costs to which the Portfolios would not be subject in the absence of the use of these strategies. The use of derivatives and other techniques carries high risk and leverage risk in particular. Leverage has the effect of increasing the magnitude of any profits compared to if there were no leverage; however, it also increases the level of any loss. This is the risk arising from the use of relatively small financial resources to obtain a large number of market positions. In a falling market, leverage can increase the losses on the derivative positions concerned. In a falling market, the sale of options and other currency derivatives or other assets may mean that their entire purchase price or premiums are lost.

The use of such techniques and instruments for the Portfolios is, however, subject to special limits (see Appendix A).

The SICAV may use these techniques to adjust the risk and return characteristics of a Portfolio's investments. If the Management Company or the relevant Sub-Advisor judges market conditions incorrectly or employs a strategy that does not correlate well with a Portfolio's investments, these techniques could result in a loss, regardless of whether the intent was to reduce risk or increase return. These techniques may increase the volatility of a Portfolio and may involve a small investment of cash relative to the magnitude of the risk assumed. In addition, these techniques could result in a loss if the counterparty of the transaction does not perform as promised. Portfolios engaging in contracts for difference or swap transactions are also exposed to a potential counterparty risk. In the case of insolvency or default of the swap counterparty, the Portfolio involved could suffer a loss.

There can be no assurance that the Management Company or the relevant Sub-Advisor will be able to successfully hedge the Portfolios or that the Portfolios will achieve their investment objectives.

Derivative instruments, including but not limited to swaps, futures, and certain FX contracts, are subject to new regulations such as EMIR, MiFID II/MiFIR and similar regulatory regimes in the U.S., Asia, and other global jurisdictions. The implementation of such regulations, including new requirements requiring mandatory clearing and margining, may increase the overall costs to the SICAV of entering into and maintaining such derivative instruments and may impact the SICAV's returns or the ability of the Sub-Advisors to achieve their investment objectives. Global regulation of derivative instruments is a rapidly-changing area and, as such, the full effects of present or future legislation or regulations in this area are not known, but could be substantial and adverse.

Certain Portfolios of the SICAV may also invest in financial derivative instruments as a principal investment objective, as more fully described in the investment policy of the relevant Portfolios, which may entail additional risks for Shareholders. The SICAV may use either the Value at Risk ("VaR") approach (absolute or relative VaR approach, depending on the Portfolio) or, as the case may be, the Commitment Approach in order to calculate the global exposure of a Portfolio to financial derivative instruments (the "Global Exposure"), it being understood that the Global Exposure of a Portfolio may not exceed the total net asset value of such Portfolio.

The below table shows, for each Portfolio of the SICAV using the VaR approach to determine Global Exposure:

- the methodology used to determine the Portfolio's Global Exposure (absolute VaR approach / relative VaR approach);
- the expected level of leverage (disclosed, for the sake of clarity, on the basis of the sum of the notionals approach and on the basis of the Commitment Approach). The actual risks relating to a Portfolio and the use of financial derivative instruments by such Portfolio are not impacted by the leverage-calculation method used;
- for Portfolios using the relative VaR approach, details on the performance tracked by the relevant reference portfolio used.

	Methodology Used	Leverage	
Name of Portfolio	to determine Global Exposure	Sum of Notionals	Commitment Approach
European Short-Term High Yield Bond	Relative VaR (performance tracked by reference to the ICE BofAML Custom Index 0-4yrs European Currency High Yield, BB-B, 3% constrained, excluding Subordinated Debt, 100% € Hedged)	0-200%	0-100%
European Strategic Bond	Relative VaR (performance tracked by reference to the ICE BofAML EUR Govt (1-7 Y) Index (20%), 40% ICE BofAML EMU Corp (1-10 y) Index (40%) and ICE BofAML EUR High Yield Index (40%))	0-500%	0-300%
Enhanced Commodities	Relative VaR (performance tracked by reference to the Bloomberg Commodity Index)	0-700%	0-400%
Flexible Asian Bond	Relative VaR (performance tracked by reference to the JPMorgan JADE Global Index (50%) and JPM JACI Sovereign (Hard CCY) (50%))	0-300%	0-200%
Global Corporate Bond	Relative VaR (performance tracked by reference to the Bloomberg Barclays Global Aggregate Corporates Index Hedged to USD)	0-500%	0-300%
American Extended Alpha	Relative VaR (performance tracked by reference to the S&P 500 Index)	0-300%	0-200%

	Methodology Used	Leverage	
Name of Portfolio	to determine Global Exposure	Sum of Notionals	Commitment Approach
Global Extended Alpha Relative VaR (performance tracked by reference to the MSCI All Countries World Index)		0-200%	0-200%
Global Multi Asset Income	Absolute VaR	0-300%	0-50%
American Absolute Alpha	Absolute VaR	0-200% 0-100%	
Credit Opportunities	Absolute VaR	0-700% 0-350%	
Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	Absolute VaR	0-700%	0-350%
Pan European Absolute Alpha	•		0-100%
UK Absolute Alpha	Absolute VaR	0-200% 0-200%	

The table above shows the expected level of leverage. Shareholders are informed that the actual levels may be higher than the ranges shown in the above table. Where leverage is high, additional measures are used to monitor the Portfolio's risk profile.

Credit Risk

Investors in a Portfolio should be aware that such an investment may involve credit risk. Bonds or other debt securities involve credit risk to the issuer which may be evidenced by the issuer's credit rating. Credit ratings only constitute preliminary indicators of investment quality. Securities which are subordinated and/or have a lower credit rating are generally considered to have a higher credit risk and a greater possibility of default than more highly rated securities. In the event that any issuer of bonds or other debt securities experiences financial or economic difficulties, this may affect the value of the relevant securities (which may be zero) and any amounts paid on such securities (which may be zero). This may in turn affect the Net Asset Value per Share.

Investors in any Portfolio investing in OTC derivatives should be aware that the assets covering the obligations of such Portfolio under such OTC derivatives, where applicable, will generally include bonds or other debt instruments that involve credit risk that may be retained by such Portfolio.

Counterparty Risk

This risk relates to the quality of the counterparty with whom the Management Company or the relevant Sub-Advisor does business, in particular for the settlement/delivery of financial instruments, the conclusion of financial forward contracts or of total return swaps. In the event of the default of a counterparty, affected Portfolios may suffer losses to the extent that the counterparty is unable to meet its obligations to such Portfolios. This risk cannot be eliminated but can be mitigated through the taking of collateral.

The risk reflects the counterparty's ability to honour its commitments (payment, delivery, repayment, etc.).

Collateral

There is a risk that the value of collateral held by the Portfolio or that the proceeds resulting from the realisation of the collateral are not sufficient to cover the Portfolio's exposure to an insolvent counterparty and that the Portfolio may not recover any subsequent shortfall. This may occur for instance in cases where there is no or limited liquidity on the markets or where the price volatility is high and the collateral cannot be sold at a fair price.

The Portfolio is also exposed to the risk of insolvency of the bank with which cash collateral is placed, In addition, it cannot be excluded that, in certain circumstances, insufficient coverage of the counterparty's exposure or failure by the counterparty to return the collateral when due may occur as a result of a technical or operational failure. The SICAV seeks to deal with reputable counterparties so that this risk is reduced. Legal arrangements entered into with the counterparty may also not be enforceable in the courts of the relevant jurisdiction, in which case the Portfolio will be unable to enforce its rights over the collateral it has received.

Options and futures on currencies and other assets

The sale of calls on currencies and other assets commits the relevant Portfolio to supply the underlying asset to the call purchaser if he or she exercises the option to buy. This gives rise to the risk that, if the option is exercised, the Portfolio could either fail to benefit from any significant rise in the value of the underlying asset or be forced to purchase that asset on the open market at a higher price in order to supply it to the counterparty to the contract. In the case of the sale of puts on currencies or other assets, the risk is that the relevant Portfolio will be forced to buy those currencies or other assets at the strike price, even though their market prices may be significantly lower at the exercise date. The value of fund assets could be more adversely affected by option leverage than by the direct purchase of currencies or other assets.

Similar risks accompany financial futures in which the parties to the contract agree to deliver an agreed asset or currency at an agreed time at an agreed price. Leverage and its associated risks exist here too because only one part of the contract (the "margin") must be delivered immediately. Sharp price fluctuations in either direction on the margin can produce major gains or losses. In private transactions, the duty to make margin payments need not necessarily apply.

Financial derivatives on indices or sub-indices

Some Portfolios may invest in financial derivative instruments on indices or sub-indices. When investing in such instruments, there is no assurance that the underlying index or sub-index will continue to be calculated and published or that it will not be amended significantly. Any change to the underlying index or sub-index may adversely affect the value of the relevant instrument. The past performance of an index or sub-index is not necessarily a guide to its future performance.

When a Portfolio invests in a financial derivative instrument on an index or a sub-index, the relevant Sub-Advisor will not actively manage the underlying components of such financial derivative instrument. The selection of the underlying components will be made in accordance with the relevant index composition rules and eligibility criteria and not by reference to any performance criteria or performance outlook. Investors should be aware that investments in financial derivative instruments on indices or sub-indices involve assessing the risk of an investment linked to the relevant index or sub-index and, where applicable, the techniques used to link the investment to the underlying index or sub-index.

The value of the underlying indices or sub-indices and the value of the techniques used to link the investment to them may vary over time and may increase or decrease by reference to a variety of factors which may include, amongst others, corporate actions, macro-economic factors and speculation.

Investment in warrants

Warrants confer on the investor the right to subscribe a fixed number of ordinary shares in the relevant company at a pre-determined price for a fixed period.

The cost of this right will be substantially less than the cost of the share itself. Consequently, the price movements in the share will be multiplied in the price movements of the warrant. This multiplier is the leverage or gearing factor. The higher the leverage the more attractive the warrant. By comparing, for a selection of warrants, the premium paid for this right and the leverage, their relative worth can be assessed. The levels of the premium and gearing can increase or decrease with investor sentiment. Warrants are therefore more volatile and speculative than ordinary shares. Investors should be warned that prices of warrants are extremely volatile and that furthermore, it may not always be possible to dispose of them.

The gearing effect of investments in warrants and the volatility of warrant prices make the risks attached to investment in warrants higher than is the case with investments in equities.

Mortgage-backed securities

Some Portfolios may invest in mortgage derivatives, including mortgagebacked securities. Mortgage pass-through securities are securities representing interests in "pools" of mortgages in which payments of both interest and principal on the securities are made monthly, in effect "passing through" monthly payments made by the individual borrowers on the residential mortgage loans which underlie the securities. Early or late repayment of principal based on an expected repayment schedule on mortgage pass-through securities held by such Portfolios (due to early or late repayments of principal on the underlying mortgage loans) may result in a lower rate of return when the Portfolios reinvest such principal. In addition, as with callable fixed-income securities generally, if the Portfolios purchased the securities at a premium, sustained earlier than expected repayment would reduce the value of the security relative to the premium paid. When interest rates rise or decline the value of a mortgage-related security generally will decline, or increase but not as much as other fixedincome, fixed-maturity securities which have no prepayment or call features.

Payment of principal and interest on some mortgage pass-through securities (but not the market value of the securities themselves) may be guaranteed by the U.S. Government, or by agencies or instrumentalities of the U.S. Government (which guarantees are supported only by the discretionary authority of the U.S. Government to purchase the agency's obligations). Certain mortgage pass-through securities created by nongovernmental issuers may be supported by various forms of insurance or guarantees, while other such securities may be backed only by the underlying mortgage collateral.

Some Portfolios may also invest in Investment Grade collateralised mortgage obligations ("CMOs"), which are structured products backed by underlying pools of mortgage pass-through securities. Similar to a bond, interest and prepaid principal on a CMO are paid, in most cases, monthly. CMOs may be collateralised by whole residential or commercial mortgage loans but are more typically collateralised by portfolios of residential mortgage pass-through securities guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its agencies or instrumentalities. CMOs are structured into multiple Classes, with each Class having a different expected average life and/or stated maturity. Monthly payments of principal, including prepayments, are allocated to different Classes in accordance with the terms of the instruments, and changes in prepayment rates or assumptions may significantly affect the expected average life and value of a particular Class.

Some Portfolios may invest in principal-only or interest-only stripped mortgage-backed securities. Stripped mortgage-backed securities have greater volatility than other types of mortgage-related securities. Stripped mortgage-backed securities which are purchased at a substantial premium or discount generally are extremely sensitive not only to changes in prevailing interest rates but also to the rate of principal payments (including prepayments) on the related underlying mortgage assets, and a sustained higher or lower than expected rate of principal payments may have a material adverse effect on such securities' yield to duration. In addition, stripped mortgage securities may be less liquid than other securities which do not include such a structure and are more volatile if interest rates move unfavourably.

The Management Company expects that government, government-related or private entities may create other mortgage-related securities in addition to those described above. As new types of mortgage-related securities are developed and offered to investors, the Management Company will consider making investments in such securities, provided they are dealt in on a Regulated Market.

Non-traditional Debt Securities

The Bond Portfolios and particularly high yield Bond Portfolios are generally permitted to invest in a range of fixed interest securities which includes nontraditional types of debt securities. These may include (without limitation) regulatory capital (such as Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital), subordinated debt, and various forms of contingent capital securities including but not limited to Contingent Convertible Bonds. These securities may possess features such as coupon deferral or cancellation, resettable coupon rates, loss of capital or conversion to equity. Such investment may be made by the Portfolios but will only be permitted in accordance with the Portfolio's investment objective and policy and within the existing risk profile of the Portfolio.

In line with ESMA communication 2014/944, Contingent Convertible Bonds have specific risks associated such as:

 Coupon cancellation: coupon payments are entirely discretionary and may be cancelled by the issuer at any point, for any length of time;

- Trigger level risk: Trigger levels differ and determine exposure to conversion risk depending on the distance of the capital ratio to the trigger level. It might be difficult for the Sub-Advisor of the relevant Portfolio to anticipate the triggering events that would require debt to convert into equity;
- Capital structure inversion risk: contrary to classic capital hierarchy, investors in Contingent Convertible Bonds may suffer a loss of capital when equity holders do not;
- Call extension risk: Contingent Convertible Bonds are issued as perpetual instruments, callable at pre-determined levels only with the approval of the issuer. It cannot be assumed that the perpetual Contingent Convertible Bonds will be called on call date. Contingent Convertible Bonds are a form of permanent capital. The investor may not receive return of principal if expected on call date or indeed at any date.

The above risk factors do not purport to be a complete explanation of the risks involved in investing in Shares of the relevant Portfolio.

Asset-backed Transferable Securities

Some Portfolios may also invest in asset-backed Transferable Securities. Asset-backed Transferable Securities represent a participation in, or are secured by and payable from, a stream of payments generated by particular assets, most often a pool of assets similar to one another, such as motor vehicle receivables or credit card receivables, home equity loans, manufactured housing loans or bank loan obligations.

Structured products

Some Portfolios may invest in structured products. These include interests in entities organised solely for the purpose of restructuring the investment characteristics of certain other investments. These investments are purchased by the entities (frequently special purpose vehicles that are part of limited recourse structures), which then issue Transferable Securities (the structured products) backed by, or representing interests in, the underlying investments. The cash flow from the underlying investments may be apportioned among the newly issued structured products to create Transferable Securities with different investment characteristics such as varying maturities, payment priorities or interest rate provisions, and the extent of the payments made with respect to structured investments depends on the amount of the cash flow from the underlying investments or the movement in value of the underlying investment.

Structured products are subject to the risks associated with the underlying market or security, and may be subject to greater volatility than direct investments in the underlying market or investment. Structured products may entail the risk of loss of principal and/or interest payments as a result of movements in the underlying market or investment. Structured products are also subject to the credit risk of any other entities forming part of the structure, as the ability of the issuer to meet its obligations under the Transferable Securities may be dependent on upon payments due from other participants.

Some Portfolios may also invest in credit linked securities referenced to underlying securities, instruments, baskets of securities or indices. These securities are subject to both counterparty risk and the risks inherent in the underlying investment. The counterparty risk lies with each party with whom the Management Company or the Sub-Advisors contract on behalf of the SICAV for the purpose of making investments (the counterparty). The underlying investment risk lies with the sovereign or corporate entity against which payments made under the product are referenced.

Credit default swaps

Some Portfolios may also enter into credit default swap transactions which can be subject to higher risk than direct investment in debt securities. The market for credit default swaps may from time to time be less liquid than debt securities markets. The "buyer" (of protection) in a credit default swap transaction is obliged to pay the "seller" a periodic stream of payments over the term of the contract provided that no event of default on an underlying reference obligation has occurred. If an event of default occurs, the seller must pay the buyer the full notional value, or "par value", of the reference obligation in exchange for the reference obligation. The Portfolios, if sellers, will lose their investment and recover nothing. However, if an event of default occurs, the Portfolios (if buyers) will receive the full notional value of the reference obligation that may have little or no value. As sellers, the Portfolios receive a fixed rate of income throughout the term of the contract, which is typically between six months and three years, provided that there is no event of default.

The above mentioned Portfolios may also purchase credit default swap contracts in order to hedge against the risk of default of debt securities they hold in their portfolios. This would also involve the risk that the swap may expire worthless and would only generate income in the event of an actual default by an issuer of the underlying obligation as opposed to a credit downgrade or other indication of financial instability. This would also involve credit risk: the risk that the seller may fail to satisfy its payment obligations to the Portfolios in the event of a default. To mitigate the counterparty risk resulting from credit default swaps transactions, the Portfolios will only enter into credit default swaps with highly rated financial institutions specialised in this type of transaction.

Interest rate swaps

Some Portfolios may enter into an interest rate swap, in which one party exchanges a stream of interest for another party's stream. This type of swap is a contractual agreement entered into between two counterparties under which each agrees to make periodic payment to the other for an agreed period of time based upon a notional amount of principal. Under the commonest form of interest rate swap, a series of payments calculated by applying a fixed rate of interest to a notional principal amount is exchanged for a stream of payments similarly calculated but using a floating rate of interest. The use of swaps involves counterparty risk, although this risk is mitigated by entering into agreements with credit institutions or their affiliated brokers established in a country belonging to the Group of ten or a member state of the EEA and which have at least an investment grade rating.

Total/Excess return swaps

Some Portfolios may enter into a total return swap and/or excess return swap in which one party receives interest payments on a reference asset plus any capital gains and losses over the payment period, while the other receives a specified fixed and/or floating cash flow unrelated to the performance of the reference asset. These swaps allow Portfolios to take exposure to different types of investments and depending on their use, they may increase or decrease the volatility of the Portfolio. The value of the total return swap and/or excess return swap varies overtime and the Portfolio must be prepared to meet its commitments as they fall due. The use of swaps involves counterparty risk, although this risk is mitigated by entering into agreements with credit institutions or their affiliated brokers established in a country belonging to the Group of ten or a member state of the EEA and which have at least an investment grade rating.

Where a Portfolio uses total return swaps or a similar type of instrument for investment purposes, the strategy and the underlying to which the Portfolio takes exposure are those described in the investment strategy of the relevant Portfolio.

Equity swaps

Some Portfolios may enter into an equity swap which is a swap where a set of future cash flows are exchanged between two counterparties. One of these cash flow streams will typically be based on a reference interest rate. The other will be based on the performance of a share of stock or stock market index. The use of swaps involves counterparty risk, although this risk is mitigated by entering into agreements with credit institutions or their affiliated brokers established in a country belonging to the Group of ten or a member state of the EEA and which have at least an investment grade rating.

Currency Fluctuations

All globally invested Portfolios will be exposed to currencies other than the Base Currency, which may increase the volatility of the Net Asset Value of the Portfolios. In addition, those Portfolios exposed to emerging markets currencies may experience even greater volatility.

Some currencies may experience significant declines against some other currencies and devaluation of any such currencies may occur subsequent to the investment in these currencies by a Portfolio. The value of the assets of the Portfolio, as measured in one currency, may consequently be affected unfavourably by such devaluations. In addition, the Portfolios may engage in certain currency transactions, where available, in an attempt to hedge the Portfolio's currency risks. Such transactions may entail additional costs.

While the factors described above may result in a generally higher risk with respect to emerging markets, the Portfolios will attempt to manage this risk through diversification of investments within the Portfolio.

Commodity indices

Some Portfolios may invest in commodity indices comprised of futures contracts on physical commodities in certain sectors. Unlike equities, which typically entitle the holder to a continuing stake in a corporation, commodity futures contracts normally specify a certain date for delivery of the underlying physical commodity. As the futures contracts that the index comprises approach expiration, they are replaced by contracts that have a later expiration. For example, a contract purchased and held in August may have an October expiration. As time passes, the contract expiring in October is replaced by a contract for delivery in November. This process is referred to as "rolling". Those Portfolios which invest in rolling indices could be positively or negatively impacted depending on whether the underlying market is in "backwardation", or "contango". If the market for these contracts is in "backwardation", where the prices are lower in the distant delivery months than in the nearer delivery months, the sale of the October contract would take place at a price that is higher than the price of the November contract, thereby creating a "roll yield". Conversely, contango markets are those in which the prices of contracts are higher in the distant delivery months than in the nearer delivery months. The absence of backwardation in the commodity markets could result in negative "roll yields", which could adversely affect the value of the index and, accordingly, adversely affect the market value of the Portfolio.

Portfolios investing in commodity indices will be affected by the underlying commodity markets and the underlying commodities may perform very differently to the traditional securities markets such as equities and bonds. Commodity prices may change unpredictably, affecting the index and the level of the index and the value of the Portfolio in unforeseeable ways. Trading in futures contracts associated with the index commodities is speculative and can be extremely volatile.

Commodity indices may be particularly susceptible to fluctuation and may fluctuate rapidly based on numerous factors affecting the underlying commodities, including: changes in supply and demand relationships; weather; trade; fiscal, monetary and exchange control programs; domestic and foreign political and economic events and policies; disease; technological developments and changes in interest rates. These factors may affect the level of the index and the value of the relevant Portfolio in varying ways, and different factors may cause the value of the index commodities, and the volatility of their prices, to move in inconsistent directions at inconsistent rates. This could adversely affect the value of the Portfolio.

The commodities underlying the index components may be produced in a limited number of countries and may be controlled by a small number of producers, political, economic and supply related events in such countries could have a disproportionate impact on the prices of such commodities and the value of the index.

Exchange traded notes

Some Portfolios may invest in exchange traded securitised or structured notes ("Notes") linked to the performance of a reference asset issued by certain counterparties (the "Note Provider"). Changes in the credit ratings of the Note Provider may affect the market value of the reference asset. Credit ratings are an assessment of the Note Provider's ability to pay its obligations, including those on the Notes. Consequently, actual or anticipated changes in the Note Provider's credit ratings may affect the market value of the Notes. However, because the return on the Notes is dependent upon certain factors in addition to the Note Provider's ability to pay its obligations on the Notes, an improvement in the credit ratings of the Note Provider will not reduce the other investment risks related to the Notes.

Investment in other UCIs (including Exchange Traded Funds)

Some Portfolios may invest in other UCIs. Investment decisions of such underlying UCIs are made at the level of such UCIs. There can be no assurance that the selection of the managers of the underlying UCIs will result in an effective diversification of investment styles and that positions taken by the underlying UCIs will always be consistent. The underlying UCIs may not be subject to the supervision of the CSSF and may be less regulated; custody and audit rules may notably differ. The valuations of the assets of the underlying UCIs may not be verified by an independent third party on a regular or timely basis.

Both the Portfolio and the underlying UCIs will have costs and impose fees and commissions, which will cause a higher level of fees than if the investors invested directly in the underlying UCIs. However, when a Portfolio invests in units/shares of other UCITS and/or other UCI which are managed, either directly or by delegation, by the Management Company or any appointed Sub-Advisor or by any other company with which the Management Company or any appointed Sub-Advisor is linked by common management or control, or by a substantial direct or indirect holding, the Management Company or any appointed Sub-Advisor or other company may not charge subscription or redemption fees on account of the Portfolio's investment in the units of such other UCITS and/or UCIs. The maximum management fees of other UCIS or UCITS in which a Portfolio may invest shall not exceed the percentage indicated in the "Other Investment Practices" section.

Some underlying UCIs may invest in assets that are not readily realisable or may be hard to value. The value of these assets is a matter of the relevant valuation agent's policy and the true value may not be recognised until the asset is sold. This may be an ongoing risk for UCIs investing in property, but could also include other asset classes in extreme market conditions. There may be occasions where UCIs restrict redemptions and as such the Portfolios may not be able to liquidate a position in such UCIs. In a falling market this may result in losses to the Portfolios.

Investment in REITs

Investment in REITs involves certain unique risks in addition to those risks associated with investing in the real estate industry in general. Equity REITs may be affected by changes in the value of the underlying property owned by such REIT, while mortgage REITs may be affected by the quality of any credit extended. REITs are dependent upon management skills, are not diversified, are subject to heavy cash flow dependency, default by borrowers and self-liquidation.

Investing in REITs may involve risks similar to those associated with investing in small capitalisation companies. REITs may have limited financial resources, may trade less frequently and in a limited volume and may be subject to more abrupt or erratic price movements than larger company securities.

Custody Risk

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Depositary under Luxembourg law and to any related legal actions that may be available in this respect, the SICAV may be exposed to risk in relation to the custody of its assets particularly but not exclusively cash, where - depending on factors such as the legal regime in the country of custody or local market practice or other factors - assets may not be fully protected.

In the unlikely event of this happening, the SICAV's assets may be lost or access to SICAV assets may be barred temporarily or permanently. Legal

proceedings to retrieve such assets and/or for damages may or may not be successful and may be time consuming. Therefore, these factors may lead to disruptions of the operations of the SICAV, ultimately assets of the SICAV may be lost, and consequently the Net Asset Value may be reduced.

Investments in the PRC and the China–Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme

In addition to the usual risks of investing in emerging markets there are some specific risks connected to the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme. While the economy of the PRC is in a state of transition, in extreme circumstances, the Portfolios may incur losses due to limited investment capabilities. The Portfolios may not be able to invest in China A-Shares, access the PRC market through the programme, fully implement or pursue their investment objectives or strategy due to local investment restrictions, illiquidity of the PRC domestic securities market, suspension in the trading through the programme and/or delay or disruption in execution and settlement of trades.

All Hong Kong and overseas investors in the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme will trade and settle securities listed in mainland stock exchanges approved by the relevant authorities in Chinese offshore renminbi only. Such Portfolios will be exposed to any fluctuation in the exchange rate between the Base Currency of the relevant Portfolio and Chinese offshore renminbi in respect of such investments.

The Chinese offshore renminbi exchange rate is a managed floating exchange rate based on market supply and demand with reference to a basket of foreign currencies. The daily trading price of the Chinese offshore renminbi against other major currencies in the inter-bank foreign exchange market is allowed to float within a narrow band around the central parity published by the PRC.

Convertibility from Chinese offshore renminbi to Chinese onshore renminbi is a managed currency process subject to foreign exchange control policies of and repatriation restrictions imposed by the government of the PRC. Under the current regulations in the PRC, the value of Chinese offshore renminbi and Chinese onshore renminbi may be different due to a number of factors including without limitation those foreign exchange control policies and repatriation restrictions and therefore is subject to fluctuations.

The China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme are securities trading and clearing linked programmes developed by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited ("HKEx"), Shanghai Stock Exchange ("SSE"), Shenzhen Stock Exchange ("SZSE") and China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited ("ChinaClear") with an aim to achieve mutual stock market access between mainland China and Hong Kong. These programmes allow foreign investors to trade eligible China A-Shares listed in mainland stock exchanges approved by the relevant authorities, through their Hong Kong based brokers.

Further information about China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme is available online at the website: http://www.hkex.com.hk/eng/market/sec_tradinfra/chinaconnect/chinaconnect.htm.

The Portfolios investing in the domestic securities markets of the PRC may use the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme and other similarly regulated programmes and are subject to the following additional risks:

- the relevant regulations relating to the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme are untested and subject to change which may have potential retrospective effect. There is no certainty as to how they will be applied which could adversely affect the Portfolios. The programmes require use of new information technology systems which may be subject to operational risk due to its cross-border nature. If the relevant systems fail to function properly, trading in both Hong Kong and Shanghai and any other relevant markets through the programmes could be disrupted;
- where securities are held in custody on a cross-border basis, there are specific legal/beneficial ownership risks linked to compulsory requirements of the local central securities depositaries, Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited ("HKSCC") and ChinaClear;
- as in other emerging markets, the legislative framework is beginning to develop the concept of legal/formal ownership and of beneficial ownership or interest in securities. In addition, HKSCC, as nominee holder, does not guarantee the title to China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme securities held through them and is under no obligation to enforce title or other rights associated with ownership on behalf of beneficial owners. Consequently, the courts may consider that any nominee or custodian as registered holder of China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme securities would have full ownership, and that those China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme securities would form part of the pool of assets of such entity available for distribution to creditors of such entities and/or that a beneficial owner may have no rights whatsoever in respect. Consequently, the Portfolios and the Depositary cannot ensure that the Portfolios' ownership of these securities or title is assured;
- to the extent that HKSCC is deemed to be performing safekeeping functions with respect to assets held through it, it should be noted that the Depositary and the Portfolios will have no legal relationship with HKSCC and no direct legal recourse against HKSCC in the event that the Portfolios suffer losses resulting from the performance or insolvency of HKSCC;
- in the event ChinaClear defaults, HKSCC's liabilities under its market contracts with clearing participants will be limited to assisting clearing participants with claims. HKSCC will act in good faith to seek recovery of the outstanding stocks and monies from ChinaClear through available legal channels or the liquidation of ChinaClear. In this event, a Portfolio may not fully recover any losses or its China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme securities and the process of recovery could also be delayed;
- the HKSCC provides clearing, settlement, nominee functions and other related services of the trades executed by Hong Kong market participants. PRC regulations which include certain restrictions on selling and buying will apply to all market participants. In the case of sale, pre-delivery of shares is required by the broker, increasing counterparty risk. Because of such requirements, the Portfolios may not be able to purchase and/or dispose of holdings of China A-Shares in a timely manner;

- daily quota limitations are applied to the China-Hong Kong Stock

Connect Programme which does not belong to the Portfolios and can only be utilized on a first-come-first serve basis. This may restrict the Portfolios ability to invest in China A-Shares through the programmes on a timely basis;

- the China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme will only operate on days when both the PRC and Hong Kong markets are open for trading and when banks in each respective market are open on the corresponding settlement days. There may be occasions when it is a normal trading day for the PRC market but the Portfolios cannot carry out any China A-Shares trading. The Portfolios may be subject to risks of price fluctuations in China A-Shares during the time when China-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme not trading as a result;
- the Portfolios will not benefit from local China investor compensation schemes.

Risks associated with the Small and Medium Enterprise Board and/or ChiNext of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange

The Portfolios may have exposure to stocks listed on Small and Medium Enterprise Board ("SME Board") and/or ChiNext of the SZSE and may be subject to the following risks:

- Higher fluctuation on stock prices Listed companies on the SME Board and/or ChiNext are usually of emerging nature with smaller operating scale. Hence, they are subject to higher fluctuation in stock prices and liquidity and have higher risks and turnover ratios than companies listed on the Main Board of the SSE ("Main Board").
- Over-valuation risk Stocks listed on SME Board and/or ChiNext may be overvalued and such exceptionally high valuation may not be sustainable. Stock price may be more susceptible to manipulation due to fewer circulating shares.
- Differences in regulation The rules and regulations regarding companies listed on ChiNext are less stringent in terms of profitability and share capital than those in the Main Board and SME Board.
- Delisting risk It may be more common and faster for companies listed on the SME Board and/or ChiNext to delist. This may have an adverse impact on the relevant Portfolio if the companies that it invests in are delisted.

Investments in the SME Board and/or ChiNext may result in significant losses for the relevant Sub-Fund and its investors.

Risks associated with China Interbank Bond Market via Northbound Trading Link under Bond Connect

Bond Connect is a new initiative launched in July 2017 for mutual bond market access between Hong Kong and Mainland China established by China Foreign Exchange Trade System & National Interbank Funding Centre ("CFETS"), China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd, Shanghai Clearing House, and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and Central Moneymarkets Unit.

Under the prevailing regulations in Mainland China, eligible foreign investors will be allowed to invest in the bonds circulated in the China Interbank Bond Market through the northbound trading of Bond Connect ("Northbound Trading Link"). There will be no investment quota for Northbound Trading Link. Under the Northbound Trading Link, eligible foreign investors are required to appoint the CFETS or other institutions recognised by the People's Bank of China ("PBOC") as registration agents to apply for registration with the PBOC.

Pursuant to the prevailing regulations in Mainland China, an offshore custody agent recognised by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (currently, the Central Moneymarkets Unit) shall open omnibus nominee accounts with the onshore custody agent recognised by the PBOC (currently, the China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd and Shanghai Clearing House). All bonds traded by eligible foreign investors will be registered in the name of Central Moneymarkets Unit, which will hold such bonds as a nominee owner.

Market volatility and potential lack of liquidity due to low trading volume of certain debt securities in the China Interbank Bond Market may result in prices of certain debt securities traded on such market fluctuating significantly. The Portfolios investing in such market are therefore subject to liquidity and volatility risks. The bid and offer spreads of the prices of such securities may be large, and the Portfolios may therefore incur significant trading and realisation costs and may even suffer losses when selling such investments.

To the extent that the Portfolios transact in the China Interbank Bond Market, the Portfolios may also be exposed to risks associated with settlement procedures and default of counterparties. The counterparty which has entered into a transaction with the Portfolios may default in its obligation to settle the transaction by delivery of the relevant security or by payment for value.

For investments via Bond Connect, the relevant filings, registration with the PBOC and account opening have to be carried out via an onshore settlement agent, offshore custody agent, registration agent or other third parties (as the case may be). As such, the Portfolios are subject to the risks of default or errors on the part of such third parties.

Investing in the China Interbank Bond Market via Bond Connect is also subject to regulatory risks. The relevant rules and regulations on these regimes are subject to change which may have potential retrospective effect. In the event that the relevant Mainland Chinese authorities suspend account opening or trading on the China Interbank Bond Market, the Portfolios' ability to invest in the China Interbank Bond Market will be adversely affected. In such event, the Portfolios' ability to achieve its investment objective will be negatively affected.

Trading through Bond Connect is performed through newly developed trading platforms and operational systems. There is no assurance that such systems will function properly or will continue to be adapted to changes and developments in the market. In the event that the relevant systems fails to function properly, trading through Bond Connect may be disrupted. The Portfolios' ability to trade through Bond Connect (and hence to pursue its investment strategy) may therefore be adversely affected. In addition, where the Portfolios invest in the China Interbank Bond Market through Bond Connect, they may be subject to risks of delays inherent in the order placing and/or settlement systems.

PRC Tax risk

There are risks and uncertainties associated with the current PRC tax laws, regulations and practice in respect of capital gains realised via the Shanghai-Hong Kong stock connect and Shenzhen-Hong Kong stock connect ("Stock Connects") (which may have retrospective effect). Any increased tax liabilities on the relevant Portfolio may adversely affect the relevant Portfolio's value.

There are also uncertainties under the applicable PRC tax laws on the treatment of income tax and other tax categories payable in respect of trading in China Interbank Bond Market by eligible foreign institutional investors via Bond Connect. There is also the possibility of such laws being changed and taxes being applied retrospectively. Hence it is uncertain as to the Portfolios' tax liabilities for trading in China Interbank Bond Market via Bond Connect.

The SICAV

The SICAV is an investment company organised as a "société d'investissement à capital variable" in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg under the Companies Law and qualifies as a UCITS under the 2010 Law. The SICAV, including all its Portfolios, is considered as a single legal person. However, pursuant to article 181(5) of the 2010 Law, each Portfolio corresponds to a distinct part of the assets and liabilities of the SICAV and shall therefore be liable only for its own debts and obligations.

The SICAV was incorporated on 10 February 1995 for an unlimited period and may be liquidated by decision of its Shareholders in an extraordinary general meeting. The Articles were first published in the RESA on 31 March 1995 and were last amended effective on 14 September 2018. The SICAV was formerly known as *American Express Funds* and subsequently as *World Express Funds I*. The SICAV's principal and registered office is at 31 Z.A. Bourmicht, L-8070 Bertrange, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

The SICAV is registered under the number R.C.S. Luxembourg B 50 216 at the Register of Commerce and Companies at the District Court of Luxembourg where the Articles are available for inspection and where copies thereof may be obtained upon request.

The corporate capital of the SICAV shall be at all times equal to the total net assets of all of the Portfolios of the SICAV. The minimum share capital of the SICAV shall be the equivalent in U.S. Dollars of 1,250,000 Euro.

The Directors are responsible for the overall administration, control and management of the SICAV and each of its Portfolios. The Directors are listed below together with their principal occupations:

Jon ALLEN, Head of Asia Pacific Institutional Sales and Product Development;

Marie-Jeanne CHEVREMONT-LORENZINI, Independent Director;

Julie GRIFFITHS, Chief Risk Officer, EMEA and Global Head of Investment Risk;

Claude KREMER, Independent Director.

The Auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers, *société coopérative*, 2, rue Gerhard Mercator, B.P. 1443, L-1014 Luxembourg.

The SICAV may, with the consent of the Shareholders expressed in the manner provided for by article 450-3 of the Companies Law be liquidated and the liquidator authorised to transfer all assets and liabilities of the SICAV to a Luxembourg UCITS or to a UCITS of another EU member state, in exchange for the issue to Shareholders in the SICAV of shares or units of such UCITS proportionate to their shareholdings in the SICAV. Any liquidation of the SICAV will be carried out in accordance with Luxembourg law and each Shareholder shall be entitled to a *pro rata* share of the liquidation proceeds corresponding to his shareholding in each Class of Shares of each Portfolio. Monies available for distribution to Shareholders will, at the close of liquidation, be deposited at the *Caisse de Consignation* in Luxembourg pursuant to article 146 of the 2010 Law.

If the capital of the SICAV falls below two-thirds of the minimum capital of the equivalent in U.S. Dollars of 1,250,000 Euro, the Directors must submit the question of the dissolution of the SICAV to a general meeting of Shareholders convened to be held within 40 days and for which no quorum shall be prescribed, and a decision to dissolve the SICAV may be taken by a simple majority of the affirmative votes of the Shareholders present or represented.

If the capital of the SICAV falls below one quarter of the minimum capital stated above, the Directors must submit the question of the dissolution of the SICAV to a general meeting of Shareholders convened to be held within 40 days and for which no quorum shall be prescribed, and a decision to dissolve the SICAV may be taken by the Shareholders owning one quarter of the Shares represented at the meeting.

The Shares of each Portfolio have no par value. Each Share is entitled to one vote at all general meetings of Shareholders irrespective of its Net Asset Value, subject to the limitations imposed by the Articles and by applicable Luxembourg laws and regulations. The Board may suspend the voting rights attached to shares held by a Shareholder who is in breach of the Articles or of legal or regulatory requirements or otherwise adversely affects or prejudices the SICAV or who could in the Board's judgement, otherwise cause the SICAV or any Portfolio to suffer disadvantage. In particular, the SICAV will not recognise the vote of any United States Person. See "Restrictions on Ownership".

The Shares of each Portfolio when issued will have no preferential or pre-emptive rights. There are and will be no outstanding options or special rights relating to any Shares. The Shares are freely transferable, subject to the restrictions set forth below under "Restrictions on Ownership".

Shares of each Portfolio are presently issued in non-certificated registered form, including fractional entitlements, except where a Shareholder specifically also asks for a physical Share certificate to be issued, in which case such Shareholder shall bear the associated costs.

Separate Portfolio or Class meetings may be held on certain matters materially affecting the interests of the relevant Shareholders, at which only the Shares of the relevant Portfolio and/or Class will vote.

The Management Company

The SICAV has designated Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A. to serve as its designated management company in accordance with the 2010 Law, pursuant to a Management Company Services Agreement dated as of 31 October 2005. Under this Agreement, the Management Company provides investment management, administrative and marketing services to the SICAV, subject to the overall supervision and control of the Directors.

The Management Company, formerly known as American Express Bank Asset Management Company (Luxembourg) S.A. and subsequently Standard Chartered Investments (Luxembourg) S.A, was organised on August 24, 2005 as a public limited company (*société anonyme*) for an unlimited period of time under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. Its articles of incorporation were published in the RESA on 22 September 2005 and were last amended on 1 February 2019. It is registered under the number R.C.S. Luxembourg B 110242 at the Register of Commerce and Companies at the District Court of Luxembourg. Its share capital amounts to Euro 800,000 fully paid-up. The Management Company is indirectly owned by and is an indirect subsidiary of Ameriprise Financial, Inc. It is registered on the official list of Luxembourg management companies governed by Chapter 15 of the 2010 Law.

The Management Company is in charge of the day-to-day operations of the SICAV. The board of directors of the Management Company is composed of:

Alessandro ASPESI, Country Head Italy;

Florian ULEER, Country Head Germany;

Laura WEATHERUP, Head of Investment Operations, EMEA;

Kar Kean WONG, Head of Business Development, Asia Pacific.

The conducting persons of the Management Company are:

Linda ALIOUAT, Head of Risk Management, Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A.;

Jacek BERENSON, Conducting Officer – Portfolio Management & Distribution, Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A.;

Claire MANIER, Managing Legal Counsel & Compliance Officer, Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A.;

Jeremy SMITH, Head of Transfer Agency Oversight, Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A.

In fulfilling its responsibilities set forth by the 2010 Law and the Management Company Services Agreement, it is permitted to delegate all or a part of its functions and duties to third parties, provided that it retains responsibility and oversight over such delegates. The appointment of third parties is subject to the approval of the SICAV and the Regulatory Authority. The Management Company's liability shall not be affected by the fact that it has delegated its functions and duties to third parties.

The Management Company has delegated the following functions to third parties: investment management, transfer agency and administration and marketing and distribution. See "Investment Advisory Arrangements", "Distribution Arrangements" and "Service Providers" below.

The Management Company shall at all times act in the best interests of the SICAV and its Shareholders and according to the provisions set forth by the 2010 Law, the Prospectus and the Articles.

The Management Company Services Agreement provides for a term of unlimited duration and may be terminated by either party upon three months' prior written notice.

Remuneration

The Management Company, as part of Columbia Threadneedle Investments EMEA Region, shall apply remuneration policies and practices for identified staff in compliance with the UCITS V Directive (2014/91/EU) ("UCITS V") and regulatory requirements. Further details on the Remuneration Policy can be found at www.columbiathreadneedle.com. The up to date details of the remuneration policy shall include, but are not limited to, a description of how remuneration and benefits are calculated and the identities of persons responsible for awarding the remuneration and benefits, including the composition of the remuneration committee.

The remuneration policy is consistent with and promotes sound and effective risk management and does not encourage risk taking which is inconsistent with the risk profiles, rules or instruments of incorporation:

- the remuneration policy is in line with the business strategy, objectives, values and interests of the Management Company and of the investors, and includes measures to avoid conflicts of interest. The Management Company has full discretion as to whether any variable remuneration is awarded in compliance with the Remuneration Policy;
- where remuneration is performance-related, the total amount of remuneration is based on a combination of the assessment as to the performance of the individual and of the business unit and as to their risks and of the overall results of the Management Company when assessing individual performance, taking into account financial and nonfinancial criteria. In particular, employees will not be eligible to receive an incentive award if at any point during the relevant performance year, and the period from the end of the performance year until the award payment date, the employee has been found, not to have met the Management Company's standards of performance and conduct;
- the assessment of performance is set in a multi-year framework with stock awards set with deferral rates in accordance applicable regulation.

Further details on the Remuneration Policy can be found at www.columbiathreadneedle.com. A paper copy of the Remuneration Policy is available free of charge upon request.

Investment Advisory Arrangements

Subject to the overall responsibility of the Directors, the Management Company will provide or procure for each Portfolio investment advisory and discretionary investment management services, pursuant to the provisions of the Management Company Services Agreement.

In order to implement the investment policies of each Portfolio, the Management Company has delegated the management of the assets of each Portfolio to the Sub-Advisors listed below pursuant to a Sub-Advisory agreement with each Sub-Advisor. The Sub-Advisors provide the Management Company with management or advisory services in relation to Portfolio assets and also provide investment research and credit analysis concerning prospective and existing Portfolio investments. Each Sub-Advisor has day-to-day investment responsibility in respect of the relevant Portfolios. The Management Company is responsible for paying the fees of such Sub-Advisors as set forth in the section "Fees and Expenses".

Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC, 225 Franklin Street, Boston, MA 02110, United States, acts as Sub-Advisor to Global Emerging Market Equities, Global Technology, US High Yield Bond, US Contrarian Core Equities and US Disciplined Core Equities. With respect to such Portfolios, Columbia Management Investments Advisers, LLC will enter into commission sharing arrangements that comply with the requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and the conditions detailed in the Prospectus under the heading "Commission Sharing Arrangements".

Non-discretionary investment advice

Threadneedle Asset Management Limited makes investment recommendations to Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC and, therefore provides investment advice supported by research, to Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC in relation to the following Portfolios:

Global Emerging Market Equities

Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC may act, or refrain from acting, based upon its view of any investment advice supported by research or investment recommendations provided by Threadneedle Asset Management Limited and retains the complete discretion to take all day to day investment decisions and to deal in investments.

Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC will remain liable at all times for the services provided by such delegates and will pay for their services out of its own assets.

Threadneedle Asset Management Limited, Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London EC4N 6AG, United Kingdom, acts as Sub-Advisor to Global Corporate Bond, Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds, Euro Dynamic Real Return, Global Dynamic Real Return, Global Multi Asset Income, Global Focus, Emerging Market Debt, Emerging Market Corporate Bonds, European Corporate Bond, European High Yield Bond, European Short-Term High Yield Bond, European Social Bond, Flexible Asian Bond, Pan European Small Cap Opportunities, Pan European Equities, Pan European Equity Dividend, Pan European Absolute Alpha, UK Absolute Alpha, American Extended Alpha, Global Extended Alpha, Pan European Smaller Companies, Asian Equity Income, American Select, European Strategic Bond, Global Equity Income, American Absolute Alpha, Credit Opportunities, Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities, Enhanced Commodities, UK Equities, UK Equity Income, American, American Smaller Companies, Asia Equities, Global Select, Global Smaller Companies, European Select, European Smaller Companies and Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity. With respect to such Portfolios, Threadneedle Asset Management Limited will not enter into commission sharing arrangements and will absorb research costs.

Delegation of discretionary investment advice

From time to time, and subject to all relevant regulatory approvals being obtained, Threadneedle Asset Management Limited may, subject to its own liability, delegate the discretionary investment management of part of the assets of the following Portfolios to one or more third parties within the Ameriprise Financial, Inc. group of companies as set out below:

Delegation to Columbia Management Investment Advisers LLC:

- Emerging Market Corporate Bonds
- Emerging Market Debt
- Global Corporate Bond
- Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds;

Delegation to Threadneedle Investments Singapore (Pte.) Limited:

- Asia Equities
- Asian Equity Income
- Flexible Asian Bond.

Threadneedle Asset Management Limited will pay for the services of any of its delegates out of its own assets.

Non-discretionary investment advice

Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC makes investment recommendations to Threadneedle Asset Management Limited and, therefore provides investment advice supported by research, to Threadneedle Asset Management Limited in relation to the following Portfolios:

- American
- American Select
- American Absolute Alpha
- American Smaller Companies
- Global Multi Asset Income.

Threadneedle Asset Management Limited may act, or refrain from acting, based upon its view of any investment advice supported by research or investment recommendations provided by Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC and retains the complete discretion to take all day to day investment decisions and to deal in investments.

Threadneedle Asset Management Limited will remain liable at all times for the services provided by such delegates and will pay for their services out of its own assets.

Threadneedle Investments Singapore (Pte.) Limited, 3 Killiney Road, #07-07 Winsland House 1, Singapore 239519, acts as Sub-Advisor to Asia Contrarian Equity and Developed Asia Growth and Income. With respect to such Portfolios, Threadneedle Investments Singapore (Pte.) Limited will not enter into commission sharing arrangements.

Non-discretionary investment advice

Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC makes investment recommendations to Threadneedle Investments Singapore (Pte.) Limited and, therefore provides investment advice supported by research, to Threadneedle Investments Singapore (Pte.) Limited in relation to the following Portfolios:

- Asia Contrarian Equity;
- Developed Asia Growth and Income.

Threadneedle Investments Singapore (Pte.) Limited may act, or refrain from acting, based upon its view of any investment advice supported by research or investment recommendations provided by Columbia Management Investment Advisers, LLC and retains the complete discretion to take all day to day investment decisions and to deal in investments.

Threadneedle Investments Singapore (Pte.) Limited will remain liable at all times for the services provided by such delegates and will pay for their services out of its own assets.

STANLIB Asset Management (Pty) Limited, 17 Melrose Boulevard, Melrose Arch 2196, PO Box: 202, Melrose Arch 2076, Johannesburg, South Africa acts as Sub-Advisor to STANLIB Africa Equity. With respect to this Portfolio, STANLIB Asset Management (Pty) Limited may enter into commission sharing arrangements. Such arrangements shall be made in compliance with the requirements of the Financial Services Board of South Africa and the conditions detailed in the Prospectus under the heading "Commission Sharing Arrangements".

While the Management Company is at all times subject to the direction of the Directors, the Management Company Services Agreement and relevant Sub-Advisory agreement provide that the Management Company or the Sub-Advisor appointed by it is responsible for the management of the relevant Portfolios. Therefore, the responsibility for making decisions to buy, sell or hold a particular security rests with the Management Company or the Sub-Advisors appointed by it, subject to the control, supervision, direction and instruction of the Directors.

Conflicts of Interest

There are potential sources of conflicts of interest between the SICAV and/ or the Management Company and the Shareholders and the Ameriprise Group and any persons appointed as Sub-Advisor (each an "Interested Party"). These include the following:

- (i) an Interested Party may purchase and sell for its own account securities in which the SICAV may also invest. In addition, the Management Company in its normal course may purchase and sell assets for the SICAV from and to an Interested Party on an arm's length basis and may give investment advice in respect of, or manage third-party funds that are invested in, the same securities in which the SICAV will invest;
- (ii) an Interested Party may lend money to the companies or countries in which the SICAV invests. Credit decisions that an Interested Party makes in respect of such companies or countries could have an impact on the market value of the securities in which the SICAV invests. Furthermore, an Interested Party's position as a lender may be senior to the securities in which the SICAV invests;
- (iii) an Interested Party may also engage in other activities involving or affecting the securities in which the SICAV invests. In particular, an Interested Party may be involved in origination of transactions concerning such securities, underwriting such securities and acting as broker-dealer in respect of such securities. In addition, an Interested Party may perform other services for portfolio companies and receive fees, commissions and other remuneration therefor;
- (iv) in conjunction with its various activities, an Interested Party may come into possession of confidential information that could, if known to the public, affect the market value of the securities in which the SICAV will invest. An Interested Party may not disclose such information to the SICAV or use such information for the benefit of the SICAV.

In effecting foreign exchange or in making any purchase or sale of any securities or other assets for the SICAV, an Interested Party may act as a counterparty, principal agent or broker in the transaction and may be separately compensated in that capacity.

Portfolio Transactions

The Management Company's best execution policy sets out the basis upon which it would effect transactions and place orders in relation to the Company whilst complying with its obligations under the CSSF Regulation 10-4, Article 28, in order to obtain the best possible result for the Company. However, as the Management Company has delegated the management of the assets of each Portfolio to the Sub-Advisors listed in the section 'Investment Advisory Arrangements', the best execution policies of those respective Sub-Advisors may differ to the aforementioned policy. The aforementioned policy applies more specifically to those affiliates of the Management Company. Details of this best execution policy are available on the Management Company's website at www.columbiathreadneedle.com.

The SICAV is under no obligation to deal with any broker or group of brokers in respect of the execution of transactions in Portfolio securities. Transactions may be effected through brokers and dealers that are affiliated with Sub-Advisors. Such transactions may be subject to a commission or dealer mark-up, which may not be the lowest commission or spread available.

Brokers who provide supplemental investment research to the Management Company may receive orders for transactions by the SICAV. Information so received will be in addition to and not in lieu of the services required to be performed by the Management Company under the Management Company Services Agreement, and the expenses of the Management Company will not necessarily be reduced as a result of the receipt of such supplemental information.

Securities held by a Portfolio also may be held by another Portfolio or by other funds or investment advisory clients for which the Management Company or Sub-Advisors or their affiliates act as an advisor. Because of different objectives or other factors, a particular security may be bought for one or more such clients when one or more clients are selling the same security. If the Management Company or Sub-Advisor is considering the purchase or sale of a security for a Portfolio or for another company for which it acts as management company or sub-advisor, transactions in such securities will be made, insofar as feasible, in a manner deemed by the Management Company or Sub-Advisor to be equitable to both the Portfolio and the SICAV. There may be occasions, however, when such purchases or sales of securities have an adverse effect on the Portfolio or on other clients of the Management Company or Sub-Advisor.

Net Asset Value Determination

The Net Asset Value per Share of each Class of each Portfolio is calculated as of each Valuation Date.

The Net Asset Value per Share is determined by or at the direction of the SICAV and made available at the registered office of the SICAV. The Net Asset Value per Share is stated in the currency in which the relevant Class of such Portfolio's Shares is denominated as well as in certain other currencies as may be determined from time to time by the Directors.

The assets of the SICAV will be valued as follows:

- (i) the value of any cash on hand or on deposit, bills and demand notes and accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, cash dividends and interest declared or accrued as aforesaid and not yet received shall be deemed to be the full amount thereof, unless in any case the same is unlikely to be paid or received in full, in which case the value thereof shall be arrived at after making such discount as the SICAV may consider appropriate in such case to reflect the true value thereof;
- (ii) Transferable Securities, Money Market Instruments and any financial assets listed or dealt in on a stock exchange of an Other State or on a Regulated Market, or on any Other Regulated Market of a Member State or of an Other State, are generally valued at their last exchange price in the relevant market at the time of closure of the market, or any other price deemed appropriate by the Directors. Fixed income securities not traded on such markets are generally valued at the last available price or yield equivalents obtained from one or more

dealers or pricing services approved by the Directors, or any other price deemed appropriate by the Directors;

- (iii) if such prices are not representative of their value, such securities are stated at market value or otherwise at the fair value at which it is expected they may be resold, as determined in good faith by or under the direction of the Directors;
- (iv) Money Market Instruments (or other instruments in line with market convention in the jurisdiction in which the instrument is held) with a remaining maturity of 90 days or less will be valued by the amortised cost method, which approximates market value. Under this valuation method, the relevant Portfolio's investments are valued at their acquisition cost or the last market value prior to the 90 day period commencing (where an instrument at purchase date originally had more than 90 days to maturity) and adjusted for amortisation of premium or accretion of discount rather than at market value;
- (v) units or shares of open-ended UCI will be valued at their last determined and available net asset value or, if such price is not representative of the fair market value of such assets, then the price shall be determined by the SICAV on a fair and equitable basis. Units or shares of a closed-ended UCI will be valued at their last available stock market value;
- (vi) the liquidating value of futures, forward or options contracts not traded on a stock exchange of an Other State or on Regulated Markets, or on Other Regulated Markets shall mean their net liquidating value determined, pursuant to the policies established by the Directors, on a basis consistently applied for each different variety of contracts. The value of futures, forward or options contracts traded on a stock exchange of an Other State or on Regulated Markets, or on other Regulated Markets shall be based upon the last available settlement or closing prices as applicable to these contracts on a stock exchange or on regulated markets, or on other regulated markets on which the particular futures, forward or options contracts are traded on behalf of the SICAV; provided that if a future, forward or options contract could not be liquidated on the day with respect to which assets are being determined, the basis for determining the liquidating value of such contract shall be such value as the Directors may deem fair and reasonable:
- (vii) interest rate swaps will be valued on the basis of their market value established by reference to the applicable interest rate curve;
- (viii) credit default swaps and total/excess return swaps will be valued at fair value under procedures approved by the Directors. As these swaps are not exchange-traded, but are private contracts into which the SICAV and a swap counterparty enter as principals, the data inputs for valuation models are usually established by reference to active markets. However it is possible that such market data will not be available for credit default swaps and total/excess return swaps near the Valuation Date. Where such markets inputs are not available, quoted market data for similar instruments (e.g. a different underlying instrument for the same or a similar reference entity) will

be used provided that appropriate adjustments be made to reflect any differences between the credit default swaps and total/excess return swaps being valued and the similar financial instrument for which a price is available. Market input data and prices may be sourced from exchanges, a broker, an external pricing agency or a counterparty.

If no such market input data are available, credit default swaps and total/excess return swaps will be valued at their fair value pursuant to a valuation method adopted by the Directors which shall be a valuation method widely accepted as good market practice (*i.e.* used by active participants on setting prices in the market place or which has demonstrated to provide reliable estimate of market prices) provided that adjustments that the Directors may deem fair and reasonable be made. The SICAV's auditor will review the appropriateness of the valuation methodology used in valuing credit default swaps and total/excess return swaps. In any way the SICAV will always value credit default swaps and total/excess return swaps on an arm's-length basis;

- (ix) All other swaps will be valued at fair value as determined in good faith pursuant to procedures established by the Directors;
- (x) all other securities, instruments and other assets will be valued at fair market value, as determined in good faith pursuant to procedures established by the Directors;
- (xi) assets denominated in a currency other than that in which the relevant Net Asset Value will be expressed, will be converted at the relevant foreign currency spot rate on the relevant Valuation Date. In that context account shall be taken of hedging instruments used to cover foreign exchange risks.

The SICAV constitutes one single collective investment scheme with separate Portfolios. Each Portfolio, however, is deemed a separate entity vis-à-vis third parties and creditors and is exclusively liable for its own debts and obligations.

Notwithstanding the above, pursuant to general guidelines and policies adopted by the Directors from time to time, if the Directors consider that another method of valuation would more accurately reflect the value at which it is expected that the securities or other investments may be resold, the method used to value such securities or other investments, whether on each Valuation Date, or on any particular Valuation Date, may be adjusted by or under the direction of the Directors, in their sole and absolute discretion.

The Net Asset Value per Class of each Portfolio is determined by dividing the value of the total assets of the Portfolio properly allocable to such Class of Shares, less the liabilities of such Portfolio properly allocable to such Class of Shares by the total number of Shares of such Class outstanding on the Valuation Date.

If the Net Asset Value per Share is certified by an authorised officer or representative of the SICAV, any such certification shall be conclusive except in the case of manifest error.

Interest receivable on debt securities held by a Portfolio is accrued daily and dividends receivable are accrued as of the relevant ex-dividend dates.

Net Asset Value Publication

The Net Asset Value per Class of each Portfolio and the offering and redemption prices shall be available at the registered office of the SICAV. The SICAV may arrange for the publication of this information in leading financial newspapers or as otherwise required by applicable law. The SICAV cannot accept any responsibility for any error or delay in publication or for non-publication of a Net Asset Value.

Dilution Adjustment

The Portfolios may suffer reduction of the Net Asset Value per Share due to dealing spreads, transaction costs and tax charges that arise when purchases and sales of underlying investments are undertaken by the Sub-Advisor to accommodate cash inflows and outflows; this is known as "dilution". A dilution adjustment may be applied to protect the Shareholders of the Portfolios by countering the impact of dilution (the "Dilution Adjustment"). If the net capital activity (including subscriptions, redemptions and conversions into a given Portfolio) on a given Valuation Date exceeds the threshold set by the Management Company from time to time for that Portfolio, the Net Asset Value of the Portfolio may be adjusted upwards or downwards to reflect the net inflows and net outflows respectively.

The Net Asset Value per Share of each Share Class in the Portfolio is calculated separately but any Dilution Adjustment will have an identical effect on the Net Asset Value per Share of each Share Class of the Portfolio. The amount of Dilution Adjustment will be set by the Management Company to reflect the estimated dealing spreads, transaction costs and tax charges that may be incurred by the Portfolio; these costs can vary with market conditions and the portfolio composition. The Dilution Adjustment may therefore be amended from time to time. Such Dilution Adjustments may vary from Portfolio to Portfolio and between daily net inflows and outflows but will not exceed 2% of the original Net Asset Value per Share (with the exception of the STANLIB Africa Equity Portfolio, for which the amount of Dilution Adjustment will not exceed 5% of the original Net Asset Value per Share). A periodic review is undertaken in order to verify the appropriateness of the Dilution Adjustments being applied. In the usual course of business the application of Dilution Adjustment will be triggered mechanically and on a consistent basis, however the Management Company reserves the right to make a discretionary Dilution Adjustment if, in its opinion, it is in the interests of existing Shareholders so to do.

The Dilution Adjustment may be applied across all Portfolios with the exception of Enhanced Commodities.

Estimates of the amount of Dilution Adjustment based on securities held in each Portfolio and market conditions at the time of this Prospectus as well as the number of occasions on which the Dilution Adjustment is applied will be published on the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com.

Fees and Expenses Portfolio Operating Expenses

All expenses incurred in the operation of the SICAV and defined below (hereafter the "Operating Expenses", "Asset Management Fee" or "Portfolio Charges", together, the "Expenses") are fixed at the rates shown in Appendices C to U to this Prospectus. All Expenses are accrued daily based on the Net Asset Value of the relevant Class in the relevant Portfolio.

The Operating Expenses include, among other things, taxes, expenses for legal and auditing services, costs of printing proxies, stock certificates, Shareholders' reports and notices, Prospectuses and Key Investor Information and other promotional expenses, fees and charges of the Depositary and its correspondents, and of the Domiciliary Agent, Administrative Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent and of any paying agent, expenses of the issue and redemption of Shares, registration fees and expenses in various jurisdictions, listing fees, fees of unaffiliated directors of the SICAV, expenses of the Directors and officers of the SICAV and the Sub-Advisors relating to attendance at meetings of the Directors and of the Shareholders of the SICAV, translation costs, accounting and pricing costs (including the calculation of Net Asset Value per Share), insurance, litigation and other extraordinary or non-recurring expenses, and all other expenses properly payable by the SICAV. The Operating Expenses also include the service fee payable to the Management Company.

The Management Company will bear the excess of any Operating Expenses above the annual rate. Conversely the Management Company will be entitled to retain any amount by which the annual rate of Operating Expenses exceeds the actual expenses incurred by the SICAV.

Furthermore, the Management Company is entitled to receive an Asset Management Fee as more fully described in Appendices C, D, E, F, G, H, J, K, L, N, O, P, Q, R, T and U herein, which are accrued daily and paid monthly. An Asset Management Fee is not payable for X Shares and Class 4 Shares. Also, in relation to certain Portfolios, the Management Company is entitled to receive a performance fee as more fully described in the section below entitled "Performance fee". For the avoidance of doubt, Operating Expenses do not include either Asset Management Fees or performance fees which are separate and distinct.

The Management Company will be responsible for paying ongoing subadvisory fees to the Sub-Advisors out of the Asset Management Fee. The actual Asset Management Fee charged during any semi-annual period to each Class within each Portfolio will be disclosed in the annual or semi-annual reports covering such period. Investors may also obtain a schedule of the Asset Management Fee currently in effect upon request at the registered offices of the SICAV, the Management Company or the sub-distributors.

Institutional Share Classes – Portfolio Charges – I Shares, L Shares, N Shares, X Shares, Class 2 Shares, Class 4 Shares, Class 9 Shares

There will be no initial sales charges applicable to any of the Institutional Share Classes. An Asset Management Fee for the I Shares will be charged as disclosed in Appendix F below, for L Shares as disclosed in Appendix H, for N Shares as disclosed in Appendix I, for Class 2 Shares as disclosed in Appendix Q, for Class 9 Shares as disclosed in Appendix U will be accrued daily and paid monthly. There will be no initial sales charges or Asset Management Fee for the X Shares and Class as these Classes are only available to Eligible Investors.

Commission sharing arrangements

The Management Company and certain Sub-Advisors may enter into commission sharing arrangements with broker-dealers under which certain business services are obtained from such broker-dealers directly or from third parties and are paid for by the broker-dealers out of the commissions they receive on transactions for the SICAV. Consistent with obtaining best execution, brokerage commissions on portfolio transactions for the SICAV may be specifically allocated by the Management Company or each relevant Sub-Advisor to broker-dealers in consideration of any research services rendered as well as for services rendered in the execution of orders by such broker-dealers. Additional information on each Sub-Advisor's practices with respect to commission sharing arrangements is detailed in the section of this Prospectus with the heading "Investment Advisory Arrangements" above.

Any commission sharing arrangement entered into by the Management company or a Sub-Advisor will operate under the following conditions: (i) the Management Company or the Sub-Advisor will act at all times in the best interest of the SICAV and of its Shareholders when entering into commission sharing arrangements; (ii) the services provided will be in direct relationship to the activities of the Management Company or Sub-Advisor; (iii) brokerage commissions on portfolio transactions for the SICAV will be allocated by the Management Company or the Sub-Advisor to broker-dealers that are entities and not to individuals; (iv) commission sharing arrangements are not a determining factor in the selection of the broker-dealers; (v) the Management Company or the Sub-Advisor will provide reports to the Directors with respect to commission sharing arrangements including the nature of the services it receives; (vi) neither the Management Company, the Sub-Advisor nor any of their connected persons may retain cash or other rebates from broker-dealers; (vii) the goods or services received are of demonstrable benefit to the Shareholders.; and (viii) periodic disclosure will be made in the SICAV's annual report in the form of statement describing any such commission sharing arrangements, including a description of the goods and services received. The goods and services received may include: research that can add value to a Sub-Advisor's decision making process and execution services that enhance the Sub-Advisor's ability to execute transactions.

Performance fee

The Management Company shall receive a performance fee as set forth below with respect to the Share Classes of the Portfolios listed in the table below. Daily provisions shall be set up for the accrual of the performance fee in respect of the performance fee balance (as described below), whereby the amount accrued shall be paid to the Management Company at the end of each calendar year. The amount of this performance fee depends on the performance of the Net Asset Value of the relevant Share Class within the relevant Portfolio compared to the performance of the relevant performance index (the "Performance Index", as per the table below). Accruals will only be made when the performance fee balance is positive and the NAV High Water Mark (defined below) is exceeded.

For the avoidance of doubt, performance of share classes includes dividends paid.

Portfolio	Share Classes	Performance Index	Performance Rate
American Absolute Alpha	A Shares D Shares I Shares Z Shares	Higher of 3 month LIBOR (US\$) ²⁷ or zero	20%
Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	J Shares Y Shares	Higher of ICE BofAML Euro Currency Deposit Bid Rate Constant Maturity (1M) (Local Total Return) index ²⁸ plus 1.00% or 1.00%	10%
Pan European Absolute Alpha	A Shares D Shares I Shares Z Shares L Shares	Higher of 3 month EURIBOR (EUR) ²⁹ or zero	20%

The performance of the American Absolute Alpha Portfolio, the Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities Portfolio and the Pan European Absolute Alpha Portfolio, including the impact of all applicable fees, is compared to the Performance Index.

The performance fee balance shall be calculated on the difference between the performance of the Performance Index and the performance of the Share Class concerned (the "Daily Difference"):

 (i) in the event the Daily Difference is positive, the performance fee balance will increase by an amount in respect of the Daily Difference, at the relevant performance rate;

²⁷ The benchmark is provided by ICE Benchmark Administration Limited, an administrator included in the ESMA register of benchmark administrators. The Management Company maintains a written plan setting out the actions that will be taken in the event of the benchmark materially changing or ceasing to be provided.

²⁸ Updated information on whether the benchmark is provided by an administrator included in the ESMA register of benchmark administrators will be available no later than 1 January 2020. The Management Company maintains a written plan setting out the actions that will be taken in the event of the benchmark materially changing or ceasing to be provided. ²⁹ Updated information on whether the benchmark is provided by an administrator included in

²⁹ Updated information on whether the benchmark is provided by an administrator included in the ESMA register of benchmark administrators will be available no later than 1 January 2020. The Management Company maintains a written plan setting out the actions that will be taken in the event of the benchmark materially changing or ceasing to be provided.

 (ii) if the Daily Difference is negative, the performance fee balance will be reduced by an amount in respect of the Daily Difference, at the relevant performance rate.

If the performance fee balance is positive as at the end of the calendar year, i.e. 31 December, and the NAV High Water Mark has been exceeded, the accrued amount of the performance fee will be paid to the Management Company within the first quarter of the subsequent calendar year. A performance fee shall only be paid to the Management Company if the Net Asset Value of the relevant Share Class exceeds the NAV High Water Mark.

If at the end of the calendar year the performance fee balance is negative and the NAV High Water Mark has been exceeded, such negative amount will be reset. For the avoidance of doubt, no performance fee would be due in this scenario.

If at the end of the calendar year the performance fee balance is negative and the NAV High Water Mark has not been exceeded, such negative amount will be carried forward and the Management Company shall not receive the payment of a performance fee until the amount of the accrued performance fee is positive and the NAV High Water Mark has been exceeded, at any subsequent calendar year's end.

In the event that a Portfolio or a Share Class is liquidated or a Portfolio or Share Class becomes dormant, any outstanding performance fee accrual shall be realised and payable to the Management Company. Thereafter, when new Shareholders have invested in such a Portfolio or Share Class, the performance fee balance will be reset.

NAV High Water Mark: in respect of each Share Class, is the Net Asset Value of a Share of such Share Class as at the last Valuation Date of the last relevant calendar year in which any accrued performance fee was paid, or the negative performance fee balance was reset. If a performance fee has never been paid, the NAV High Water Mark is the inception price of the relevant Share Class.

The Management Company may also receive a performance fee as set forth below in relation to the American Extended Alpha, Global Extended Alpha and UK Absolute Alpha Portfolios. The performance fee shall be at a rate equal to 20% of the Excess Return of the Class of Share, as further described below.

The performance fee shall be calculated and accrued as follows:

Performance Period³⁰

Each Performance Period starts on the day immediately following the end of the previous performance period, except that the first performance period shall start on the date of the first issue of the relevant class of Shares. Each performance period ends on the first subsequent 31 December at which there is an Excess Return (unless 31 December is not a Business Day, in which case the Excess Return applicable shall be that calculated on the Business Day immediately before that 31 December).

Share Class Return

The Share Class Return is calculated for each class of Share on each Business Day, and is the percentage difference between the Net Asset Value per Share on such day and the Net Asset Value per Share at the beginning of the Performance Period.

Performance Index

The indices against which the performance of the Shares are measured are set out below (the "Performance Index").

Portfolio	Performance Index	Performance Rate
American Extended Alpha	S&P 500 Index return ³¹	Max 20%
Global Extended Alpha	MSCI All Countries World Index return ³²	Max 20%
UK Absolute Alpha	Higher of 3 Month LIBOR or zero ³³	Max 20%

The performance of the Global Extended Alpha Portfolio, the UK Absolute Alpha Portfolio and the American Extended Alpha Portfolio, including the impact of all applicable fees, is compared to the Performance Index.

The Portfolios may offer Shares that are not entitled to a performance fee. In such case, details will be set out in the descriptions of the available Classes of Shares in the loose leaf to this Prospectus.

Performance Index Return

The Performance Index Return is calculated on each Business Day as the percentage difference between the Performance Index on such Business Day and the Performance Index at the beginning of the Performance Period.

Excess Return

The Excess Return is calculated on each Business Day and is the difference between the Share Class Return of the relevant class of Share and the Performance Index Return. There may be Excess Return even if the Net Asset Value per Share has not reached an all-time high at that time or if the performance of the Portfolio is negative, as long as the Share Class Return is greater than the Performance Index Return. If on any Business Day the difference between the Share Class Return and the Performance Index Return is zero or negative then there will be no Excess Return.

Underperformance

Underperformance describes a situation which there is no Excess Return because the Share Class Return is equal to or less than the Performance Index Return.

³⁰ For Shares launching as a result of a transfer of assets from of another UCI into the relevant Portfolio, it is intended that the starting date of the Performance Period will be carried over from the corresponding share class of this other UCI.

³¹ The benchmark is provided by S&P Dow Jones, an administrator not included in the ESMA register of benchmark administrators. The Management Company maintains a written plan setting out the actions that will be taken in the event of the benchmark materially changing or ceasing to be provided".

³² The benchmark is provided by MSCI Limited, an administrator included in the ESMA register of benchmark administrators. The Management Company maintains a written plan setting out the actions that will be taken in the event of the benchmark materially changing or ceasing to be provided.

³³ The benchmark is provided by ICE Benchmark Administration Limited, an administrator included in the ESMA register of benchmark administrators. The Management Company maintains a written plan setting out the actions that will be taken in the event of the benchmark materially changing or ceasing to be provided.

In a situation of underperformance (i.e. where no performance fee is paid), this does not necessarily indicate that the Share Class Return is negative, but simply that the Share Class Return is lower than the Performance Index Return. Conversely, where a performance fee is paid, this does not necessarily indicate that the Share Class Return is positive. A performance fee could be paid, even though the Share Class Return is negative³⁴.

No performance fee will be charged until any underperformance during the Performance Period has been fully recovered.

Performance Fee Calculation and Accrual

The performance fee is calculated as follows: the performance fee rate of 20% is multiplied by the Excess Return, multiplied by that Business Day's Net Asset Value for that class of Share. The performance fee is re-calculated each Business Day to reflect the performance of the Net Asset Value per Share against the Performance Index from the beginning of the Performance Period to the applicable Business Day.

An accrual for the performance fee is calculated on each Business Day and forms part of the Net Asset Value for each Share and therefore the performance fee accrual is reflected in the price of the Shares. The accrual is calculated on the basis of the performance of the Share from the beginning of the Performance Period to the Business Day. Any performance fee accrual made on a Business Day is superseded by any accrual made on the following Business Day until such time as the performance fee becomes payable. Any accrual for a performance fee shall be prorated to reflect any material movements in the number of Shares in issue.

The performance fee is only chargeable at the end of any Performance Period i.e. 31 December, and will be paid within one month of that date. If no performance fee has been charged since the launch of the class of Share, no performance fee will be payable until such time as there is an Excess Return and there is a performance fee accrual at the end of the Performance Period.

There is no maximum value on the performance fee that could be taken.

Distribution Arrangements

The Management Company has also been appointed to provide distribution and marketing services pursuant to the Management Company Services Agreement. The Management Company may enter into contractual arrangements with financial institutions for the distribution of Shares outside the United States. Shares also may be purchased directly from the SICAV on the same pricing and charge basis as if obtained through the Management Company. The Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act, as amended, and may not be sold in the United States or to United States Persons.

The Management Company may re-allow discounts to sub-distributors with whom it has agreements and are entitled to the balance over such discounts. The Management Company and the sub-distributors may further re-allow the total or some part of the agreed discount to other parties, such as certain recognised financial intermediaries. The Management

³⁴ Except for the UK Absolute Alpha Portfolio, where a performance fee can only be paid if the Share Class Return is positive. Company may, but is not obligated to, pay out of its assets for certain distribution and other expenses related to any Class of Shares.

The Management Company will provide a nominee service and may appoint additional nominees (each a "Nominee") to investors purchasing Shares of any Portfolio. Investors in a Portfolio may elect to make use of such nominee service pursuant to which the Nominee will hold the Shares of such Portfolio in its name for and on behalf of the investors who shall be entitled to at any time claim direct title to the Shares and who, in order to empower the Nominee to vote the Shares at any general meeting of Shareholders, shall provide the Nominee with specific or general voting instructions to that effect.

Only registered Shareholders may submit redemption orders directly to the SICAV. Investors whose Shares are maintained in the name of a Nominee must submit an order through the Nominee since the Nominee is recognised by the Management Company as the owner of record of the Shares. Beneficial owners of Shares held by a Nominee may at all times request the SICAV to register such Shares into their own name, subject to prior notification to the Nominee and documentation of the identity of such owners to be provided to the Registrar and Transfer Agent.

The SICAV draws the investors' attention to the fact that any investor will only be able to fully exercise his investor rights directly against the SICAV, notably the right to participate in general shareholders' meetings, if the investor is registered himself and in his own name in the shareholders' register of the SICAV. In cases where an investor invests in the SICAV through an intermediary investing into the SICAV in his own name but on behalf of the investor, it may not always be possible for the investor to exercise certain shareholder rights directly against the SICAV. Investors are advised to take advice on their rights.

Luxembourg Anti-Money Laundering Regulations

In an effort to deter money laundering, the SICAV, the Management Company, sub-distributors and the Registrar and Transfer Agent must comply with all applicable international and Luxembourg laws and circulars regarding the prevention of money laundering and in particular with Luxembourg law dated 12 November 2004 against money laundering and terrorism financing, as amended. To that end, the SICAV, the Management Company, subdistributors and the Registrar and Transfer Agent may request information necessary to establish the identity of a potential investor and the origin of subscription proceeds. Failure to provide documentation may result in a delay or rejection by the SICAV of any subscription or exchange or a delay in payout of redemption of Shares by such investor.

Purchase of Shares

Investors will be required to complete an initial subscription application or other documentation satisfactory to the Management Company, subdistributor and/or the Registrar and Transfer Agent in order to purchase Shares.

Applications for the subscription of Shares in relation to a Valuation Date should be received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent prior to 3.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the relevant Valuation Date Any applications received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent after this time will be dealt with on the next Valuation Date. At the discretion of the Directors, applications transmitted prior to the cut-off but received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent only after the cut-off may be treated as if they had been received prior to the cut-off.

Different subscription procedures and earlier time limits may apply if applications for Shares are made through a sub-distributor. In particular a sub-distributor or dealing platform may have in place a dealing cycle which means a trade received by the sub-distributor before 3.00pm (Luxembourg) time will not be dealt with on the next Valuation Date. In such instance, the sub-distributors will inform the applicant of the relevant procedure together with any time limit by which the application must be received. No sub-distributor is permitted to withhold subscription orders to benefit itself or its customers by a price change.

In the event the SICAV has suspended the Net Asset Value determination, the valuation on the first Valuation Date (on which the SICAV resumes the Net Asset Value determination) occurring after receipt of the order will be utilised.

Any order may be rejected by the Management Company, the subdistributor, the Registrar and Transfer Agent or the SICAV. The SICAV reserves the right to suspend the sale to the public of Shares of any Portfolio in response to conditions in the securities markets or otherwise.

During the continuous offerings of the Shares of the respective Portfolios, the Subscription Price of Classes of Shares of each Portfolio is the Net Asset Value per Share of such Class plus any applicable sales charges imposed at the time of purchase. Sales charges can be found in Appendices C, E, J, K, L, N, O, P and R. No initial sales charge is payable in respect of B Shares, I Shares, J Shares, L Shares, N Shares X Shares, Class 2 Shares, Class 4 Shares, Class 8 Shares or Class 9 Shares.

Subject to the terms of this Prospectus, Shares are available for purchase on each Valuation Date, which is normally each Business Day.

Prior to subscription to X Shares and Class 4 Shares, the prospective Shareholder must have received confirmation that they fall within the definition of Eligible Investors.

In each Class, Shares may be made available in the currency in which the Class is denominated and in such other freely convertible currencies upon a decision of the Directors.

In particular, the Subscription Price shall be payable in Multiple Payment Currencies which currently include U.S. Dollar and Euro. Multiple Payment Currencies will be available for the following Share Classes: Class AU, Class AE, Class DU, Class DE, Class IU, Class IE, Class BU, Class JU, Class JE, Class LU, Class LE, Class NE, Class NU, Class SU, Class TU, Class TE, Class XU, Class XE, Class YU, Class YE, Class ZU and Class ZE. Where permitted, the Redemption Price shall be payable in the same currency elected for subscription. In Classes offering the Multiple Payment Currency option, the foreign currency exchange cost of conversion to the Portfolio's Base Currency, if any, will be paid by the Portfolio. While the foreign currency exchange is being performed, the SICAV may be exposed to a short-term risk of foreign exchange fluctuation. The SICAV retains the right to offer only one Class of Shares of each Portfolio for purchase by investors in any particular jurisdiction in order to conform to local law, or any other reason. The SICAV also reserves the right to adopt standards applicable to classes of investors or transactions that permit or require the purchase of a particular Class of Shares of a Portfolio. Investors should consult their distributor or sub-distributor representatives for information concerning the Classes of Shares of each Portfolio currently available for purchase or write to the SICAV's Registrar and Transfer Agent.

If in any country in which a Class of Shares of a Portfolio is offered with an initial sales charge, local law or practice requires or permits a lower initial sales charge than set forth in Appendices C, E, J, K, L, N, O, P and R for any individual purchase order, the Management Company may sell Shares, and may authorise sub-distributors to sell Shares, within such country with a lower sales charge. The SICAV also retains the right to authorise the Management Company or sub-distributor to sell Shares of each affected Class of a Portfolio with a higher initial sales charge, but not in excess of 5.0% of the Net Asset Value per Share.

The applicable Subscription Price of each Class of Shares ordinarily will be payable within three Business Days after the relevant Valuation Date. If the payment period in the relevant currency ends on a day which is not a bank business day in New York and Luxembourg in respect of U.S. Dollar, Luxembourg and Brussels in respect of the Euro, Luxembourg and London in respect of GBP, Luxembourg and Geneva in respect of CHF, Luxembourg and Copenhagen in respect of DKK, Luxembourg and Oslo in the case of NOK, Luxembourg and Stockholm in respect of SEK, Luxembourg and Singapore in respect of SGD, Luxembourg and Sydney in respect of AUD, Luxembourg and Hong Kong in the case of HKD and CNH, then payment must be made on the next following bank business day in the relevant place. The Subscription Price of each Class of Shares of each Portfolio shall be available in Luxembourg at the registered office of the SICAV unless alternative arrangements are made by the Management Company or sub-distributors.

The SICAV may elect, at its discretion, to accept in certain cases subscriptions in kind by contribution of Transferable portfolio Securities and other eligible assets and any associated transfer costs may be charged to the Shareholder, provided that these are suitable assets in respect of the relevant Portfolio's investment objective and that their market value on the relevant Valuation Date will be verified by a special report of Luxembourg independent auditors at the expense of the contributing Shareholder(s).

Share confirmations will be sent to investors within one month after Shares are issued, by the Registrar and Transfer Agent, to the investor's address or elsewhere at his request and expense, unless alternative arrangements are made by the Management Company or sub-distributor.

Redemption of Shares

The Articles provide that it will, subject to the limitations described therein, redeem Shares of any Class of a Portfolio tendered to it by Shareholders. Subject to the terms of this document, Shares may be redeemed on each Valuation Date. Requests for redemption must be made in writing to the Registrar and Transfer Agent at its registered office and are irrevocable, except during any period of suspension or deferral of redemption as described below. In case of suspension or deferral of the Net Asset Value determination or postponement of redemption requests, Shares of such Portfolio presented for redemption as from the date of such suspension or postponement will be redeemed upon the SICAV resuming redemption at the first then determined Net Asset Value.

Redemption requests in relation to a Valuation Date should be received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent prior to 3.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the relevant Valuation Date in order to receive the prevailing Net Asset Value for that Valuation Date. Any request received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent after that time will be treated as received on the next succeeding Valuation Date. At the discretion of the Directors, requests transmitted prior to the cut-off but received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent only after the cut-off may be treated as if they had been received prior to the cut-off.

Payments will ordinarily be made within three Business Days after the relevant Valuation Date in U.S. Dollar, Euro, GBP, CHF, DKK, NOK, SEK, SGD, HKD, CNH or AUD (depending on which currency was elected at the time of subscription). If the date for payment is not a bank business day in the country of the relevant payment currency (e.g., New York for U.S. Dollar, Brussels for Euro, London for GBP, Geneva for CHF, Stockholm for SEK, Copenhagen for DKK, Oslo for NOK, Singapore for SGD, Sydney for AUD, Hong Kong for HKD and CNH) and in Luxembourg, the payment will be made on the next day that is a bank business day in such countries. Upon the request of an investor, payment of redemption proceeds may also be made to the relevant sub distributor who will remit the relevant funds, if so requested by the investor, in local currency as may be freely purchased with U.S. Dollar, GBP, CHF, DKK, NOK, Euro, SEK, SGD, AUD, HKD or CNH as the case may be (depending on which currency was elected at the time of subscription). Payment will not be processed until the Subscription Price on the purchase of Shares has been paid.

The value of Shares of each Portfolio at the time of redemption may be more or less than the Subscription Price, depending on the market value of the relevant Portfolio's investments at such time.

The SICAV's obligation to redeem Shares of each Portfolio is subject to suspension or deferral as set forth below under "Suspension of Issue, Redemption and Exchange of Shares and Calculation of Net Asset Value".

The SICAV shall not be bound to redeem or exchange Shares on any Valuation Date where the aggregate redemption or exchange requests total more than 10% of a Portfolio's Shares or Class of Shares outstanding on such Valuation Date. Accordingly, any aggregate redemption or exchange request in excess of such limits may be deferred in total for a period that the Directors consider to be in the best interest of the SICAV but normally not exceeding 30 Valuation Dates after the date of receipt of the redemption or exchange requests. In case of deferral of redemptions or conversions, the relevant Shares will be redeemed or exchanged at the Net Asset Value per Share as of the Valuation Date following such period. Any deferred redemption or exchange shall be treated in priority to any redemption or exchange requests received for subsequent Valuation Dates.

The SICAV may, in certain cases, subject to the fair and equal treatment of the remaining Shareholders of any Class of Shares and by agreement with redeeming Shareholders, effect payment for redeemed Shares of Portfolios by an *in specie* transfer, of securities and other assets of the relevant Portfolio. The nature and type of assets to be transferred in such case shall be determined on a fair and reasonable basis and without prejudicing the interests of the other Shareholders of the relevant class or classes of Shares. In the event that a redemption of Shares is effected by way of an *in specie* transfer any associated transfer costs may be charged to the redeeming Shareholder, provided that the market value of such securities will be verified by a special report of Luxembourg independent auditors, at the expense of the redeeming Shareholder(s).

If as result of a redemption or exchange request, the value of the account held by any Shareholder in a Portfolio would fall below the equivalent of US\$ 1,000 or 100 Shares, the Management Company may decide to redeem (or exchange) the entire shareholding of such Shareholder in a Portfolio.

Restrictions on subscriptions and conversions into certain Portfolios

A Portfolio may be closed to new subscriptions or conversions in (but not to redemptions or conversions out) if, in the opinion of the Management Company, this is necessary to protect the interests of existing Shareholders. One such circumstance would be where the Portfolio has reached a size such that the capacity of the market and/ or the capacity of the Management Company or the relevant Sub-Advisor has been reached, and where to permit further inflows would be detrimental to the performance of the Portfolio. Any Portfolio which, in the opinion of the Management Company, is materially capacity constrained may be closed to new subscriptions or conversions without notice to Shareholders. Once closed to new subscriptions or conversions in, a Portfolio will not be re-opened until, in the opinion of the Management Company, the circumstances which required closure no longer prevail and significant capacity is available within the Portfolio for new investment.

Where closures to new subscriptions or conversions occur, the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com/lux will be amended to indicate the change in status of the applicable Portfolio or Share Class. Investors should confirm with the Management Company for the current status of Portfolios or Share Classes.

Merger or Liquidation

A. The Portfolios/Classes of Shares

The Directors may decide to liquidate a Portfolio created for an unlimited period of time or a Class of Shares if the net assets of such Portfolio or Class of Shares fall below an amount determined by the Directors to be a minimum level to enable such Portfolio or Class to be operated in an economically efficient manner, if a change in the economic or political situation relating to the Portfolio or Class concerned would justify such liquidation or, if for other reasons the Directors believe it is required for the interests of the Shareholders. If a Portfolio is feeder of another UCITS or of one of its sub-funds, the merger, split or liquidation of such master UCITS or such relevant master sub-fund of the UCITS triggers liquidation of the

feeder Portfolio, unless the investment policy of such Portfolio is amended in compliance with Part I of the 2010 Law. The decision of the liquidation will be published (either in a newspaper in Luxembourg and in newspapers issued in countries where the Shares are sold (insofar as required by applicable regulations), or sent to the Shareholders at their addresses indicated in the register of Shareholders or communicated via other means as deemed appropriate by the Directors) prior to the effective date of the liquidation and the publication will indicate the reasons for, and the procedures of, the liquidation. Unless the Directors otherwise decide in the interests of or to keep equal treatment between the Shareholders, the Shareholders of the Portfolio or Class of Shares concerned may continue to request to redeem or to exchange their Shares without redemption fees. Assets which cannot be distributed to their beneficiaries upon the completion of the liquidation of the Portfolio or Class of Shares concerned will be deposited with the Depositary for a period of six months after the completion of the liquidation. After such time, the assets will be deposited with the Caisse de Consignation on behalf of their beneficiaries. The liquidation of a Portfolio shall in principle be closed within nine months from the decision to liquidate. In the event where such liquidation could not be closed within such timeframe, an authorisation to extend the period must be sought from the CSSF. Any funds to which Shareholders are entitled upon the liquidation of the Portfolio and which are not claimed by those entitled thereto prior to the close of the liquidation process shall be deposited for the persons entitled thereto at the Caisse de Consignation in Luxembourg and shall be forfeited after thirty years.

Under the same circumstances as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Directors may decide to liquidate one Portfolio by contribution into another Portfolio. Such decision will be published in the same manner as described in the preceding paragraph and, in addition, the publication will contain information in relation to the new Portfolio. Such publication will be made one month (or such longer period as required by compulsory law) before the date on which the amalgamation becomes effective in order to enable Shareholders to request redemption of their Shares, without redemption fees, before the operation involving contribution into another Portfolio becomes effective.

The Directors may also, under the same circumstances as provided above, decide to liquidate one Portfolio by contribution into another Luxembourg UCITS governed by the 2010 Law or to another UCITS in another EU member state. Such decision will be published in the same manner as described above and, in addition, the publication will contain information in relation to the other UCITS. Such publication will be made one month (or such longer period as required by compulsory law) before the date on which the merger becomes effective in order to enable Shareholders to request redemption of their Shares, free of charge, before the operation involving contribution into another UCITS becomes effective.

In the event that the Directors believe it is required for the interests of the Shareholders of the relevant Portfolio or that a change in the economic or political situation relating to the Portfolio concerned has occurred which would justify it, the reorganisation of one Portfolio, by means of a division into two or more Portfolios, may be decided by the Directors. Such decision will be published in the same manner as described above and, in addition, the publication will contain information in relation to the two or more new Portfolios. Such publication will be made one month (or such longer period as required by compulsory law) before the date on which the reorganisation becomes effective in order to enable the Shareholders to request redemption of their Shares, free of charge before the operation involving division into two or more Portfolios becomes effective.

Any of the aforesaid decisions of liquidation, amalgamation, merger or reorganisation may for any reason also be decided by a separate meeting of the Shareholders of relevant Classes in the Portfolio concerned where no quorum is required and the decision is taken at the simple majority of the Shares voting at the meeting.

Should future Portfolios be created for a limited maturity, the procedure for liquidation, amalgamation, merger or reorganisation will be described in the sales documents of the SICAV.

The Board may also decide to merge an existing Portfolio or a Share Class of an existing Portfolio (i.e. the absorbing entity of the merger) with another Portfolio or a share class in another Portfolio or with another UCITS governed by the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or another UCITS in another Member State (i.e. the absorbed entity of the merger). Such decision will be communicated to the Shareholders in accordance with the 2010 Law. Such publication will be made within one month at least before the date on which the merger becomes effective in order to enable Shareholders to request redemption of their Shares, free of charge.

B. The SICAV

The SICAV may at any time be dissolved by a resolution of the general meeting of Shareholders. Liquidation will be carried out by one or more liquidators appointed by the general meeting of Shareholders and the net liquidation proceeds of the SICAV distributed to Shareholders in proportion to their respective holdings at the close of liquidation.

Assets or proceeds which cannot be distributed following liquidation of the SICAV will be deposited with the *Caisse de Consignation*.

Whenever the Share capital of the SICAV falls below two thirds of the minimum capital required by Luxembourg law, the question of the dissolution of the SICAV shall be referred to the general meeting by the Directors. The general meeting, for which no quorum shall be required, shall decide by simple majority of the Shares present and represented at the meeting. The question of the dissolution of the SICAV shall further be referred to the general meeting whenever the Share capital falls below one fourth of the minimum capital indicated above. In such an event, the general meeting shall be held without any quorum requirements and the dissolution may be decided by Shareholders holding one fourth of the Shares present and represented at the meeting. This general meeting must be convened within 40 days from the date of ascertaining that the net assets of the SICAV have fallen below the relevant minimum.

Exchange Privilege

Each Shareholder will be entitled to exchange its Shares for: (i) Shares of the same Class of another Portfolio or (ii) Shares of a different Class of the same or of another Portfolio provided that (i) the Shareholder satisfies all relevant eligibility and minimum initial investment requirements of the new Class and, if relevant, Portfolio; and (ii) the requested Class is available in the jurisdiction in which the Shareholder is subscribing. Exchanges consist of a redemption of the existing Shares of a Class immediately followed by a subscription of new Shares in another Class.

Shareholders that are exchanging their Shares shall note that:

- they may be subject to a Dilution Adjustment;
- where an exchange involves a change of denomination or payment currency, the currency conversion costs will be borne by the Shareholder;
- if there is a difference in the initial sales charge imposed between the two relevant Classes between which the exchange will be effected, the difference may be assessed to the Shares involved in the exchange; and
- the Management Company and sub-distributors of the SICAV may impose an exchange fee of up to 0.75% of the Net Asset Value of the Shares on each exchange of those Shares acquired through them. The exchange fee, if any, will be deducted at the time of such exchange and paid to the relevant distributors.

To exercise the right to exchange Shares in relation to a Valuation Date, the Shareholder must deliver an exchange order in proper form to the Registrar and Transfer Agent. Exchange orders should be received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent prior to 3.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the relevant Valuation Date. Any exchange orders received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent after this time will be dealt with on the next Valuation Date. At the discretion of the Directors, exchange orders transmitted prior to the cut-off but received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent only after the cut-off may be treated as if they had been received prior to the cut-off.

Exchanges shall be effected on the basis of the Net Asset Value per Share for the relevant Classes on the same Valuation Date.

The exchange of Shares is not available in certain countries and prospective investors should inform themselves as to whether the exchange of Shares is available in their country. Shareholders should also be aware that the exchange of Shares may constitute a taxable event and should inform themselves of any potential consequence of this.

Market Timing & Late Trading

The SICAV may reject or cancel any purchase orders, including exchanges, for any reason.

For example, excessive trading of Shares in response to short-term fluctuations in the market, a trading technique sometimes referred to as 'market timing', has a disruptive effect on portfolio management and increases Portfolio expenses. Accordingly, the SICAV may in the sole discretion of the Directors compulsorily redeem or reject any purchase orders, including exchanges, from any investor that the SICAV reasonably believes has engaged in market timing activity, or investors that in the Directors' sole discretion, may be disruptive to the SICAV or any Portfolio. For these purposes, the Directors may consider an investor's trading history in the Portfolios and accounts under common control or ownership. Moreover, in addition to the exchange fees listed elsewhere in this Prospectus, the SICAV may impose a penalty of 2.00% of the Net Asset Value of the Shares redeemed or exchanged where the SICAV reasonably believes that an investor has engaged in market timing activity. The Shareholders concerned will be warned in advance if such a fee is likely to be charged and that penalty shall be credited to the relevant Portfolio. The Directors will not be held liable for any loss resulting from rejected orders or mandatory redemption.

Late trading is not allowed by the SICAV.

Suspension of Issue, Redemption and Exchange of Shares and Calculation of Net Asset Value

All subscriptions, redemptions or exchanges will be done on the Net Asset Value next calculated after the order is received (*e.g.* an unknown Net Asset Value).

The SICAV may suspend the determination of the Net Asset Value, the issue of Shares and the right of any Shareholder to require redemption or exchange of Shares of any Portfolio:

- (a) During any period when any principal stock exchange, Regulated Market or any Other Regulated Market in a Member State or in an Other State on which a substantial part of the SICAV's investments attributable to such Portfolio is quoted, or when one or more foreign exchange markets in the currency in which a substantial portion of the assets of the Portfolio is denominated, are closed otherwise than for ordinary holidays or during which dealings are substantially restricted or suspended; or
- (b) Political, economic, military, monetary or other emergency beyond the control, liability and influence of the SICAV makes the disposal of the assets of any Portfolio impossible under normal conditions or such disposal would be detrimental to the interests of the Shareholders; or
- (c) During any breakdown in the means of communication network normally employed in determining the price of any of the relevant Portfolio's investments or the current prices on any market or stock exchange or any other reason makes it impossible to determine the value of a major portion of the assets of any Portfolio; or
- (d) During any period when the remittance or transfer of monies which will or may be involved in the realisation of, or in the payment of the relevant Portfolio's investments or in the redemption of Shares is not possible or cannot, in the opinion of the Directors be carried out at normal rates of exchange, or where it can be objectively demonstrated that purchases and sales of the assets of any Portfolio cannot be effected at normal prices and/or without materially prejudicing the interests of the Shareholders; or
- (e) In case of a decision to liquidate the SICAV or a Portfolio on and after the day of publication of the first notice convening the general meeting of Shareholders for this purpose or notice given by the Board to this effect, as applicable; or

(f) When the NAV calculation of a UCI or Portfolio in which a Portfolio has invested more than 50% of its NAV is suspended.

The SICAV shall suspend the issue, exchange and redemption of Shares of any Class within a Portfolio forthwith upon occurrence of an event causing it to enter into liquidation or upon the order of the Regulatory Authority.

Any suspension shall be published, if appropriate, by the SICAV and Shareholders requesting subscription, exchange or redemption of their Shares shall be notified by the SICAV of the suspension at the time of the filing of the written request for such subscription, exchange and redemption. The suspension as to any Portfolio will have no effect on the determination of Net Asset Value and the issue, redemption or exchange of Shares in any Class of the other Portfolios.

Dividend Policy

The policy of the SICAV in respect of all Share Classes of Portfolios, with the exception of Classes whose denomination ends in 'C', 'M', 'P' or 'T', is to make no distributions, to accumulate in such Portfolios all net earnings and to reinvest these within the same Portfolio and Class. In respect of Classes whose denomination ends in 'C', 'M', 'P' or 'T', the SICAV intends to make distributions, with a frequency, at least annually, and in an amount to be determined by the Directors. The Shareholders of these Share Classes have the option to receive the dividend or to reinvest it in the SICAV.

Tax Considerations General

This section is based on the Directors' understanding of the law and practice currently in force in Luxembourg and is subject to changes therein. It should not be taken as constituting legal or tax advice and investors are advised to obtain information and, if necessary, advice regarding the laws and regulations applicable to them by reason of the subscription, purchase, holding and realisation of Shares in their countries of origin, residence or domicile.

A. The SICAV

Under current law and practice, the SICAV is not liable to any Luxembourg income tax. Dividends, interest and capital gains received by the SICAV on portfolio investments may be subject to non-recoverable withholding taxes in the countries of origin.

The SICAV is subject to a tax of 0.05% per annum levied on the Net Asset Value at the last day of each calendar quarter in accordance with the 2010 Law. A reduced tax rate of 0.01% per annum of the net assets will be applicable to Share Classes which are only sold to and held by Institutional Investors. In addition, those Portfolios which invest exclusively in deposits and Money Market Instruments in accordance with the Luxembourg Law are liable to the same reduced tax rate of 0.01% per annum of their net assets.

The 0.01% and 0.05% rates described above, as appropriate, are not applicable for the portion of the assets of the SICAV invested in other Luxembourg collective investment undertakings which are themselves subject to the asset based taxes (*"taxe d'abonnement"*).

For the avoidance of doubt, this *taxe d'abonnement* forms part of the Operating Expenses.

No tax is payable in Luxembourg on realised or unrealised capital appreciation of the assets of the SICAV. Although the SICAV's realised capital gains, whether short-or-long-term, are not expected to become taxable in another country, the Shareholders must be aware and recognise that such a possibility is not totally excluded.

The tax laws and regulations in the investee countries may be subject to change. The application and enforcement of foreign withholding tax laws and regulations could have a significant adverse effect on the SICAV and its Shareholders, particularly in relation to US withholding tax if imposed upon foreign investors. The SICAV reserves the right to provide for foreign withholding tax on sub-funds investing in those jurisdictions which imposed foreign withholding tax. As any provision made by the SICAV will be based on current market expectations and the SICAV's understanding of the tax laws and regulations, any changes to market practice or interpretation of tax rules may impact this provision and may result in this provision being higher or lower than required. The SICAV does not currently intend to make any accounting provisions for these tax uncertainties. It is possible that new tax laws and regulations and any new interpretations may be applied retrospectively.

B. Shareholders

Under current legislation, non-resident Shareholders are not subject to any capital gains or income tax in Luxembourg except for those who maintain a permanent establishment in Luxembourg to which the share capital of the SICAV is allocated. Corporate Shareholders resident in Luxembourg, or having a permanent establishment in Luxembourg to which the Shares are allocated, are subject to tax in Luxembourg on the amount of the distribution made by the SICAV and on capital gains realised at the ordinary applicable corporate income tax rate.

Individual Shareholders domiciled or resident in Luxembourg are subject to personal tax in Luxembourg on the amount of the distribution made by the SICAV at a progressive rate. They are only subject to tax on capital gains realised on disposal of their Shares if (i) they personally or by attribution hold, or have held at any time during the last 5 years, 10% or more of the issued share capital of the SICAV or (ii) dispose of all or part of their holdings within six months from the date of acquisition or before their acquisition.

C. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Luxembourg has entered into a Model 1 Intergovernmental Agreement with the United States. The terms of the Intergovernmental Agreement ("IGA") state that the SICAV as a financial institution will be obliged to comply with the provisions of FATCA under the terms of the Luxembourg legislation implementing the IGA, rather than under the US Treasury Regulations implementing FATCA.

Under the Luxembourg IGA, the SICAV will be required to report to the Luxembourg tax authorities certain holdings by and payments made to a) certain US investors b) certain US controlled foreign entity investors and c) non-US financial institution investors that do not comply with the terms of the Luxembourg IGA legislation. Under the Luxembourg IGA, such information will be onward reported by the Luxembourg tax authorities to

the US Internal Revenue Service under the general information exchange provisions of the US-Luxembourg tax treaty.

The scope and application of FATCA withholding and information reporting pursuant to the terms of FATCA and the IGAs is subject to review by the US, Luxembourg and other IGA governments, and rules may change. Investors should contact their own tax advisers regarding the application of FATCA to their particular circumstances.

The SICAV intends, within its rules as included within this prospectus, to be fully compliant with the terms of the Luxembourg IGA.

D. Common Reporting Standard

With a mandate by the G8/G20 countries the OECD developed the common reporting standard ("CRS") to achieve a comprehensive and multilateral automatic exchange of information ("AEOI") on a global basis. The CRS requires the SICAV as a Luxembourg financial institution to identify financial assets holders and establish if they are fiscally resident in countries with which Luxembourg has a tax information sharing agreement. Luxembourg financial institutions will then report financial account information of the assets holder to the Luxembourg tax authorities, which will thereafter automatically transfer this information to the competent foreign tax authorities on a yearly basis. Shareholders may therefore be reported to the Luxembourg and other relevant tax authorities under the applicable rules.

Under the Luxembourg law of 18 December 2015 implementing the EU Directive on AEOI, the exchange of information is due by 30 September each year. Accordingly, the SICAV is committed as of 1 January 2016 to run additional due diligence process on its Shareholders and to report the identity and residence of shareholders (including certain entities and their controlling persons) as well as relevant financial account information, to the Luxembourg tax authorities which will transmit that information to the country of residence of the foreign investors to the extent that they are resident of another EU Member State or of a country for which the Multilateral Agreement is in full force and applicable.

Shareholders should consult their professional advisors on the possible tax and other consequences with respect to the implementation of the CRS.

Restrictions on Ownership

The Articles permit to restrict or prevent the ownership of Shares of each Portfolio by any person, firm or corporate body including, but without limitation, any United States Person.

If it shall come to the attention of the SICAV at any time that Shares of any Portfolio are beneficially owned by a United States Person either alone or in conjunction with any other person, the SICAV will compulsorily redeem such Shares at their redemption price as described herein. Not less than ten days after the SICAV gives notice of such compulsory redemption, the Shares will be redeemed and Shareholders will cease to be the owners of such Shares.

The Institutional Share Classes are available only to Institutional Investors.

S Shares are exclusively available to Shareholders subscribing through certain select sub-distributors.

Meetings and Reports

The annual general meeting of Shareholders of the SICAV is held in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg within six months of the SICAV's accounting year end. Other general meetings of Shareholders may be held at such time and place in Luxembourg as are indicated in the notices of such meetings. Notices of general meetings are given in accordance with Luxembourg law and in accordance with applicable rules in the relevant countries where Shares are publicly offered for sale. Notices will specify the place and time of the meeting, the conditions of admission, the agenda, the quorum and voting requirements.

An annual report containing the audited financial accounts of the SICAV, describing those of each Portfolio, will be made available to Shareholders in respect of the preceding fiscal year ended 31 March, at least 15 days before the annual general meeting. Unaudited semi-annual reports will also be made available to Shareholders at the registered office of the SICAV in respect of the period ending on 30 September in each year within two months thereafter. The consolidated accounts of the SICAV shall be expressed in U.S. Dollar.

The SICAV also intends to make available to Shareholders and potential investors abridged versions of the financial reports referred to above, which will not contain the detailed list of portfolio securities of each of the Portfolios. Such abridged annual reports and abridged semi-annual reports will, however, contain the offer to provide to those persons upon request and free of charge a copy of the complete version of such documents which are also available for inspection at the offices of the Registrar and Transfer Agent and the Management Company.

The Shareholders of a specified Portfolio may, at any time, hold general meetings with the aim to deliberate on a subject that concerns only the Portfolio.

The Shareholders of any Class of Shares, issued in respect of any Portfolio may hold, at any time, general meetings to decide on any matters, which relate exclusively to such Class of Shares.

Unless otherwise stipulated by law or in the Articles, the decision of the general meeting of a specified Portfolio or Class of Shares will be reached by a simple majority of Shareholders present or represented.

Service Providers

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers, *société coopérative*, 2, rue Gerhard Mercator, B.P. 1443, L-1014 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg act as Auditor.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

The Management Company has undertaken to provide the SICAV with registrar and transfer agent services. As such the Management Company will be responsible for handling processing of subscriptions of Shares, dealing with requests for redemption and conversion, and accepting transfers of funds, for the safekeeping of the register of Shareholders of the SICAV and the safekeeping of all non-issued Share certificates of the SICAV. The Management Company has delegated the registrar and transfer agent services to International Financial Data Services (Luxembourg) S.A., 47, Avenue John F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, pursuant to the Registrar and Transfer Agency Agreement. This agreement has been entered into for an unlimited duration and may be terminated as provided in such agreement.

Domiciliary and Administrative Agent

The Management Company has undertaken to provide the SICAV with certain administration services, including general administration as well as bookkeeping and maintenance of all accounts of the SICAV, the periodic determination of the Net Asset Value per Share, the preparation and filing of the SICAV's financial reports and the liaison with the Auditors.

In addition, the Management Company will, under the terms of the Management Company Services Agreement act as corporate and domiciliary agent for the SICAV.

The Management Company has delegated the above mentioned domiciliary and administrative functions to the Domiciliary and Administrative Agent pursuant to the Investment Fund Services Agreement. Pursuant to a restructuring event which took place under Directive 2005/56/EC on 1 January 2016, all contractual obligations of Citibank International Limited (Luxembourg Branch) (the former domiciliary and administrative agent) were transferred by way of operation of law to the Domiciliary and Administrative Agent. The Investment Fund Services Agreement was concluded for an unlimited duration and may be terminated as provided therein.

Depositary

Information about the Depositary

The SICAV has appointed the Depositary as its depositary. Pursuant to a restructuring event which took place under Directive 2005/56/EC on 1 January 2016, all contractual obligations of Citibank International Limited (Luxembourg Branch) (the former custodian) were transferred by way of operation of law to the Depositary. The Depositary is a public limited company with registered number 132781 domiciled in Ireland whose registered office is at 1 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1. The Depositary conducts its principal business in Luxembourg from its branch office at 31, Z.A. Bourmicht, L-8070 Bertrange, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. Its Luxembourg branch was established on 20 August 2015 and is registered with the *Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés* of Luxembourg under number B 200.204. Citibank Europe plc, Luxembourg Branch is authorised to provide its services in accordance with the Luxembourg law of 5 April 1993 on the financial sector, as amended, and is specialised in fund depositary and administration services.

The Depositary is authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland but in respect of its services as depositary in Luxembourg is regulated by the CSSF.

Terms of the Depositary Agreement

The appointment of the Depositary has been made under a Depositary Agreement between the SICAV, the Management Company and the Depositary dated 3 June 2016. The Depositary Agreement may be terminated by not less than 180 days' written notice, although termination may be immediate in certain circumstances, such as the insolvency of the Depositary. Upon an (envisaged) removal or resignation of the Depositary, the SICAV shall with due observance of the applicable requirements of the CSSF and in accordance with applicable law, rules and regulations, appoint a successor depositary. The Depositary may not be replaced without the approval of the CSSF.

The Depositary Agreement contains indemnities in favour of the Depositary excluding matters arising by reason of its failure to satisfy its obligation of due skill, care and diligence, or by reason of its negligence, intentional failure or fraud.

The Depositary is entitled to receive remuneration out of the assets of the SICAV for its services. This remuneration is included in the portfolio operating expenses, as explained in the section entitled "Fees and Expenses".

Key duties of the Depositary

The SICAV has, under the terms of the Depositary Agreement, engaged the Depositary as depositary of the SICAV's assets. The Depositary shall also be responsible for the oversight of the SICAV to the extent required by and in accordance with applicable law, rules and regulations. The Depositary shall exercise the supervisory duties in accordance with applicable law, rules and regulations as well as the Depositary Agreement.

The key duties of the Depositary consist of:

- (i) monitoring and verifying the cash flows of the SICAV;
- safekeeping of the assets of the SICAV including *inter alia* holding in custody financial instruments that may be held in custody and verification of ownership of other assets;
- (iii) ensuring that the sale, issue, re-purchase, redemption and cancellation of Shares are carried out in accordance with the Articles and applicable Luxembourg law, rules and regulations;
- (iv) ensuring that the value of the Shares is calculated in accordance with the Articles and applicable Luxembourg law, rules and regulations;
- (v) ensuring that in transactions involving the assets of the SICAV, any consideration is remitted to the SICAV within the usual time limits;
- (vi) ensuring that the income of the SICAV is applied in accordance with the Articles, applicable Luxembourg law, rules and regulations; and
- (vii) carrying out instructions from the Management Company unless they conflict with the Articles, or applicable Luxembourg law, rules and regulations.

Reuse of the SICAV's assets by the Depositary

Under the Depositary Agreement, the Depositary has agreed that it, and any person to whom it delegates custody functions, may not reuse any of the SICAV's assets for their own account. SICAV's assets may be reused for the account of the SICAV where:

- The reuse of the SICAV's assets is carried out for the account of the SICAV;
- The Depositary is instructed by the SICAV or the Management Company on behalf of the SICAV to reuse the SICAV's assets;
- The reuse of the assets is for the benefit of the SICAV and the Shareholders;
- The transaction is covered by high quality and liquid collateral received by the SICAV under a title transfer arrangement;
- The market value of which shall, at all times, amount to at least the market value of the reused assets plus a premium.

Liability of the Depositary

As a general rule the Depositary is liable for any losses suffered as a result of the Depositary's negligence, fraud or willful default to properly fulfil its obligations except that it will not be liable for any loss where, among others:

- the event which has led to the loss is not the result of any act, omission or default of the Depositary or of one of the Depositary's delegates;
- (ii) it is due to a force majeure event; or
- (iii) it results from the insolvency of the SICAV, the Management Company or any other person.

However, in the case of loss of a financial instrument by the Depositary, or by a third party, the Depositary is under an obligation to return a financial instrument of identical type or corresponding amount without undue delay unless it can prove that the loss arose as a result of an external event beyond the Depositary's reasonable control, the consequences of which would have been unavoidable despite all reasonable efforts to the contrary.

Delegation of safekeeping function

- Under the terms of the Depositary Agreement and in accordance with the 2010 Law, the Depositary has the power to delegate certain of its depositary functions.
- (2) In order to discharge its responsibility in this regard, the Depositary must exercise due skill, care and diligence in the selection, continued appointment and ongoing monitoring of a third party as a safekeeping agent so as to ensure that the third party has and maintains the expertise, competence and standing appropriate to discharge the responsibilities concerned; maintain an appropriate level of supervision over the safekeeping agent; and make appropriate inquiries from time to time to confirm that the obligations of the agent continue to be competently discharged.

The liability of the Depositary will not be affected by the fact that it has delegated to a third party certain of its safekeeping in respect of the Fund's assets.

The use of securities settlement systems, does not constitute a delegation by the Depositary of its functions.

- (3) As at the date of this Prospectus, the Depositary has entered into written agreements delegating the performance of its safekeeping function in respect of certain of the SICAV' assets to delegates and sub-delegates to the delegates set out in Appendix V to this Prospectus. An updated list of those delegates and sub-delegates can be obtained from the Depositary upon request.
- (4) Without prejudice to the "Conflicts of Interest" section below, from time to time actual or potential conflicts may arise between the Depositary and its delegates or sub-delegates, for example where an appointed delegate or sub-delegate is an affiliated group company which receives remuneration for another custodial service it provides to the SICAV.

Included in the Depositary's conflict of interest policy are procedures to identify, manage and monitor on an on-going basis any actual or potential conflict of interest involving its delegates or sub-delegates.

The Depositary will ensure that any such delegates or sub-delegates who are its affiliates are appointed on terms which are not materially less favourable to the SICAV than if the conflict or potential conflict had not existed.

Conflicts of interest

Actual or potential conflicts of interest may also arise between the SICAV, the Shareholders or the Management Company on the one hand and the Depositary on the other hand.

For example, such actual or potential conflict may arise because the Depositary is part of a legal entity or is related to a legal entity which provides other products or services to the SICAV or the Management Company. In particular, depositary and administration services are provided by the same legal entity, Citibank Europe plc, Luxembourg Branch. In practice, however, the depositary and administration lines of business are functionally and hierarchically separated and operate on an arm's length basis. In addition, the Depositary may have a financial or business interest in the provision of such products or services, or receives remuneration for related products or services provided to the SICAV, or may have other clients whose interests may conflict with those of the SICAV, the Shareholders or the Management Company.

The Depositary and any of its affiliates may effect, and make a profit from, transactions in which the Depositary (or its affiliates, or another client of the Depositary or its affiliates) has (directly or indirectly) a material interest or a relationship of any description and which involves or may involve a potential conflict with the Depositary's duty to the SICAV. This includes circumstances in which the Depositary or any of its affiliates or connected persons: acts as market maker in the investments of the SICAV; provides broking services to the SICAV and/or to other funds or companies; acts as financial adviser, banker, derivatives counterparty or otherwise provides services to the issuer of the investments of the SICAV; acts in the same transaction as agent for more than one client; has a material interest in the issue of the investments of the SICAV; or earns profits from or has a financial or business interest in any of these activities.

The group-wide conflict of interest policy provides that Citi manages conflicts through various policies, procedures and/or processes, which

may, depending upon the conflict, include prevention or avoidance of conflicts, or appropriate disclosures, establishing information barriers, restructuring transactions, products or processes, and/or changing compensation incentives. The Depositary has a conflict of interest policy in place to identify, manage and monitor on an on-going basis any actual or potential conflict of interest. The Depositary has functionally and hierarchically separated the performance of its depositary tasks from its other potentially conflicting tasks. The system of internal controls, the different reporting lines, the allocation of tasks and the management reporting allow potential conflicts of interest and the Depositary issues to be properly identified, managed and monitored.

In accordance with Luxembourg law, Shareholders may request an up to date statement regarding any of the information set out above from the Depositary.

Shariah Portfolio

Investors in the Shariah Portfolio should note that additional service providers have been appointed in respect of this Portfolio and they should refer to Appendix B.II for further information about those service providers.

Data Protection

The data controller

The data controller in respect of any personal information provided is the Management Company and the SICAV. In this privacy statement 'we', 'us' and 'our' means the Management Company and/or the SICAV.

Uses made of personal information

This Privacy Statement covers information ("personal information") about the investors, including Shareholders, distributors, dealers and intermediaries and their respective representatives, beneficial owners, and authorised signatories (together the "Investors" for the purpose of this Data Protection section) that is supplied to us. This information will typically include information such as name, address, telephone number, email address, gender, financial information and other information provided to us. Our legal basis to process this information includes doing so in order to comply with our legal obligations (e.g., for the purposes of the prevention of fraud or any other crime), to perform a contract between us and the Investors (e.g., manage and administer Shareholders' account (including but not limited to processing transactions, and contacting Shareholders with details of changes to the products bought), establish and defend any legal claims, or because the Investors have consented to our use of the information (e.g. offering new investment products). We may also process personal information because it is necessary for our legitimate business interests (e.g., for internal analysis and research), we may also process data in order to comply with legal or regulatory requirements.

Sharing of personal information

The SICAV may use external third parties such as those described below to process personal information on its behalf in accordance with the purposes set out in this privacy statement.

The SICAV will delegate the processing of personal information to various entities, including the Management Company, the Domiciliary and Administrative Agent and the Registrar and Transfer Agent, and undertakes not to transfer the personal information to any other third parties, unless required by law or upon Shareholder consent. For the avoidance of doubt, if Investors do wish to exercise any of their individual data subject rights as set out in our privacy notice via their financial intermediary, then we will require a written authorisation before we can share any such personal information with the intermediary.

The personal information provided may also be shared with other organisations (including but not limited to governmental and/or tax authorities in Luxembourg) in order for us to comply with any legal or regulatory requirements (e.g., audit reporting and anti-money laundering checks) and, in addition (in respect of tax authorities, and where lawful to do so under data protection laws) where necessary for the purposes of ensuring that tax is paid correctly and that we receive refunds of tax already paid when this is due to us. We may also transfer personal information to appointed third party administrators, such as transfer agents, in order to process customer applications, carry out record keeping, dealing with subscriptions. In addition, we may share information with the companies within the Threadneedle group of companies for the purposes set out in this privacy statement.

Business changes

If the SICAV or the Threadneedle group of companies undergoes a group reorganisation or is sold to a third party, personal information may be transferred to that reorganised entity or third party and used for the purposes highlighted above.

Overseas transfers

We may transfer personal information to countries located outside of the European Economic Area (the 'EEA'), including to the United States and India. This may happen when our servers, suppliers and/or, service providers are based outside of the EEA. We may transfer information under certain circumstances (e.g., where it is necessary to perform our contract with the Investors). The data protection laws and other laws of these countries may not be as comprehensive as those that apply within the EEA – in these instances we will take steps to ensure that the Investor's privacy and confidentiality rights are respected. We implement measures such as standard data protection contractual clauses to ensure that any transferred personal information remains protected and secure. A copy of these clauses can be obtained by contacting us at the address listed below in the "Contact Information" section. Details of the countries relevant to the Investor will be provided upon request.

Investors' individual rights

With limited exceptions, Investors are entitled, in accordance with applicable law, to object to or request restriction of processing of their personal information, and to request access to, rectification, erasure and portability of their personal information. This service is provided free of charge unless requests are manifestly unfounded or excessive. In these circumstances, we reserve the right to charge a reasonable fee or, refuse to act on the request. Investors can write to us at the details provided in the Directory or by contacting us at the address listed below in the "Contact Information" section.

Investors are invited to inform us if any of the personal information that the SICAV holds about them is wrong.

Complaints may be lodged with the applicable regulator if Investors consider our processing of their personal information may infringe applicable law.

Data security and retention

We maintain reasonable security measures to safeguard personal information from loss, interference, misuse, unauthorised access, disclosure, alteration or destruction. We also maintain reasonable procedures to help ensure that such data is reliable for its intended use and is accurate, complete and current.

Personal information will be retained only for so long as reasonably necessary for the purposes set out above, in accordance with applicable laws. For more information on our data retention periods, please see our Privacy Notice at www.columbiathreadneedle.com/GDPR.

Contact information

Investors can raise any issues regarding the processing of their personal information by contacting our Data Protection Officer at any time. For contact information, please see the Privacy Notice at www.columbiathreadneedle.com/GDPR.

UN Convention on Cluster Munitions

The UN Convention on Cluster Munitions (the "Convention") came into force on 1 August 2010. This Convention prohibits all use, stockpiling, production and transfer of cluster munitions. The Management Company and the Sub-Advisors acknowledge the importance of the Convention and the Sub-Advisors actively screen companies for evidence of their corporate involvement in not only cluster munitions but also in controversial weapons more generally, (defined as anti-personnel mines, cluster munitions, biochemical weapons and depleted uranium ammunition and armour). Where a company is verified to undertake such activities, the Sub-Advisors' policy is not to invest in the securities issued by that company; however they reserve the right to take short positions on such securities.

Documents Available for Inspection

Copies of the following contracts, which are governed by the laws of Luxembourg and are incorporated herein by reference, are available for inspection during normal business hours at the registered office of the SICAV:

- (a) the Management Company Services Agreement;
- (b) the Depositary Agreement;
- (c) the Investment Fund Services Agreement; and
- (d) the Registrar and Transfer Agency Agreement.

The Agreements listed above may be amended at any time by mutual consent of the parties thereto.

A copy of the Prospectus, Key Investor Information, the most recent financial statements and the Articles may be obtained free of charge upon request at the registered office of the SICAV.

Appendix A

Investment Restrictions

The SICAV shall, based upon the principle of risk spreading, have power to determine the corporate and investment policy for the investments for each Portfolio, the Base Currency, as the case may be, and the course of conduct of the management and business affairs of the SICAV.

Except to the extent that more restrictive rules are provided for in connection with a specific Portfolio under "Investment Objectives and Policies" in the Prospectus, the investment policy of each Portfolio shall comply with the rules and restrictions laid down hereafter:

A. Investments in the Portfolios shall consist solely of:

- Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments listed or dealt in on a Regulated Market;
- Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments dealt in on an Other Regulated Market in a Member State;
- (3) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments admitted to official listing on a stock exchange of an Other State or dealt in on an Other Regulated Market in an Other State;
- (4) recently issued Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments, provided that:
 - the terms of issue include an undertaking that application will be made for admission to official listing on a stock exchange in an Other State or on a Regulated Market or on any Other Regulated Market as described under (1)-(3) above;
 - such admission is secured within one year of issue;
- (5) units of UCITS authorised according to the UCITS Directive (including shares of other Portfolios of the SICAV under the conditions set forth by Luxembourg laws and regulations) and/or other UCIs within the meaning of the first and second indent of Article 1 (2) of the UCITS Directive, whether situated in a Member State or in an Other State, provided that:
 - such other UCIs are authorised under laws which provide that they are subject to supervision considered by the Regulatory Authority to be equivalent to that laid down in Community law, and that cooperation between authorities is sufficiently ensured;
 - the level of protection for shareholders in such other UCIs is equivalent to that provided for shareholders in a UCITS, and in particular that the rules on assets segregation, borrowing, lending, and short sales of Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments are equivalent to the requirements of the UCITS Directive;
 - the business of the other UCIs is reported in half-yearly and annual reports to enable an assessment of the assets and liabilities, income and operations over the reporting period;

- no more than 10% of the net assets of the UCITS or of the other UCIs, whose acquisition is contemplated, can, according to their constitutional documents, in aggregate be invested in units of other UCITS or other UCIs;
- (6) deposits with credit institutions which are repayable on demand or have the right to be withdrawn, and maturing in no more than 12 months, provided that the credit institution has its registered office in a Member State or, if the registered office of the credit institution is situated in an Other State, provided that it is subject to prudential rules considered by the Regulatory Authority as equivalent to those laid down in Community law;
- (7) financial derivative instruments, *i.e.* in particular options, futures, including equivalent cash-settled instruments, dealt in on a Regulated Market or on an Other Regulated Market referred to in (1), (2) and (3) above, and/or financial derivative instruments dealt in over-the-counter ("OTC derivatives"), provided that:
 - (i) the underlying consists of instruments covered by this Section A., financial indices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, Transferable Securities or currencies, in which the Portfolio may invest according to its investment objectives; the counterparties to OTC derivative transactions are institutions subject to prudential supervision, and belonging to the categories approved by the Regulatory Authority, and
 - the OTC derivatives are subject to reliable and verifiable valuation on a daily basis and can be sold, liquidated or closed by an offsetting transaction at any time at their fair value at the SICAV's initiative;

under no circumstances shall these operations cause the Portfolio to diverge from its investment objectives;

- (8) Money Market Instruments other than those dealt on a Regulated Market or on an Other Regulated Market, to the extent that the issue or the issuer of such instruments is itself regulated for the purpose of protecting investors and savings, and provided that such instruments are:
 - issued or guaranteed by a central, regional or local authority or by a central bank of a Member State, the European Central Bank, the EU or the European Investment Bank, an Other State or, in case of a Federal State, by one of the members making up the federation, or by a public international body to which one or more Member States belong, or
 - issued by an undertaking any securities of which are dealt in on Regulated Markets or on Other Regulated Markets referred to in (1), (2) or (3) above, or
 - issued or guaranteed by an establishment subject to prudential supervision, in accordance with criteria defined by Community law, or by an establishment which is subject to and complies with

prudential rules considered by the Regulatory Authority to be at least as stringent as those laid down by Community law; or

 issued by other bodies belonging to the categories approved by the Regulatory Authority provided that investments in such instruments are subject to investor protection equivalent to that laid down in the three paragraphs directly above and provided that the issuer is a company whose capital and reserves amount to at least ten million Euro (10,000,000 Euro) and which presents and publishes its annual accounts in accordance with directive 78/660/EEC, is an entity which, within a Group of Companies which includes one or several listed companies, is dedicated to the financing of the group or is an entity which is dedicated to the financing of securitisation vehicles which benefit from a banking liquidity line.

B. Each Portfolio may however:

- Invest up to 10% of its net assets in assets other than those referred to above under A(1) through (4) and (8);
- (2) Hold cash on an ancillary basis; such restriction may exceptionally and temporarily be exceeded if the SICAV considers this to be in the best interest of the Shareholders;
- (3) Borrow up to 10% of its net assets, provided that such borrowings are made only on a temporary basis. Such borrowings may be used for liquidity purposes (e.g. to cover cash shortfall caused by mismatched settlement dates on purchase and sale transactions, finance repurchases or pay fees reverting to a service provider) and/or for investment purposes. The assets of the relevant Portfolio may be charged as security for any such borrowings in accordance with the principle of segregation of assets and liabilities provided by Article 181(5) of the 2010 Law. Collateral arrangements with respect to the writing of options or the purchase or sale of forward or futures contracts are not deemed to constitute "borrowings" for the purpose of this restriction;
- (4) Acquire foreign currency by means of a back-to-back loan.

C. In addition, the SICAV shall comply in respect of the net assets of each Portfolio with the following investment restrictions per issuer:

(a) Risk Diversification rules

For the purpose of calculating the restrictions described in (1) to (5), (8), (9), (13) and (14) hereunder, companies which are included in the same Group of Companies are regarded as a single issuer.

To the extent an issuer is a legal entity with multiple portfolios where the assets of a portfolio are exclusively reserved to the investors in such portfolio and to those creditors whose claim has arisen in connection with the creation, operation and liquidation of that portfolio, each portfolio is to be considered as a separate issuer for the purpose of the application of the risk spreading rules described under items (1) to (5), (7) to (9) and (12) to (14) hereunder.

Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments

- No Portfolio may purchase additional Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments of any single issuer if:
 - upon such purchase more than 10% of its net assets would consist of Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments of one single issuer; or
 - (ii) the total value of all Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments of issuers in each of which it invests more than 5% of its net assets would exceed 40% of the value of its assets. This limitation does not apply to deposits and OTC derivative transactions made with financial institutions subject to prudential supervision.
- (2) A Portfolio may invest on a cumulative basis up to 20% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued by the same Group of Companies.
- (3) The limit of 10% set forth above under (1)(i) is increased to 35% in respect of Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State, by its local authorities, by any Other State or by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s).
- (4) The limit of 10% set forth above under (1)(i) is increased up to 25% in respect of qualifying debt securities issued by a credit institution which has its registered office in a Member State and which, under applicable law, is submitted to specific public supervision in order to protect the holders of such qualifying debt securities. For the purposes hereof, "qualifying debt securities" are securities the proceeds of which are invested in accordance with applicable law in assets providing a return which will cover the debt service through to the maturity date of the securities and which will be applied on a priority basis to the payment of principal and interest in the event of a default by the issuer. To the extent that a relevant Portfolio invests more than 5% of its net assets in qualifying debt securities may not exceed 80% of the net assets of such Portfolio.
- (5) The securities specified above under (3) and (4) are not to be included for purposes of computing the ceiling of 40% set forth above under (1)(ii).
- (6) Notwithstanding the ceilings set forth above, each Portfolio is authorised to invest, in accordance with the principle of risk spreading, up to 100% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State, by its local authorities, by any other member state of the OECD such as the United States, or of the Group of twenty (G20), Singapore or Hong Kong or by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s), provided that (i) such securities are part of at least six different issues and (ii) the securities from any such issue do not account for more than 30% of the total assets of such Portfolio.

- (7) Without prejudice to the limits set forth hereunder under (b), the limits set forth in (1) are raised to a maximum of 20% for investments in stocks and/or bonds issued by the same body when the aim of the Portfolio's investment policy is to replicate the composition of a certain stock or bond index which is recognised by the Regulatory Authority, on the following basis:
 - the composition of the index is sufficiently diversified,
 - the index represents an adequate benchmark for the market to which it refers,
 - it is published in an appropriate manner.

The limit of 20% is raised to 35% where that proves to be justified by exceptional market conditions in particular in Regulated Markets where certain Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments are highly dominant. The investment up to this limit is only permitted for a single issuer.

Bank Deposits

(8) A Portfolio may not invest more than 20% of its net assets in deposits made with the same body.

• Derivative Instruments

- (9) The risk exposure to a counterparty in an OTC derivative transaction, including total/excess return swaps transactions, may not exceed 10% of the Portfolio's net assets when the counterparty is a credit institution referred to in A. (6) above or 5% of its net assets in other cases.
- (10) Investment in financial derivative instruments shall only be made, and within the limits set forth in (2), (5) and (14), provided that the exposure to the underlying assets does not exceed in aggregate the investment limits set forth in (1) to (5), (8), (9), (13) and (14). When the Portfolio invests in index-based financial derivative instruments, these investments do not necessarily have to be combined to the limits set forth in (1) to (5), (8), (9), (13) and (14).
- (11) When a Transferable Security or Money Market Instrument embeds a derivative, the latter must be taken into account when complying with the requirements of A (7) (ii) and C (a) (10) and (D) hereunder as well as with the risk exposure and information requirements laid down in the sales documents of the SICAV.

Units of Open-Ended Funds

Under the Law, no Portfolio may invest more than 20% of its net assets in the units of a single UCITS or other UCIs. However, the Portfolios will limit their investment in units of UCITS or other UCIs to 10% of their net assets unless otherwise specified within the Portfolio's investment objective and policy.

(12) For the purpose of the application of this investment limit, each portfolio of a UCI with multiple portfolios within the meaning of Article 181 of the 2010 Law is to be considered as a separate issuer provided that the principle of segregation of the obligations of the various portfolios vis-à-vis third parties is ensured. Investments made in units of UCIs other than UCITS may not in aggregate exceed 30% of the net assets of a Portfolio.

When a Portfolio has acquired units of UCITS and/or other UCIs, the assets of the respective UCITS or other UCIs do not have to be combined for the purposes of the limits laid down in (1) to (5), (8), (9), (13) and (14).

When a Portfolio invests in the units of other UCITS and/or other UCIs that are managed, directly or by delegation, by the Management Company or any appointed Sub-Advisor or by any other company with which the Management Company or any appointed Sub-Advisor is linked by common management or control, or by a substantial direct or indirect holding, the Management Company or any appointed Sub-Advisor or other company may not charge subscription or redemption fees on account of the Portfolio's investment in the units of such other UCITS and/or UCIs.

A Portfolio that invests a substantial proportion of its assets in other UCITS and/or other UCIs shall disclose in the Prospectus the maximum level of the asset management fee that may be charged both to the Portfolio itself and to the other UCITS and/or other UCIs in which it intends to invest. In its annual report, the SICAV shall indicate the maximum proportion of asset management fee charged both to the Portfolio itself and to the UCITS and/or other UCIs in which it invests.

Combined limits

- (13) Notwithstanding the individual limits laid down in (1), (8) and (9) above, a Portfolio may not combine:
 - investments in Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments issued by;
 - deposits made with, and/or;
 - exposures arising from OTC derivative transactions undertaken,

with a single body in excess of 20% of its net assets.

(14) The limits set out in (1), (3), (4), (8), (9) and (13) above may not be combined, and thus investments in Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments issued by the same body, in deposits or derivative instruments made with this body carried out in accordance with (1), (3), (4), (8), (9) and (13) above may not exceed a total of 35% of the net assets of each Portfolio of the SICAV.

(b) Limitations on Control

- (15) No Portfolio may acquire such amount of shares carrying voting rights which would enable the SICAV to exercise a significant influence over the management of the issuer.
- (16) Neither any Portfolio nor the SICAV as a whole may acquire (i) more than 10% of the outstanding non-voting shares of any one issuer; (ii) more than 10% of the outstanding debt securities of any one issuer; (iii) more than 10% of the Money Market Instruments of any one issuer; or (iv) more than 25% of the outstanding shares or units of any one UCITS and/or UCI.

The limits set forth in (ii) to (iv) may be disregarded at the time of acquisition if at that time the gross amount of bonds or of the Money Market Instruments or the net amount of the instruments in issue cannot be calculated.

The ceilings set forth above under (15) and (16) do not apply in respect of:

- Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State or by its local authorities;
- Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by any Other State;
- Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s);
- shares in the capital of a company which is incorporated under or organised pursuant to the laws of an Other State provided that (i) such company invests its assets principally in securities issued by issuers of that State, (ii) pursuant to the laws of that State a participation by the relevant Portfolio in the equity of such company constitutes the only possible way to purchase securities of issuers of that State, and (iii) such company observes in its investment policy the restrictions set forth under C., items (1) to (5), (8), (9) and (12) to (16); and
- shares in the capital of subsidiary companies which, exclusively on behalf of the SICAV carry on only the business of management, advice or marketing in the country where the subsidiary is located, in regard to the redemption of Shares at the request of Shareholders.

D. In addition, the SICAV shall comply in respect of its assets with the following investment restrictions per instrument:

Except as otherwise stated therein, each Portfolio shall ensure that its Global Exposure relating to financial derivative instruments does not exceed its total net value.

The exposure is calculated taking into account the current value of the underlying assets, the counterparty risk, foreseeable market movements and the time available to liquidate the positions.

E. Finally, the SICAV shall comply in respect of the assets of each Portfolio with the following investment restrictions:

- (1) No Portfolio may acquire commodities or precious metals or certificates representative thereof. For the avoidance of doubt, transactions in foreign currencies, financial instruments, indices, or Transferable Securities as well as futures and forward contracts, options and swaps are not considered as commodities for the purposes of this restriction.
- (2) No Portfolio may invest in real estate provided that investments may be made in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies which invest in real estate or interests therein.

- (3) No Portfolio may issue warrants or other rights to subscribe for its Shares.
- (4) A Portfolio may not grant loans or guarantees in favour of a third party, provided that such restriction shall not prevent each Portfolio from investing in non fully paid-up Transferable Securities, Money Market Instruments or other financial instruments, as mentioned under A., items (5), (7) and (8).
- (5) The SICAV may not enter into uncovered sales of Transferable Securities, Money Market Instruments or other financial instruments.

F. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained:

- The ceilings set forth above may be disregarded by each Portfolio when exercising subscription rights attaching to Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments in such Portfolio's portfolio.
- (2) If such ceilings are exceeded for reasons beyond the control of a Portfolio or as a result of the exercise of subscription rights, such Portfolio must adopt as its priority objective in its sale transactions the remedying of such situation, taking due account of the interests of its Shareholders.

The SICAV has the right to determine additional investment restrictions to the extent that those restrictions are necessary to comply with the laws and regulations of countries where Shares of the SICAV are offered or sold.

G. Global Exposure and Risk Management

In accordance with CSSF Circular 11/512 and article 13 of CSSF Regulation 10-4, the SICAV must employ a risk management process which enables it to monitor and measure at any time the risk of the positions in its Portfolios and their contribution to the overall risk profile of its Portfolios.

In relation to financial derivative instruments the SICAV must employ a process (or processes) for accurate and independent assessment of the value of OTC derivatives and the SICAV shall ensure for each Portfolio that its Global Exposure relating to financial derivative instruments does not exceed the total net value of its portfolio.

Except as otherwise noted below, each Portfolio may invest, according to its investment policy and within the limits laid down in Appendix A and in Appendix B.I in financial derivative instruments (including options, forwards, futures and/or swaps (including credit default swaps, credit default swaps on loans, interest rate swaps and total/excess return swaps) on Transferable Securities and/or any financial instruments and currencies) provided that the exposure to the underlying assets does not exceed in aggregate the investment limits laid down in Appendix A. Certain Portfolios may use financial derivative instruments as a principal investment objective, as more fully described in the investment policy of each relevant Portfolio. Shareholders should be aware that the use of derivative instruments as a principal investment objective carries a greater degree of risk.

When a Portfolio invests in index-based financial derivative instruments, these investments do not necessarily have to be combined to the limits laid down in Appendix A item C(a)(1)-(5), (8), (9), (13) and (14).

When a Transferable Security or Money Market Instrument embeds a derivative, the latter must be taken into account when complying with the requirements of this Section.

Whenever risk management processes adequate to perform the functions described above are employed on behalf of the SICAV by the Management Company and/or Sub-Advisors in managing the Portfolios, they are deemed to be employed by the SICAV.

As a consequence of the above, the Management Company has implemented procedures to ensure that all the day-to-day duties concerning active risk management of the Portfolio(s) are being carried out by the Sub-Advisors and Depositary. The oversight process is performed by the conducting officer(s) of the Management Company (the "Conducting Officers") and the investment risk committee ("RMC"). These individuals along with other resources monitor reports that are provided by the Sub-Advisors as well as the Depositary. Such reports are at a minimum received monthly. The individuals involved in such risk management timited. All relevant documents are made available to a Luxembourg-resident Conducting Officer(s).

Information about the risk management process used by the Management Company to monitor and measure the risk of the positions and their contribution to the overall risk profile of each Portfolio is set out in the "Risk Factors" section of this Prospectus.

In addition to the above:

- (1) The SICAV will not make direct investments in Russia (*i.e.*, Russian securities that are physically deposited with Russian transfer agents) which exceed 10% of the Net Asset Value of each Portfolio, at the time of purchase except for Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments which are listed or traded on the MICEX-RTS exchange, which is recognised as an Other Regulated Market.
- (2) Important information for Italian investors-

The local documents that Italian investors receive prior to subscribing in Shares may provide:

- (a) the ability for investors to appoint a distributor or a local paying agent to send orders in its own name on behalf of the investors and to be recorded as holder of the Shares on behalf of the effective underlying Shareholder (a so called nominee arrangement); and/or
- (b) the possibility for local paying agents to charge a fee to investors in relation to the execution and subscription, redemption and/or exchange transactions; and/or
- (c) the possibility for Italian investors to subscribe the SICAV shares through regular saving plans.
- (3) For investors in France, the European Smaller Companies, Pan European Equities, Pan European Small Cap Opportunities, Pan European Smaller Companies, UK Equities and UK Equity Income

Portfolios are an eligible investment for a plan d'épargne en actions ("PEA"). This means the Portfolios have at least 75% of its Net Asset Value invested in the equity of corporate issuers with their registered office in an EEA country.

The Directors reserve the right to cease managing the above Portfolios so that they are eligible for investment through a PEA should it determine that doing so would no longer enable the Portfolios to comply with its investment objectives, not be in the interests of all Shareholders in the Portfolios or be impractical due to changing market conditions. Should the Directors decide to cease managing the Portfolios so they are eligible for investment through a PEA, the Directors will notify the registered Shareholders resident in France at least one month in advance of the Portfolios ceasing to be managed to be eligible for investment through a PEA.

(4) Information for investors in Spain

The SICAV is duly authorised for its marketing in Spain under registered number 177 for such purposes with the Register of Foreign Collective Investment Schemes of the Comisión Nacional del Mercado de Valores (CNMV), in accordance with section 15.2 of Law 35/2003 of 4 November 2003 on Collective Investment Schemes, as amended.

(5) Information for investors in Germany

The following Portfolios are categorised in relation to the German Investment Tax Act ("InvStG") as "Mixed Funds" continuously investing at least 25% of their value in equity participations within the meaning of Sec. 2 (8) InvStG (e.g. equities):

- American Absolute Alpha
- Global Dynamic Real Return
- Global Multi Asset Income
- Pan European Absolute Alpha
- UK Absolute Alpha

The following Portfolios are categorised in relation to the German Investment Tax Act ("InvStG") as "Equity Funds" continuously investing at least 51% of its value in equity participations within the meaning of Sec. 2 (8) InvStG (e.g. equities):

- American
- American Extended Alpha
- American Select
- American Smaller Companies
- Asia Contrarian Equity
- Asia Equities
- Asian Equity Income
- Developed Asia Growth and Income
- European Select
- European Smaller Companies
- Global Emerging Market Equities
- Global Equity Income
- Global Extended Alpha
- Global Focus

- Global Select
- Global Smaller Companies
- Global Technology
- Pan European Equities
- Pan European Equity Dividend
- Pan European Small Cap Opportunities
- Pan European Smaller Companies
- STANLIB Africa Equity
- UK Equities
- UK Equity Income
- US Contrarian Core Equities
- US Disciplined Core Equities

Definition of the Expression "Connected Person"

The expression "Connected Person" in relation to the SICAV, any Sub-Advisor appointed by the SICAV or the Management Company (a "Sub-Advisor") or any company appointed for the purpose of distributing Shares or the Depositary (the relevant such SICAV being referred to below as "the relevant SICAV") means:

- (a) any person or company beneficially owning, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the ordinary share capital of the relevant SICAV, or able to exercise directly or indirectly 20% or more of the total votes in the relevant SICAV;
- (b) any person or company controlled by a person who falls within (a) above;
- (c) any company 20% or more of whose ordinary share capital is beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by the relevant company and each of the others of the Management Company and Sub-Advisor and taken together or by the Depositary and any company 20% or more of the total votes of which can be exercised, directly, or indirectly by the relevant SICAV and each of the others of the Management Company and Sub-Advisor taken together or by the Depositary; and
- (d) any director or officer of the relevant SICAV or any Connected Person of the relevant SICAV, as defined in (a), (b) or (c) above.

Appendix B.I

Investment Techniques and Instruments

The SICAV may employ techniques and instruments relating to Transferable Securities and other financial liquid assets for efficient portfolio management and hedging purposes within the conditions and limits of the relevant Regulatory Authority regulation.

When these operations concern the use of derivative instruments, these conditions and limits shall conform to the provisions laid down in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions".

Under no circumstances shall these operations cause a Portfolio to diverge from its investment objectives as laid down under "Investment Objectives and Policies" in the Prospectus.

The techniques and instruments that may be used include, without being limited to, the following:

I. Credit Default Swaps, interest rate swaps and total/excess return swaps

Some Portfolios may enter into credit default swaps:

A credit default swap is a bilateral financial contract in which one counterparty (the protection buyer) pays a periodic fee in return for a contingent payment by the protection seller following a credit event of a reference issuer. The protection buyer acquires the right to sell a particular bond or other designated reference obligations issued by the reference issuer for its par value or the right to receive the difference between the par value and the market price of the said bond or other designated reference obligations when a credit event occurs. A credit event is commonly defined as bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, material adverse restructuring of debt, or failure to meet payment obligations when due.

Provided it is in its exclusive interest, the relevant Portfolios may sell protection under credit default swaps (individually a "credit default swap Sale Transaction", collectively the "credit default swap Sale Transactions") in order to acquire a specific credit exposure.

In addition, the relevant Portfolios may, provided it is in its exclusive interest, buy protection under credit default swaps (individually a "credit default swap Purchase Transaction", collectively the "credit default swap Purchase Transactions") without holding the underlying assets.

Such swap transactions must be effected with first class financial institutions specialising in this type of transaction and executed on the basis of standardised documentation such as the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Master Agreement.

The relevant Portfolios must ensure adequate coverage of commitments linked to such credit default swap and maintain sufficient liquidity to honour redemption requests from investors.

Furthermore, some Portfolios may enter into interest rate swaps. The use of total/excess return swaps is only authorised, both for hedging and

investment purposes, where and as indicated in the respective investment policy of each Portfolio.

In accordance with Regulation (EU) 2015/2365 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2015 on transparency of securities financing transactions and of reuse, this Prospectus contains a general description of total return swaps.

A total return swap is a transaction in which one party ("the First Party") makes an initial payment equal to the value of a loan, debt security or other financial instrument (the "Reference Obligation") issued, guaranteed or otherwise entered into by a third party (the "Reference Entity") to the other party ("the Second Party"). The Second Party shall pay to the First Party the total economic performance of the Reference Obligation; that is, the market value of the Reference Obligation at the maturity of the transaction (this will typically, absent default or another referenced event, be the notional amount of the Reference Obligation if the total return swap is linked to the maturity of the Reference Obligation) and any interest, dividend and fee payments, as applicable, on the Reference Obligation. An excess return swap is a transaction where the performance of a designated asset over a prescribed period is paid on termination of the transaction. Fees that are being incurred when entering into the total/excess return swap or when the notional amount is changed are deducted from the amount received or added to the amount paid to the counterparty to the swap.

Where a Portfolio enters into a total return swap or invests in other financial derivative instruments with similar characteristics, the assets held by the Portfolio shall comply with the investment limits set out in Articles 52, 53, 54, 55 and 56 of the UCITS Directive. For example, when a Portfolio enters into an unfunded swap, the Portfolio's investment portfolio that is swapped out shall comply with the aforementioned investment limits.

In accordance with Article 51(3) of the UCITS Directive and Article 43(5) of Directive 2010/43/EU, where a Portfolio enters into a total return swap or invests in other financial derivative instruments with similar characteristics, the underlying exposures of the financial derivative instruments shall be taken into account to calculate the investment limits laid down in Article 52 of the UCITS Directive.

In addition, it shall be noted that, whenever a Portfolio uses total return swaps, the relevant counterparty(ies) shall have no discretion over the composition or management of the Portfolio's investment portfolio or of the underlying of the financial derivative instrument; the approval of the counterparty is not required to any Portfolio investment portfolio transaction.

Such swap transactions must be effected with credit institutions or their affiliated brokers established in a country belonging to the Group of ten or a member state of the EEA and which have at least an investment grade rating.

II. Efficient Portfolio Management Techniques and Instruments General

The SICAV may use efficient portfolio management techniques and instruments provided that they comply with the provisions of CSSF Circular 08/356 and the following rules. For the avoidance of doubt, the SICAV does not engage into any repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions.

Techniques and instruments relating to Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments used for efficient portfolio management shall not:

- (a) result in a change of the declared investment objective of the Portfolio; or
- (b) add substantial supplementary risks in comparison to the risk policy as described in this Prospectus.

All the revenues arising from efficient portfolio management techniques, net of direct and indirect operational costs, will be returned to the SICAV. In this respect, it shall be noted that at least 87.5% of income generated from any securities lending transaction will accrue to the relevant Portfolio. The remainder will be paid to (i) Citibank N.A. (London Branch), a company related to the Depositary, which arranges the securities lending transaction and (ii) the Sub-Advisor or their respective agents for the management of, and additional administrative work involved in, entering into and monitoring securities lending transactions for the relevant Portfolios.

The use of techniques and instruments by the SICAV for efficient portfolio management shall not affect the SICAV's ability to meet, at all times, its redemption obligations.

1. Lending of Portfolio Securities

Unless the Prospectus is amended otherwise, the SICAV will not engage in any securities lending transactions.

If it does, it will do so either directly or through a standardised lending system organised by a recognised clearing institution or by a financial institution specialising in this type of transaction and subject to prudential supervision rules which are considered by the Regulatory Authority as equivalent to those provided by Community law, in exchange for a securities lending fee. To limit the risk of loss to the SICAV, the borrower must post in favour of the SICAV collateral representing at any time, during the lifetime of the agreement, at least 102% of the total value of the securities loaned in favour of the SICAV. The amount of collateral is valued daily to ensure that this level is maintained.

The SICAV may pay fees to third parties for services in arranging such loans, as such persons may or may not be affiliated with the SICAV, the Management Company or any Sub-Advisor as permitted by applicable securities and banking law.

The principal risk when lending securities is that the borrower might become insolvent or refuse to honour its obligations to return the securities. In this event, a Portfolio could experience delays in recovering its securities and may possibly incur a capital loss. Such a loss may arise due to a decline in the value of the investment made with cash collateral received from a securities lending counterparty. A decline in the value of such investment of the cash collateral would reduce the amount of collateral available to be returned by the Portfolio to the securities lending counterparty at the conclusion of the securities lending contract. The Portfolio would be required to cover the difference in value between the collateral originally received and the amount available to be returned to the counterparty, thereby resulting in a loss to the Portfolio.

The counterparty risk of the SICAV vis-à-vis a single counterparty arising from one or more securities lending transaction(s) may not exceed 10% of the assets of the relevant Portfolio when the counterparty is a financial institution falling within Section A (6) of Appendix A, or 5% of its assets in all other cases.

The Portfolios of the SICAV may enter into securities lending and borrowing transactions of up to 50% of the aggregate market value of the securities in the Portfolio. The SICAV must be able at any time to recall any security that has been lent out or terminate any security lending agreement into which it has entered. In this respect, the SICAV must ensure that securities lending transactions remain within appropriate levels, or must be able to request the return of the securities on loan so that it can satisfy its redemption obligations at any time and so that these lending transactions do not jeopardise the management of the SICAV's assets in compliance with its investment policy.

The SICAV will seek to deal with counterparties from a list of approved borrowers whose short-term and long-term ratings so rated by S&P or Moody's or Fitch Ratings must not be lower than such level of short-term and long-term ratings determined by the relevant Sub-Advisor of the relevant Portfolio.

2. When-Issued Securities and Delayed Delivery Transactions

Each Portfolio may purchase securities on a when-issued basis, and it may purchase or sell securities for delayed delivery. These transactions occur when securities are purchased or sold by the Portfolio with payment and delivery taking place in the future to secure what is considered an advantageous yield and price to the Portfolio at the time of entering into the transactions. Each Portfolio will maintain a segregated account with its Depositary of cash or liquid securities of governmental entities in an aggregate equal to the amount of its commitments in connection with such purchase transactions.

III. Warrants

The Global Dynamic Real Return Portfolio, the Equity Portfolios and some Bond Portfolios may invest in warrants to purchase common stock. The gearing effect of investments in warrants and the volatility of warrant prices make the risks attached to investments in warrants higher than is the case with investments in equities.

IV. Pooling

The SICAV may invest and manage all or any part of the assets established for two or more Portfolios (for the purposes hereof "Participating Portfolios") on a pooled basis. Any such asset pool shall be formed by transferring to it cash or other assets (subject to such assets being appropriate in respect of the investment policy of the pool concerned) from each of the Participating Portfolios. Thereafter, the SICAV may from time to time make further transfers to each asset pool. Assets may also be transferred back to a Participating Portfolio up to the amount of the participation of the Portfolio concerned. The share of a Participating Portfolio in an asset pool shall be measured by reference to notional units of equal value in the asset pool. On formation of an asset pool, the SICAV shall determine the initial value of notional units (which shall be expressed in such currency as the SICAV may consider appropriate) and shall allocate to each Participating Portfolio notional units having an aggregate value equal to the amount of cash (or the value of other assets) contributed. Thereafter, the value of the units shall be determined by dividing the net assets of the asset pool by the number of notional units existing.

When additional cash or assets are contributed to or withdrawn from an asset pool, the allocation of notional units of the Participating Portfolio concerned will be increased or reduced, as the case may be, by a number of notional units determined by dividing the amount of cash or the value of assets contributed or withdrawn by the current value of a unit in such asset pool. Where a contribution is made in cash, it may be treated for the purpose of this calculation as reduced by an amount which the SICAV considers appropriate to reflect fiscal charges and dealing and purchase costs which may be incurred in investing the cash concerned; in the case of cash withdrawal, a corresponding deduction may be made to reflect costs which may be incurred in realising securities or other assets of the asset pool.

Dividends, interest and other distributions of an income nature earned in respect of the assets in an asset pool will be applied to such asset pool and cause the respective net assets to increase. Upon the dissolution of the SICAV, the assets in an asset pool will be allocated to the Participating Portfolios in proportion to their respective participation in the asset pool.

Appendix B.II

Shariah Portfolio

This Appendix only applies to the Shariah Portfolio. Please refer to section IV of this Appendix for definitions of terms applicable to the Shariah Portfolio that are not defined elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Shareholders are reminded that it is strongly recommended to seek the advice of a duly licensed expert or adviser about the contents of the Prospectus before deciding to subscribe to the Shariah Portfolio.

I. Shariah Guidelines

Investment policy

The Shariah Portfolio invests in Shariah-compliant securities and other Shariah-compliant assets as described in the paragraph relating to the Shariah Portfolio in the "*Investment Objectives and Policies*" section. The investment objective and policy of the Shariah Portfolio are subject to their compliance with the Shariah Guidelines set out herein.

The Shariah Portfolio shall at all times be managed in accordance with the guidelines below, which apply in addition to the investment restrictions specified in Appendix A. In general, Shariah-compliant investment refers to contractual arrangements and investment guidelines that are in compliance with Shariah (as such, these guidelines shall be determined by the Shariah Supervisory Board). Subject to its investment objective and policy, the Shariah Portfolio may only invest in transferable securities of companies whose business is permissible (*Halal*) and therefore may not invest in the sectors that are listed under the sub-section with the heading "Prohibited Activities" (see below).

Use of derivatives and efficient portfolio management techniques

Subject to the limits set forth in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions" and the Shariah Guidelines that are described below, the SICAV may, with respect to the Shariah Portfolio, invest in Shariah-compliant financial derivative instruments provided that: (a) these are economically appropriate in that they are realised in a cost-effective way; (b) they are entered into for reduction of risk and (c) the risks are adequately captured by the risk management process of the Shariah Portfolio. In addition to their investment objectives and policies, the Shariah Portfolio may employ the investment practices described under the section of this Prospectus with the heading "Other Investment Practices" and in Appendix A "Investment Restrictions" and Appendix B.I "Investment Techniques and Instruments".

Unless the Prospectus is amended otherwise, the Sub-Advisor may not use financial derivative instruments for investment purposes.

Ancillary investments and temporary defensive measures

The Shariah Portfolio may, on an ancillary basis, hold Shariah-compliant liquid assets when the Sub-Advisor believes they offer more attractive opportunities or as a temporary defensive measure in response to adverse market, economic, political, or other conditions, or to meet liquidity, redemption, and short-term investing needs. In exceptional market circumstances and on a temporary basis only, 100% of any Shariah Portfolio's net assets may be invested in Shariah-compliant liquid assets, with due regard to the principle of risk spreading. Such assets may be kept in the form of Shariah-compliant cash deposits or Money Market Instruments.

A. Shariah-Compliance Screening

A Shariah Stock Screening Provider (as further described in the section with the heading "Service Providers" below) will perform Shariah stock screening on the basis of the criteria set out below.

In addition, the Shariah Supervisory Board has been appointed in order to review the compliance of certain investments as may be requested from time to time by the Sub-Advisor and to conduct a semi-annual Shariah audit on the Shariah Portfolio's investments.

The criteria specifically agreed upon for the stocks screening include the following:

Business Activities Screening:

Investment in companies generating operating revenue from any of the following activities where such activities represent more than 5% of their revenue in total is not permitted. Such activities are deemed to be "prohibited activities". Revenue that Islamic financial institutions derive from financial services will not be considered to be revenue from a prohibited activity. Islamic financial institutions will not be subject to Financial Screening as outlined in the section "Financial Screening" below.

Prohibited Activities:

- Alcohol: distillers, vintners and producers of alcoholic beverages, including producers of beer and malt liquors, owners and operators of bars and pubs.
- Tobacco: cigarettes and other tobacco products manufacturers and retailers.
- Gambling / Casino: owners and operators of casinos and gaming facilities, including companies providing lottery and betting services.
- Music: producers and distributors of music, owners and operators of radio broadcasting systems.
- Cinema: companies engaged in the production, distribution, and screening of movies and television shows, owners and operators of television broadcasting systems and providers of cable or satellite television services.
- Defence/Weapons: manufacturers of military aerospace and defence equipment, parts or products, including defence electronics and space equipment.
- Pork related products: companies involved in the manufacture and retailing of pork products.
- Conventional Financial Services: commercial banks involved in retail banking, corporate lending, investment banking; companies involved in mortgage and mortgage related services; providers of financial services, including insurance, capital markets and specialised finance; credit agencies; stock exchanges; specialty boutiques; consumer finance services, including personal credit, credit cards,

lease financing, travel-related money services and pawn shops; financial institutions primarily engaged in investment management, related custody and securities fee-based services; companies operating mutual funds, closed-end funds and unit investment trusts; financial institutions primarily engaged in investment banking and brokerage services, including equity and debt underwriting, mergers and acquisitions; securities lending and advisory services institutions; and insurance and reinsurance brokerage firms, including companies providing property, casualty, life, disability, indemnity or supplemental health insurance.

- Adult Entertainment: owners and operators of adult entertainment products and activities.
- Advertisements: companies whose main activity is the provision of advertisements and media in connection with any of the above.

Financial Screening:

Shariah investment principles do not allow investment in companies deriving significant income (more than 5%) from interest or from companies that have excessive leverage. Measures of excessive leverage are defined as follows:

- (a) Total conventional debt divided by the average issuer market capitalisation in excess of 33.33%;
- (b) Sum of a company's cash and interest bearing securities divided by the average issuer market capitalisation in excess of 33.33%; and
- (c) Sum of a company's accounts receivables and cash divided by the average issuer market capitalisation in excess of 33.33%.

None of the financial ratios may exceed 33.33%. Securities will be considered non-compliant with respect to financial screening if any of the financial ratios exceed 33.33%.

The Management Company retains the right to adjust the financial ratios above with the advice and consent of the Shariah Supervisory Board, as appropriate.

Other Permitted Investments

- Islamic money market instruments;
- Units or shares of Shariah compliant UCITS schemes;
- Islamic deposits with any credit institutions (in the event there is no Islamic deposit available, then the cash of the Shariah Portfolio must be placed in a non-interest bearing account);
- Shariah compliant financial derivative instrument (only for hedging purposes).

Note: The above list is not meant to be exhaustive. As the Islamic finance market is continuously evolving, the Sub-Advisor of the Shariah Portfolio

will be allowed to invest in newly introduced investment instruments if they are deemed Shariah compliant by the Shariah Supervisory Board and are consistent with the Shariah Portfolio's Investment Objectives and Policy.

The Management Company may direct the Sub-Advisor to change Shariah Stock Screening Provider in the future as appropriate, working in consultation with the Shariah Advisor and with the consent of the Shariah Supervisory Board.

Other restrictions

No investment in fixed income preferred shares is allowed.

B. Purification of Prohibited Income

Whenever the application of Shariah rules so requires, the Management Company intends to deduct from the Shariah Portfolio's total returns amounts that may have been derived from interest or other income received which is not in accordance with the principles of Shariah, as determined by the Sub-Advisor at the end of each quarter, in consultation with the Shariah Advisor and the Shariah Supervisory Board, on the basis of data received from the Shariah Stock Screening Provider.

Such amount will be based on the purification ratios of non-permissible income, expressed as a percentage of the company's dividend payments. The resulting amount will be donated to charities, as per the Management Company's instructions and in consultation with the Shariah Supervisory Board, and will be detailed in the SICAV's annual report. Any such amounts will be deducted only upon their actual determination and no anticipated accrual thereof shall be made.

C. Zakat

In addition to the purification mechanism described above, each Investor is responsible for the relevant methodical calculation and the payment of its own Zakat. Zakat will not be deducted by the Shariah Portfolio before paying distributions.

II. Service Providers

The Management Company has appointed the following service providers, in respect of the Shariah Portfolio:

- Shariah Supervisory Board, the members of which are listed under the sub-section with the heading "Shariah Supervisory Board" below, to monitor the Shariah Portfolio's compliance with Shariah Guidelines; and
- Gatehouse Bank plc, with its address at 14 Grosvenor Street, London, W1K 4PS, United Kingdom, as Shariah Advisor ("Gatehouse").

The Sub-Advisor is a licensed user of the services of IdealRatings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, located at 425 Market Street, Suite 2200, San Francisco, CA 94105, United States of America, which will act as Shariah Stock Screening Provider.

(A) Shariah Supervisory Board

The Shariah Supervisory Board of the Shariah Portfolio will be represented by:

Sheikh Nizam Yaqouby

Sheikh Nizam Mohammed Yaqouby is an internationally acclaimed Shariah scholar in the Islamic banking and finance industry and is the Chairman of the Shariah Supervisory Board of the Shariah Portfolio. He has a background in both traditional Islamic sciences with senior scholars from different parts of the Muslim world and also holds a Master's degree in Economics from McGill University in Canada.

Sheikh Nizam has taught Islamic subjects in Bahrain and lectured all over the world. He is a member of many International Boards including the Sharia Council of AAOIFI, Dow Jones Islamic Index, Central Bank of Bahrain Shariah Committee and IIFM Shariah Council. Sheikh Nizam has edited several Arabic manuscripts and authored on various subjects in both Arabic and English.

Dr Abdul Aziz Khalifa Al Qassar

Dr Al-Qassar holds a PhD in Islamic Fiqh from Al-Azhar University and is assistant professor at Shariah College, Kuwait University, where he has also acted as Deputy Dean for Academic Affairs since 2002. He is a member of the Shariah supervisory boards of several Islamic financial institutions, including The Securities House, and has published several academic works. Professor Al-Qassar published in a number of journals on topics relating to Islamic Finance and Islamic law. He sits in the Shariah boards of a number of equity funds in the GCC. He supervised and discussed a number of Masters' theses at the Faculty of Advanced Studies, Kuwait University.

Mufti Muhammad Nurullah Shikder

Mufti Muhammad Nurullah Shikder is former Executive Vice President and Head of Shariah Compliance at Gatehouse. Prior to joining Gatehouse he worked for various financial institutions including HSBC in London and Dubai Islamic Bank in United Arab Emirates. Muhammad spent a number of years with Dubai Islamic Bank in the Shariah Coordination Department (now known as Dar al Shariah) and worked closely with Dr. Hussain Hamid Hassan, Chairman DIB Shariah Board. He has worked in many transactions where innovative structuring and documentation was provided including Sukuks (Islamic Bonds), Islamic Funds, Islamic Project finance, Islamic Syndications and other corporate and retail products. In 2008, he was ranked among the World's leading scholars by FAILAKA, and then in 2009 he received the ZAKI BADAWI Award for Outstanding Young Shariah Advisory.

Mufti Muhammad is a non-practicing lawyer and holds a Shahaadatul Aalamiyyah (BA/MA in Islamic Theology) and specialisation on Islamic Jurisprudence (Ifta) from Darul Uloom Al Arabiyya Al Islamiyya, Bury, UK, an LLB (Hons) and LLM in Banking & Finance Law from University College London (UCL).

These Shariah Supervisory Board members may serve on the Shariah boards of other institutions.

The Management Company has appointed the Shariah Supervisory Board to be responsible for Shariah supervisory and compliance functions. The Shariah Supervisory Board will advise the SICAV, the Management Company and/or the Sub-Advisor with respect to Shariah matters. The Shariah Supervisory Board will establish and approve general investment guidelines which are consistent with the principles of Shariah and will confirm compliance of the Shariah Portfolio with the Shariah Guidelines.

As a matter of principle the Shariah Portfolio will make investments which are compliant with the principles of Shariah as interpreted by the Shariah Supervisory Board and the relevant Sub-Advisor will be entitled to rely completely on the advice of the Shariah Supervisory Board to ensure that the principles of Shariah are observed in relation to proposed or actually implemented investments.

More specifically the Shariah Supervisory Board will analyse the policies, guidelines and management processes and procedures of the SICAV to ensure compliance with Shariah principles. This will involve, among other duties, the following activities:

- reviewing and approving the SICAV's Prospectus (to the extent applicable to the Shariah Portfolio), the Shariah Portfolio's KIID and any specific agreements entered in relation to the Shariah Portfolio, to ensure ongoing compliance with the principles of Shariah;
- on an ongoing basis, considering any necessary amendments to the Shariah Guidelines and issuing guidance as necessary following requests from the Shariah Advisor;
- issuing opinions, by way of fatawa, pronouncements, opinions, rulings or guidelines as to whether all or any investments comply with the rules and principles of Shariah (each, a "Decision"), it being understood that the Management Company shall decide in consultation with the Shariah Supervisory Board whether or not to publish such Decision; and
- informing the Management Company and the Shariah Advisor as soon as is reasonably practicable of the discovery of a breach of the Shariah Guidelines.

The Shariah Supervisory Board will provide guidance and ad-hoc views on, and review, the operations and investments of the Shariah Portfolio to ascertain adherence to the Shariah Guidelines. This will include a semiannual audit of the operations of the Shariah Portfolio and provision of a report thereon to the Management Company and/or Sub-Advisor.

Finally, as mentioned above under "B. Purification of Prohibited Income", the Shariah Supervisory Board shall approve the purification amounts determined by the Sub-Advisor with the Shariah Advisor and propose charities to which such amounts will be paid.

(B) Shariah Stock Screening Provider

IdealRatings is providing Shariah stock screening services to identify (i) stocks that are in line with the Shariah Guidelines and (ii) the amount of cleansing/purification required in respect of the transferable securities held by the Shariah Portfolio.

(C) Shariah Advisor

Gatehouse will act as the Shariah Advisor and shall be responsible for Shariah advisory services, including the following:

- advising the Management Company on the appointment of appropriate and adequate members to the Shariah Supervisory Board and ensuring that those members have the necessary expertise and experience to provide first class services under the Shariah Supervisory Board Appointment Agreement;
- recommending the Shariah Stock Screening Provider;
- providing supervision, by means of guidance, advice or recommendation, in relation to the Shariah Portfolio's operations and activities to ensure ongoing compliance with the rules and principles of Shariah and submitting any reports that may reasonably be requested by the Management Company from time to time and suggesting any amendment to the Shariah Guidelines as may be necessary to ensure continued compliance with the rules and principles of Shariah;
- liaising with the Administrative Agent, the Shariah Supervisory Board, the Auditor, legal advisers and other professionals appointed by the SICAV or the Management Company as reasonably required from time to time by the Management Company and the SICAV, including the exchange, collection, signing of documents and certification and to provide such advice and assistance to such persons as the Management Company may reasonably request;
- review and approve the purification amount as determined by the Shariah Stock Screening Provider for investments selected on the basis of the Shariah Stock Screening Provider's assessment and, for any other asset, determining a suitable methodology for:
 - identifying and quantifying any income and gains that may be derived from activities not in accordance with the Shariah Guidelines; and
 - o issuing guidance with respect to Purification;
- providing all information to the Shariah Supervisory Board as the Shariah Supervisory Board may reasonably require to enable it to include within the Shariah audit report the extent of the purification liability of the SICAV. In addition, the Shariah Advisor will provide the Shariah Supervisory Board with the recommendation of the charity to which the Purification amount should be donated;
- informing the Management Company and the Administrative Agent as soon as is reasonably practicable of the Shariah Advisor's discovery of a breach of the Shariah Guidelines by the Shariah Portfolio and:
- advising the Management Company to enter into any transaction(s), if relevant, in order to remedy the breach;
- assisting and facilitating the Shariah Supervisory Board in connection with all of its functions for the Shariah Portfolio.

III. Specific Risk Factors

Investing in the Shariah Portfolio may involve specific risks such as those described under the section of this Prospectus with the heading "Risk Factors" and the risks set out below. Investors should consider such risks before investing in any of the Shariah Portfolio.

Reclassification of Shariah Status Risk

The following paragraphs describe the action required where Shariahcompliant securities are reclassified by the Shariah Supervisory Board or the Shariah Stock Screening Provider as being non-compliant with Shariah.

Where the market value of the non-Shariah-compliant securities exceeds the original investment costs on the date the Shariah Supervisory Board or the Shariah Stock Screening Provider announces non-compliance with Shariah, the Sub-Advisor shall dispose of the securities as soon as reasonably practicable. Any portion of the capital gains attributable to the period up until the date on which the non-compliance was announced can be retained by the Shariah Portfolio. However, the portion of capital gains which is derived from the securities after the date of the announcement shall be paid to charitable bodies in accordance with the instructions of the Shariah Supervisory Board. The Shariah Supervisory Board will determine whether all or a portion of the dividends should be paid to charitable bodies where dividends are received after the date of the announcement but before the securities are disposed of.

Where the market value of the non-Shariah-compliant securities does not exceed the original investment costs on the date the Shariah Supervisory Board or the Shariah Stock Screening Provider announces non-compliance with Shariah, they can be held for a maximum of 90 days. Any amount (including dividends) recovered from securities after the announcement is made which is above the original investment costs of the securities (including transactions costs) shall be paid to charitable bodies.

Shariah Compliance Risk

The members of the Shariah Supervisory Board and the Shariah Advisor have been appointed by the Management Company to ensure the compliance of the investments of the Shariah Portfolio with the Shariah Guidelines.

The Sub-Advisor of the Shariah Portfolio will manage the Shariah Portfolio in accordance with the Shariah Guidelines. This may mean that the Shariah Portfolio may perform less well than other investment funds that do not seek to strictly adhere to these criteria. The Shariah Guidelines may require the Shariah Portfolio to dispose of certain investments in certain circumstances and may prohibit investment into securities that are considered to present good investment opportunities due to their lack of compliance with Shariah. These requirements may place the Shariah Portfolio in a relatively less advantageous position compared to investment funds that do not adhere to the Shariah principles.

In addition, the requirement to "purify" prohibited income is likely to result in payments being made to charities that have been approved by the Shariah Supervisory Board. Where such payments are made, the return to investors will be reduced by the amount of such payments, adversely affecting the performance of the Shariah Portfolio compared to funds with similar investment objectives that do not have to make such payments.

Although the Sub-Advisor fully intends to observe the Shariah Guidelines at all times, there can be no assurance that this will always be possible, as there may be occasions when investments of the Shariah Portfolio become non-compliant to the Shariah for reasons that are outside the control of the Sub-Advisor. The Management Company and/or Sub-Advisor shall report such incidents to the Shariah Supervisory Board as soon as possible after the incident.

Derivative Risk

A derivative is a financial instrument whose value is derived from the value of another asset. In Islamic finance, derivative instruments may only be used for hedging purposes and may not be used for speculation. If an available approved counterparty (or counterparties) does not offer a competitive rate for a hedging transaction (if any) or decides not to roll a hedging transaction when it comes due or no counterparty is available for hedging, the Sub-Advisor's ability to implement any hedging strategy could be impaired or could end. This would mean that the hedged Class would no longer closely track the performance of the Classes in base currency.

IV. Definitions

"Shariah"	the principles, precepts and tenets of Islam derived principally from the Holy Qur'an and from the teachings and examples of the Holy Prophet Muhammad (peace be upon Him) as interpreted by the Shariah Supervisory Board
"Shariah Advisor"	Gatehouse Bank plc, which has been appointed as the Shariah advisor by the Management Company
"Shariah-compliant"	investment products that comply with the requirements of Shariah principles as interpreted by the Shariah Supervisory Board
"Shariah Guidelines"	the investment guidelines established and confirmed by the Shariah Supervisory Board as compliant with the Shariah principles and set out in this Appendix
"Shariah Portfolio"	the Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity Portfolio
"Shariah Supervisory Board"	a board comprising three (3) Islamic scholars responsible for reviewing and approving the Shariah Guidelines and confirming the compliance of the Shariah Portfolio's investments and accounting standards with the Shariah principles
"Shariah Stock Screening Provider"	IdealRatings, which provides Shariah stock screening services
"Zakat"	an annual obligation under Shariah to pay approximately 2.5% using a methodical calculation on excess wealth above a specified minimum for defined beneficiaries

Appendix C

Portfolio Charges **A SHARES**:

Portfolio(s)	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Bond Portfolios	Maximum 3.0%	Maximum 0.75%
Equity Portfolios and Asset Allocation Portfolios	Maximum 5.0%	Maximum 0.75%
Extended Alpha Portfolios	Maximum 5.0%	Maximum 0.75%
Absolute Return Portfolios	Maximum 5.0%	Maximum 0.75%
Specialist Portfolio	Maximum 5.0%	Maximum 0.75%
Shariah Portfolio	Maximum 5.0%	Maximum 0.75%

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios				,
Donu i oraonos	European Strategic Bond	0.90%	0.25%	Euro
	Global Corporate Bond	0.60%	0.25%	US\$
	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	1.35%	0.30%	US\$
	Emerging Market Debt	1.35%	0.30%	US\$
	European Corporate Bond	0.90%	0.30%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond	1.25%	0.30%	Euro
	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	0.75%	0.15%	Euro
	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	1.30%	0.30%	US\$
	US High Yield Bond	1.25%	0.30%	US\$
	Flexible Asian Bond	1.25%	0.30%	US\$
Asset Allocation Portfolios		1.2370	0.0070	000
A5501 A1100001011 01001103	Euro Dynamic Real Return	1.25%	0.30%	Euro
	Global Dynamic Real Return	1.35%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Multi Asset Income	1.25%	0.30%	US\$
Equity Portfolios		1.2070	0.0070	ο οφ
	Global Focus	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Equities	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Equity Income	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Select	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Smaller Companies	1.50%	0.30%	Euro
	American	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	American Select	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Asia Equities	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Asia Contrarian Equity	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Developed Asia Growth and Income	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	US Contrarian Core Equities	1.50%	0.35%	US\$
	US Disciplined Core Equities	0.55%	0.15%	US\$
	Pan European Equities	1.50%	0.30%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	1.50%	0.30%	Euro
	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	1.50%	0.35%	Euro
	European Select	1.50%	0.30%	Euro
	Asian Equity Income	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Technology	1.65%	0.30%	US\$
	UK Equities	1.50%	0.30%	GBP
	UK Equity Income	1.50%	0.30%	GBP
	STANLIB Africa Equity	2.00%	0.35%	US\$
	STAINLID AITICA EQUILY	2.00%	0.33%	000
Extended Alpha Portfolios	American Estanded Alst-	1 500/	0.200/	1100
	American Extended Alpha	1.50%	0.30%	USD
	Global Extended Alpha	1.50%	0.30%	USD

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Absolute Return Portfolios				
	American Absolute Alpha	1.50%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	0.90%	0.30%	Euro
	Pan European Absolute Alpha	1.50%	0.35%	Euro
	UK Absolute Alpha	1.50%	0.30%	GBP
Specialist Portfolio				
	Enhanced Commodities	1.75%	0.30%	US\$
Shariah Portfolio				
	Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity	1.50%	0.35%	US\$

Appendix D

Portfolio Charges **B SHARES**:

Portfolios	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	N/A	Nil

Portfolio	Name of	Asset	Distribution	Operating	Base
Type	Portfolio	Management Fee	Fee	Expenses	Currency
	Global Technology*	2.00%	Nil	0.35%	US\$

*B Shares of the Global Technology Portfolio are available only for further subscription by existing Shareholders.

Appendix E

Portfolio Charges **D SHARES**:

Portfolios	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	Maximum 1.00%	Maximum 0.75%

Portfolio	Name of	Asset	Operating	Base
Туре	Portfolio	Management Fee	Expenses	Currency
Bond Portfolios		4 470/	0.070/	
	European Strategic Bond	1.45%	0.25%	Euro
	Global Corporate Bond	1.35%	0.25%	US\$
	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	1.45%	0.30%	US\$
	Emerging Market Debt	1.45%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	1.45%	0.30%	US\$
	US High Yield Bond	1.45%	0.30%	US\$
	Flexible Asian Bond	1.45%	0.30%	US\$
Asset Allocation Portfolios				
	Euro Dynamic Real Return	2.00%	0.30%	Euro
	Global Dynamic Real Return	2.00%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Multi Asset Income	2.00%	0.30%	US\$
Equity Portfolios				
	Global Focus	2.25%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Equities	2.25%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Equity Income	2.00%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Select	2.00%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Smaller Companies	2.00%	0.30%	Euro
	American	1.85%	0.30%	US\$
	American Select	2.25%	0.30%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	2.00%	0.30%	US\$
	Asia Equities	2.00%	0.30%	US\$
	Asia Contrarian Equity	2.25%	0.30%	US\$
	Developed Asia Growth and Income	2.25%	0.30%	US\$
	1	2.00%	0.35%	US\$
	US Contrarian Core Equities			•
	US Disciplined Core Equities	0.75%	0.15%	US\$
	Pan European Equities	1.85%	0.30%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	1.85%	0.30%	Euro
	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	2.40%	0.35%	Euro
	European Select	2.00%	0.35%	Euro
	Asian Equity Income	2.25%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Technology	2.00%	0.30%	US\$
	UK Equities	2.25%	0.35%	GBP
	UK Equity Income	2.25%	0.30%	GBP
	STANLIB Africa Equity	3.00%	0.35%	US\$
Extended Alpha Portfolios				
	American Extended Alpha	2.00%	0.30%	USD
	Global Extended Alpha	2.00%	0.30%	USD

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Absolute Return Portfolios				
	American Absolute Alpha	2.00%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	1.45%	0.30%	Euro
	Pan European Absolute Alpha	2.00%	0.35%	Euro
	UK Absolute Alpha	2.00%	0.30%	GBP
Specialist Portfolio				
	Enhanced Commodities	2.25%	0.30%	US\$

Appendix F

Portfolio Charges I SHARES:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	N/A	Maximum 0.75%

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	European Social Bond	0.40%	0.10%	Euro
	European Strategic Bond	0.40%	0.15%	Euro
	Global Corporate Bond	0.50%	0.15%	US\$
	European Corporate Bond	0.40%	0.20%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond	0.65%	0.20%	Euro
	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	0.40%	0.10%	Euro
	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	0.65%	0.20%	US\$
	Emerging Market Debt	0.65%	0.20%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	0.65%	0.20%	US\$
	US High Yield Bond	0.55%	0.10%	US\$
	Flexible Asian Bond	0.60%	0.20%	US\$
Asset Allocation Portfolios		0.00,0	0.2070	
	Euro Dynamic Real Return	0.65%	0.20%	Euro
	Global Dynamic Real Return	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Global Multi Asset Income	0.65%	0.20%	US\$
quity Portfolios				
quity i ortionos	Global Focus	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Equities	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Global Equity Income	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Global Select	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Global Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.20%	Euro
	American	0.70%	0.20%	US\$
	American Select	0.80%	0.20%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Asia Equities	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Asia Contrarian Equity	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Developed Asia Growth and Income	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	US Contrarian Core Equities	0.80%	0.25%	US\$
	US Disciplined Core Equities	0.25%	0.10%	US\$
	Pan European Equities	0.75%	0.20%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	0.75%	0.20%	Euro
	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	0.85%	0.25%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.20%	Euro
	European Select	0.75%	0.20%	Euro
	European Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.20%	Euro
	Asian Equity Income	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Global Technology	0.85%	0.20%	US\$
	UK Equities	0.65%	0.20%	GBP
	UK Equity Income	0.65%	0.20%	GBP
	STANLIB Africa Equity	1.25%	0.35%	US\$
xtended Alpha Portfolios	Strateb Amou Equity	1.20/0	0.0070	000
Alenueu Alpila Folliollos	American Extended Alpha	0.75%	0.15%	US\$
	Global Extended Alpha	0.75%	0.15%	US\$
healuta Datum Dattfalica		0.73/0	0.1370	000
Absolute Return Portfolios	American Absolute Alpha	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities			
		0.35%	0.20%	Euro
	Pan European Absolute Alpha	0.75%	0.20%	Euro
	UK Absolute Alpha	0.75%	0.20%	GBP
Specialist Portfolio		0.00%	0.00%/	Liot
	Enhanced Commodities	0.80%	0.20%	US\$

Appendix G

Portfolio Charges J SHARES:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	N/A	Maximum 0.75%

A performance fee is also payable for J Shares, as described in the section with the heading "Performance fee" in the main body of the Prospectus.

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Absolute Return Portfolios				
	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	0.25%	0.20%	Euro

Appendix H

Portfolio Charges L SHARES:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	N/A	Maximum 0.75%

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	European Social Bond	0.30%	0.10%	Euro
Asset Allocation Portfolios				
	Euro Dynamic Real Return	0.50%	0.20%	Euro
Equity Portfolios				
	UK Equity Income	0.50%	0.20%	GBP
Absolute Return Portfolios				
	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	0.20%	0.20%	Euro
	Pan European Absolute Alpha	0.375%	0.20%	Euro

Appendix I

Portfolio Charges **N SHARES**:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	N/A	0.75%

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	European Social Bond	0.30%	0.10%	Euro
	Global Corporate Bond	0.30%	0.15%	US\$
Equity Portfolios				
	Global Smaller Companies	0.55%	0.20%	US\$
Specialist Portfolio				
	Enhanced Commodities	0.45%	0.20%	US\$

Appendix J

Portfolio Charges s shares:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	Maximum 5.0%	Maximum 0.75%

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	Emerging Market Debt	1.50%	0.30%	US\$

Appendix K

Portfolio Charges **T SHARES**:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	5.0%	0.75%

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	US High Yield Bond	0.55%	0.10%	USD
Equity Portfolios				
	Global Equity Income	0.90%	0.19%	USD

Appendix L

Portfolio Charges **w shares**:

	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	Maximum 5.0%	Maximum 0.75%

Portfolio	Name of	Asset	Operating	Base
Туре	Portfolio	Management Fee	Expenses	Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	European Strategic Bond	0.85%	0.30%	Euro
	Global Corporate Bond	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	1.00%	0.30%	US\$
	Emerging Market Debt	1.00%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	1.15%	0.30%	US\$
	US High Yield Bond	1.25%	0.30%	US\$
Asset Allocation Portfolio				
	Global Dynamic Real Return	1.40%	0.35%	US\$
Equity Portfolios				
	Global Focus	1.40%	0.35%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Equities	1.65%	0.35%	US\$
	American	1.15%	0.35%	US\$
	American Select	1.40%	0.35%	US\$
	European Select	1.00%	0.35%	Euro
	Pan European Equities	1.40%	0.35%	Euro
	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	1.55%	0.35%	Euro
	Asian Equity Income	1.65%	0.35%	US\$

Appendix M

Portfolio Charges **x shares**:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	N/A	Maximum 0.75%

FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT THERE ARE NO ASSET MANAGEMENT FEES FOR X SHARES

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios		•	· ·
	European Social Bond	0.10%	Euro
	European Strategic Bond	0.15%	Euro
	Global Corporate Bond	0.15%	US\$
	European Corporate Bond	0.15%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond	0.15%	Euro
	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	0.10%	Euro
	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	0.15%	US\$
	Emerging Market Debt	0.15%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	0.15%	US\$
	US High Yield Bond	0.15%	US\$
	Flexible Asian Bond	0.15%	US\$
Asset Allocation Portfolios			
	Euro Dynamic Real Return	0.15%	Euro
	Global Dynamic Real Return	0.15%	US\$
	Global Multi Asset Income	0.15%	US\$
quity Portfolios			,
, ,	Global Focus	0.15%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Equities	0.15%	US\$
	Global Equity Income	0.15%	US\$
	Global Select	0.15%	US\$
	Global Smaller Companies	0.15%	Euro
	American	0.15%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	0.15%	US\$
	Asia Equities	0.15%	US\$
	Asia Contrarian Equity	0.15%	US\$
	Developed Asia Growth and Income	0.15%	US\$
	American Select	0.15%	US\$
	US Contrarian Core Equities	0.15%	US\$
	US Disciplined Core Equities	0.10%	US\$
	European Smaller Companies	0.15%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	0.15%	Euro
	Pan European Equities	0.15%	Euro
	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	0.15%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Companies	0.15%	Euro
	European Select	0.15%	Euro
	Asian Equity Income	0.15%	US\$
	Global Technology	0.15%	US\$
	UK Equities	0.15%	GBP
	UK Equity Income	0.15%	GBP
	STANLIB Africa Equity	0.15%	US\$

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Extended Alpha Portfolios		•	•
	American Extended Alpha	0.15%	USD
	Global Extended Alpha	0.15%	USD
Absolute Return Portfolios			
	American Absolute Alpha	0.15%	US\$
	Credit Opportunities	0.15%	Euro
	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	0.15%	Euro
	Pan European Absolute Alpha	0.15%	EUR
	UK Absolute Alpha	0.15%	GBP
Specialist Portfolio			
	Enhanced Commodities	0.15%	US\$
Shariah Portfolio			
	Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity	0.25%	US\$

Appendix N

Portfolio Charges **y SHARES**:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	5.00%	Maximum 0.75%

Sales charges are maximums, which distributors or sub-distributors are allowed to waive in whole or in part, depending on the size of the subscription or upon local market considerations.

A performance fee is also payable for Y Shares, as described in the section with the heading "Performance fee" in the main body of the Prospectus.

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Absolute Return Portfolios				
	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	0.35%	0.25%	Euro

Appendix O

Portfolio Charges **z shares**:

Portfolio	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	5.00%	Maximum 0.75%

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios			•	•
	European Social Bond	0.40%	0.15%	Euro
	European Strategic Bond	0.40%	0.25%	Euro
	Global Corporate Bond	0.40%	0.20%	US\$
	European Corporate Bond	0.40%	0.30%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond	0.60%	0.30%	Euro
	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	0.40%	0.15%	Euro
	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	0.60%	0.30%	US\$
	Emerging Market Debt	0.60%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	0.60%	0.30%	US\$
	US High Yield Bond	0.60%	0.30%	US\$
	Flexible Asian Bond	0.60%	0.30%	US\$
Asset Allocation Portfolio	S			
	Euro Dynamic Real Return	0.75%	0.30%	Euro
	Global Dynamic Real Return	0.75%	0.25%	US\$
	Global Multi Asset Income	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
Equity Portfolios				
. ,	Global Focus	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Emerging Market Equities	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Equity Income	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Select	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.30%	Euro
	American	0.75%	0.25%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Asia Equities	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Asia Contrarian Equity	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Developed Asia Growth and Income	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	American Select	0.75%	0.35%	US\$
	US Contrarian Core Equities	0.75%	0.35%	US\$
	US Disciplined Core Equities	0.30%	0.15%	US\$
	European Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.35%	Euro
	Pan European Equities	0.75%	0.30%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	0.75%	0.30%	Euro
	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	0.75%	0.35%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.35%	Euro
	European Select	0.75%	0.30%	Euro
	Asian Equity Income	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Technology	0.85%	0.30%	US\$
	UK Equities	0.75%	0.30%	GBP
	UK Equity Income	0.75%	0.30%	GBP
	STANLIB Africa Equity	1.25%	0.35%	US\$

Portfolio	Name of	Asset	Operating	Base
Туре	Portfolio	Management Fee	Expenses	Currency
Extended Alpha Portfolios				
	American Extended Alpha	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Global Extended Alpha	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
Absolute Return Portfolios				
	American Absolute Alpha	0.75%	0.30%	US\$
	Credit Opportunities	0.55%	0.25%	Euro
	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	0.45%	0.25%	Euro
	Pan European Absolute Alpha	0.75%	0.30%	Euro
	UK Absolute Alpha	0.75%	0.30%	GBP
Specialist Portfolio				
	Enhanced Commodities	0.75%	0.30%	US\$

Appendix P

Portfolio Charges cLass 1 SHARES:

Portfolios	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	Maximum 5.0%	N/A

Portfolio	Name of	Asset	Operating	Base
Туре	Portfolio	Management Fee	Expenses	Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	European Corporate Bond	1.00%	0.19%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond	1.20%	0.18%	Euro
Equity Portfolios				
	American	1.50%	0.17%	US\$
	American Select	1.50%	0.17%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	1.50%	0.18%	US\$
	Asia Equities	1.50%	0.20%	US\$
	European Select	1.50%	0.15%	Euro
	European Smaller Companies	1.50%	0.22%	Euro
	Global Emerging Market Equities	1.50%	0.21%	US\$
	Global Equity Income	1.50%	0.18%	US\$
	Global Select	1.50%	0.18%	US\$
	Pan European Equities	1.50%	0.23%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	1.50%	0.20%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Companies	1.50%	0.22%	Euro
	UK Equity Income	1.50%	0.14%	GBP
	UK Equities	1.50%	0.14%	GBP
Extended Alpha Portfolios				
	American Extended Alpha	1.50%	0.19%	US\$
	Global Extended Alpha	1.50%	0.19%	US\$
Absolute Return Portfolios				
	Credit Opportunities	1.00%	0.17%	Euro
	UK Absolute Alpha	1.50%	0.18%	GBP

Appendix Q

Portfolio Charges **CLASS 2 SHARES**:

Portfolios	٩	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested			Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	1	N/A			N/A
Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio		Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios					
	European Corporate Bond		0.50%	0.08%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond		0.75%	0.07%	Euro
Equity Portfolios					
	American		1.00%	0.06%	US\$
	American Select		1.00%	0.06%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	;	1.00%	0.07%	US\$
	Global Select		1.00%	0.07%	US\$
	Asia Equities		1.00%	0.09%	US\$
	European Select		1.00%	0.06%	Euro
	European Smaller Companies		1.00%	0.07%	Euro
	Global Emerging Market Equit	ties	1.00%	0.10%	Euro
	Global Equity Income		1.00%	0.07%	US\$
	Pan European Equities		1.00%	0.08%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	ł	1.00%	0.09%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Compa	inies	1.00%	0.07%	Euro
	UK Equity Income		1.00%	0.07%	GBP
	UK Equities		1.00%	0.07%	GBP
Extended Alpha Portfolios					
	American Extended Alpha	(0.75%	0.08%	US\$
	Global Extended Alpha	(0.75%	0.08%	US\$
Absolute Return Portfolios					
	Credit Opportunities		0.50%	0.06%	Euro
	UK Absolute Alpha		1.00%	0.07%	GBP

Appendix **R**

Portfolio Charges **CLASS 3 SHARES**:

Portfolios	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	Maximum 3.0%	N/A

Portfolio	Name of	Asset	Operating	Base
Туре	Portfolio	Management Fee	Expenses	Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	European Corporate Bond	0.50%	0.19%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond	0.60%	0.17%	Euro
Equity Portfolios				
	American	0.75%	0.13%	US\$
	American Select	0.75%	0.12%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.18%	US\$
	Asia Equities	0.75%	0.20%	US\$
	European Select	0.75%	0.13%	Euro
	European Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.18%	Euro
	Global Emerging Market Equities	0.75%	0.21%	US\$
	Global Equity Income	0.75%	0.18%	US\$
	Global Select	0.75%	0.15%	US\$
	Pan European Equities	0.75%	0.19%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	0.75%	0.20%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.16%	Euro
	UK Equity Income	0.75%	0.13%	GBP
	UK Equities	0.75%	0.12%	GBP
Extended Alpha Portfolios				
	American Extended Alpha	0.75%	0.19%	US\$
	Global Extended Alpha	0.75%	0.19%	US\$
Absolute Return Portfolio				
	UK Absolute Alpha	0.75%	0.18%	GBP

Appendix S

Portfolio Charges **CLASS 4 SHARES**:

Portfolios	Initial Sales Charge as a % of the amount invested	Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	N/A	N/A

FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT THERE ARE NO ASSET MANAGEMENT FEES FOR CLASS 4 SHARES

Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolio			
	European Corporate Bond	0.08%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond	0.07%	Euro
Equity Portfolios			
	American Smaller Companies	0.06%	US\$
	Global Select	0.07%	US\$
	Pan European Equities	0.08%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	0.09%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Companies	0.07%	Euro
Absolute Return Portfolio			
	Credit Opportunities	0.06%	Euro

Appendix T

Portfolio Charges CLASS 8 SHARES:

Portfolios	9	nitial Sales Charge as a % of the amount nvested			Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	Ν	N/A		N/A	
Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio		Asset Management Fee	Operating Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios					
	European Corporate Bond		0.50%	0.12%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond		0.75%	0.11%	Euro
Equity Portfolios					
	American		1.00%	0.10%	US\$
	American Select		1.00%	0.10%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies		1.00%	0.11%	US\$
	Asia Equities		1.00%	0.13%	US\$
	European Select		1.00%	0.10%	Euro
	European Smaller Companies		1.00%	0.11%	Euro
	Global Emerging Market Equiti	ies	1.00%	0.14%	US\$
	Global Equity Income		1.00%	0.11%	US\$
	Global Select		1.00%	0.11%	US\$
	Pan European Equities		1.00%	0.12%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend		1.00%	0.13%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Compa	nies	1.00%	0.11%	Euro
	UK Equity Income		1.00%	0.11%	GBP
	UK Equities		1.00%	0.11%	GBP
Extended Alpha Portfolios					
	American Extended Alpha		0.75%	0.12%	US\$
	Global Extended Alpha		0.75%	0.12%	US\$
Absolute Return Portfolios					
	Credit Opportunities		0.50%	0.10%	Euro
	UK Absolute Alpha		1.00%	0.11%	GBP

Appendix U

Portfolio Charges **CLASS 9 SHARES**:

Portfolios	%	tial Sales Charge as a of the amount vested		Exchange Fee
Each Portfolio listed below	N/	A		N/A
Portfolio Type	Name of Portfolio	Asset Managem	Operating ent Fee Expenses	Base Currency
Bond Portfolios				
	European Corporate Bond	0.50%	0.15%	Euro
	European High Yield Bond	0.60%	0.13%	Euro
Equity Portfolios				
	American	0.75%	0.09%	US\$
	American Select	0.75%	0.08%	US\$
	American Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.14%	US\$
	Asia Equities	0.75%	0.16%	US\$
	European Select	0.75%	0.09%	Euro
	European Smaller Companies	0.75%	0.14%	Euro
	Global Emerging Market Equitie	s 0.75%	0.17%	US\$
	Global Equity Income	0.75%	0.14%	US\$
	Global Select	0.75%	0.11%	US\$
	Pan European Equities	0.75%	0.15%	Euro
	Pan European Equity Dividend	0.75%	0.16%	Euro
	Pan European Smaller Compani	es 0.75%	0.12%	Euro
	UK Equity Income	0.75%	0.09%	GBP
	UK Equities	0.75%	0.08%	GBP
Extended Alpha Portfolio				
	American Extended Alpha	0.75%	0.15%	US\$
	Global Extended Alpha	0.75%	0.15%	US\$
Absolute Alpha Portfolio				
	UK Absolute Alpha	0.75%	0.14%	GBP
	•			

Appendix V

List of delegates and sub-delegates of the Depositary. The list below is subject to change and a current list is available from the depositary upon request.

Country	Entity
Argentina	The branch of Citibank, N.A. in the Republic of Argentina
Australia	Citigroup Pty. Limited
Austria	Citibank Europe plc
Bahrain	Citibank N.A., Bahrain Branch
Bangladesh	Citibank N.A., Bangladesh Branch
Belgium	Citibank Europe plc
Bermuda	The Hong Kong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited acting through its agent, HSBC Bank Bermuda Limited
Bosnia-Herzegovina (Sarajevo)	UniCredit Bank d.d.
Bosnia-Herzegovina: Srpska (Banja Luka)	UniCredit Bank d.d.
Botswana	Standard Chartered Bank of Botswana Limited
Brazil	Citibank, N.A., Brazilian Branch
Bulgaria	Citibank Europe plc, Bulgaria Branch
Canada	Citibank Canada
Chile	Banco de Chile
China B Shanghai	Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch (For China B shares)
China A Shares	Citibank China Co Itd (For China A Shares)
China Hong Kong Stock Connect	Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch
Clearstream ICSD	Clearstream ICSD
Colombia	Cititrust Colombia S.A. Sociedad Fiduciaria
Costa Rica	Banco Nacional de Costa Rica
Croatia	Privedna banka Zagreb d.d.
Cyprus	Citibank Europe plc, Greece branch
Czech Republic	Citibank Europe plc, organizacni slozka
Denmark	Citibank Europe plc
Egypt	Citibank, N.A., Egypt
Estonia	Swedbank AS
Euroclear	Euroclear Bank
Finland	Nordea Bank AB (publ), Finnish Branch
France	Citibank Europe plc
Georgia	JSC Bank of Georgia
Germany	Citibank Europe plc
Ghana	Standard Chartered Bank of Ghana Limited
Greece	Citibank Europe plc, Greece Branch
Hong Kong	Citibank N.A., Hong Kong
Hungary	Citibank Europe plc Hungarian Branch Office
Iceland	Citibank is a direct member of Clearstream Banking, which is an ICSD.
India	Citibank N.A., Mumbai Branch
Indonesia	Citibank, N.A., Jakarta Branch
Ireland	Citibank N.A., London Branch
Israel	Citibank N.A., Israel Branch
Italy	Citibank N.A., Milan Branch
Jamaica	Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited
Japan	Citibank N.A., Tokyo Branch
Jordan	Standard Chartered Bank Jordan Branch
Kenya	Standard Chartered Bank Cenga Limited
Korea (South)	Citibank Korea Inc.
Kuwait	Citibank N.A., Kuwait Branch
Latvia	
Lebanon	Swedbank AS, based in Estonia and acting through its Latvian branch, Swedbank AS Blominvest Bank S.A.L.
Lithuania	Swedbank AS, based in Estonia and acting through its Lithuanian branch "Swedbank" AB

Country	Entity
Macedonia	Raiffeisen Bank International AG
Malaysia	Citibank Berhad
Malta	Citibank is a direct member of Clearstream Banking, which is an ICSD.
Mauritius	The Hong Kong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Mexico	Banco Nacional de Mexico, SA
Morocco	Citibank Maghreb
Namibia	Standard Bank of South Africa Limited acting through its agent, Standard Bank Namibia Limited
Netherlands	Citibank Europe plc
New Zealand	Citibank, N.A., New Zealand Branch
Nigeria	Citibank Nigeria Limited
Norway	Citibank Europe plc
Oman	The Hong Kong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited acting through its agent, HSBC Bank Oman S.A.O.G
Pakistan	Citibank, N.A., Pakistan Branch
Panama	Citibank N.A., Panama Branch
Peru	Citibank del Peru S.A
Philippines	Citibank, N.A., Philippine Branch
Poland	Bank Handlowy w Warszawie SA
Portugal	Citibank Europe plc
Qatar	The Hong Kong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited acting through its agent, HSBC Bank Middle East Limited
Romania	Citibank Europe plc, Dublin - Romania Branch
Russia	A0 Citibank
Saudi Arabia	The Hong Kong & Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited acting through its agent, HSBC Saudi Arabia Ltd
Serbia	UniCredit Bank Srbija a.d.
Singapore	Citibank, N.A., Singapore Branch
Slovak Republic	Citibank Europe plc pobocka zahranicnej banky
Slovenia	UniCredit Banka Slovenia d.d. Ljubljana
South Africa	Citibank NA South Africa branch
Spain	Citibank Europe plc, Sucursal en Espana
Sri Lanka	Citibank N.A., Colombo Branch
Sweden	Citibank Europe plc, Sweden Branch
Switzerland	Citibank N.A., London branch
Taiwan	Citibank Taiwan Limited
Tanzania	Standard Bank of South Africa acting through its affiiliate Stanbic Bank Tanzania Ltd
Thailand	Citibank, N.A., Bangkok Branch
Tunisia	Union Internationale de Banques
Turkey	Citibank, A.S.
Uganda	Standard Chartered Bank of Uganda Limited
United Arab Emirates ADX & DFM	Citibank N.A. UAE
United Arab Emirates NASDAQ Dubai	Citibank N.A., UAE
United Kingdom	Citibank N.A., London branch
United States	Citibank N.A., New York offices
Uruguay	Banco Itau Uruguay S.A.
Vietnam	Citibank N.A., Hanoi Branch
Zambia	Standard Chartered Bank Zambia Plc acting through its affiliate Stanbic Bank Zimbabwe Ltd

Glossary

"A Shares"	Share Classes with the letter A as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"American Smaller Companies"	companies with a market capitalisation typically ranging from \$500 million to \$10 billion at the time of purchase;
"Articles"	the articles of incorporation of the SICAV;
"Asset Management Fee"	the monthly fee payable by the SICAV to the Management Company under the terms of the Management Company Services Agreement at the annual rates set forth in Appendices C, D, E, F G, H, I, J, K, L, N, O, P, Q, R, T and U;
"Auditor"	PricewaterhouseCoopers, <i>société coopérative</i> or such other service provider as may be lawfully appointed to serve as auditor to the SICAV;
"AUD"	the legal currency of the Commonwealth of Australia;
"B Shares"	Share Classes with the letter B as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Base Currency"	the currency in which a Portfolio is denominated;
"Bond Connect"	initiative for mutual bond market access between Hong Kong and Mainland China established by China Foreign Exchange Trade System & National Interbank Funding Centre, China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd, Shanghai Clearing House, and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and Central Moneymarkets Unit;
"Business Day"	with respect to each Portfolio any day on which banks are open for normal banking business in Luxembourg and when the Directors believe that sufficient markets in which the Portfolio invested are also open and permit sufficient trading and liquidity to enable such Portfolio to be managed efficiently (a list of the Business Days is available on the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com);
"CHF"	the legal currency of the Swiss Confederation;
"CNH"	the offshore Chinese Renminbi, currency of the People's Republic of China;
"Class"	a class of Shares in the SICAV;
"China–Hong Kong Stock Connect Programme"	means the Shanghai-Hong Kong and Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect Programmes and other similar regulated securities trading and clearing linked Programmes which may be approved by the relevant authorities from time to time;
"Class 1 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 1 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Class 2 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 2 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Class 3 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 3 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Class 4 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 4 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Class 5 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 5 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;

"Class 6 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 6 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Class 7 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 7 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Class 8 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 8 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Class 9 Shares"	Share Classes with the number 9 as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Commitment Approach"	a method for calculating leverage which takes into account the exposure of the Portfolio to derivative instruments with the exclusion of derivative instruments which are used for reducing risk (i.e. derivative instruments used for hedging and netting purposes). It is thus a leverage-calculation method which shows the "net" global exposure of a Portfolio to derivative instruments, taking into account the actual exposure of the Portfolio to such instruments;
"Companies Law"	the Luxembourg law of 10 August 1915 on Commercial Companies, as amended;
"Continental Europe"	all European countries ex-United Kingdom and ex-Ireland;
"Contingent Convertible Bond" or "CoCo"	debt instrument, issued by banks or financial institutions, which has a contingent capital feature. A contingent capital feature allows the bond to become equity (capital) upon a pre-specified triggering event. Triggering events include when the regulatory capital ratio of a bank reaches an agreed level, or the issue or issuer is subject to regulatory action or decision by the responsible regulator in the issuer's home market. The bondholder's claim can either be cancelled or partially written down in value (writedown feature), or become an equity claim (conversion feature). These instruments tend to be perpetual in nature and tend to have discretionary coupons. However, the contingent capital feature can be found on bullet maturity instruments;
"CSSF"	the Luxembourg Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier,
"CSSF Circular 11/512"	the circular issued by the CSSF on 30 May 2011 to all Luxembourg management companies in relation to (i) the presentation of the main regulatory changes in risk management following the publication of CSSF Regulation 10-4 and ESMA clarifications; (ii) further clarifications from the CSSF on risk management rules; and (iii) the definition of the content and format of the risk management process to be communicated to the CSSF;
"CSSF Circular 08/356"	the circular issued by the CSSF on 4 June 2008 to all Luxembourg UCIs and those who act in relation to their operation and outlining rules applicable to UCIs when they employ certain techniques and instruments relating to transferable securities and Money Market Instruments;
"CSSF Regulation 10-4"	the regulation issued by the CSSF on 24 December 2010 transposing Commission Directive 2010/43/EU of 1 July 2010 implementing Directive 2009/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards organisational requirements, conflicts of interest, conduct of business, risk management and the content of the agreement between a depositary and a management company;
"D Shares"	Share Classes with the letter D as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Depositary"	Citibank Europe plc, Luxembourg Branch or such other service provider as may be lawfully appointed to serve as depositary to the SICAV;
"Depositary Agreement"	the agreement, as amended from time to time, between the SICAV and the Depositary as described in the section of the prospectus with the heading "Service Providers" under the sub-heading "Depositary";

"ОКК"	the legal currency of Denmark;
"Domiciliary and Administrative Agent"	Citibank Europe plc, Luxembourg Branch or such other service provider as may be lawfully appointed to serve as domiciliary and administrative agent to the SICAV;
"Directors"	the board of directors from time to time of the SICAV including any duly authorised committee thereof;
"Dow Jones Euro Stoxx 50"	a leading Blue-chip index whose stated objective is to provide a representation of supersector leaders in the Euro Area. The index covers 50 stocks from 12 Euro Area countries: Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Portugal and Spain;
"Eligible Investor"	an existing or new investor of the SICAV that is eligible at the SICAV's discretion to invest in X Shares or Class 4 Shares either (i) upon entering into an agreement with the Management Company or Threadneedle Portfolio Services Hong Kong Limited on behalf of the SICAV and fulfilling the eligibility conditions set by the SICAV from time to time or (ii) other UCIs or UCITS which have the same Management Company or have the same ultimate owner as the Management Company and therefore will not be subject to an asset management fee, or subscription fee;
"Eligible Market"	a regulated market in an Eligible State which operates regularly and is recognised and open to the public;
"Eligible State"	any member state of the OECD and all other countries of the American continents, Europe, Asia, Africa and Oceania;
"Eligible Transferable Securities"	(i) transferable securities admitted to official listing on a stock exchange in an Eligible State; and/or
	(ii) transferable securities dealt in on another Eligible Market; and/or
	(iii) recently issued transferable securities, provided that the terms of issue include an undertaking that application will be made for admission to official listing on a stock exchange in an Eligible State or on an Eligible Market and such admission is achieved within a year of the issue;
"Emerging Market Countries"	any country that is not represented in the MSCI World Index will be considered as an Emerging Market Country;
"EMIR"	Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 July 2012 on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories;
"EU"	current and any future member countries of the European Union;
" Euro " or "€"	the legal currency of the countries participating in the European Economic and Monetary Union;
"Euro Area"	the collective group of countries whose legal currency is the Euro;
"Europe"	all countries that are members of the European Economic Area, Switzerland and, irrespective of the Brexit outcome, the UK. The term "European" shall be construed accordingly;
"ESMA"	the European Securities and Markets Authority;
"ESMA Guidelines"	the ESMA Guidelines on ETFs and other UCITS issues (Ref. ESMA/2012/832EN) as transposed into Luxembourg legislation by CSSF circular 13/559 issued by the CSSF on 18 February 2013;
"European Smaller Companies"	European companies either headquartered in Europe or exercising a predominant part of their activities in Europe, that at the time of purchase are not represented in the top 300 companies in the FTSE World Europe Index. This definition does not apply to the European Smaller Companies Portfolio;
"G-7"	Canada, France, Germany, the United Kingdom, Italy, Japan and the United States:

Canada, France, Germany, the United Kingdom, Italy, Japan and the United States;

"GBP"	the legal currency of the United Kingdom;
"Global Smaller Companies"	Companies globally that are no larger by market capitalisation than the largest constituent of the MSCI World Smaller Companies Index;
"Group of Companies"	companies belonging to the same body of undertakings and which must draw up consolidated accounts in accordance with Council Directive 83/349/EEC of 13 June 1983 on consolidated accounts and according to recognised international accounting rules or would be required to do so if they were located in the EU;
"Hedged Shares"	Shares that aim to hedge the currency risk between a Portfolio's base currency and the currency of denomination of such Shares. The hedging will be implemented by using currency derivatives. Hedged Shares may be made available in all Portfolios and in various currencies at the discretion of the Directors; confirmation of the Portfolios and currencies in which Hedged Shares are available may be obtained from the Management Company;
"HKD"	the legal currency of Hong Kong;
"I Shares"	Share Classes with the letter I as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Institutional Investors"	Institutional Investors, as defined by guidelines or recommendations issued by the Regulatory Authority from time to time;
"Institutional Share Classes"	Classes which are only available for subscription and holding by Institutional Investors;
"Investment Fund Services Agreement"	the agreement, as amended from time to time, between the SICAV and the Domiciliary and Administrative Agent, as described in the section of this prospectus with the heading "Service Provider" under the sub-heading "Domiciliary and Administrative Agent";
"Investment Grade"	for Portfolios other than the Global Corporate Bond, Credit Opportunities, Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities and Enhanced Commodities Portfolios, securities with an average rating of at least BBB- (or equivalent). The average rating is based on a simple linear methodology using ratings from S&P, Moody's or Fitch. If only two ratings are available, the simple average of those ratings shall be used. If only one rating is available, the security must be rated as investment grade by that agency. In the event that the security is unrated, it is believed to be of equivalent quality in the opinion of the Management Company or of the relevant Sub-Advisor on the basis of its internal rating system. For the Global Corporate Bond, Credit Opportunities and Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities Portfolios, securities rated at least BBB- (or equivalent) by S&P, Moody's or Fitch, using the following rules: (i) if all three agencies rate the relevant security, the middle rating; (ii) if two agencies rate the securities, the lower rating will be used; (iii) if one agency rates the security, it must be rated as investment grade by that agency or (iv) are unrated and believed to be of equivalent quality in the opinion of the Management Company or of the relevant Sub-Advisor on the basis of its internal rating system. For the Enhanced Commodities Portfolio, securities rated at least BBB- / Baa3 by S&P or Moody's. Where the ratings differ, the lower of the ratings shall apply;
"J Shares"	Share Classes with the letter J as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Key Investor Information Document" or "KIID"	the Key Investor Information document contains the essential characteristics of the SICAV and shall be provided to investors before their proposed subscription of Shares. The KIID is a pre-contractual document and investors will have to confirm that they have read the latest KIID before making a subscription. The Management Company has the right to reject a subscription if the investor does not confirm that they have read the latest KIID at the time of application. Investors can obtain the latest KIID on the website www.columbiathreadneedle.com;

"L Shares"	Share Classes with the letter L as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Latin America"	all countries in the Americas except the United States and Canada;
"2010 Law"	the Luxembourg law of 17 December 2010 relating to UCI, as amended;
"LIBOR"	the London Interbank Offered Rate, the daily reference rate based on the interest rates at which banks borrow unsecured funds from other banks in the London wholesale money market (or interbank lending market);
"Management Company"	Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A., the designated management company of the SICAV;
"Management Company Services Agreement"	the agreement made between the SICAV and the Management Company dated as of 31 October 2005, as may be amended from time to time;
"Member State"	a member state of the European Union or of the European Economic Area ("EEA");
"MiFID II/ MiFIR"	Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and Regulation 600/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments;
"Money Market Instruments"	instruments normally dealt in on the money market which are liquid and have a value which can be accurately determined at any time;
"Moody's"	Moody's Investors Service;
"MSCI"	Morgan Stanley Capital International Index;
"MSCI" "MUICP"	Morgan Stanley Capital International Index; an aggregate index covering the Euro Area. The index is calculated by Eurostat using the harmonised indices of consumer prices ("HICP") determined by each of the countries belonging to the Euro Area in accordance with the methodology for compiling consumer prices indices set out in particular in Regulation 2494/95/EC and Regulation 1114/2010/EU;
	an aggregate index covering the Euro Area. The index is calculated by Eurostat using the harmonised indices of consumer prices ("HICP") determined by each of the countries belonging to the Euro Area in accordance with the methodology for compiling consumer prices indices set out in particular in
"MUICP"	an aggregate index covering the Euro Area. The index is calculated by Eurostat using the harmonised indices of consumer prices ("HICP") determined by each of the countries belonging to the Euro Area in accordance with the methodology for compiling consumer prices indices set out in particular in Regulation 2494/95/EC and Regulation 1114/2010/EU;
"MUICP" "Multiple Payment Currencies"	an aggregate index covering the Euro Area. The index is calculated by Eurostat using the harmonised indices of consumer prices ("HICP") determined by each of the countries belonging to the Euro Area in accordance with the methodology for compiling consumer prices indices set out in particular in Regulation 2494/95/EC and Regulation 1114/2010/EU; U.S. Dollar and Euro; Share Classes with the letter N as the first character of their denomination, with features as described
"MUICP" "Multiple Payment Currencies" "N Shares"	an aggregate index covering the Euro Area. The index is calculated by Eurostat using the harmonised indices of consumer prices ("HICP") determined by each of the countries belonging to the Euro Area in accordance with the methodology for compiling consumer prices indices set out in particular in Regulation 2494/95/EC and Regulation 1114/2010/EU; U.S. Dollar and Euro; Share Classes with the letter N as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus; the net asset value of each Class within each Portfolio, as described in Section "Net Asset Value
"MUICP" "Multiple Payment Currencies" "N Shares" "Net Asset Value"	an aggregate index covering the Euro Area. The index is calculated by Eurostat using the harmonised indices of consumer prices ("HICP") determined by each of the countries belonging to the Euro Area in accordance with the methodology for compiling consumer prices indices set out in particular in Regulation 2494/95/EC and Regulation 1114/2010/EU; U.S. Dollar and Euro; Share Classes with the letter N as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus; the net asset value of each Class within each Portfolio, as described in Section "Net Asset Value Determination";
"MUICP" "Multiple Payment Currencies" "N Shares" "Net Asset Value" "NOK"	an aggregate index covering the Euro Area. The index is calculated by Eurostat using the harmonised indices of consumer prices ("HICP") determined by each of the countries belonging to the Euro Area in accordance with the methodology for compiling consumer prices indices set out in particular in Regulation 2494/95/EC and Regulation 1114/2010/EU; U.S. Dollar and Euro; Share Classes with the letter N as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus; the net asset value of each Class within each Portfolio, as described in Section "Net Asset Value Determination"; the legal currency of Norway;

"Other Regulated Market"	Without prejudice to the Investment Policy of the STANLIB Africa Equity Portfolio, means a market which is regulated, operates regularly and is recognised and open to the public, namely a market (i) that meets the following cumulative criteria: liquidity; multilateral order matching (general matching of bid and ask prices in order to establish a single price); transparency (the circulation of complete information in order to give clients the possibility of tracking trades, thereby ensuring that their orders are executed on current conditions); (ii) on which the securities are dealt in at a certain fixed frequency; (iii) which is recognised by a State or by a public authority which has been delegated by that State or by another entity which is recognised by that State or by that public authority such as a professional association; and (iv) on which the securities dealt are accessible to the public;
"Other State"	any State of Europe which is not a Member State, any State of America, Africa, Asia and Oceania;
"PRC"	the People's Republic of China;
"Portfolios"	segregated portfolios of assets of the SICAV, each represented by one or more Classes and managed in accordance with a specified investment objective and policy;
"principally"	each time that the word "principally" is used in the description of the investment objective of a Portfolio, this means at least two thirds of the assets of the relevant Portfolio are directly invested in the currency, the country, the type of security or the other material element in relation to which the term "principally" is used in description of the relevant Portfolio's investment objective. For so long as the sale of Shares in a Portfolio is authorised in Hong Kong, and to the extent that Hong Kong regulations continue to so require, "principally" in such a Portfolios investment objective shall be interpreted to mean that not less than two thirds of the Portfolio's non-cash assets are invested according to the geographic, sector or other focus indicated by the name of the Portfolio;
"REIT"	Real Estate Investment Trust;
"Redemption Price"	the redemption price per Share of each Class in respect of each Portfolio, calculated in accordance with the methodology set out under the "Redemption of Shares" section;
"Registrar and Transfer Agency Agreement"	the agreement made between the SICAV and the Registrar and Transfer Agent dated 31 October 2011;
"Registrar and Transfer Agent"	International Financial Data Services (Luxembourg) S.A. or such other service provider as may be lawfully appointed to serve as registrar and transfer agent to the SICAV;
"Regulated Market"	a regulated market as defined in the Parliament and Council Directive 2004/39/EC of 21 April 2004 on markets in financial instruments as amended ("Directive 2004/39/EC") namely a multilateral system operated and/or managed by a market operator, which brings together or facilitates the bringing together of multiple third party buying and selling interests in financial instruments – in the system and in accordance with its non-discretionary rules – in a way that results in a contract, in respect of the financial instruments admitted to trading under its rules and/or systems, and which is authorised and functions regularly and in accordance with the provisions of Title III of Directive 2004/39/EC. An updated list of Regulated Markets is available at: https://registers.esma.europa.eu/publication/ searchRegister?core=esma_registers_upreg#;
"Regulatory Authority"	the Luxembourg authority or its successor in charge of the supervision of UCI in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg;
"RESA"	Recueil Electronique des Sociétés et Associations of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg
"S Shares"	Share Classes with the letter S as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;

"secondarily"	each time that the word "secondarily" is used in the description of the investment objective of a Portfolio, this means that no more than one third of the assets of the relevant Portfolio are invested in the currency, the country, the type of security or the other material element in relation to which the term "secondarily" is used in the description of the relevant Portfolio's investment objective;
"Securities Act"	the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended;
"SEK"	the legal currency of Sweden;
"Shareholders"	holders of Shares in the SICAV, as recorded in the books of the SICAV on file with the Registrar and Transfer Agent;
"Shares"	shares of the SICAV of no par value each designated into different Classes with reference to the Portfolios of the SICAV;
"SICAV"	Threadneedle (Lux), a <i>société d'investissement à capital variable</i> (an open-ended investment fund of the corporate type);
"Social Rating Methodology"	a proprietary categorisation and rating model developed by the Sub-Advisor which analyses the social characteristics of a potential investment as described in the investment policy of the European Social Bond Portfolio;
"Sub-Advisor"	a service provider appointed under the terms of an agreement with the Management Company to provide investment management or advisory services with respect to one or more portfolios, as set out in the section "Investment Advisory Arrangements";
"Subscription Price"	the subscription price per Share of each Class in respect of each Portfolio, calculated in accordance with the methodology set out under the "Purchase of Shares" section;
"S&P"	Standard and Poor's Corporation;
"S&P 500 Index"	the index compiled by S&P consisting of 500 stocks chosen for market size, liquidity and industry group representation and being a market-value weighted index, with each stock's weight in the index being proportionate to its market value;
"SGD"	the legal currency of Singapore;
"Sum of Notionals"	a method for calculating leverage which takes into account the absolute value of notionals of derivative instruments without taking into account the fact that some derivatives are actually reducing risk. If the Portfolio owns a long derivative and a short derivative with the same risk exposure, the sum of the notionals approach will add up both notionals (whilst the commitment approach will show zero exposure as there is no incremental risk), resulting in a higher level of leverage than if the calculation had been made on the basis of the commitment approach. The sum of the notionals approach is thus a leverage-calculation method which shows the "gross" notional amounts of a Portfolio to derivative instruments, taking into account the notionals to all derivatives, independently from the reasons of the exposure of the Portfolio thereto;
"T Shares"	Share Classes with the letter T as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;

"Transferable Securities"	- shares and other securities equivalent to shares;
	- bonds and other debt instruments;
	- any other negotiable securities which carry the right to acquire any such transferable securities by subscription or exchange with the exclusion of techniques and instruments;
	- loan participations;
"UCI"	an undertaking for collective investment as defined by Luxembourg law;
"UCITS"	an undertaking for collective investment in Transferable Securities under Article 1 (2) of the UCITS Directive;
"UCITS Directive"	Directive 2009/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities as may be amended;
"UK" or "United Kingdom"	the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, its territories and possessions;
"US" or "United States"	the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any State of the United States and the District of Columbia;
"United States Person"	a person as defined in Regulation S of the Securities Act who is not a "non-United States Person" within the meaning of Rule 4.7 issued by the U.S. Commodity Futures Exchange under the U.S. Commodity Exchange Act and thus shall include but not be limited to, (i) any natural person resident in the United States; (ii) any partnership or corporation organised or incorporated under the laws of the United States; (iii) any extete of which any executor or administrator is a U.S. person; (iv) any trust of which any trustee is a U.S. person; (v) any agency or branch of a foreign entity located in the United States; (iii) any non-discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer, or other fiduciary for the benefit or account of a U.S. person; (vii) any discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other fiduciary organised, incorporated, or (if an individual) resident in the United States; and (viii) any partnership or corporation if: (A) organised or incorporated under the laws of any foreign jurisdiction; and (B) formed by a U.S. person principally for the purpose of investing in securities not registered under the Securities Act, unless it is organised or incorporated, and owned, by accredited investors (as defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act) who are not natural persons, estates or trust; and (i) an entity organised outside the United States principally for passive investment, such as a commodity pool, investment company or other similar entity (other than a pension plan for the employees, officers or principals of an entity organised and with its principal business in the United States): (a) in which U.S. persons hold units of participation representing in the aggregate 10% or more of the beneficial interest in the entity; or (b) which has as a principal purpose the facilitating of investment by a U.S. persons in a commodity pool with respect to which the operator is exempt from certain requirements of Part 4 of the r

"U.S. Dollar" or "US\$"

the legal currency of the United States;

"Valuation Date"

any Business Day;

"VaR"	Value at risk;
"W Shares"	Share Classes with the letter W or P as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"X Shares"	Share Classes with the letter X as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Y Shares"	Share Classes with the letter Y as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus;
"Z Shares"	Share Classes with the letter Z as the first character of their denomination, with features as described in the loose leaf to this Prospectus.

THREADNEEDLE (LUX)

Société d'investissement à capital variable 31 Z.A. Bourmicht L-8070 Bertrange R.C.S. Luxembourg B 50 216

A Luxembourg Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities

Loose Leaf to the Prospectus dated December 2019 (the "Prospectus")

This loose leaf forms an integral part of the Prospectus for THREADNEEDLE (LUX) (the "SICAV") and may not be distributed separately.

SHARE CLASSES OFFERED BY THE PORTFOLIOS

In order to meet the requirements of various types of shareholders, the SICAV may offer different Share Classes within each Portfolio. Unless otherwise specified elsewhere in this Prospectus, all the Portfolios may offer A Shares, B Shares, D Shares, I Shares, L Shares, N Shares, S Shares, T Shares, W Shares, X Shares, Z Shares, Class 1 Shares, Class 2 Shares, Class 3 Shares, Class 4 Shares, Class 5 Shares, Class 6 Shares, Class 7 Shares, Class 8 Shares, and Class 9 Shares representing various features and charging structures as described below. Some Share Classes are available only to certain sub-distributors and Eligible Investors, or only to existing Shareholders.

Shares are further divided and named according to their currency of denomination, hedging policy (if applicable), and distribution policy, as described below.

As at the date of this prospectus, CNH denominated Share Classes are not available to retail investors in Hong Kong.

A list of the Share Classes available as at the date of this Prospectus is included within this loose leaf, under "Available Share Classes".

Share Classes' Features

A. Initial Offering Price per Share

See table below, the initial offering price for the Share Classes is shown below in each currency in which they may be made available, to the exclusion of any potential initial sales charge³⁵.

Shares:	EUR	USD	GBP	CHF	DKK	NOK	SEK	SGD	AUD	CNH	HKD
A Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
B Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
D Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
I Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
J Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
L Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
N Shares ³⁶	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
S Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
T Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
W Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
X Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
Y Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100
Z Shares	10	10	10	10	10	10	100	10	10	100	100

The initial offering price for the Share Classes 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 will be determined by the Board of Directors for each of the Portfolios at its sole discretion.

B. Minimum Initial Investment

The minimum initial investment amount for the Share Class within a Portfolio is shown in the table below. The minimum initial investment amount may be waived at the discretion of the board of directors of the Management Company, provided the principle of fair and equal treatment between Shareholders be respected. For Shares purchased through a sub-distributor, different minimum initial investment amounts may apply, as determined by the sub-distributors through which the Shares are subscribed.

Class	EUR	USD	GBP	CHF	DKK	NOK	SEK	SGD	AUD	CNH	HKD
A Shares	2,500	2,500	2,000	3,500	20,000	20,000	20,000	2,500	2,500	20,000	20,000
B Shares	2,500	2,500	2,000	3,500	20,000	20,000	20,000	2,500	2,500	20,000	20,000
D Shares	2,500	2,500	2,000	3,500	20,000	20,000	20,000	2,500	2,500	20,000	20,000
I Shares ³⁷	100,000	100,00038	100,000	150,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	100,000	100,000	1,000,000	1,000,000
J Shares ³⁹	100,000	100,000	100,000	150,000	10,000,000	10,000,000	10,000,000	100,000	100,000	1,000,000	1,000,000
L Shares ⁴⁰	100,000	100,000	100,000	150,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	1,000,000	100,000	100,000	1,000,000	1,000,000
N Shares	50,000,000	50,000,000	50,000,000	75,000,000	500,000,000	500,000,000	500,000,000	50,000,000	50,000,000	500,000,000	500,000,000
S Shares	2,500	2,500	2,000	3,500	20,000	20,000	20,000	2,500	2,500	20,000	20,000
T Shares	5,000,000	5,000,000	3,000,000	7,500,000	30,000,000	30,000,000	30,000,000	5,000,000	5,000,000	30,000,000	30,000,000
W Shares	10,000	10,000	10,000	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
X Shares	5,000,000	5,000,000	3,000,000	7,500,000	30,000,000	30,000,000	30,000,000	5,000,000	5,000,000	30,000,000	30,000,000
Y Shares	1,500,000	2,000,000	1,000,000	1,500,000	10,000,000	10,000,000	10,000,000	2,000,000	2,000,000	10,000,000	10,000,000
Z Shares	1,500,000	2,000,000	1,000,000	1,500,000	10,000,000	10,000,000	10,000,000	2,000,000	2,000,000	10,000,000	10,000,000

No minimum initial investment is applicable to Share Classes 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9.

³⁵ For the European Short-Term High Yield Bond Portfolio, the initial offering prices will be EUR 100; USD 100; GBP 100; CHF 100; DKK 100; NOK 100; SEK 100; SGD 100; AUD 100; CNH 1,000; HKD 10,000. ³⁶ For the European Social Bond Portfolio, the initial offering price of the N Shares will be EUR 1,000; USD 1,000; GBP 1,000; CHF 1,000; DKK 1,000; NOK 1,000; SEK 10,000; SGD 1,000; AUD 1,000; CNH 10,000; CNH 10,000;

HKD 10,000. ³⁷ Except for the Portfolios US Disciplined Core Equities and the Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities, in which the minimum initial investment for I Shares shall be EUR 10,000,000 or its equivalent in

the relevant currency. ³⁸ Except for the Portfolios STANLIB Africa Equity, in which the minimum initial investment for USD denominated I Shares shall be USD 50,000.

³⁹ Except for the Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities Portfolio, in which the minimum initial investment for J Shares shall be EUR 10,000,000 or its equivalent in the relevant currency. ⁴⁰ Except for the Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities Portfolio, in which the minimum initial investment for L Shares shall be EUR 5,000,000 or its equivalent in the relevant currency.

C. Meaning of Characters in a Share Class Name

1. Share Classes

-	Character – Name of Share Class
Letter	Meaning
"A"	 intended for both retail and Institutional Investors
	– different fee structure from the D Shares, T Shares, Y Shares and Z Shares
	 minimum subscription amount identical to that of the corresponding D Shares but lower than that of the corresponding T Shares, Y Shares, and Z Shares
"B"	- Only available for subsequent investments of existing Shareholders of the Portfolio "Global Technology"
"D"	– intended for both retail and Institutional Investors
	– different fee structure from the A Shares, T Shares, Y Shares and Z Shares
	 minimum subscription amount identical to that of the corresponding A Shares but lower than that of the corresponding T Shares, Y Shares and Z Shares
"I"	– Institutional Share Class
	– lower minimum initial subscription amount than X Shares and N Shares
"J"	– Institutional Share Class only available on the Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities Portfolio
	 Different fee structure from the I Shares on the Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities Portfolio with a lower Asset Management Fee than that of the corresponding I Shares and a Performance fee
"L"	– Institutional Share Class
	– Shares will only be available, at the discretion of the Management Company, for a fixed period of time or until the total Net Asset Value of the Portfolio reaches or is greater than USD 100,000,000, or an equivalent amount in another currency, or any other amount determined by the Management Company
	– Once the available time period expires or the total Net Asset Value of a Portfolio reaches or is greater than USD 100,000,000 or equivalent amount in another currency, or any other amount determined by the Management Company, the L Shares in that Portfolio will be closed to subscriptions
	– The Management Company reserves the right to limit the total amount of L shares allocated to a single investor
"N″	– Institutional Share Class
	 exclusively available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to Shareholders subscribing through certain select sub- distributors
	– minimum subscription higher than that of the corresponding I Shares and X Shares
"P"	 intended for distribution to existing Shareholders only dividend paying
"S"	– exclusively available to Shareholders subscribing through certain select sub-distributors
"T"	– intended for both retail and Institutional Investors
	– different fee structure from the A Shares, D Shares, Y Shares and Z Shares
	– minimum subscription amount higher than that of the corresponding A Shares, D Shares, Y Shares and Z Shares
	– available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to eligible distributors that have entered into separate fee arrangements with their clients
"W"	- intended for distribution to existing Shareholders only
"Х"	– Institutional Share Class
	– higher minimum initial subscription amount than I Shares

Letter	Meaning
"Y"	 intended for both retail and Institutional Investors and only available on the Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities Portfolio different fee structure from the A Shares, D Shares and Z Shares with a lower Asset Management Fee and a Performance fee available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to eligible distributors that have entered into separate fee arrangements with their clients. If operating within the European Union (ex UK) the distributors will ordinarily be distributors providing (i) discretionary portfolio management; (ii) investment advice on an independent basis or (iii) investment advice on a non-independent basis where those distributors have agreed with their clients to receive fee-based remuneration and will not receive commission and or trailer fees, each as defined in MiFID II.
"Z"	– intended for both retail and Institutional Investors – different fee structure from the A Shares, D Shares and T Shares
	 minimum subscription amount higher than that of the corresponding A Shares and D Shares available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to eligible distributors that have entered into separate fee arrangements with their clients. If operating within the European Union (ex UK) the distributors will ordinarily be distributors providing (i) discretionary portfolio management; (ii) investment advice on an independent basis or (iii) investment advice on a non-independent basis where those distributors have agreed with their clients to receive fee-based remuneration and will not receive commission and or trail fees, each as defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive. For distributors operating under (i), (ii) or (iii) above no minimum subscription/investment level applies
	– Existing Shareholders in Z Shares, who held such Shares as at 1 January 2018 but no longer comply with the requirements set out above, can continue to hold such Shares and will be able to continue to apply for additional subscriptions in Z Shares
"1"	– Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who switched into this Share Class from another Share Class 1 to 9 of the same Portfolio or (iii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company
"2"	 Institutional Share Class Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who switched into this Share Class from another Share Class 1 to 9 of the same Portfolio or (iii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company
	– Available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to eligible distributors that have entered into separate fee arrangements with their clients. If operating within the European Union (ex UK) the distributors will ordinarily be distributors providing (i) discretionary portfolio management; (ii) investment advice on an independent basis or (iii) investment advice on a non-independent basis where those distributors have agreed with their clients to receive fee-based remuneration and will not receive commission and or trail fees, each as defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive.
"3"	– Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who switched into this Share Class from another Share Class 1 to 9 of the same Portfolio or (iii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company
	– Available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to eligible distributors that have entered into separate fee arrangements with their clients. If operating within the European Union (ex UK) the distributors will ordinarily be distributors providing (i) discretionary portfolio management; (ii) investment advice on an independent basis or (iii) investment advice on a non-independent basis where those distributors have agreed with their clients to receive fee-based remuneration and will not receive commission and or trail fees, each as defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive.
"4"	 Institutional Share Class Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who switched into this Share Class from another Share Class 1 to 9 of the same Portfolio or (iii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company
"5"	 Allows for the application of a Performance fee Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who switched into this Share Class from another Share Class 1 to 9 of the same Portfolio or (iii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company
"6"	 Institutional Share Class Allows for the application of a Performance fee Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who switched into this Share Class from another Share Class 1 to 9 of the same Portfolio or (iii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company

Letter	Meaning
"7"	– Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who switched into this Share Class from another Share Class 1 to 9 of the same Portfolio or (iii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company
	 Allows for the application of a Performance fee
	– Available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to eligible distributors that have entered into separate fee arrangements with their clients. If operating within the European Union (ex UK) the distributors will ordinarily be distributors providing (i) discretionary portfolio management; (ii) investment advice on an independent basis or (iii) investment advice on a non-independent basis where those distributors have agreed with their clients to receive fee-based remuneration and will no receive commission and or trail fees, each as defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive.
"8"	– Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company
	– Available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to eligible distributors that have entered into separate fee arrangements with their clients. If operating within the European Union (ex UK) the distributors will ordinarily be distributors providing (i) discretionary portfolio management; (ii) investment advice on an independent basis or (iii) investment advice on a non-independent basis where those distributors have agreed with their clients to receive fee-based remuneration and will no receive commission and or trail fees, each as defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive.
"9"	– Institutional Share Class
	– Only available for distribution to existing Shareholders who (i) received this Share Class following a vote to merge or transfer their investment into one of the Portfolios of the SICAV or (ii) who switched into this Share Class from another Share Class 1 to 9 of the same Portfolio or (iii) who subscribed to this Share Class prior to the effective date of the merger or transfer referenced under (i), at the discretion of the Management Company, and to existing clients at the discretion of the Management Company
	– Available, at the discretion of the Management Company, to eligible distributors that have entered into separate fee arrangements with their clients. If operating within the European Union (ex UK) the distributors will ordinarily be distributors providing (i) discretionary portfolio management; (ii) investment advice on an independent basis or (iii) investment advice on a non-independent basis where those distributors have agreed with their clients to receive fee-based remuneration and will no receive commission and or trail fees, each as defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive.

b) Second Character (if relevant) – Currency of Share Class

Letter	Meaning
"D"	- denominated in DKK
"E"	– denominated in EUR
"F"	– denominated in CHF
"G"	– denominated in GBP
"K"	- denominated in SEK
"N"	- denominated in NOK
"Q"	- denominated in HKD
"R"	- denominated in CNH
"S"	- denominated in SGD
"U"	– denominated in USD
"V"	– denominated in AUD

c) Third Character (if relevant) – Other Feature of the Share Class

Letter	Meaning
"C"	– dividend paying Share Class
	 hedging between the currency of the Share Class and the Base Currency of the Portfolio Share Class hedging is done with the objective of minimising currency risk exposure, however it may increase or decrease the return to investors holding Shares of hedged Share Classes
"H"	– hedging between the currency of the Share Class and the Base Currency of the Portfolio Share Class hedging is done with the objective of minimising currency risk exposure, however it may increase or decrease the return to investors holding Shares of hedged Share Classes

"P"	– dividend paying Share Class
"M"	– monthly dividend paying share class
"T"	– monthly dividend paying share class
	- hedging between the currency of the Share Class and the Base Currency of the Portfolio
	 Share Class hedging is done with the objective of minimising currency risk exposure, however it may increase or decrease the return to investors holding Shares of hedged Share Classes.

D. Fees

A summary of the fees associated with an investment in each Share Class for each Portfolio, including any applicable Asset Management Fee or front-end sales charges, is found in the section entitled "Fees and Expenses" and in Appendices C to U of this Prospectus.

December 2019

Available Share Classes

The following Portfolios and Share Classes are available for subscription (subject to any restrictions as described above) as at 31 July 2019. Such list may be updated from time to time, and the latest list may be obtained, free of charge, from the registered office of the SICAV.

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
The Bond Portfolios			
LU1589836722	European Social Bond	IE	EUR
LU1589837290	European Social Bond	IEP	EUR
LU1589836995	European Social Bond	IFH	CHF
LU2021469296	European Social Bond	IKH	SEK
LU2049730323	European Social Bond	INH	NOK
LU1589837613	European Social Bond	LE	EUR
LU1916274407	European Social Bond	NEP	EUR
LU1589837373	European Social Bond	ZE	EUR
LU1979273130	European Social Bond	ZEP	EUR
LU1589837456	European Social Bond	ZFH	CHF
	•		
LU0096353940	European Strategic Bond	AE	EUR
LU0713493574	European Strategic Bond	AEP	EUR
LU2021469379	European Strategic Bond	АКН	SEK
LU2049730596	European Strategic Bond	ANH	NOK
LU1815332181	European Strategic Bond	AUH	USD
LU0096354914	European Strategic Bond	DE	EUR
LU0849392427	European Strategic Bond	DEP	EUR
LU1815332264	European Strategic Bond	DUH	USD
LU0096355309	European Strategic Bond	IE	EUR
LU2049730679	European Strategic Bond	INH	NOK
LU0042998178	European Strategic Bond	W	EUR
200042330170		00	EON
LU1829337085	European Corporate Bond	1E	EUR
LU1829337168	European Corporate Bond	16	GBP
LU1849560989	European Corporate Bond	2E	EUR
LU1849561011	European Corporate Bond	26	GBP
LU1829336947	European Corporate Bond	3G	GBP
LU1916274159	European Corporate Bond	4G	GBP
LU1829336780	European Corporate Bond	8E	EUR
LU1829336863	European Corporate Bond	8G	GBP
LU1849561102	European Corporate Bond	96	GBP
LU1849561524	European Corporate Bond	AE	EUR
LU2049730083	European Corporate Bond	ANH	NOK
	· · · ·	IE	EUR
LU1849561870	European Corporate Bond	INH	NOK
LU2049730240	European Corporate Bond European Corporate Bond	ZE	EUR
LU1849561797		ZE	EUN
LU1829334579	European High Yield Bond	1E	EUR
		1EP	EUR
LU1829332524	European High Yield Bond		
LU1829334652	European High Yield Bond	1G	GBP
LU1829332797	European High Yield Bond	1GP	GBP
LU1829332870	European High Yield Bond	1UT	USD
LU1849561953	European High Yield Bond	2E	EUR
LU1849562092	European High Yield Bond	2EP	EUR
LU1849562175	European High Yield Bond	2FH	CHF
LU1849562258	European High Yield Bond	2G	GBP
LU1849562332	European High Yield Bond	2GP	GBP
LU1829333415	European High Yield Bond	3E	EUR
LU1829333506	European High Yield Bond	3EP	EUR
LU1829333688	European High Yield Bond	3FC	CHF

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1829333761	European High Yield Bond	3FH	CHF
LU1829334736	European High Yield Bond	3G	GBP
LU1829333845	European High Yield Bond	3GP	GBP
LU1829334140	European High Yield Bond	4E	EUR
LU1829334496	European High Yield Bond	4GP	GBP
LU1829332953	European High Yield Bond	8E	EUR
LU1829333092	European High Yield Bond	8EP	EUR
LU1829333175	European High Yield Bond	8FH	CHF
LU1829333258	European High Yield Bond	8G	GBP
LU1829333332	European High Yield Bond	8GP	GBP
LU1849562415	European High Yield Bond	9E	EUR
LU1849562506	European High Yield Bond	9EP	EUR
LU1849562688	European High Yield Bond	9FC	CHF
LU1849562761	European High Yield Bond	9FH	CHF
LU1849563140	European High Yield Bond	9G	GBP
LU1849562845	European High Yield Bond	9GP	GBP
LU0957786741	European High Yield Bond	АКН	SEK
LU2049729234	European High Yield Bond	ANH	NOK
LU1849563736	European High Yield Bond	IE	EUR
LU1849563819	European High Yield Bond	IEP	EUR
LU0957787558	European High Yield Bond	IKH	SEK
LU2049729317	European High Yield Bond	INH	NOK
LU2018787726	European High Yield Bond	XE	EUR
LU1849563579	European High Yield Bond	ZE	EUR
LU1849563652	European High Yield Bond	ZEP	EUR
LU0713368677	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	AEC	EUR
LU0143865482	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	AEH	EUR
LU0957775892	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	AKH	SEK
LU1978681044	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	ANH	NOK
LU0640468962	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	ASH	SGD
LU0640468533	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	AU	USD
LU0198719758	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	AUP	USD
LU0849392690	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	DEC	EUR
LU0143866290	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	DEH	EUR
LU0198721143	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	DU	USD
LU0248373861	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	IEH	EUR
LU0329571961	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	IU	USD
LU0143867850	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	W	USD
LU0713369212	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	WEH	EUR
LU1502279927	Emerging Market Corporate Bonds	XUP	USD
LU0348323824	Emerging Market Debt	AEC	EUR
LU0198725649	Emerging Market Debt	AEH	EUR
LU0957777674	Emerging Market Debt	AKH	SEK
LU1978681127	Emerging Market Debt	ANH	NOK
LU0640469770	Emerging Market Debt	ASH	SGD
LU0061474614	Emerging Market Debt	AU	USD
LU0198726027	Emerging Market Debt	AUP	USD
LU0198719832	Emerging Market Debt	DEH	EUR
LU0096356455	Emerging Market Debt	DU	USD
LU0329574122	Emerging Market Debt	IEH	EUR
LU0202640719	Emerging Market Debt	SU	USD

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU0202641105	Emerging Market Debt	SUP	USD
LU0096356703	Emerging Market Debt	W	USD
LU1502280008	Emerging Market Debt	XUP	USD
LU0957778219	Emerging Market Debt	ZU	USD
			510
LU1979271860	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	AE	EUR
LU1979271944	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	AEP	EUR
LU1979272082	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	AKH	SEK
LU1979272249	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	ANH	NOK
LU1979272322	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	IE	EUR
LU1979272595	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	IEP	EUR
LU1979272678	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	IGH	GBP
LU1979272751	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	IGC	GBP
LU2049729150	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	IKH	SEK
LU2049729663	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	INH	NOK
LU1979272835	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	ZE	EUR
LU1979272918	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	XE	EUR
LU2005601674	European Short-Term High Yield Bond	XGH	GBP
LU0348324392	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	AEC	EUR
LU0198725300	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	AEH	EUR
LU0957779969	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	AKH	SEK
LU1978681473	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	ANH	NOK
LU0880371892	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	ASC	SGD
LU0640470513	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	ASU	SGD
LU0198726373	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	AU	USD
LU0281377290	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	AUP	USD
LU0198724758	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	DEH	EUR
LU0198724915	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	DU	USD
LU0329574395	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	IEH	EUR
LU0957781866	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	ZEH	EUR
LU0584932791	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	XU	USD
LU1854166151	Global Emerging Market Short-Term Bonds	XUP	USD
201034100131		701	000
LU0713424926	US High Yield Bond	AEC	EUR
LU0180519406	US High Yield Bond	AEH	EUR
LU0957783482	US High Yield Bond	АКН	SEK
LU2049729408	US High Yield Bond	ANH	NOK
LU0640471321	US High Yield Bond	ASH	SGD
LU0180519315	US High Yield Bond	AU	USD
LU0259967718	US High Yield Bond	AUP	USD
LU0849392773	US High Yield Bond	DEC	EUR
LU0180519828	US High Yield Bond	DEH	EUR
LU0180519661	US High Yield Bond	DU	USD
LU1642712779	US High Yield Bond	IEC	EUR
LU0329574551	US High Yield Bond	IEH	EUR
LU0957784373	US High Yield Bond	IKH	SEK
LU2049729580	US High Yield Bond	INH	NOK
LU1859430891	US High Yield Bond	IU	USD
LU1491344336	US High Yield Bond	TEH	EUR
LU1502279760	US High Yield Bond	XUP	USD
LU0957785420	US High Yield Bond	ZFH	CHF
LU1433070775	US High Yield Bond	ZGH	GBP
LU0957784613	US High Yield Bond	ZU	USD

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU0932065849	Flexible Asian Bond	AEH	EUR
LU2021469452	Flexible Asian Bond	АКН	SEK
LU0932066144	Flexible Asian Bond	ASH	SGD
LU1642825381	Flexible Asian Bond	AS	SGD
LU0932066573	Flexible Asian Bond	ASC	SGD
LU0932065682	Flexible Asian Bond	AU	USD
LU0932066227	Flexible Asian Bond	AUP	USD
LU1642825894	Flexible Asian Bond	AVC	AUD
LU1642825548	Flexible Asian Bond	AVH	AUD
LU0932066813	Flexible Asian Bond	DEH	EUR
LU0932067977	Flexible Asian Bond	IEH	EUR
LU0932068272	Flexible Asian Bond	IGH	GBP
LU0932068355	Flexible Asian Bond	ISH	SGD
LU0932067621	Flexible Asian Bond	IU	USD
LU1518580821	Flexible Asian Bond	XU	USD
LU1035768495	Flexible Asian Bond	ZU	USD
LU1854166581	Flexible Asian Bond	ZUP	USD
LU1062006454	Global Corporate Bond	AEC	EUR
LU1062005308	Global Corporate Bond	AEH	EUR
LU1062006611	Global Corporate Bond	АКН	SEK
LU2049729747	Global Corporate Bond	ANH	NOK
LU1062005217	Global Corporate Bond	AU	USD
LU1062006371	Global Corporate Bond	AUP	USD
LU1062007007	Global Corporate Bond	DEC	EUR
LU1062006967	Global Corporate Bond	DEH	EUR
LU1062006884	Global Corporate Bond	DU	USD
LU1504938546	Global Corporate Bond	DUP	USD
LU1815332348	Global Corporate Bond	IEC	EUR
LU1062007346	Global Corporate Bond	IEH	EUR
LU1815332421	Global Corporate Bond	IEP	EUR
LU1815332694	Global Corporate Bond	IGC	GBP
LU1062007775	Global Corporate Bond	IGH	GBP
LU1062007932	Global Corporate Bond	IKH	SEK
LU2049729820	Global Corporate Bond	INH	NOK
LU1062007262	Global Corporate Bond	IU	USD
LU1815332777	Global Corporate Bond	IUP	USD
LU1815332850	Global Corporate Bond	NEC	EUR
LU1713666409	Global Corporate Bond	NEH	EUR
LU1713667043	Global Corporate Bond	NGC	GBP
LU1713666664	Global Corporate Bond	NGH	GBP
LU1713667472	Global Corporate Bond	NU	USD
LU1815332934	Global Corporate Bond	NUP	USD
LU1951497558	Global Corporate Bond	XGH	GBP
LU1504938975	Global Corporate Bond	ZEH	EUR
LU1062008823	Global Corporate Bond	ZGH	USD
LU1062008740	Global Corporate Bond	ZU	USD

The Asset Allocation Portfolios

LU1734044255	Euro Dynamic Real Return	AE	EUR
LU1734044339	Euro Dynamic Real Return	AEP	EUR
LU1734044412	Euro Dynamic Real Return	DE	EUR
LU1734044503	Euro Dynamic Real Return	IE	EUR
LU1734044685	Euro Dynamic Real Return	IEP	EUR

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1734044925	Euro Dynamic Real Return	LE	EUR
LU1734045062	Euro Dynamic Real Return	LEP	EUR
LU1734044768	Euro Dynamic Real Return	ZE	EUR
LU1734044842	Euro Dynamic Real Return	ZEP	EUR
LU0348324558	Global Dynamic Real Return	AEC	EUR
LU0198727850	Global Dynamic Real Return	AEH	EUR
LU2021469619	Global Dynamic Real Return	AKH	SEK
LU2021409019	Global Dynamic Real Return	AU	USD
LU0276348264	Global Dynamic Real Return	AUP	USD
LU0270348204	Global Dynamic Real Return	DEH	EUR
LU0096359046	Global Dynamic Real Return	DU	USD
	•	IEH	
LU2005601088	Global Dynamic Real Return		EUR
LU0640472725	Global Dynamic Real Return	IGH	GBP
LU0096360051	Global Dynamic Real Return	IU	USD
LU0042999069	Global Dynamic Real Return	W	USD
LU1298174530	Global Multi Asset Income	AE	EUR
LU1102542534	Global Multi Asset Income	AEC	EUR
LU0640488994	Global Multi Asset Income	AEH	EUR
LU1297909035	Global Multi Asset Income	AEP	EUR
LU1815333239	Global Multi Asset Income	AS	SGD
LU1815333312	Global Multi Asset Income	ASC	SGD
LU0640489455	Global Multi Asset Income	ASH	SGD
LU1815333742	Global Multi Asset Income	ASP	SGD
LU0640488648	Global Multi Asset Income	AU	USD
LU1898126120	Global Multi Asset Income	AUM	USD
LU1297908904	Global Multi Asset Income	AUP	USD
LU1102555510	Global Multi Asset Income	DEC	EUR
LU1598429832	Global Multi Asset Income	DEH	EUR
LU1297908730	Global Multi Asset Income	DEP	EUR
LU0640489612	Global Multi Asset Income	DU	USD
LU1129921117	Global Multi Asset Income	DUP	USD
LU1642712183	Global Multi Asset Income	ZE	EUR
LU1132616415	Global Multi Asset Income	ZEC	EUR
LU0957818882	Global Multi Asset Income	ZEH	EUR
LU0957819005	Global Multi Asset Income	ZFH	CHF
LU0957818536	Global Multi Asset Income	ZU	USD
LU1854166235	Global Multi Asset Income	ZUP	USD
The Equity Portfolios	Global Focus	AEH	EUR
LU1433070262	Global Focus	AEP	EUR
LU0061474960	Global Focus	AU	USD
LU1815333072	Global Focus	AUP	USD
	Global Focus		
LU0198729047		DEH	EUR
LU0096362180	Global Focus	DU	USD
LU1491344765	Global Focus	IE	EUR
LU0329574718	Global Focus	IEH	EUR
LU0096363154	Global Focus	IU	USD
LU1815333155	Global Focus	IUP	USD
LU0042999655	Global Focus	W	USD
LU1433070189	Global Focus	XU	USD

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1433070429	Global Focus	ZE	EUR
LU1433070346	Global Focus	ZEP	EUR
LU1433070692	Global Focus	ZG	GBP
LU0957791311	Global Focus	ZU	USD
LU1864957136	Global Select	1E	EUR
LU1864957219	Global Select	1U	USD
LU1864957649	Global Select	2E	EUR
LU1864957722	Global Select	2U	USD
LU1864957565	Global Select	3U	USD
LU1864957300	Global Select	8E	EUR
LU1864957482	Global Select	8U	USD
LU1864957995	Global Select	9U	USD
LU1879202130	Global Select	IU	USD
LU1864958027	Global Select	ZU	USD
LU1868837482	Global Emerging Market Equities	1E	EUR
LU1868837565	Global Emerging Market Equities	1U	USD
LU1868837649	Global Emerging Market Equities	2E	EUR
LU1868837722	Global Emerging Market Equities	2U	USD
LU1868837995	Global Emerging Market Equities	8E	EUR
LU1868838027	Global Emerging Market Equities	8U	USD
LU0198729559	Global Emerging Market Equities	AEH	EUR
LU0143863198	Global Emerging Market Equities	AU	USD
LU0198729989	Global Emerging Market Equities	DEH	EUR
LU0143863784	Global Emerging Market Equities	DU	USD
LU0329574981	Global Emerging Market Equities	IEH	EUR
LU0957793010	Global Emerging Market Equities	ZU	USD
LU1868836161	American	1E	EUR
LU1868836245	American	1EH	EUR
LU1868836328	American	1EP	EUR
LU1868836591	American	10	USD
LU1868836674	American	2E	EUR
LU1868836757	American	2U	USD
LU1868836831	American	3EH	EUR
LU1868836914	American	3U	USD
LU1868837052	American	8E	EUR
LU1868837136	American	8U	USD
LU1868837219	American	9EH	EUR
LU1868837300	American	90	USD
LU0198731290	American	AEH	EUR
LU0061475181	American	AU	USD
LU0198731530	American	DEH	EUR
LU0096364046	American	DU	USD
LU0329575285	American	IEH	EUR
LU0096364715	American	IU	USD
LU0043004323		W	USD
	American	ZE	EUR
LU1815331456	American		
LU0957795064	American	ZEH	EUR
LU0957794687	American	ZU	USD

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1868841245	American Select	1E	EUR
LU1868841328	American Select	1EH	EUR
LU1868841591	American Select	1EP	EUR
LU1868841674	American Select	1U	USD
LU1868841757	American Select	2EH	EUR
LU1868841831	American Select	2U	USD
LU1868841914	American Select	3E	EUR
LU1868842052	American Select	3U	USD
LU1868842136	American Select	8EH	EUR
LU1868842219	American Select	8U	USD
LU1868842300	American Select	9E	EUR
LU1868842482	American Select	9U	USD
LU1978676556	American Select	AD	DKK
LU0198732421	American Select	AEH	EUR
LU1978677521	American Select	AN	NOK
LU0112528004	American Select	AU	USD
LU0198732934	American Select	DEH	EUR
LU0112528269	American Select	DU	USD
LU1978677794	American Select	ID	ОКК
LU2005601591	American Select	IE	EUR
LU0329575525	American Select	IEH	EUR
LU1978677877	American Select	IN	NOK
LU0112528343	American Select	W	USD
LU0957796898	American Select	ZEH	EUR
LU0957796385	American Select	ZU	USD
200337730303	American beleet	20	000
LU1864950479	American Smaller Companies	1E	EUR
LU1864950636	American Smaller Companies	1EP	EUR
LU1864950719	American Smaller Companies	1U	USD
LU1864951014	American Smaller Companies	2U	USD
LU1878469862	American Smaller Companies	3EH	EUR
LU1864950982	American Smaller Companies	3U	USD
LU1864950800	American Smaller Companies	8U	USD
LU1878470019	American Smaller Companies	9EH	EUR
LU1864951105	American Smaller Companies	9U	USD
LU1878469607	American Smaller Companies	AEH	EUR
LU1878469433	American Smaller Companies	AU	USD
LU1878469789	American Smaller Companies	DEH	EUR
LU1878469516	American Smaller Companies	DU	USD
LU2005601161	American Smaller Companies	IE	EUR
LU1878469359	American Smaller Companies	IU	USD
LU1864951287	American Smaller Companies	ZU	USD
201001001207			005
LU1280957728	US Contrarian Core Equities	AEC	EUR
LU0640476809	US Contrarian Core Equities	AEH	EUR
LU0640476718	US Contrarian Core Equities	AU	USD
LU1280957306	US Contrarian Core Equities	AUP	USD
LU0640477104	US Contrarian Core Equities	DU	USD
LU0640477955	US Contrarian Core Equities	IU	USD
LU1529586411	US Contrarian Core Equities	XS	SGD
LU1529586767	US Contrarian Core Equities	XSH	SGD
LU0957798670	US Contrarian Core Equities	ZEH	EUR
LU0957798753	US Contrarian Core Equities	ZFH	CHF
200007700700		L111	011

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU0957798910	US Contrarian Core Equities	ZGH	GBP
LU0957798241	US Contrarian Core Equities	ZU	USD
LU1587835924	US Disciplined Core Equities	AE	EUR
LU1587836062	US Disciplined Core Equities	AEH	EUR
LU1587836146	US Disciplined Core Equities	AU	USD
LU1587836229	US Disciplined Core Equities	AUP	USD
LU1587836492	US Disciplined Core Equities	DE	EUR
LU1587836575	US Disciplined Core Equities	DEH	EUR
LU1587836658	US Disciplined Core Equities	DU	USD
LU1587836732	US Disciplined Core Equities	IE	EUR
LU1589837704	US Disciplined Core Equities	IEC	EUR
LU1587836815	US Disciplined Core Equities	IEH	EUR
LU1587836906	US Disciplined Core Equities	IFH	CHF
	US Disciplined Core Equities	IG	GBP
LU1982712090	US Disciplined Core Equities		
LU1587837037	I I	IU	USD
LU1587837201	US Disciplined Core Equities	ZEH	EUR
LU1587837383	US Disciplined Core Equities	ZFH	CHF
LU1587837466	US Disciplined Core Equities	ZU	USD
LU1832003567	Pan European Equities	1E	EUR
LU1832003641	Pan European Equities	1EP	EUR
LU1832003724	Pan European Equities	1G	GBP
LU1832003997	Pan European Equities	1GP	GBP
LU1857753138	Pan European Equities	2E	EUR
LU1857753211	Pan European Equities	2G	GBP
LU1857753054	Pan European Equities	2U	USD
LU1832004292	Pan European Equities	3E	EUR
LU1832004375	Pan European Equities	3G	GBP
LU1832004458	Pan European Equities	3GP	GBP
LU1832004532	Pan European Equities	4E	EUR
LU1832004615	Pan European Equities	4G	GBP
LU1832004706	Pan European Equities	8E	EUR
LU1832004888	Pan European Equities	8G	GBP
LU1832004029	Pan European Equities	8U	USD
LU1857753302	Pan European Equities	9E	EUR
LU1857753484	Pan European Equities	9G	GBP
LU1857753567	Pan European Equities	9G P	GBP
LU0061476155	Pan European Equities	AE	EUR
LU0640478417	Pan European Equities	ASH	SGD
LU0972486137	Pan European Equities	AUH	USD
LU0096368971	Pan European Equities	DE	EUR
LU0329573405	Pan European Equities	IE	EUR
LU0043005569	Pan European Equities	W	EUR
LU0584940117	Pan European Equities	XE	EUR
LU0957799991	Pan European Equities	ZUH	USD
LU1829334819	Pan European Equity Dividend	1E	EUR
LU1829335030	Pan European Equity Dividend	1EP	EUR
LU1829335113	Pan European Equity Dividend	1G	GBP
LU1829335204	Pan European Equity Dividend	1GP	GBP
LU1849564031	Pan European Equity Dividend	2E	EUR
LU1849564114	Pan European Equity Dividend	2EP	EUR

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1849564205	Pan European Equity Dividend	2G	GBP
LU1849564387	Pan European Equity Dividend	2GP	GBP
LU1829336194	Pan European Equity Dividend	3EP	EUR
LU1829336277	Pan European Equity Dividend	3G	GBP
LU1829336350	Pan European Equity Dividend	3GP	GBP
LU1829336608	Pan European Equity Dividend	4GP	GBP
LU1829335386	Pan European Equity Dividend	8E	EUR
LU1829335469	Pan European Equity Dividend	8EP	EUR
LU1829335543	Pan European Equity Dividend	8G	GBP
LU1829335899	Pan European Equity Dividend	8GP	GBP
LU1849564544	Pan European Equity Dividend	9EP	EUR
LU1849564627	Pan European Equity Dividend	9G	GBP
LU1849564890	Pan European Equity Dividend	9GP	GBP
LU1849564973	Pan European Equity Dividend	AE	EUR
LU1849565194	Pan European Equity Dividend	AEP	EUR
LU1897128127	Pan European Equity Dividend	AUP	EUR
LU1849565277	Pan European Equity Dividend	DE	EUR
LU1849565350	Pan European Equity Dividend	DEP	EUR
LU1849565780	Pan European Equity Dividend	IE	EUR
LU1849565863	Pan European Equity Dividend	IEP	EUR
LU1849565434	Pan European Equity Dividend	ZE	EUR
LU1849565608	Pan European Equity Dividend	ZEP	EUR
201043303000		211	Lon
LU0282719219	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	AE	EUR
LU0640478920	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	ASH	SGD
LU1815337495	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	AUH	USD
LU0282720225	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	DE	EUR
LU1815337578	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	DUH	USD
LU0329573587	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	IE	EUR
LU0299975861	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	W	EUR
LU0957801565	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	ZE	EUR
LU0957801995	Pan European Small Cap Opportunities	ZFH	CHF
200937801993	r an European Sman Cap Opportunities	2111	Cili
LU1829329819	Pan European Smaller Companies	1E	EUR
LU1829329900	Pan European Smaller Companies	1EP	EUR
LU1829330072	Pan European Smaller Companies	1FH	CHF
LU1829330155	Pan European Smaller Companies	1G	GBP
LU1829330312	Pan European Smaller Companies	10H	USD
LU1849565947	Pan European Smaller Companies	2E	EUR
LU1849566085	Pan European Smaller Companies	2G	GBP
LU1829330668	· ·		
	Pan European Smaller Companies	3E	EUR
LU1829330742	Pan European Smaller Companies	3EP	EUR
LU1829330825	Pan European Smaller Companies	3FH	CHF
LU1829331047	Pan European Smaller Companies	3G	GBP
LU1829331120	Pan European Smaller Companies	3GP	GBP
LU1829331393	Pan European Smaller Companies	3UH	USD
LU1829331476	Pan European Smaller Companies	4E	EUR
LU1829330403	Pan European Smaller Companies	8E	EUR
LU1829330585	Pan European Smaller Companies	8G	GBP
LU1849566168	Pan European Smaller Companies	9E	EUR
LU1849566242	Pan European Smaller Companies	9EP	EUR
111404050005		9FH	CHF
LU1849566325	Pan European Smaller Companies Pan European Smaller Companies	Эгп	СПГ

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1849566671	Pan European Smaller Companies	9G P	GBP
LU1849566754	Pan European Smaller Companies	9UH	USD
LU2005601245	Pan European Smaller Companies	IE	EUR
LU1849566838	Pan European Smaller Companies	ZE	EUR
LU1864951527	Asia Equities	1E	EUR
LU1864951790	Asia Equities	1U	USD
LU1864951956	Asia Equities	2E	EUR
LU1864952095	Asia Equities	2U	USD
LU1864951873	Asia Equities	3U	USD
LU1864951360	Asia Equities	8E	EUR
LU1864951444	Asia Equities	8U	USD
LU1864952178	Asia Equities	9U	USD
LU2005600940	Asia Equities	IE	EUR
LU1879201595	Asia Equities	IU	USD
LU1864952251	Asia Equities	ZU	USD
LU0198731027	Asian Equity Income	AEH	EUR
LU0061477393	Asian Equity Income	AU	USD
LU0886674414	Asian Equity Income	AUP	USD
LU0198730995	Asian Equity Income	DEH	EUR
LU0096374516	Asian Equity Income	DU	USD
LU1504937902	Asian Equity Income	DUP	USD
LU1579343846	Asian Equity Income	IEP	EUR
LU0052699542	Asian Equity Income	W	USD
LU1854166664	Asian Equity Income	ZG	GBP
LU0886674844	Asian Equity Income	ZGH	GBP
LU1854166748	Asian Equity Income	ZGP	GBP
LU1417843668	Asian Equity Income	ZUP	USD
LU0584927288	Asian Equity Income	XU	USD
LU1897127822	Asian Equity Income	XUP	USD
LU0444972557	Global Technology	AEH	EUR
LU1642822529	Global Technology	AS	SGD
LU0444971666	Global Technology	AU	USD
LU1815336760	Global Technology	AUP	USD
LU0476273544	Global Technology	BU	USD
LU0444972128	Global Technology	DEH	EUR
LU0444973449	Global Technology	DU	USD
LU0444973100	Global Technology	IEH	EUR
LU1815336927	Global Technology	IG	GBP
LU0957808818	Global Technology	ZEH	EUR
LU1642822446	Global Technology	ZFH	CHF
LU1815337149	Global Technology	ZG	GBP
LU0957808578	Global Technology	ZU	USD
	clobal roomology		000
LU1868838290	UK Equities	3EH	EUR
LU1868838373	UK Equities	3EP	EUR
LU1868838456	UK Equities	3FH	CHF
LU1868838530	UK Equities	30H	USD
LU1868838613	UK Equities	9EH	EUR
LU1868838704		9EP	EUR
	UK Equities		
LU1868838886	UK Equities	9FH	CHF

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1978681630	UK Equities	9G	GBP
LU1868838969	UK Equities	9UH	USD
LU0713323730	UK Equities	AEH	EUR
LU0713321957	UK Equities	AFH	CHF
LU0713318490	UK Equities	AG	GBP
LU0713318813	UK Equities	AGP	GBP
LU1642822289	UK Equities	DEH	EUR
LU1642822107	UK Equities	DG	GBP
LU0713323227	UK Equities	IEH	EUR
LU0713324548	UK Equities	IG	GBP
LU0713326329	UK Equities	IGP	GBP
LU0957810475	UK Equities	ZEH	EUR
LU0957810558	UK Equities	ZFH	CHF
LU0815284467	UK Equities	ZG	GBP
LU1297908573	UK Equities	ZGP	GBP
LU0957810129	UK Equities	ZUH	USD
200037010123	OK Equilios	2011	000
LU1868840601	UK Equity Income	1EH	EUR
LU1868840783	UK Equity Income	1FH	CHF
LU1868840866	UK Equity Income	10H	USD
LU1868878163	UK Equity Income	3EH	EUR
LU1868840940	UK Equity Income	3FH	CHF
LU1868878080	UK Equity Income	3UH	USD
LU1868878593	UK Equity Income	9EH	EUR
LU1868841088	UK Equity Income	9FH	CHF
LU1978681713	UK Equity Income	9G	GBP
LU1868878320		90H	USD
LU1475748437	UK Equity Income	AE	EUR
	UK Equity Income	AE	EUR
LU1487255439	UK Equity Income		
LU1475748510	UK Equity Income	AEH	EUR
LU1495961192	UK Equity Income	AG	GBP
LU1481600234	UK Equity Income	ASC	SGD
LU1481599808	UK Equity Income	AUC	USD
LU1495961275	UK Equity Income	DE	EUR
LU1487255512	UK Equity Income	DEC	EUR
LU1475748601	UK Equity Income	DEH	EUR
LU1475748783	UK Equity Income	DG	GBP
LU1487255603	UK Equity Income	DGP	GBP
LU1475748866	UK Equity Income	IE	EUR
LU1475748940	UK Equity Income	IEH	EUR
LU1475749088	UK Equity Income	IG	GBP
LU1475749161	UK Equity Income	IGP	GBP
LU1475749245	UK Equity Income	IU	USD
LU1504939353	UK Equity Income	IUH	USD
LU1475748270	UK Equity Income	LGP	GBP
LU1475748353	UK Equity Income	LG	GBP
LU1475749674	UK Equity Income	ZE	EUR
LU1487256080	UK Equity Income	ZEH	EUR
LU1475749328	UK Equity Income	ZFH	CHF
LU1487256163	UK Equity Income	ZG	GBP
LU1475749591	UK Equity Income	ZGP	GBP
LU1487256676	UK Equity Income	ZUH	USD

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1868839181	European Select	1E	EUR
LU1868839264	European Select	1EP	EUR
LU1868839348	European Select	1SH	SGD
LU1868839421	European Select	1U	USD
LU1868839694	European Select	1UH	USD
LU1868839777	European Select	2E	EUR
LU1868839850	European Select	2EP	EUR
LU1868839934	European Select	3E	EUR
LU1868840197	European Select	3U	USD
LU1868840270	European Select	8E	EUR
LU1868840353	European Select	8EP	EUR
LU1868840437	European Select	9E	EUR
LU1868840510	European Select	9U	USD
LU0713326832	European Select	AE	EUR
LU0713331832	European Select	AGH	GBP
LU0713328705	European Select	AUH	USD
LU0713329182	European Select	DUH	USD
LU0713328374	European Select	IE	EUR
LU1598421698	European Select	ZG	GBP
LU0815285605	European Select	ZGH	GBP
LU1864952335	European Smaller Companies	1E	EUR
LU1864952418	European Smaller Companies	1EP	EUR
LU1864952681	European Smaller Companies	1FH	CHF
LU1865158890	European Smaller Companies	2E	EUR
LU1864952848	European Smaller Companies	3E	EUR
LU1864952921	European Smaller Companies	3EP	EUR
LU1864953069	European Smaller Companies	3FH	CHF
LU1864952764	European Smaller Companies	8E	EUR
LU1865159351	European Smaller Companies	9E	EUR
LU1865159195	European Smaller Companies	9EP	EUR
LU1865159609	European Smaller Companies	9FH	CHF
LU2005601328	European Smaller Companies	IE	EUR
LU1865159435	European Smaller Companies	ZE	EUR
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
LU1864953143	Global Equity Income	1E	EUR
LU1864953499	Global Equity Income	1EP	EUR
LU1864953572	Global Equity Income	1SC	SGD
LU1864953739	Global Equity Income	1SH	SGD
LU1864953655	Global Equity Income	1ST	SGD
LU1864953812	Global Equity Income	1U	USD
LU1864953903	Global Equity Income	1UP	USD
LU1864954034	Global Equity Income	1VT	AUD
LU1864955197	Global Equity Income	2E	EUR
LU1864955270	Global Equity Income	2EP	EUR
LU1864955510	Global Equity Income	2U	USD
LU1864955437	Global Equity Income	2UP	USD
LU1864954547	Global Equity Income	3E	EUR
LU1864954620	Global Equity Income	3EP	EUR
LU1864954893	Global Equity Income	3U	USD
LU1864954976	Global Equity Income	3UP	USD
LU1864954117	Global Equity Income	8E	EUR
LU1864954208	Global Equity Income	8EP	EUR
	. <i>.</i>		

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1864954463	Global Equity Income	8U	USD
LU1864954380	Global Equity Income	8UP	USD
LU1864955601	Global Equity Income	9E	EUR
LU1864955783	Global Equity Income	9EP	EUR
LU1864955866	Global Equity Income	9U	USD
LU1864955940	Global Equity Income	9UP	USD
LU1878470449	Global Equity Income	AEC	EUR
LU1878470878	Global Equity Income	AUP	USD
LU1878470522	Global Equity Income	DEC	EUR
LU1878470951	Global Equity Income	DUP	USD
LU1878470795	Global Equity Income	IU	USD
LU1878470365	Global Equity Income	TE	EUR
LU1864956088	Global Equity Income	ZU	USD
LU0570870567	Global Smaller Companies	AE	EUR
LU1854166821	Global Smaller Companies	AEP	EUR
LU1815336091	Global Smaller Companies	AUP	USD
LU0570871375	Global Smaller Companies	DE	EUR
LU0570871706	Global Smaller Companies	IE	EUR
LU1978681556	Global Smaller Companies	NE	EUR
LU0570872340	Global Smaller Companies	XE	EUR
LU1815336257	Global Smaller Companies	XG	GBP
LU1518581639	Global Smaller Companies	XGH	GBP
	•	ZGH	
LU0815285274	Global Smaller Companies		GBP
LU0957820193	Global Smaller Companies	ZE	EUR
LU0957820433	Global Smaller Companies	ZFH	CHF
LU1815336505	Global Smaller Companies	ZG	GBP
LU1815336687	Global Smaller Companies	ZU	USD
LU1273581923	Asia Contrarian Equity	AE	EUR
LU1273582574	Asia Contrarian Equity	AF	CHF
LU1642822792	Asia Contrarian Equity	AS	SGD
LU1044874839	Asia Contrarian Equity	ASH	SGD
LU1044875133	Asia Contrarian Equity	AU	USD
LU1273582228	Asia Contrarian Equity	DE	EUR
LU1273582061	Asia Contrarian Equity	IE	EUR
LU1273582657	Asia Contrarian Equity	IF	CHF
LU1044875562	Asia Contrarian Equity	ISH	SGD
LU1044875729	Asia Contrarian Equity	IU	USD
LU1044876370		XU	USD
	Asia Contrarian Equity	XUP	
LU1518580078	Asia Contrarian Equity		USD
LU1273582145	Asia Contrarian Equity	ZE	EUR
LU1044876453	Asia Contrarian Equity	ZEH	EUR
LU1273582731	Asia Contrarian Equity	ZF	CHF
LU1815331704	Asia Contrarian Equity	ZG	GBP
LU1044876610	Asia Contrarian Equity	ZU	USD
LU1273582814	Developed Asia Growth and Income	AE	EUR
LU1273583119	Developed Asia Growth and Income	AEP	EUR
LU1273583978	Developed Asia Growth and Income	AF	CHF
LU1273584356	Developed Asia Growth and Income	AFP	CHF
LU1044873351	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ASC	SGD
LU1044873435	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ASH	SGD

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1642822875	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ASP	SGD
LU1044872973	Developed Asia Growth and Income	AU	USD
LU1044873518	Developed Asia Growth and Income	AUP	USD
LU1116211449	Developed Asia Growth and Income	AVC	AUD
LU1044875133	Developed Asia Growth and Income	AVH	AUD
LU1273583549	Developed Asia Growth and Income	DE	EUR
LU1273582905	Developed Asia Growth and Income	IE	EUR
LU1273583200	Developed Asia Growth and Income	IEP	EUR
LU1273584190	Developed Asia Growth and Income	IF	CHF
LU1273584430	Developed Asia Growth and Income	IFP	CHF
LU1044873864	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ISH	SGD
LU1044873781	Developed Asia Growth and Income	IU	USD
LU1273583622	Developed Asia Growth and Income	IUP	USD
LU1273583036	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ZE	EUR
LU1044874243	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ZEH	EUR
LU1273583465	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ZEP	EUR
LU1273584273	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ZF	CHF
LU1273584513	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ZFP	CHF
LU1044874599	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ZU	USD
LU1273583895	Developed Asia Growth and Income	ZUP	USD
LU1048245523	STANLIB Africa Equity	IU	USD
LU1048246174	STANLIB Africa Equity	ZU	USD
The Absolute Return Po	ortfolios		
LU0515763810	American Absolute Alpha	AEH	EUR
LU0515763901	American Absolute Alpha	AFH	CHF
LU0515764032	American Absolute Alpha	AGH	GBP
LU0515763737	American Absolute Alpha	AU	USD
LU0515764206	American Absolute Alpha	DEH	EUR
LU0515764115	American Absolute Alpha	DU	USD
LU0515764628	American Absolute Alpha	IEH	EUR
LU0515765278	American Absolute Alpha	IGH	GBP
LU0515764461	American Absolute Alpha	IU	USD
LU0584926470	American Absolute Alpha	XGH	GBP
LU1815330722	American Absolute Alpha	ZE	EUR
LU0957815359	American Absolute Alpha	ZEH	EUR
LU0815284624	American Absolute Alpha	ZGH	GBP
LU0957814972	American Absolute Alpha	ZU	USD
LU1829331633	Credit Opportunities	1E	EUR
LU1829331716	Credit Opportunities	1EP	EUR
LU1829332441	Credit Opportunities	1GH	GBP
LU1829331807	Credit Opportunities	1UH	USD
LU1849560120	Credit Opportunities	2E	EUR
LU1849560393	Credit Opportunities	2EP	EUR
LU1849560476	Credit Opportunities	2GC	GBP
LU1849560559	Credit Opportunities	2GH	GBP
LU1829332367	Credit Opportunities	4GH	GBP
_U1829331989	Credit Opportunities	8E	EUR
_U1829332011	Credit Opportunities	8EP	EUR
U1829332102	Credit Opportunities	8GC	GBP
U1829332284	Credit Opportunities	8GH	GBP
	Credit Opportunities	ZE	

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
LU1746309175	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	AE	EUR
LU1746309258	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	AFH	CHF
LU1978679576	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	АКН	SEK
LU1978679659	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	ANH	NOK
LU1746309332	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	AUH	USD
LU1746309415	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	DE	EUR
LU1746309506	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	IE	EUR
LU1746309688	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	IEP	EUR
LU1746309761	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	IGH	GBP
LU2049730752	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	INH	NOK
LU1746309845	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	IUH	USD
LU1746309928	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	JE	EUR
LU1746310009	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	JGH	GBP
LU1746310181	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	JUH	USD
LU1786087541	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	LE	EUR
LU1793338051	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	LEP	EUR
LU1793337913	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	LGH	GBP
LU1746310264	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	YE	EUR
LU1746310348	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	YGH	GBP
LU1746310421	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	YUH	USD
LU1746310694	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	ZE	EUR
LU1746310777	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	ZFH	CHF
LU1746310850	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	ZGH	GBP
LU1746310934	Global Investment Grade Credit Opportunities	ZUH	USD
LU1469428814	Pan European Absolute Alpha	AE	EUR
LU1469428905	Pan European Absolute Alpha	AEP	EUR
LU1469429200	Pan European Absolute Alpha	AUH	USD
LU1469429465	Pan European Absolute Alpha	DE	EUR
LU1469429549	Pan European Absolute Alpha	IE	EUR
LU1469429622	Pan European Absolute Alpha	IGH	GBP
LU1475749831	Pan European Absolute Alpha	LE	EUR
LU1469429895	Pan European Absolute Alpha	XGH	GBP
LU1469429978	Pan European Absolute Alpha	ZE	EUR
LU1579344224	Pan European Absolute Alpha	ZF	CHF
LU1815337222	Pan European Absolute Alpha	ZFH	CHF
LU1469430042	Pan European Absolute Alpha	ZGH	GBP
LU1864958290	UK Absolute Alpha	1E	EUR
LU1864958373	UK Absolute Alpha	1EH	EUR
LU1864958969	UK Absolute Alpha	2E	EUR
LU1864959009	UK Absolute Alpha	2EH	EUR
LU1864958704	UK Absolute Alpha	3EH	EUR
LU1864958886	UK Absolute Alpha	3FH	CHF
LU1864958456	UK Absolute Alpha	8E	EUR
LU1864958613	UK Absolute Alpha	8EH	EUR
LU1864959181	UK Absolute Alpha	9EH	EUR
LU1864959348	UK Absolute Alpha	9FH	CHF
LU1879202643	UK Absolute Alpha	AEH	EUR
LU1879202486	UK Absolute Alpha	AG	GBP
LU1879202569	UK Absolute Alpha	DEH	EUR
LU1879202304	UK Absolute Alpha	DG	GBP
LU1879202213	-	IG	GBP
	UK Absolute Alpha		
LU1864959694	UK Absolute Alpha	ZG	GBP

ISIN Code	Portfolio	Class	Class Currency
The Extended Alpha P	ortfolios		
LU1864948812	American Extended Alpha	1E	EUR
LU1864948903	American Extended Alpha	1EH	EUR
LU1864949034	American Extended Alpha	1U	USD
LU1864949893	American Extended Alpha	2E	EUR
LU1879200787	American Extended Alpha	2U	USD
LU1864949380	American Extended Alpha	3U	USD
LU1864949208	American Extended Alpha	8E	EUR
LU1879200605	American Extended Alpha	8U	USD
LU1864949976	American Extended Alpha	9U	USD
LU1879201249	American Extended Alpha	AEH	EUR
LU1879201082	American Extended Alpha	AU	USD
LU1879201322	American Extended Alpha	DEH	EUR
LU1879201165	American Extended Alpha	DU	USD
LU1879200944	American Extended Alpha	IU	USD
LU1864950396	American Extended Alpha	ZU	USD
LU1864956328	Global Extended Alpha	1E	EUR
LU1864956591	Global Extended Alpha	10	USD
LU1864956757	Global Extended Alpha	2E	EUR
LU1864956831	Global Extended Alpha	2U	USD
LU1864956161	Global Extended Alpha	8E	EUR
LU1864956245	Global Extended Alpha	8U	USD
LU1879201918	Global Extended Alpha	AEH	EUR
LU1879201751	Global Extended Alpha	AU	USD
LU1879202056	Global Extended Alpha	DEH	EUR
LU1879201835	Global Extended Alpha	DU	USD
LU1879201678	Global Extended Alpha	U	USD
LU1864957052	Global Extended Alpha	ZU	USD
The Specialist Portfoli	io		
LU0515768454	Enhanced Commodities	AEH	EUR
LU0515768611	Enhanced Commodities	AFH	CHF
LU0515768884	Enhanced Commodities	AGH	GBP
LU0640496401	Enhanced Commodities	ASH	SGD
LU0515768298	Enhanced Commodities	AU	USD
LU0515769429	Enhanced Commodities	DEH	EUR
LU0515769262	Enhanced Commodities	DU	USD
LU0515769932	Enhanced Commodities	IEH	EUR
LU0515770278	Enhanced Commodities	IFH	CHF
LU1792063742	Enhanced Commodities	IG	GBP
LU0515770435	Enhanced Commodities	IGH	GBP
LU0815286595	Enhanced Commodities	ІКН	SEK
LU0515769775	Enhanced Commodities	IU	USD
LU1815332009	Enhanced Commodities	NG	GBP
LU0584929227	Enhanced Commodities	XU	USD
LU0957824260	Enhanced Commodities	ZEH	EUR
LU0957824427	Enhanced Commodities	ZFH	CHF
LU0815286082	Enhanced Commodities	ZGH	GBP
LU0915584832	Enhanced Commodities	ZU	USD
200010004002	Linunood Commonites	LV	000
The Shariah Portfolio			
LU1330310902	Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity	AU	USD
LU1330310302	Gatehouse Shariah Global Equity	XU	USD
201000010220	Gatenouse Shandh Global Lyulty	Λ0	030



To find out more visit columbiathreadneedle.com

Issued by Threadneedle Management Luxembourg S.A. Registered with the Registre de Commerce et des Societes (Luxembourg), Registered No. B 110242, 44, rue de la Vallée, L-2661 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. Threadneedle Asset Management Limited (TAML) Registered in England and Wales, Registered No. 573204, Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London EC4N 6AG, United Kingdom. Authorised and regulated in the UK by the Financial Conduct Authority. Columbia Threadneedle Investments is the global brand name of the Columbia and Threadneedle group of companies. columbiathreadneedle.com Issued 01.20 | Valid to 01.21 | 315783